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CHAPTER 1

FIRST NEWS OF GOLD—QUEEN CHARLOTTE ISLANDS
EXCITEMENT

Although the discovery of gold in the Thompson River and its
tributaries—the Couteau District of that time—followed by the
knowledge that the bars of the Fraser River were auriferous, was
the cause of the great inrush of 1858, it was not the first intimation of
the existence of the precious metal in the British possessions west of
the Rockies.

During the short régime of Governor Blanshard he had, in
August, 1850, reported to Earl Grey that he had seen “a very rich
specimen of gold ore, said to have been brought by the Indians of
Queen Charlotte Islands.” * In the following March he again men-
tioned the matter in a despatch, stating that a rumor was current that
fresh specimens, said to be very rich, had been obtained from the same
source and that it was the intention of the Hudson’s Bay Company to
send an expedition in the course of the summer to make proper
investigations.®

Accordingly in July, 1851, the Una, one of the company's vessels,
left Fort Simpson to visit the west coast of Queen Charlotte Islands,
the reported gold-bearing region. The expedition consisted of Chief
Trader McNeill, Chief Trader Work, and eight men, besides the ves-
sel’s crew. Principally by barter about sixty ounces of gold were
obtained. The natives soon got an exaggerated idea of its value; one,
who was the fortunate possessor of a lump of nearly pure gold weigh-
ing one pound eleven ounces, refused to dispose of it for less than
fifteen hundreu blankets.?

The knowledge of the discovery of gold can never be long con-
cealed. It became known in Oregon Territory. Two American ves-

1 Queen Charlotte Islands Papers, p. 1.
*1d.
S1d, p. 1.




2 BRITISH COLUMBIA

sels, carrying some sixty adventurers, were at once fitted out at Puget
Sound for the new gold region.* Governor Douglas, learning their
intentions, asked for instructions to exclude them, but the Secretary
of State for the Colonies replied that it would not be expedient to
issue any proclamation against the resort thither of foreign vessels.
In October, 1851, the Una again visited Mitchell Harbour, on the
west coast of Moresby Island. A vein averaging six and one-half
inches in width and yielding twenty-five per cent pure gold was found
running cighty feet parallel with the coast.” At first the Indians
appeared pleased at the advent of the gold seekers, but when opera-
tions were commenced by blasting they became exceedingly trouble-
some. They stole the tools, and, emboldened by success, they rushed
in as soon as a blast was fired and scized the gold. “They would be
concealed until the report was heard, and then make a rush for the
gold; a regular scramble between them and our men would take
place; they would take our men by the legs and hold them away from
the gold ; some blows were struck on these occasions; the Indians drew
their knives on our men often.” ®  Fully one-half of the results of the
blasting were thus lost, and in order to avoid blood-shed the work was
abandoned. Nevertheless, from the three blasts which were made,
gold to the value of £300 was obtained.” On her return trip to Vic-
toria the Una was wrecked at Neah Bay, and, the company having at
the time no other available vessel, the American adventurers had free
scope.

The first vessel from Puget Sound, the Georgiana, was wrecked
on the east coast of Queen Charlotte Islands. The thirty adven-
turers on board fell into the hands of the Indians, who stripped them
of everything and held them prisoners. The second vessel, the
Damariscone, reached Mitchell Harbour safely, but only remained
a few days. The appearance of the natives was so hostile that no
attempt to effect a landing was made. On her return to Olympia with
the news of the imprisonment of those who had sailed on the
Georgiana, the Damariscone was fitted out as a revenue cutter, a small
force was placed on her, and she was sent to their assistance. No war-

4 Queen Charlotte Islands Papers, p. 2.
S1d., p. 3.

¢ Letter, Douglas to Earl Grey, Jan. 29, 1852,
T Queen Charlotte Islands Papers, p. 7.

PR—



BRITISH COLUNMBIA 3

like demonstration occurred on her arrival, the release of the
prisoners being obtained by gifts of blankets and trinkets.”

The news of gold, increasing in proportion to the distance trav-
elled, created a great excitement in San Francisco, In April and
May, 1852, six vessels, the schooner Susan Sturgis, the brig T'epic, the
brig Palermo, the schooner Mexican, the brigantine Eagle, and the
schooner Cecil sailed for Mitchell Harbour, each carrying from
forty to fifty miners * However, as they met with no success, although
they carefully prospected the country surrounding Mitchell Harbour,
they returned to San Francisco almost immediately. The Exact and
another American vessel also made the attempt, but the hostility of
the natives prevented them from carrying on any mining, and though
their force was considerable and well-armed they were beaten off and
compelled to return empty-handed.

Governor Douglas again pressed upon the Home Authorities his
view of the necessity of excluding foreign vessels, basing it, not upon
any political considerations, but upon its effect on the prosperity of
Vancouver Island. He pointed out that if the Queen Charlotte
Islands were open only to British vessels (which expression was under
the existing conditions equivalent to Hudson’s Bay Company vessels),
a flourishing trade with Victoria (which really meant with the Hud-
son’s Bay Company) would spring up.'® His desire to monopolize
the mining for the company is plain. Sir J. H. Pelly, the Governor
of the Hudson’s Bay Company, asked the British Government to
consider what steps should be taken to obtain the gold and to prevent
citizens of the United States from trespassing on Her Majesty’s
possessions and infringing the rights of the Hudson'’s Bay Company.'!

While these matters were being discussed, Governor Douglas con-
cluded to renew mining operations.  About the end of March, 18z2,
the brig Recovery sailed for Gold Harbour, as the locality on
Mitchell Harbour had heen called, with a strong and well-appointed
party, consisting of five officers and forty men, under Chief Trader
Kennedy. The expedition was on a codperative plan, the company
furnishing all materials, powder, mining tools, etc., and receiving
therefor one-half the proceeds, the other half being equally divided

*Queen Charlotte Islands Papers, p. 7.

*Id., p. 12,

19 Douglas to Earl Grey, Jan. 29, 1852; Queen Charlotte Islands Papers, p. 3.
nId, pog
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amongst the men employed, who, though regular servants of the com-
pany, were to receive no wages while engaged in this venture.

They took possession of the only surface gold vein in the locality,
with the consent and approbation of the natives, with whom the party
lived on friendly terms. When, therefore, the vessels from San Fran-
cisco, already mentioned, arrived, finding the ground pre-occupied,
they were compelled to seek elsewhere.” Disheartened and disap-
pointed, these adventurers soon departed, leaving the company’s men
in undisputed possession. Their efforts, however, were but ill
rewarded. Gold, that is to say gold-bearing quartz, was blasted out
of the vein, but not in paying quantities. After a few days’ work the
vein disappeared. Officers and men were alike dispirited. The
neighboring territory was then prospected in the hope of better for-
tune, but although several veins carrying traces of gold were found,
a few blasts invariably exhausted them. The expedition then
returned to Gold Harbour and resumed operations in the hope of
finding the lost lode. Failing in this attempt and completely discour-
aged they returned to Victoria in August. The value of the ore
obtained by the venture was about £9o. The loss sustained by the
company was £943 3s. 114." When William Downie, a veteran
miner of California, was at Gold Harbour in 1859 he examined the
spot where these workings had been made. He gives it as his opinion
that what was called a vein was merely what the miners know as a
blow-out, or off-shoot, a very rich freak of nature often found in
a mining country. A fortunate Indian picked up on the beach a
beautiful specimen of pure gold weighing about three pounds troy
and valued at about $600."*

The Susan Sturgis has been mentioned as one of the vessels that
left San Francisco in the spring of 1852. Later in that year she made
another trip to Queen Charlotte Islands. It was her last. After
some days spent in fruitless search in the vicinity of Gold Harbour,
it was determined to visit the east coast in the hope of better results.
Rounding Cape St. James, the Susan Sturgis cruised, traded, and
prospected along that coast as far as Skidegate. There Chief Eden-
saw of Masset, with his family and friends, was taken on board and

12 Queen Charlotte Islands Papers, p. 9.
13 Queen Charlotte Islands Further Papers, pp. 9, 12.
14 Hunting for Gold, p. 210; Queen Charlotte Islands Papers, p. 9.
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the schooner continued her course northward. Off Masset, several
canoes, well filled with Indians, came alongside and boarded her,
ostensibly as friends. Almost instantly these barbarians fell upon
the unsuspecting crew, overpowered them in a few minutes, and
obtained possession of the vessel. The Captain, however, succeeded,
with the aid of Edensaw, in sending out the following letter:

“Off Masset Harbor,
“Sept. 26, 1852.
“To Whatever Christian This May Come:

“This is to inform the public that the Captain and crew of the
schooner Susan Sturgis are now confined in the after cabin of said
vessel, the tribe of Masset Indians having taken the ship this day at
10 a. m., and are now fighting with Edensaw and a few of his men
who are trying to save our lives.

“MATHEW ROONEY
“Master.”

This message reached the Hudson's Bay Company's post at Fort
Simpson, and Chief Trader Work, who was in charge there, at once
sent out men to their assistance. He succeeded in obtaining the re-
lease of all the prisoners, paying in blankets at the rate of $250 each
for the captain and mate, and $30 each for the others. He was too
late, however, to save the vessel, which after being looted was
destroyed by the savages.'

Though Governor Douglas was anxious to prevent the Americans
and all other persons from access to British territory over which the
company had the license of exclusive trade, he, nevertheless, as a
matter of policy, always undertook to punish the Indians for any
wrong against the whites,. H. M. 8. Firago was immediately sent
upon this errand. After a searching enquiry her commander, Capt.
James C. Prevost, could not fix the blame upon any particular tribe,
and the matter was allowed to drop; but his opinion was that Chief
Edenshaw had played a double part.'

In September, 1852, Sir John Pakington, the Secretary of State
for the Colonies, replied to Governor Douglas’s request for the exclu-
sion of foreign vessels. “On this proposal,” he said, “I have merely

18 Victoria Gazette, Aug. 18, 1858 ; Victoria Times, June 11, 1904.
1¢ Metlakahtla and North Pacific Mission, p. 91.
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to inform you that Her Majesty’s Government would not be justified
under the existing state of the law in resorting to any measure of this
description.” The Secretary, however, determined to go a short dis-
tance in the desired direction and to “take immediate steps for the
protection of British interests against the depredations of Indians or
the unwarranted intrusion of foreigners on the territory of the Queen”
by sending a naval force to Queen Charlotte Islands. To be prepared
for eventualities a commission was issued to James Douglas, Governor
of Vancouver Island, as “Lieutenant-Governor of Queen Charlotte
Islands.” It was explained that: “The commission is issued solely
to meet the circumstances of the times; it conveys to you no power to
make laws or constitute a regular government; but it gives the party
bearing it a position of authority as representing Her Majesty’s
Government in the district, which is both important and valuable.”
Regarding the regulation of gold-mining the Governor was in-
formed: “You will, therefore, understand that your power extends
to granting licenses on such terms and for such period as you may
think proper to persons intending to search for gold on the Island;
and that in cases of violation of the right which such licenses give, or
any unauthorized search taking place, you are to claim the support of
Her Majesty's officers who may be within reach to enforce your
authority,” 7

Governor Douglas was not slow in bringing into force the license
system suggested by the Secretary of State. In March, 1853, he
issued the following

PROCLAMATION

“By his Excellency, James Douglas, Esq., Governor of Van-
couver's Island, and Lieutenant-Governor of Queen Charlotte’s
Island and its Dependencies, etc.

“WHEREAS, by law, all mines of gold, and all gold in its natural
place of deposit within the Colony of Queen Charlotte’s Island,
whether on the lands of the Queen or of any of Her Majesty’s
subjects, belong to the Crown:

“And, whereas, information has been received by the Government
that gold exists upon and in the soil of the colony, and that certain

17 Queen Charlotte Islands Papers, pp. 12, 13.
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persons have commenced, or are aboui to commence, searching and
digging for the same for their own use, without leave or other author-
ity from Her Majesty: Now I, James Douglas, esquire, the
Governor aforesaid, on behalf of Her Majesty, do hereby publicly
notify and declare that all persons who shall take from any lands
within the said colony any gold, metal, or ore containing gold, or
who shall dig for and disturb the soil in search of such gold, metal,
or ore, without having been duly authorized in that behalf by Her
Majesty's Colonial Government, will be prosecuted both criminally
and civilly, as the law allows. And I further notify and declare, that
such regulations as may be found expedient will be prepared and
published, setting forth the terms on which licenses will be issued for
this purpose, on the payment of a reasonable fee.
“Given under my hand and seal at the Government office,
Victoria, this 26th day of March, in the year of Our Lord
One Thousand Eight Hundred and Fifty-three, and in the
seventeenth year of Her Majesty’s reign.
“By his Excellency’s command,
“TAMES DoucLAs,
“Secretary.”
GOD SAVE THE QUEEN!

A few days later appeared the following regulations:

“Government House, Victoria, April 7, 1853.

“With reference to the proclamation issued on March 26th, de-
claring the rights of the Crown in respect to gold found in its natural
state of deposit within the Islands of Queen Charlotte, his Excellency
the Lieutenant-Governor has been pleased to establish the following
provisional regulations, under which licenses may be obtained to dig,
search for, and remove the same:

“1. From and after the first day of April no person will be per-
mitted to dig, search for, or remove gold on or from any lands, public
or private, without first taking out and paying for a license in the
form annexed.

“

2.

For the present, and pending further proof of the extent and
productiveness of the gold deposits, the license fee has been fixed at
10s. per month, to be paid in advance; but it is to be understood that
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the rate is subject to future adjustment as circumstances may render
expedient.

“3. The licenses can be obtained at Victoria, Vancouver Island,
until a commissioner is appointed by his Excellency the Lieutenant-
Governor to carry those regulations into effect, and who will be
authorized to receive the fee payable thereon.

“4.  Rules adjusting the extent and position of land to be covered
by each license, and for the prevention of confusion, and the inter-
ference of one license with another, will be regulated by the said
commissioner,

“JaMES DouGLAs.
“By his Excellency’s command,
“RICHARD GOLLEDGE.” **

This proclamation and these regulations were mere waste paper,
for by the time they were issued the public had become convinced,
by the failure of all the American expeditions, and more especially
by the failure of the Hudson's Bay Company's attempt, that gold did
not exist in paying quantities on Queen Charlotte Islands. But the
experience was not without value to the Governor. It gave practical
demonstration of the lure of the gold; it also afforded him an insight
into the course of conduct which might be expected to mect the
approval of the Home Authorities in dealing with foreigners seeking
entrance to British possessions; and further, it enabled him to see,
or should have enabled him to see, what lines of conduct they would
likely pursue should similar conditions again arise.

Almost as soon as the Indians of the mainland learned the nature
of the stone which was drawing these vessels to the unfrequented
coasts of Queen Charlotte Islands, they produced specimens of
similar ore. The Fort Simpson Journa! says: “This day one of the
chiefs from Skenar River that arrived here yesterday brought a few
small pieces of gold ore to the fort; also two large pieces of quartz
rock with a few particles of gold ore introduced. The chief
* * * tells me that it would take me seven days to go where the
gold is to be found and return back to the fort. I am told by others
that we can go to the place in two days or forty-eight hours by trail.
The chief tells me that the gold is to be seen in many places on the

18 Queen Charlotte Islands Further Papers, pp. 3, 4.
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surface of the rock for some distance, say two miles. This is a most
important discovery, at least I think so, and may prove more con-
venient for us to work than the diggings on Queen Charlotte Islands.”
And the entry concludes: “Who knows but this discovery may prove
more valuable than the diggings in California?” ' About a fortnight
later the first attempt was made to find this gold-bearing ledge; but
the arrival of the’Beaver caused the expedition to return before it had
fairly started. At last, on May sth, “Chief Factor John Work, with
Pierre Lagrace, Quintal, and four Indians, started in a canoe for
Skenar River to examine the gold regions said to exist up that river.”
The expedition ended in failure. In September another chief
reported gold on the Skeena, and the natives of the Nass River Dis-
trict also brought in some specimens. Chief Factor Work set out to
examine the latter region, but again disappointment waited upon his
fond hopes.

NEWS OF GOLD ON THE MAINLAND

The scene of the gold search now shifts to the southward, Who
discovered placer gold in British Columbia? and when? and where?
Perhaps no questions concerning our past have been so much debated.
The pioneers are hopelessly divided, and scarcely any two agree in
the answers. The discovery of gold in California is attributed by
every one to John Nlarshall; the discovery of gold in Australia to
Hargraves; but in British Columbia - . Before stating that which
in our opinion is the authentic story, let us pass in review a number
of claims.

Chief Trader McLean at Kamloops is alleged to have procured
gold dust from the natives as early as 1852.* This is supported by
Gavin Hamilton, a Chief Factor of the Hudson’s Bay Company, but
in reference to a later vear.  He says it “is absolutely certain that gold
was discovered in the Thompson River during the season of 1856,
because Mr. McLean at Kamloops had two pint pickle bottles half
full of gold taken from the river that year.”** Mr. Roderick Finlay-
son claimed that gold was discovered on the Thompson River and
that Chief Trader McLean sent to Victoria for iron spoons to be used

Y Fort Simpson Journal, April 8, 1852.
% De Groot's British Columbia, p. 13.
“ Victoria Times, July 26, 1907,
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in extracting the nuggets from the crevices of the bed-rock. James
Houston of Langley claimed to be the discoverer of gold in British
Columbia. His story was that in 1854 he came from the Columbia
River by way of Okanagan, and stopped at the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany’s old post at Tranquille Creck, near Kamloops. In the following
month, to the astonishment of all the men there, he, on prospect-
ing, found coarse gold near the point where the Tranquille empties
into the Thompson. This gold he sent to Governor Douglas, and it
was, according to Mr. Houston, the first intimation that officer had
of the existence of placer gold on the mainland. Mr. A. C. Anderson
states that the first news of gold came from Angus McDonald, in
charge at Fort Colville, who in 1855 “wrote down to Fort Vancouver
that one of his men, while employed hauling firewood, had almost
undesignedly amused himself by washing out a pannikin of gravel on
the beach near Colville.,” This in our opinion is the accurate
statement.

Wherever gold was first found in British Columbia, there is little
doubt that the discovery which brought the Fraser region into notice,
and hence is claimed by many as the original discovery, was made on
the Nicomen River, which flows into the Thompson a few miles east
of Lytton. Governor Douglas in his diary says: “Gold was first
found on Thompson River by an Indian a quarter of a mile below
Nicomen. He is since dead. The Indian was taking a drink out of
the river; having no vessel he was quaffing from the stream when he
perceived a shining pebble which he picked up, and it proved to be
gold. The whole tribe forthwith began to collect the glittering
metal.” ** This was likely in 1856.

Amongst other stories Bancroft gives the following: “McDonald
and Adams, two partners who were engaged in mining on the Thomp-
son and Fraser in 1857-8, brought down some of the first gold from
the bars where the first profitable workings were carried on. At the
mouth of the Fraser, McDonald killed Adams and secured his gold,
which he carried to Olympia and there displayed it.” ** As this has
passed current as one of the stories of the original discovery of gold
in British Columbia, it seems advisable to give the facts, that its falsity
may be apparent. Adams, while mining on Fraser River, was

22 Douglas’s Diary, Aug. 14, 1860.
23 Op, cit,, p. 350
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entrusted by Mr. McCaw of Steilacoom with some goods for sale.
When McDaniels (the real name of the person referred to as
McDonald) was setting out for the mines with a stock of
goods, McCaw gave him an order upon Adams for the proceeds.
Adams and McDaniels combined their goods in a joint venture.
Having disposed of them, some difficulty arose regarding their re-
spective shares and the payment of McCaw's order. As they were
descending the river together Adams stole the order from the sleeping
McDaniels and decamped. McDaniels followed in haste and over-
took the fugitive near the present village of Ladnes. Upon demand
being made for the stolen document and for a division of the dust,
Adams “assumed an air of insolence and answered the other to get it
if he could. Upon this the latter drew a pistol and shot him through
the heart, killing him instantly. McDaniels then proceeded to What-
com and gave himself up. The deed was fully -justified by the
circumstances. Adams is an Englishman, was formerly in the service
of the Hudson's Bay Company, and one of the most proficient scoun-
drels and horse thieves with whom our territory has ever been
afflicted.” ** The incident occurred late in May, 1858, and plainly
has nothing to do with the discovery of gold.

But to return.  We have already stated our opinion that gold was
first discovered on the Columbia River not far from Fort Colville
in 1855, Mr, James Cooper told the Select Committee in 1857 that
gold was found in the British possessions in that vicinity about the end
of 1855 In March, 1856, Angus McDonald, Clerk in charge of
Fort Colville, a trading post of the Hudson’s Bay Company, situated
some twenty miles south of the international boundary, reported to
Governor Douglas that gold in considerable quantities had been
found on the Columbia River within the British possessions.® The
miners, who were principally retired servants of the company, were
reported to be obtaining from £2 to £8 per day. The news of this
discovery caused unrest amongst the sparse population of Vancouver
Island. In the Journal of Nanaimo occurs this naive entry: “Sept.
8,1856. Five men were this day paid off as they declined working
any longer for the company—their intention being to proceed to the

“ Pioneer and Democrat, June 4, 1858.
“* Hudson's Bay Co. Report, 1857, Q. 3914, 3915, 3947-65.

» !'-I"‘ The New El Dorado, p. 341;Hazlitt, British Columbia, Ballantyne, p. 127; New Gold
ields, p. o1,
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gold mines at Colville; being under no agreement these men may not
be considered as deserters.” Three of them fell by the wayside as the
following entry shows: “Oct. 13, 1856. Of the men who left here for
the gold mines at Colville on September 8th, three of them returned
today, after an unsuccessful journey as far as Fort Hope.” Some of
the settlers on the Island also left for the new mining region. Travel-
ling by way of Puget Sound and the Columbia River they succeeded
in reaching their goal* Returning in the fall they brought the
report that from $4 to $20 a day could be made in this pursuit. In
October, 1856, Governor Douglas reported that two hundred and
twenty ounces of gold had been brought to Fort Victoria from the
Colville mines.**

There is extant a letter from John Work to Edward Ermatinger
dated August 6, 1856, in which it is stated:

“Gold has been discovered at Colville and even some found at
Thompson’s River and at Fort Hope, about eighty miles above Lang-
ley. Some of the diggings are reported to have done well and high
expectations are entertained though it has not created much excite-
mentamong ourmen. Owing to a destructive war that the Oregon and
Washington territory citizens got themselves involved in with the
Indians, which is not entirely over yet, it was not safe to go by the way
of the Columbia, so that many adventurers from that quarter could
not go, but we have lately learned that plenty are on their way there
now and there are grounds to anticipate favorable results, should, as
is expected, gold be found plentiful.”

American adventurers began to resort to the country with the first
news of gold discoveries. In 1857 they made their way from the
Columbia into the watershed of the Thompson River. The natives,
having learned the value of the yellow metal, threatened to prevent
all attempts at mining on any of the tributaries of the Thompson.
The miners, nevertheless, entered that territory, prospected the
streams, and found gold.*® The great area covered by them in these
researches gave ground for a well-founded opinion that the whole
territory was auriferous. In December, 1857, Governor Douglas
reported: “The reputed wealth of the Couteau mines is causing

27 James Cooper’s evidence in Hudson’s Bay Co. Report, 1857.
28 Gold Discovery Correspondence, p. 6.
# Gold Discovery Correspondence, p. 7.
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much excitement amongst the population of the United States terri-
torics of Washington and Oregon, and I have no doubt that a great
number of people from those territories will be attracted thither in
spring.” ** He therefore took the liberty of issuing (without author-
ity, for his commissions as Governor of Vancouver Island and
Lieutenant-Governor of Queen Charlotte Islands did not include any
portion of the mainland) a proclamation declaring the rights of the
Crown in respect to gold deposits within the Fraser River and
Thompson River districts—locally known as the Couteau region—
and forbidding all persons to dig or disturb the soil in search of gold
until authorized by license. The license fee was fixed at 10s. per
month, subject to future increase. Later it was altered to 21s.
per month. The proclamation and the regulations were, with the
necessary alterations to fit the circumstances, exact reproductions of
those issued in connection with the Queen Charlotte Islands. Thus,
early, the experience obtained in that fruitless gold quest became of
value. Recognizing that in so acting he was exceeding his authority,
the Governor says: “My authority for issuing that proclamation,
seeing that it refers to certain districts of continental America, which
are not, strictly speaking, within the jurisdiction of this Government
may, perhaps, be called in question; but I trust that the motives which
have influenced me on this occasion and the fact of my being invested
with the authority over the premises of the Hudson's Bay Company,
and the only authority commissioned by Her Majesty within reach,
will plead my excuse. Moreover, should Her Majesty's Government
not deem it advisable to enforce the rights of the Crown, as set forth
in the proclamation, it may be allowed to fall to the ground and to
become a mere dead letter.” **

In April, 1858, Governor Douglas reported that up to that time
the greater part of the mining had been carried on by the Indians,
and that about eight hundred ounces had been obtained from them.
The Thompson River Indians at first pursued the same course as those
on Queen Charlotte Islands had done. They closely watched the white
miners, and in every instance when the latter did succeed in removing
the surface and excavating to the depth of the auriferous stratum,
they were quietly hustled and crowded by the natives, who, having

%0 Gold Discovery Papers, p. 8.
3nd, p. g
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by that means obtained possession of the spot, then proceeded to reap
the fruits of the others’ labour. At this time gold was known to exist
on many of the tributaries of the Thompsen, especially on the
Nicomen; it had also been found on the Fraser about five miles below
Lytton. The Governor at the same time added: “I have further to
communicate for vour information that the proclamation issued by
me, asserting the rights of the Crown to all gold in its natural place
of deposit and forbidding all persons to dig for gold without a license,
has been published in the newspapers of Oregon and Washing-
ton territories, and that, notwithstanding, some seventy or eighty
adventurers from the American side have gone by the way of
Fraser River to the Couteau mines without taking out license.” **
These adventurers, the vanguard of the great Fraser River “rush” of
1858, came as the resuli of the action of the Hudson’s Bay Company
itself, which had, in February, 1858, sent to the United States mint
at San Francisco, in charge of Mr. Holt, the purser of the Otter, the
cight hundred ounces above mentioned. This fact was soon noised
abroad and in March a small band of prospectors started for the new
El Dorado. Ascending the Fraser they discovered rich pay on Hill's
Bar, about a mile and a half below Yale. News of their success and
samples of the dust were sent to San Francisco in April. Thus, visible
evidence was present to support the statements then current, emanat-
ing from those who, in the previous summer, had been mining on
the Thompson and its tributaries. For the reason mentioned their
work had not been very remunerative; but though their faith in the
richness of the new mining region was strong, the absence of tangible
results had prevented their stories from being implicitly believed.
The days of placer mining in California had passed by and conditions
were ripe for action.

The earliest reference to the mines of Fraser River appeared in
the Pioneer and Democrat, published in Olympia, Washington Ter-
ritory, on March 5, 1858. It runs as follows:

“We learn from Captain Jones of the schooner //"ild Pigeon, who
is engaged in freighting between this and other ports on the Sound
and Strait with Victoria, that much excitement exists on Vancouver
Island in consequence of the alleged discovery of rich gold deposits
to the northward in the British possessions. The precise locality of

32 Gold Discovery Papers, pp. 10, 11,
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these reported gold discoveries Captain Jones is unable to designate,
but, according to representations, they are located between Fort Hope
and Thompson River, and not to exceed four or five days' journcy
removed from themouth of Fraser River. Itis represented that persons
with canoes can approach within ten or twelve miles of the diggings,
although, in so doing, some pretty strong rapids will have to be
encountered. Report has it that miners are getting out from $25 to $50
per day each, and that Indian women are panning out $10 to $12
each. This, Captain Jones thinks, is an exaggeration, but has no
doubt of the existence of rich gold fields in the direction specified.
Nearly all the French and half-breeds on the Island had either
started for this new El Dorado or were proposing to start. Fort
Langley is sure to be entirely deserted—the chief factor being gone
to the diggings with provisions, merchandise, etc., leaving but one
clerk and a few Kanakas in charge. The company's blacksmith at
Victoria is employed day and night in manufacturing picks, shovels,
etc,, for the mine. It may not be amiss in this place to correct an error
into which some of our citizens have fallen, concerning the license
required by the British Authorities, as per proclamation of Governor
Douglas, for the privilege of working the gold diggings. The same
license (215. a month) is demanded of British as well as American,
or subjects of any other government; no distinction whatever is made
as regards nmationality or color. British subjects and American
citizens stand on terms of perfect equality as to the privilege of
working the mines.” *

The combination of all these causes set in motion a great northern
movement. Fortune beckoned to the downhearted of Oregon and
California, and pointed towards the yellow star now rising above the
unknown wilds of New Caledonia. The lure of the gold is always
strong; in these circumstances it was irresistible. The excitement
increased daily. As Donald Fraser, the T'imes correspondent, wrote ;
“None too poor and none too rich to go. None too young and none
too old to go; even the decrepit go.” ** Rumor painted the Couteau
country as a second California or Australia in point of mineral wealth.
From the Territory of Washington, boats, canoes, and every species
of small craft poured their human cargoes into the Fraser River

8 Pioneer and Democrat, March s, 1858,
* Brown's Essay on British Columbia, p. 3.
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District.  On Puget Sound shipping was paralyzed. All the crews
there deserted and rushed em masse to make their fortunes in the
mines. All manufacturing, a!l industry there was at a standstill. No
ties were strong enough to resist the golden influences.” Even the
soldiers in United States posts of Steilacoom, Forts Townsend and
Bellingham deserted in numbers. But in California the excitement
was, if possible, even more intense. On April 25th, the Commodore
arrived from San Francisco with four hundred and fifty miners. Gov-
ernor Douglas reported on May 8th that “not less than one thousand
whites are already at work and on the way to the gold districts.” A
week later he increased his estimate, stating that “fifteen hundred
white miners, at the smallest computation, had reached the dig-
gings.” All through the month of May vessels of every size and kind
sailed from San Francisco laden with eager treasure seekers.™

Portland was the destination of a considerable number of stcam-
ers during the early stages of the excitement. It was widely adver-
tised as furnishing the easiest access to the mining region by the
inside of plateau route, via Wallula, Okanagan, and Kamloops. Joel
Palmer, who was the first man to reach the Thompson River with
wagons, was one of the strongest supporters of this line of travel.
He states that in the summer of 1558 companics of four hundred and
five hundred men with pack animals overtook and passed his wagons
on the way. To guard against the Indians he adopted a quasi-mili-
tary organization. ‘The Columbia was crossed at Okanagan. The
cattle, of course, swam the river. The wagons were taken across on
two canoes, so arranged that the empty wagons rested upon them as
upon a ferry boat. The freight was piled in the bottom of the canoes
to give stability. Three wagons and their contents were thus taken
over at one time by four men. Rafts were necessary in some of the
difficult forest-covered country. On these the wagons and freight
were piled, and they were pulled and towed along the shore with
ropes. These few details will account for the fact that though
some companies did make their way along this route, it was not long
before it was recognized that the water travel to Victoria or Puget
Sound was the more satisfactory course to be followed.

The following list, showing the vessels clearing at San Francisco

i 8 Pioneer and Democrat, April 9, 1858,
i 3 Cornwallis' New El Dorado, p. 147.
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for Victoria and Fraser River points, gives a good idea of this feverish
excitement,

In April: Commodore, 300; Golden State, 15; Constitution, 140}
total, 455.

In May: Panama, 568; Commodore, 194; Pacific, 500; total,
1,262,

In June: Republic, 953; Commadore, goo; Panama, 1,070; Cor-
tez, 894 ; Santa Cruz, 208; Oregon, 618 ; Sierra Nevada, goo; Pacific,
400; Giulieita, 85; Kossuth, 8; Emma, 35; Pilgrim, 115 California,
1; Gold Hunter, 1323 Adelaide, 1005 Live Yankee, 210; D. M. Hall,
105; R. Passenger, 250; Ann Perry, 1005 William, 1505 F. Adams, 19;
total, 7,149.

In July: Orizaba, 786; Cortez, 614; Santa Cruz, 800; Oregon,
745; Brother Jonathan (Commodore), 3505 Sierra Nevada, 9oo;
Pacific, 460; Panama, 128; Ortolan, 8; Alert, 86; Frances Helen,
13; Golden State, 25; Jeannette, 25 Simon F. Blunt, 32; Giulietta, 10;
Page, 6; Pontiac, 13 Queen of the Isles, 12 Rosalthia, 1; Reporter,
1; Long Island, 53 Susan Abigal, 45 Curagoa, 403 Persevere, 80; Ellen
H. Wood, 8; Quaddy Belle, 105 Lucy L. Hale, 186; Nahumkeag, 60;
Jennie Ford, 45; Ellen Thomas, 9; Live Yankee, 190; E. F. IWillets,
250; Carribean, 350; Leonidas, 150; Manuel Moutt, 15; total, 6,278.

In August: Santa Cruz, 305 Panama, 49; Ellenita, 5; Oracle, 170}
total, 254.%

The greatest crowd leaving San Francisco on any one day was
one thousand, seven hundred and thirty-two persons. This occurred
on July 3d, when the steamer Santa Cruz, the barques Lucy L. Hale
and Nahumkeag, and the ships E. F. Willets and Carribbean sailed.
On July 10th, one thousand, four hundred and nine persons left the
Bay City for Fraser River mines.

The enumeration given above only relates to the emigration
through San Francisco. It may be added that these official figures
are much smaller than the numbers which common report stated
were being carried by the various vessels. For comparison, the’ fol-
lowing are given: On July 1st, the Sierra Nevada landed nineteen
hundred; on July 8th the Orizaba and the Cortez together brought
twenty-eight hundred.”* We may safely conclude that every vessel

7 Lewis and Dryden's Marine History of Pacific Northwest, pp. 69, 70.

8 Mayne, British Columbia, Vancouver Island, p. 46.
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was carrying without regard to coasting laws or safety, all who wished
to embark.” How nearly the reported numbers approached the
actual numbers can only be surmised. With the necessary allowance
in this respect and with the addition of those who came from Oregon
and Washington, from St. Paul, from Salt Lake City, and other
western points, from the Hawaiian Islands and the various ports of
Central and Southern America, it is perhaps fair to say that at least
twenty-five thousand persons were borne into the two colonies on
that impetuous tide.*

The scene in California is thus described: “The roads from the
mountains were lined with foot-passengers on their way to San
Francisco. Stage coaches came rolling into Sacramento, groaning
under their living cargo of sturdy miners. The worm-eaten wharves
of San Francisco trembled almost daily under the tread of the vast
multitudes that gathered to see a northern steamer leave. With that
reckless disregard of human life so characteristic of the American
ship-owner, old hulks, which had long been known to be unsea-
worthy and rotten, were refitted for the new El Dorado. Engines,
rusty from vears of idleness, were polished up; leaky boilers were
repatched—paint and putty filling gaping seams; and with names
often changed, to hide their former reputations, steamer after steamer
sailed from our port, loaded to the guards with freight, and black
with the crowds who were rushing to the newly-discovered land of
gold.” "

As the Rev. R. C. Lundin Brown says: “In short, never in the
history of the migrations of men has been seen such a ‘rush,’ so sud-
den and so vast.” *

The fare from San Francisco by steamer was: First-class, $65;
steerage, $32.50; by sailing vessels the rates varied from $25 to $60,
according to the speed of the craft and her seaworthiness. As the
detailed list already given shows, this great influx continued for
months without abatement.

The newspapers eagerly sought for and published every scrap
of information about the mines. The excited public avidly devoured
every item. In April, the Pioneer and Democrat, a newspaper pub-

% Overland Monthly, vol. 3, p. 524.
40 Victoria Gazette, Nov. 20, 1858,
41 Overland Monthly, vol. 3, p. 524.
42 British Columbia Essay, p. 3.
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lished in Olympia, Washington, stated that within a few months the
Hudson's Bay Company had traded with the Indians one hundred
and ten pounds of coarse gold procured from surface workings with
crude implements. The same issue stated that between one hundred
and fifty and two hundred miners were already at work on the Fraser,
and that three men had obtained $80o as the result of ten days’
work.*

The early arrivals were not slow in sending out glowing accounts
of the prospects. These were read even more greedily than the
newspapers. The following are reproduced as samples:

“Fraser River Gold Mines,
“April 29, 18358.
“FRIEND PLIMMER:

“We have arrived in these mines at last, after one of the hardest
trips on record. I shall not attempt to give you a narrative of the
difficulties and dangers of travelling on this river, as it would be
impossible for me to do justice to it at present. It was next to impos-
sible to get up when we came, and when the river rises to its full
height no canoe or boat can possibly get up or down.

“We are now located thirty miles above the junction of the Fraser
and Thompson Rivers, on Fraser River. The distances up are as
follows: From the mouth of Fraser River to Fort Langley, thirty
miles; from there to Fort Hope, sixty miles; from Fort Hope to
Fort Yale, one day’s travel; from Fort Yale to the Forks, eight days’
travel, and from the Forks to where we are now, thirty miles;
making in all about two hundred miles. About one-fourth of the
canoes that attempt to come up are lost in the rapids, which extend
from Fort Yale nearly to the Forks, A few days ago six men were
drowned by their canoe being upset in attempting to go down. There
is more danger in going down than in coming up. There can be no
doubt about this country being immensely rich in gold. Almost every
bar on the river from Fort Yale up will pay from $3 to $7 a day to (h'c
man, at the present stage of the water, and when the river gets low,
which will be about next August, they will pay very well. One
hundred and ninety-six dollars was taken out by one man last winter
in a few hours, but the water was then at its lowest stage. The gold

3 April 9, 1858.
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in the bars is all very fine and hard to save in a rocker, but with
quicksilver properly managed, good wages can be made almost
anywhere on the river as long as the bars are not actually covered
with water. We have not been able to find a place yet where we
can work anything but rockers; if we could get a sluice to work here
we could make from $12 to $16 a day each. We only commenced
work yesterday, and we are satisfied when we get fully under way we
can make from $5 to $7 per day each. The prospect is better as
we go up the river on the bars. The gold is not any coarser, but there
is more of it. There are men at work here who have been thirty miles
higher up and who say they made from $10 to $16 a day and that it
can be made on high bars where the water will not trouble them
until it obtains its highest point. There is also in that region diggings
of coarser gold on small streams that empty into the main river; a
few men have been there and proved the existence of rich diggings
by bringing specimens back with them. The Indians all along the
river from Fort Hope have a considerable quantity of gold in their
possession that they say they dug themselves, but those above us will
not point out the place where they get it, nor allow small parties
of men to go up to look after it. I have seen pieces in their posses-
sion that weighed two pounds. The Indians on the river as far up
as where we are have been very friendly, and I presume they will
remain so, but those above us are disposed to be troublesome. We
have been twenty miles above here on a bar which was paying $15
a day, but the Indians went into a camp about a mile above us and
forcibly took the provisions and arms from a party of four men
and cut two of the party severely with their knives in the row. They
came into our camp the same day and insisted that we should trade
with them or leave their country. All the white men that were
settled along the river in that section collected together, and, as the
bar there was not large enough for us all to work on, all hands moved
down here. This bar is large enough for a hundred men to work on
all summer; there are now about forty men in it.

“We design at present to remain here until we can get one hun-
dred men together, when we will move up above the Falls and do
just about what we please without regard to the Indians. There can
be no doubt about the existence of rich mines of coarse gold in many

parts of this country, but there have not been men enough here yet to




T B i s M s e —

BRITISH COLUMBIA 21

even prospect it. We are at present the highest up of any party of
white men on the river, and we must go higher to be satisfied. Five
or six dollar diggings won't do while there is better in the country.
[ don't apprehend any danger from the Indians at present, but there
will be hell to pay after a while.

“We are determined to remain here, if possible, until the river
falls, when good diggings can be found anywhere. 1 would not
advise anybody to come here until about the last of July, when I
think they can get up the river without much difficulty, There is
a pack trail from Fort Hope, but it cannot be travelled until the
snow is off the mountains,

“The prices of provisions here are as follows: flour,

$35 per cwt.
pork, $1 per Ib.; beans, go cents per Ib., and other things in propor-
tion. Every party that starts from the Sound should have their own
supplies to last them three or four months, and should bring the
largest sized Chinook canoes, as small ones are very liable to swamp
in the rapids. Each canoe should be provided with about thirty
fathoms of strong line for towing over swift water, and every man
well armed. The Indians here can beat anything alive stealing,
and if they continue to improve in that art, they will soon be able
to steal a man’s food after he has eaten it. 'We have lost nothing so
far but a little sugar, but others have suffered severely, We are all
in good health and spirits and expect to make a raise here before
we leave. We have all promised to write to different persons in
Seattle, but this will have to do for all at present. Let everybody
have a sight. “Yours truly,
“FRANKLIN MATTHIAS.”

“May 28, 1858.

“I am now on Fraser River, not far from Fort Yale, and am
mining; and I suppose you have heard various reports from these
mines. As far as I know, they are as good as I have ever seen. The
river is very high now and rising fast, and we have to work on the
highest bars, yet make from $12 to $50 to each rocker, so you may
know what we can do when the river falls. We have sluices, also,
although the gold is very fine and we lose much of it without quick-
silver. Now, if you want to come here, I will say this—that this is the
best mining region that I have ever yet seen; and I want you to tell




22 BRITISH COLUMBIA

Wm. Bridge to come with goods if he wants to come, for everything
commands a high price here, etc. Be sure and write to him and
tell him to start by the first of July, or any time, as I presume he can
come where we are at any time; and if he has anything for sale he
can sell it here at almost his own terms; and tell all my friends in
Portland the contents of this letter, etc. Tell them that we are now
working entirely on the river bars, and go down from two inches to
two feet and make $8 to $50—or I may say from $6 to $50; and if
you come and don’t find it as I say, I am here—take any revenge;
but don’t let any other reports prevent you if you start,

“Come, if you come at all, to Olympia; there purchase a good
canoe, and get you some Indians and come right along, and you
will find us eight miles from Fort Yale.

“S. ALLEN.

“To R. R. Rees, Portland, Oregon.”

Each incoming vessel spoke of hundreds of adventurers chafing
restlessly in San Francisco, anxiously awaiting an opportunity to
obtain passage to the new gold fields. Lieutenant Mayne, speaking
of this period, says: ‘“That road, too, from Esquimalt to Victoria,
about which so much has since been said, in and out of the Colonial
Assembly, was changed with the rest almost beyond recognition.
Only a few months before, we used to flounder through the mud
without meeting a single soul; now it was covered with pedestrians
toiling along, with the step and air of men whose minds are occupied
with thoughts of business; crowded with well-laden carts and vans,
with Wells Fargo’s or Freeman’s ‘Expresses’ and with strangers of
every tongue and country, in every variety of attire. Day after day
on they came to Victoria, on their way to the Fraser; the greater
part of them with no property but the bundle they carried, and with
‘dollars, dollars, dollars!’ stamped on every face.” **

The majority of those who sailed from San Francisco debarked
at Victoria, though some went on to ports on Puget Sound. Wherever
they landed about two hundred miles lay between them and the
mining region. The greatest of their difficulties were before them.
There were no regular means of communication with the Fraser
River, and they were compelled for the first two or three months

44 Mayne, British Columbia and Vancouver Island, p. 4s.
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to make their way as best they could, either by boats or canoes or
some kind of sailing vessel, to its mouth. The treacherous waters of
the Strait of Georgia took their toll, Many were never heard of
after leaving Victoria. But nothing daunted them. They battled
the fierce tide-rips and the sudden gales with grim determination.
Even after they entered the river, troubles and dangers were their
lot. The freshet-swollen stream opposed their advance. Speaking
on this subject, in May, Governor Douglas said: *“Many accidents
have happened in the dangerous rapids of that river; a great number
of canoes having been dashed to pieces and their cargoes swept
away by the impetuous stream, while of the ill-fated adventurers
who accompanied them, many have been swept into eternity.” **
Yet during the first week of June fifty canoes, containing an average
of six persons, reached Fort Hope in safety.

¢ Cornwallis' New El Dorado, p. 172.







CHAPTER II

GOVERNOR DOUGLAS AND THE MINERS—THE INDIAN
TROUBLES, 1858—FARLY MINING

The mainland of British Columbia, into which this vast migra-
tion was entering, was unorganized territory known, in a vague way,
as the Indian Territory, and sometimes, even more vaguely and per-
haps wrongly, as New Caledonia. Under the license of 1838 the
Hudson’s Bay Company held the exclusive trade with the Indians.
The courts of Upper Canada, by virtue of the Act of 1821 had juris-
diction over all causes, civil and criminal, arising in this region. It
is true that that act provided for the trial by Justices of the Peace
of petty offences and civil actions not exceeding £200; but this por-
tion was inoperative, no such officials having been appointed. The
miners knew but little of the geography of the land to which they
were hastening, and even less of its condition as regarded trade and
government.

Governor Douglas, as the head of the Hudson’s Bay Company
on the coast, fearful of its interests, viewed with feelings of alarm
this great immigration. He saw clearly enough that a great gold
country had been discovered and he realized that this meant death
to the monopoly.  Yet he tried to do something to save the situation.
In May he placed his views before the Secretary of State for the
Colonies, saying: “If the country be thrown open to indiscriminate
immigration, the interests of the Empire may suffer from the intro-
duction of a foreign population, whose sympathies may be decidedly
anti-British. Taking that view of the question it assumes an alarm-
ing aspect, and suggests a doubt as to the policy of permitting the
free entrance of foreigners into the British territory for residence
without, in the first place, requiring them to take the oath of alle-
giance, and otherwise to give such security for their conduct as the
Government of the country may deem it proper and necessary to

25
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require at their hands.”** This is noteworthy. The Governor's
experience in connection with the Queen Charlotte Islands gold
excitement had shown him that the Home Authorities would not
sanction any attempt to exclude foreigners; and here is an attempt
to pursue some middle course which, while allowing them to enter,
would, at the same time, prevent their interference with the com-
pany's interests. But Sir Edward Bulwer Lytton, in replying on
July 1, 1858, to this suggestion, made it clear that the foremost
country in the path of freedom and free trade would not tolerate
such restrictions. He stated he was particularly anxious to impress
upon Douglas that, “while Her Majesty’s Government are deter-
mined on preserving the rights, both of government and of commerce,
which belong to this country, and while they have it in con-
templation to furnish you with such a force as they may be able to
detach for your assistance and support in the preservation of law
and order, it is no part of their policy to exclude Americans and
other foreigners from the gold fields. On the contrary, you are dis-
tinctly instructed to oppose no obstacle whatever to their resort
thither for the purpose of digging in those fields, so long as they
submit themselves, in common with the subjects of Her Majesty,
to the recognition of Her authority, and conform to such rules of
police as you may have thought proper to establish.” *7

On the very day on which the Governor had written the letter
above mentioned—May 8, 1858—he, for the expressed purpose of
protecting the company’s monopoly of Indian trade, issued the

following

PROCLAMATION

“By His Excellency, James Douglas, Governor and Commander-in-
Chief of the Colony of Vancouver's Island and Dependencies,
and Vice-Admiral of the same, etc.

“WHEREAS, it is commonly reported that certain boats and other
vessels have entered Fraser’s River for trade; and whereas, there is
reason to apprehend that other persons are preparing and fitting
out boats and vessels for the same purpose:

49 Gold Discovery Papers, p. 13.
71d,, p. 17.







BRITISH COLUMBIA 21

“Now, therefore, I have issued this, my Proclamation, warning
all persons that such acts are contrary to law, and infringements upon
the rights of the Hudson’s Bay Company, who are legally entitled
to the trade with Indians in the British Possessions on the northwest
coast of America, to the exclusion of all other persons, whether
British or Foreign.

“And, also, that after fourteen days from the date of this, my
Proclamation, all ships, boats, and vessels, together with the goods
laden on board found in Fraser's River, or in any of the bays, rivers,
or creeks of the said British Possessions on the northwest coast of
America, not having a license from the Hudson’s Bay Company,
and a sufferance from the proper officer of the Customs at Victoria,
shall be liable to forfeiture, and will be seized and condemned
according to law,

“Given under my hand and seal at Government House, Vic-
toria, this eighth day of May in the year of our Lord,
One Thousand eight hundred and fifty-eight, and in the
twenty-first year of Her Majesty's reign.

“JAMES DouGLAs,
“Governor.,
“By His Excellency’s Command,
“RICHARD GOLLEDGE, Secretary.”

GOD SAVE THE QUEEN!

Strangely enough, this proclamation was not sent forward with
the despatch of the same date, nor was its preparation even hinted
at, and yet, more strangely, it was not sent to England until May
19th. The Governor's letter of that date is even more illuminating
as regards his attitude to the mining advance. “I am now con-
vinced,” he says, “that it is utterly impossible, through any means
within our power to close the Gold Districts against the entrance
of foreigners, as long as gold is found in abundance, in which case
the country will soon be overrun and occupied by a large white
population, whether it be agreeable to our wishes or not; while, on
the contrary, it is no less certain that the excitement on the subject
will soon altogether cease, if the diggings prove unremunerative,
and the crowds now gathering on the banks of Fraser's River will
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in that case soon abandon the country and return to their homes.
The evil will thus work its own cure without interposition on our
part. .
“In the meantime, with the view of escaping the greater evil of
compelling people to have recourse to expedients ?nr entering the
country by unlawful means, I am striving to legalize the entrance
of gold miners into Fraser's River, on certain conditions, which at
once assert the rights of the Crown, protect the interest of the Hud-
son's Bay Company, and are intended to draw the whole trade of
the Gold Districts through Fraser’s River to this Colony, which will
obtain its supplies directly from the Mother Country.”**

This is certainly, despite the last sentence, the language of one
having an eye single to the interests of the company. Most assuredly
itis not the language of a Governor having only in view the interests
of the colony and the nation. The panacea hinted at above, for
which l)nugllals had searched for months, he disclosed in the terms
of a proposed arrangement with the United States Pacific Mail
Steamship Company for placing steamers on a regular run from
Victoria to Fort Hope and Fort Yale. Such an accommodation
was much required and loudly called for. The diggings would
thereby become easily accessible, and the delays and dangers of the
strait and river be avoided, These terms show clearly that the chief
factor of the company, and not the Governor of the colony, dic-
tated them. They were:

“1st.  That they should place steamers on the navigable route
between this place [Victoria] and the Falls of Fraser’s River, one
hundred and thirty miles distant from its discharge into the Gulf of
Georgia, for the transport of goods and passengers to that point.

“2d. That they should carry the Hudson’s Bay Company’s
goods into Fraser’s River, and no other.

“3d.  That they carry no passengers except such as have taken out
and paid for a gold mining license and permit from the Government
of Vancouver Island.

“4th.  That they pay to the Hudson’s Bay Company, as compen-
sation to them, at the rate of two dollars head money for each
passenger carried into Fraser's River.

48 Papers relating to British Columbia, pt. 1, p. 11,
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“sth.  That they should otherwise be allowed to enjoy the whole
of the profits on the river transport,

“6th. The arrangement to continue in force for one year from
this date, and no longer.” **

On June sth, the American steamer Surprise accepted these
terms; the Sea Bird, Umatilla, Maria, Enterprise, and others, all
American bottoms, followed. The result of these regulations, coupled
with those regarding mining, was that no person—miner, artisan,
merchant or pleasure-seeker—could legally enter Fraser River Dis-
trict without paying in advance the sum of $7, being 215, or $5
for one month’s license fee, which went into the public revenue, and
$2 for head money, which went into the coffers of the company. To
enforce these payments and obedience to the proclamation of May
8th against vessels entering Fraser River, H. M. S. Satellite, in
command of Capt. James C. Prevost, one of the members of
the Boundary Commission, was stationed at its mouth. Later in the
summer the brig Recovery, which had been purchased from
the Hudscn’s Bay Company, took the place of the Satellite.”"

These exactions were a source of great annoyance to the miners,
who strove in every way to avoid them. On July 21st, Mr. Isaac J.
Stevens, the former Governor of Washington Territory, but then its
delegate to Congress, brought them to the attention of the Secretary
of State for the United States. One of the schemes to escape these
payments was the building of a trail from Whatcom to Hope, to
connect there with the brigade trail leading to the Thompson. Inci-
dentally, this trail was a factor in the strife which arose between
Victoria and the towns on Puget Sound, notably Whatcom, for the
trade of Fraser River. In addressing a meeting at that place in
August, 1858, Governor McMullin of Washington Territory alluded
to this rivalry, expressed the hope that Americans would give the
preference to American towns, and stated that the trail must be put
through from Whatcom to the Thompson.® Its construction was
earnestly pressed forward and rapidly completed. Mr. W, W.
DelLacy, its surveyor and locator, announced on August 17th that it
was finished and that it connected with the Fort Hope trail at the

 Douglas to Lytton, May 19, 1858; Id,, p. 12.
80 B, C. Papers, pt. 1, p. 24.
51 Victoria Gazette, Aug. 4, 1858,
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point marked “Blackeye’s Portage” on Anderson’s map.”* A hun-
dred guns pealing from the hill-top above Whatcom announced the
gratifying intelligence.”® In anticipation of this event and the monop-
olv of the trade of the Fraser River mines, which was confidently
cx-pcclcd to result, the town of Whatcom experienced quite a boom.
The mushroom town had all the appearance of San Francisco in
1848; houses were going up in every direction, steamers arriving
and discharging freight and passengers, miners hastily preparing
their packs and departing for the mines.”

A company of twenty-two men, who took this route, occupied
eight weeks in making the trip, and this, coupled with the advent
of river steamers at Yale, ended the much-vaunted Whatcom trail.
Grass grew in Whatcom's streets,

As the proclamations and regulations above given show, the
Governor at this time stood out for the extreme claims of the com-
claims to the exclusive trade and navigation of the mainland

pany
This position rendered him unpopular. The conditions

territory.

. were unique and demanded a broad statesmanship. But Douglas

championed the cause of monopoly and did not rise to the occasion.
On July 16th, however, Sir Edward Bulwer Lytton gave the death
blow to this obstructive policy. His dispatch is so pointed, shows
such an intelligent grasp of the situation, and such a clear under-
standing of the whole matter, that it is here reproduced. He said:
“But 1 must distinctly warn you against using the power hereby
intrusted to you in maintenance of the interests of the Hudson's Bay
Company in the territory. The Company is entitled, under its exist-
ing license, to the exclusive trade with the Indians, and possesses no
other right or privilege whatever, It is, therefore, contrary to law,
and equally contrary to the distinct instructions which I have to con-
vey to you, to exclude any class of persons from the territory, or to
prevent any importations of goods into it, on the ground of appre-
hended interference with this monopoly—still more to make Govern-
mental regulations subservient to the Revenues or interests of the
Company. I am compelled, therefore, to disapprove, and to disallow,
if still in force, the Proclamation of which your Despatch tr .nsmitted

52 Northern Light, Aug. 19, 1858
83 Victoria Gazette, Aug. 21, 1858,
84 Pioneer and Democrat, May 7, 1858,
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a copy.”™ To fit out boats and vessels to enter Fraser's River for trade
is no ‘infringement of the rights of the Hudson's Bay Company,’ as
that Proclamation terms it. Such infringement only commences when
any trading with the Indians is attempted; and no steps can right-
tully be taken to put a stop to legal acts of this description, on the
ground that they may be intended for ulterior purposes, infringing
on private rights. For the same reason, to require a ‘license from the
Hudson’s Bay Company’ of persons landing in the territory is alto-
gether unjustifiable,

“I am obliged, for the same reason, to disapprove of the terms
you have proposed to the Pacific Mail Company. They ought not
to be put under terms to ‘carry the Company's goods and no other’;
nor ought they to be prevented from carrying persons not furnished
with a gold miner’s license. Such license can properly be required
of intending diggers on the ground, but not of persons merely seek-
ing to land on the territory. Still less have the Hudson's Bay Com-
pany any right whatever to exact from passengers any fee or head
money, by way, as you term it, of ‘compensation’.’

In replying to these instructions, Douglas ingeniously suggested
that as the Indians were the only inhabitants when the license was
granted it was equivalent to a grant of the exclusive trade of the
territory, and was, therefore, broad enough to include the trade with
the whites when they arrived. Thus ended the endeavor of the
Governor to secure to the Hudson's Bay Company the whole trade of
the new mining country. The monopoly was clearly tottering to
its fall.*”

In the meantime, in spite of these obstructive regulations, miners
swarmed into the Fraser River District, paying, with ill-grace, the
exactions when escape therefrom was impossible. The rising waters
of the river gradually covered the bars, and before the main body
of the gold-seekers reached Fort Hope the river was at mid-freshet
height. “The space of mining ground was thus much contracted,
and many of diose who had risked their lives to reach it, finding this
condition, returned in disgust, without striking a blow, and loud in
their denunciations of the “Fraser River Humbug.” Some of the

8 Ante, p. 26.
56 B, C. Papers, pt. 1, p. 42.
87 B. C. Papers, pt. 1, p. 36.
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more industrious examined the country for dry diggings and quartz
ledges, while others sat themselves down patiently to await the sub-
sidence of the waters.

The Surprise, the pioneer vessel on the Fraser above Langley,
reached Fort Hope on Sunday, June 7th. Shortly after came the
Seabird, but on the downward trip on June 24th, the vessel grounded
on Seabird Bar at the upper end of Maria Island, and was left on
dry land by the receding waters. After an enforced stay of two
months she was, however, raised; a set of ways was placed under
her, and she was launched once more. Misfortune still pursued the
Seabird; reaching Victoria on September 4th, she struck a rock in
the harbour, but was floated without injury. On the return trip she
caught fire and was burned to the water’s edge, though the Captain
succeeded in beaching her on Discovery Island.” The Umatilla
was the first vessel to attempt the river above Fort Hope, reaching
Fort Yale, on July 20th, after a five-hour trip from the former
place.”® The return voyage was made in fifty-one minutes. On every
trip these steamers carried large numbers of miners, who either dis-
believed the stories about the bars being submerged or had deter-
mined to be upon the ground to take advantage of the first fall of
the water,

In June, Douglas visited the mining region to see the conditions
for himself. At that time the diggings began at Murderer’'s Bar,
some three miles below Hope. Such portions of the various bars
as could be worked at that high stage of the water were found to
increase in richness as the river was ascended, until Hill's Bar, about
a mile and a half below Yale, was reached. The gold was being
taken, practically from the surface, as owing to the freshet no exca-
vation deeper than two feet could be made. Even under this unsatis-
factory state of affairs Hill's Bar was in some instances producing
$50 per day per man. The gold found below Yale was in thin bright
scales or minute particles, requiring for its advantageous working
the use of quicksilver; while higher up, near Lillooet, for example,
it was found in pieces frequently ranging from twenty-four grains
to half an ounce in weight. As the miners ascendéd the river, find-
ing the gold thus larger and coarser as they proceeded, the opinion

58 Victoria Gazette, Sept. 8, 1858,
59 Pioneer and Democrat, July 30, 1858.
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began to prevail that there existed a richer country beyond. Near
Lillooet, from $10 to $30 per day were being obtained. At Mormon
Bar, one rocker yielded, in eight days, $830; a second rocker yielded,
in twelve days, $800: a third rocker yielded, in five days, $248.%

From dry diggings on a bench thirty yards from the river, at
the Fountain, sixty-four miles from Lytton, the average yield of
five rockers between June 1st and 7th were: first rocker, $42.12 per
day; second rocker, $55.58 per day; third rocker, $37.69 per day;
fourth rocker, $46.58 per day; fifth rocker, $54.51 per day.”!

During June and July, despite the hostile conditions, some seven
thousand, five hundred ounces of gold were exported; but this, of
course, gives no idea of the amount actually won.

As a first step towards the preservation of law and order Douglas
appointed, in June, 1858, Mr. Richard Hicks as Revenue Officer
at Yale, George Perrier as Justice of the Peace at Hill's Bar, and
O. Travaillot as Revenue Officer at Lytton.*

Late in July the miners in the vicinity of Yale, having leisure,
owing to the conditions existing, working out the American idea of
local “Miners Meetings,” sct themselves to law-making, The sale
of liquor without license, and the sale of fire-arms to Indians were
prohibited. As this course was without precedent in these British
possessions, the document is given hereunder: *

“WHEREAS, it is the law of the English Government that all per-
sons selling liquors shall procure a license for the sale of the same,
the penalty for a non-compliance with the law being a fine of not
less than £100, nor more than £300; and there being at present sev-
eral persons selling liquors in violation of the law, thereby endanger-
ing the lives and property of the people of Fraser River, for the
safety of the same we deem it expedient to adopt the following:

“Resolved, 1st. That we, the miners and residents of Fort Yale,
prohibit the sale of liquors on or in the vicinity of this bar after this
date.

“2d. For the better protection of life and property, we deem it
expedient to destroy in our midst all liquors that may be found on
or about the premises of any person.

@R, C, Papers, pt. 1, p. 19.
®1 B, C. Papers, pt. 1, p. 20
2 B. C. Papers, pt. 1, pp. 16, 17, 20.

83 Pictoria Gazette, Aug. 4, 1858,
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“3d. T'hat any one, after being duly notified, who shall be found
selling liquors without a license, shall be seized and whipped with
thirty-nine lashes on his bare back and be expelled from the vicinity.

“4th. That a standing committee of twelve be appointed to see
the above resolutions carried into effect, until the Government sees
fit to carry out its own laws. Said committee to be appointed from
among the prominent residents of said bar,

“gth. That a copy of the above be forwarded to the Victoria
Gazette, and also a copy posted at Fort Yale. "

“6th. That any one found selling or disposing of fire-arms or
ammunition to the Indians shall be dealt with according to Resolu-
tion No. 3.”

The committee referred to in the 4th resolution was appointed.
It consisted of Messrs. Johnston, Hussey, Hannel, Bateman, Shan-
non, Fields, Connelly, York, McRoberts, Ellard, Emerson, and
Cushe. That the miners were in earnest clearly appeared a few days
later when a body of them, headed by Donald Walker, the Hudson’s
Bay Company's agent, raided a place which had become notorious
for supplying liquor to Indians and, in spite of resistance, effectually
prevented a continuance of such conduct by broaching every cask
and destroying the whole stock.™

THE INDIAN TROUBLES IN 1858

Early in August, difficulties with the Indians forced the miners
above Yale to flee in terror to that place. Those who saved their
lives were robbed of tools and provisions—a serious loss, indeed, at
that time. A few unfortunately were unable to make their escape,
and their bodies, in some instances, scalped, came floating down the
raging river. The cause of the trouble was a combination of influ-
ences: the desire of the Indians to monopolize the mining, the suc-
cesses of the Indians in the war in Washington then in progress, the
arrogance of the miners, especially the American miners, who acted
as though the Indian had no rights, and lastly the interference with

the Indian women. The natives were reported to be obtaining fire-
arms and fire-water from the Chinese. A rifle company of forty was
organized by Captain Rouse and set out with packs on their backs on

4 Victoria Gazette, Aug. 10, 1858.
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August gth to force a passage to the Forks (Lytton). The details of
the movements of this company are variously reported, but it appears
that, reaching the Rancheria (Spuzzum), they engaged in a contest
with the Indians in which some seven of the latter were killed ; con-
tinuing in their work of destruction they burned three Indian vil-
lages and attacked the natives wherever they met them. The Indians
were not all ill-disposed, and it was a case, as too frequently happens,
of the punishment of the innocent with the guilty.

The storm centre was the Big Canyon. There a large body of
savages congregated, taking possession of the points of vantage with
the intention of barring the further advance of the whites. The
trouble could scarcely have occurred at a more opportune time. The
population of Yale, including the refugees, was in excess of three
thousand, all waiting like owners of tickets in some great lottery for
the drawing to commence. A meeting of nearly two thousand was
held. A call for volunteefs was issued, and one hundred and sixty-
three responded. Opinions were divided as to the course to be pur-
sued. Forty of the volunteers selected Graham as their conmander,
and determined to follow a policy of extermination; but the remain-
der, believing in conciliation and sufficient exhibition of force to
obtain this end, placed themselves under H. M. Snyder as captain.
In the fort was a case of rifles; at first Mr. Allard, the company’s
officer in charge, refused to supply these weapons, but as matters
now assumed a more threatening attitude the miners demanded
and obtained them. Captain Snyder induced the “war-to-the-knife”
faction to lag behind to enable him to settle matters. Leaving Yale
on August 18th with one hundred and twenty-three volunteers and
provisions for five days, Captain Snyder made his coursc up the
river. At Spuzzum reinforcements joined his party. At China Bar
the party were surprised to find some five miners in a sort of a forti-
fication. Amongst these persons was Edward Stout, one of the
earliest of the pioneer miners. This party, which had originally con-
sisted of some twenty persons, had been well to the forefront in the
ascent of the river, had then advanced through the canyons to Lytton,
and thence up the Thompson, prospecting and mining as they went.
Warned of the hostile intentions of the natives, they had stealthily
made their way down the river, avoiding the usual lines of travel,
but, in spite of the utmost precautions, their movements were dis-
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covered and they were harassed by a running fire.”” Man by man
was picked off by bullet or Indian arrow until but five were left,
and of these scarcely one but bore wounds more or less severe.

The display of force had its effect. Treaties of peace and amity
were concluded with all the chiefs between Yale and Lytton, includ-
ing Spintlum, a noted Thompson River chief. The expedition under
Snyder returned on August 25th, accompanied by five of the chiefs,
hil;'ing established peace on that portion of the river. Only two men
were lost on the undertaking—Captain Graham and his lieutenant,
the leaders of the extermination section, whe were shot by the Indians
at Long Bar for having trampled down a flag of truce.”” With the
news of the satisfactory adjustment of the trouble the miners streamed
out of Yale to reoccupy their ground and be ready to take advantage
of the expected fall of the waters.

Immediately upon learning of the trouble, Douglas prepared to

go himself to the scene. Late in August, supported by a force of
fifteen Royal Engineers from the Boundary Survey Service and
twenty marines from H. M. S. Satellite, he set out for Hope. He
arrived there on September 1st, a week after the reestablishment of
peace. A salute was fired in his honor and every respect paid him
by the miners. Finding that the use of liquor lay at the root of the
matter, Douglas issued, on September 6th, a proclamation forbid-
ding its sale to Indians under a penalty of not more than £20 and not
less than £5, and announcing his determination to proceed vigor-
ously against all offenders. He met the Indian chiefs and pacified
them; he arranged for the survey and disposal of lots in Hope; he
issued licenses for the sale of liquor; and he appointed peace officers:
Robert T. Smith as Justice of the Peace and Revenue Officer, and
W. H. Ladner as Chief Constable. Peter O'Reilly soon succeeded
the former, and William Teague, and later Donald Chisholm, suc-
ceeded the latter.”

After about a week's stay he went on to Yale, taking two days
to cover the distance, thus having an opportunity to meet the miners.
He estimated that three thousand persons were engaged in mining
in this section. At Hill's Bar he found a man who, with four assist-

8 Daily Province, March 29, 1913.
9 Victoria Gazette, Aug. 21, 24, 25, 26; Sept. 1, 1858.
o7 B. C. Papers, pt. 2, pp. 3, 4.
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ants, was taking out $400 a day;"* another was making $32 per day
out of ground already washed by the rocker to the depth of eighteen
inches; elsewhere mining was, however, not so productive, ranging
from $7 to $25 per day.

At Yale he followed the same process of organization as at Hope.
He also addressed a public gathering, giving an outline of his instruc-
tions, his policy in regard to the disposition of land, and his deter-
mination to see that the law was obeyed by whites and natives alike.
As a matter of even greater material interest, he reduced the price
of flour from $13 to $10.50 a barrel, and other goods in proportion;
and he assured the miners that the price of flour at Yale during the
winter would not exceed $11 per barrel.”™ His manly stand, his
manifest desire to improve conditions, and his determination to main-
tain order made him much respected and even popular amongst the
better class of the people.

On this trip, there being as yet no judge appointed for the main-
land, and one William King being charged with murder of a man
named Eaton, at Cross Bar, near the foot of the Big Canyon, Doug-
las appointed a commission to try the accused. The document is
given hereunder. Its importance in the development of our insti-
tutions justifies its insertion in full.

“By His Excellency James Douglas, Governor and Commander-in-
Chief of the Colony of Vancouver's Island and its Dependencies,
and Vice-Admiral of the same, etc.

“To all to whom these presents shall come, or whom the same may
concern, greeting:

“Know ye, that by virtue of the power and authority in me vested,
and reposing confidence in the loyalty, integrity, and ability of George
Pearkes, Donald Fraser, and Robert T. Smith,

“I have appointed and do hereby appoint the said George Pearkes,
Donald Fraser, and Robert T. Smith to be Commissioners constitut-
ing a Criminal Court for the trial of William King, upon any charge,
information, or indictment, now found, or that may hereafter be
found against him, by any judicial officer, or grand jury of Fraser’s
River District.

8 B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 5.
0 Victoria Gazette, Sept. 22-28, 1858,
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“To have and to exercise all the powers necessary for such trial,
and to pass and enforce sentence upon conviction of him, the said
William King, according to law.

“And this shall be your commission and warrant, for whatsoever
vou, the said Commissioners constituting said Criminal Court, shall
lawfully do in the arraignment, trial, conviction of the said William
King and in the execution of any sentence by you pronounced.

“Given under my hand and seal at Fort Hope, in the District
of Fraser’s River, this ninth day of September, in the year
of our Lord, one thousand eight hundred and fifty-
eight, and in the twenty-second year of Her Majesty's
reign,

“JAMES DouGLAs,
“Governor.” "

The trial resulted in the conviction of the accused for manslaugh-
aped from

ter. He was sentenced to transportation for life, but e
the gaol in Victoria and was never recaptured.™ The absolute ille-
gality of this first murder trial on the mainland will clearly appear
in dealing with the legal formation of the colony of British Colum-

bia and the appointment of the Governor.

Capt. P. B. Whannell, of the Victoria Yeomanry Cavalry in
Australia, and late of the Nigarris Cavalry in the East Indies, was,
later, appointed Resident Magistrate or Justice of the Peace at Fort
Yale. This action was taken because of complaints against Mr.
| Richard Hicks's official conduct, and he was thus relieved of a

portion of his duties for which he was clearly unfitted.™
In August the long-looked for fall of the river commenced;
between the sth and the 12th it fell four feet and a half at Yale.
i But hope was doomed to disappointment; again the waters rose,
d | and a further period of enforced delay occurred. The river was
I , struggling desperately to retain its wealth. About the end of August
H [ the real fall began. In a few days two hundred men were at work
on Fort Yale Bar, and four hundred on Hill's Bar. Like peaks
}’7 above the deluge, the bars began to appear with the gradual reces-

70 B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 7.
4 "1 Victoria Gazette, Nov. 6, 1858.
f " Victoria Gazette, Oct. 30, 1858; Nov. 6, 1858,
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sion and were greedily seized upon by the waiting hundreds. Miners
were now scattered all along the river from Fort Langley to Pavilion
Creek, the northerly boundary of the Couteau country, a distance
of about two hundred miles. The mining was still almost entirely
bar mining. These bars were merely the exposed river bottom—
sandy flats occurring in the river bends. For ages the Fraser rushing
madly along had torn away the gold-bearing rock, crushed it in its
natural arrastre, and deposited the gold with its accompanying metal-
lic sand in the eddies in these bends. Almost numberless, their very
locations now, in many—in fact, most—cases forgotten, it is nearly
impossible to compile a complete list of them. The following enume-
ration is the result of much research and many conversations with
the pioneers, and it is believed to be, especially as regards the lower
portion of the river, as accurate as can be made at the present time.
Fargo's Bar, a mile above Sumas village, was the lowest bar in
which gold in paying quantities was found. Next came Maria Bar,
near Harrison River. Then followed, in order, Seabird, Prospect,
Bluenose, Hudson, Murderer's or Cornish, three miles below, and
Posey, one and a half miles below Fort Hope. Between Fort Hope
and Fort Yale, a distance of about thirteen miles, the bars lay some-
what in the following sequence: Mosquito, or Poverty; Fifty Four
Forty; Union, two and a half miles above Fort Hope and on the
left bank; Canadian; Santa Clara, near, and Trafalgar, opposite,
the Sisters rocks; Deadwood; Express; Kennedy; American, about
four miles above Fort Hope and on the right bank; Puget Sound;
Victoria; Yankee Doodle; Eagle; Alfred; Sacramento; French, on
the left bank one mile below Strawberry Island; Texas Bar and
Strawberry Island, seven miles from Fort Hope; Hunter; Emory,
four miles from Fort Yale; Rocky; Trinity; Ohio Bar, a quarter
of a mile below Hill's Bar but on the opposite or right bank: Hill's
Bar, about two miles below Fort Yale on the left bank, the earliest-
worked, longest-worked, largest, and best-paying bar on the Fraser;
Casey; and Fort Yale Bar. Above Fort Yale they were: New York
Bar, at Lady Franklin rock; Rose’s Bar, about a mile and a half
beyond; Macrae's Bar, half a mile above Siwash Creek; another
Victoria Bar at the exit from the Little Canyon; Pike’s riffle, six
miles above Fort Yale; Sailor Bar, about a mile above Pike's riffle
and on the opposite or right bank; McKeen's Bar, seven miles from
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Fort Yale; Surprise, and Washington; Wellington Bar, one mile
above Sailor Bar; Madison; Davis Bar, nine miles above Fort Yale;
Foggarty's Bar, on the left bank; Spuzzum Bar, on the oppns'it(:
side; Humbug; Dutchman, a little below the site of the suspension
bridge; Chapman’s Bar, a mile above that spot; Steamboat, half a
mile further; Cross Bar or Short Bend, at the foot of the Big Canyon;
Clark’s riffle, on the right or west bank ; Swan's Bar; Nicaragua Bar,
about eight miles below the mouth of Anderson River, on the east
side; Tehama; another Rocky Bar, on the eastern side about a mile
above the present Camp Sixteen on the Canadian Pacific Railway;
Skuzzick Bar, at the mouth of the creek of that name; China Bar, a
short distance above Rocky Bar; Boston Bar, at the mouth of Ander-
son River; Island Bar, immediately opposite; Yankee Flat, the
site of the present North Bend; Rough’s Flat, just across the river;
Reid’s Point, a mile and a half above Yankee Flat; Angel’s Flat,
on the east side, at the mouth of Ten Mile Creek; another Fargo
Bar, a mile further; Salmon River Bar, at the mouth of that stream;
Boothroyd's Flat, on the opposite side; another Murderer's Bar;
Murriner's Bar, above Keefer's on the eastern side; Kanaka Bar, at
Jackass Mountain; Cisco Bar, near the present cantilever bridge;
Siwash Bar, about ten miles below Lytton; New Brunswick Bar;
Rancheria Bar, at Lytton. Above Lytton were: China Flat, three
miles, and Lower Mormon Bar, six miles from Lytton; then Rose,
Foster, Robinson, Horse Beef, and French, near Bridge River; the
Fountain, near Lillooet; Brady's, seven miles beyond; Haskells,
eleven miles from Brady's; and Big Bar, sixteen miles beyond Has-
kell's—all on the right bank. Above Bridge River on the right bank
were: McMillan's, three miles; Upper Mormon Bar, five miles;
Day’s Bar, six miles; Strangler’s Bar, twenty miles; and Dancing
Bill's Bar, thirty miles respectively beyond that point. On the lower
Fraser gold was first discovered on Hill's Bar, Union and Emory
were next, and then Chapman's and Boston.

With the recession of the water these bars became the scenes of
great activity. Although in the painful interval of waiting—June
to September—thousands had left the country and, notwithstanding
that the size of a claim was but twenty-five feet square, the bars
below the canyon were overcrowded. There was no bed-rock in
these sands, but there was, nevertheless, a recognized pay stratum,

— -~

go
bii
pl;
Bc
the
Di
Fr
lan
dig




BRITISH COLUMBIA 41

clearly defined and differing in color from the worthless sand of
the bar. This auriferous deposit was sometimes situated a few inches
below the surface, at other places it was two feet or even more. It
also varied in thickness. On Hill's Bar, it was claimed to have been
six feet thick and sixty feet wide, extending the whole length of
the bar, a distance of fully half a mile, and yielding on the average
5o cents a pan. As an instance of the richness of this bar, it is
recorded that Mr. Winston and two partners took out forty-six pounds
of gold dust between December, 1858, and April, 1859. Frequently
they obtained fifty ounces in a day and sometimes, when the sluices
were running day and night, seventy to eighty ounces in the same
time.™**

In September, Alfred Waddington counted eight hundred rock-
ers at work between Fort Hope and Fort Yale.” In November,
Douglas reported that there were over ten thousand persons engaged
in mining, of whom one-half were between Murderer's Bar and Fort
Yale. This did not, by any means, indicate that the bars in that
locality were the richest; but that access to the diggings above the
canyons was so difficult, the supply of food so precarious, and its
price so high that all but the most resolute and adventurous were
deterred. It is impossible to enter into the details of the output of
the various bars. The total for the six months—]June to December,
1858—was $520,353. Hill's Bar was admitted on all sides to be the
richest, and, besides being the first discovered in the advance of
1858, was the longest mined. The other bars, it may be said in a
general way, varied in productiveness from those which barely paid
meagre wages to those that produced three and four ounces per
man per day. Rockers, at best a slow and primitive method of
gold extraction, were soon superseded by sluicing, necessitating com-
bination of labor or investment of capital. Bar diggings also gave
place to bench diggings, of which, in 1858, the principal were the
Bond and the George Dry Diggings in the neighborhood of Yale,
the Hovey, below the confluence of Bridge River and Fountain Dry
Diggings, near the Fountain, one of the most celebrated spots on
Fraser River in that year. The great desire was to reach the richer
lands beyond the canyons, for no one doubted the theory that rich
diggings lay inland. Late in 1858 numerous canoes set out from

128 Inland Sentinel Feb. 17, 1881, from British Colonist, April, 1859,
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Yale and, in many instances, the water being low and the current
less rapid, made their way to Lytton; but the difficulties were so
great, the time occupied so long, and the dangers so many, that the
absolute necessity for a practicable trail was clearly demonstrated.
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CHAPTER 111
LAYING THE FOUNDATIONS

The license of exclusive trade with the Indians, granted in 1521,
and renewed in 1838 for a further period of twenty-one years, would
expire on May 30, 1859. The company, alive to its interests, began,
some three or four years before that time, to enquire what course
the Government intended to pursue in reference to a further renewal,
urging strongly the necessity for an early decision: The ministry
determined to place the question before Parliament. At the request
of Mr. Labouchere, the Secretary of State for the Colonies, a Select
Committee was appointed on February 4, 1857, to consider the state
of those British possessions in North America which were under the
administration of the Hudson's Bay Company, or over which they
possessed a license to trade.

In the discussion of the motion for the committee the feeling
was clearly shown that the time had come to strengthen British
interests in North America, and that a!l portions of the territory
suitable for colonization must be removed from the grasp of monop-
oly and opened to settlement”  Both in England and in Canada
grave apprehension existed that unless this course were pursued the
territory might cease to be British, Doubtless those who entertained
these opinions (and they were many, including prominent men like
Mr. Roebuck, Mr. Gladstone, Mr. Adderley, and Chief Justice
Draper), remembered the great American immigrations into the
disputed Oregon Territory in 1842-5, and the weight that fact had
upon the stand taken by the United States in the later stages of the
discussion and upon the ultimate settlement.™

The committee originally appointed consisted of Mr. Labou-
cheére, Sir John Pakington, Lord John Russell, Mr. Gladstone,

"3 Hansard Parliamentary Debates, yrd Series, cxliv, 219-41, cxlv, 97; Bancroft, B. C., pp.
377-80.
74 Hudson Bay Report, 1857, pp. 212, 213, 216, 222.
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Lord Stanley, Mr. Roebuck, Mr. Edward Ellice, Mr. Adderley,
Mr. Lowe, \"ismunt Sandon, Mr. Grogan, Mr. Kinnaird, Mr. Greg-
son, Mr. Blackburn, Mr. Charles Fitzwilliam, Mr. Gordon, Mr.
Gurney, Mr. Percy Herbert, and Mr. Bell. This committee sat
from l:‘chru;lr_\‘ 18th to March gth, when its proceedings were inter-
rupted by the prorogation of Parliament and its dissolution. In
the general election Mr. Bell and Mr. Gordon were defeated, and on
the reassembling of Parliament in May, 1857, the committec was
reconstituted, Mr. Matheson, a large stockholder in the Hudson’s
Bay Company, and Lord Goderich, whose views were doubtful,
taking the places of these defeated members, and Mr. Adderley,
himself an opponent of the company, chivalrously resigning to enable
an even more prominent opponent—Mr. Christy—to have a scat
on it.”™

When the ministry, though favorable to the company, had decided
upon this enquiry, the fact was communicated to the Governor-
General of Canada. Chief Justice Draper, of Upper Canada, was
instructed, on behalf of Canada, to proceed to England and watch
the proceedings. The reconstituted committee took up the work
at the point where it had been dropped, and the examination of wit-
nesses continued until June 23rd. Including those examined before
the dissolution, twenty-four persons gave evidence. Prominent
therein were Sir George Simpson, the Governor-in-chief of the com-
pany’s territories, Sir George Back, and Sir John Richardson, the
explorers, the Bishop of Rupert’s Land, Chief Justice Draper, Rich-
ard Blanshard, the first Governor of Vancouver Island, Edward
Ellice, “the old bear,” a director of the company and a member of
the committee, and Mr. James Cooper, a former resident of Van-
couver Island,

The company exerted itself strenuously to defend its interests.
The composition of the committee is eloquent as to its success at
the outset. A director and a large stockholder having positions on
a Parliamentary Committee investigating the conduct of their com-
pany is certainly an unusual condition. The influence of Mr. Ellice
—director, committee member, and witness—did much to guide
the decision.™ A curious illustration of the policy adopted by the

75 The Hudson Bay Question, 1857, p. 3.
7@ Hudson Bay Co. Report, 1857, pp. 48, 76, 77.
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company will be found in the contrast between the glowing descrip-
tions of the lands under their sway, given by Sir George Simpson
in his “Narrative of a Journey Round the World,” and his evi-
dence before the committee.” The range of the testimony before the
committee was very wide, territorially and materially, covering facts,
opinions, and suggestions. The result of their labors is a large folio
volume, a perfect mine of information. A great diversity existed
amongst the witnesses,  With regard to this province the evidence of
ex-Governor Blanshard and of James Cooper, who was one of the
members of the Provisional Council and later of the Legislative
Councillors, threw a flood of light on conditions on Vancouver Island
and gave some insight into the general state of affairs west of the
Rockies. Edward Ellice, as was to be expected, combatted their
views.”™ He cast the blame of the failure of the colonial experiment
on Vancouver Island from the shoulders of the company, where it
rightly belonged, upon those of the Imperial Government, He
declared that the sooner the Crown repossessed itself of the Island
the better; that the company had spent £80,000 in sending out colo-
nists; and that its whole capital would be sunk in this unprofitable
undertaking.”™ The company was willing to end its attempted colo-
nization on being repaid its outlay; and, while he thought that any
government on the Island should be extended over the mainland,
he was careful to insist that this would not be inconsistent with the
license of exclusive trade with the Indians.

The committee met with closed doors to consider the evidence.
Here, also, a great diversity of opinion became at once evident.
Three reports were offered; one by Secretary Labouchére; another
by Mr. Christy; and a third by Mr. Gladstone.*® The latter took
the plain stand that country capable of colonization should be re-
moved from the control of the company, but such as was incapable
thereof should remain within that control. His resolutions were
defeated by the casting vote of the chairman. The report ultimately
adopted on July 31, 1857, after four meetings for discussion, was a
harmless and colorless affair—the combination, to a certain extent,

77 McCarthy, History of Our Own Times, chap. LV; Op. Cit,, chaps. 1, 2.
78 Hudson Bay Co. Report, 1857, 285-97, 190-210.

™ Hudson Bay Co. Report, 1857, pp. 333-6.

50 Hudson Bay Co. Report, p. xiv.
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of those proposed by Secretary Labouchére and Mr. Christy. The
portion relating to this province is the most definite.

10, Your committee are of opinion that it will be proper to
terminate the connection of the Hudson's Bay Company with Van-

Island as soon as it can conveniently be done, as the best

couver
means of favoring the development of the great natural advantages
of that important colony. Means should also be provided for the
ultimate extension of the colony over any portion of the adjoining
continent to the west of the Rocky Mountains on which permanent
settlement may be found to be practicable.” *

The committee recommended the continuance of the existing right
of exclusive trade with the natives west of the Rockies, except in so
far as limited by the above resolution.™ Edward Ellice had carried
the day. The company, fully posted and far-seeing, might well be
satisfied. A colony on the Pacific seaboard, separated by thousands
of miles from the nearest British settlement and debarred by a high
tariff wall from finding a market for its products in the adjacent
American territory, could be but a travesty. It would offer no
attractions to immigrants. It must remain a mere hunting ground
monopolized by the company under its license of trade. Considering
matters in this light, the company was satisfied.  But this view took
not into consideration the powerful lure of the gold. The end of
the monopoly was at hand. It was to come not by virtue of a Parlia-
mentary inquiry, but by the advent of Californian miners. The
influence of Edward Ellice might paralyze the hand of Parlia-
ment, but was powerless against the pick and shovel of resolute
adventurers.

It has already been shown that in issuing the Proclamation of
December 28, 1857, declaring the right of the Crown to gold in its
natural place of deposit, and forbidding all persons to mine therefor
without license, Douglas was exceeding his jurisdiction.® He was
not Governor of the mainland, and as the representative of the Hud-
son’s Bay Company, which on the mainland had only the license of
exclusive trade, he had no authority to enunciate the rights of the
Crown or the terms on which mining licenses would be issued. His

#1 Hudson Bay Co. Report, 1857, p. iv.
2 1d.
53 Ante, p. 13.
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despatch accompanying the document admits its illegality.” The
situation was clear to Sir E. B. Lytton, the new Secretary of State for
the Colonies, who on July 16, 1858, in acknowledging its receipt, says:
“In strict law, your commission extends to Vancouver Island only;
but you are authorized, under the necessity of the case, to take such
measures, not inconsistent with the general rights of British subjects
and others within Her Majesty's dominions, as that necessity may
justify.” ** Not this proclamation alone, but all the other proclama-
tions and all the appointments, agreements, and mining regulations
issued and made by Douglas, and all acts done by him in connection
with the government of the mainland prior to November 19, 1858,
were invalid; for it is plain that the authority purporting to be given
to him, so to act, by the above-mentioned despatch, was insufficient
for that purpose. As Lytton himself admitted: “In point of fact,
the Governor had no legal power to issue the proclamation, or cause
it to be respected, he having no commission as Governor on the main-
land.” * It will be observed, too, that in the Proclamation of De-
cember 28, 1857, above referred to, in the Proclamation of September
6, 1858, against the sale of liquor to Indians, and in that of Septem-
ber 15, 1858, warning the public that no Crown lands on the main-
land had been disposed of, Douglas did not purport to act as the
Governor of the mainland. On the contrary, all these proclamations
are by “His Excellency, James Douglas, Governor of Vancouver
Island and its Dependencies, Commander-in-Chief and Vice-
Admiral of the same, etc.” It is, perhaps, scarcely necessary to add
that the colony of Vancouver Island had no dependencies attached
to it.

The very full reports which Douglas forwarded to Downing
Street, placed before the authorities an accurate view of existing
conditions and enabled them to forecast the probable lines of future
development. Fortunately, Sir E. B. Lytton was at the head of
the Colonial Department.  With the eye of genius he pierced the
veil, “saw the vision of the world, and all the wonder that would
be.” As Justin McCarthy says: “He seemed resolved to prove, by
active and original work, that he could be a practical colonial states-
man as well as a novelist, a playwright, and a Parliamentary ora-

# Gold Discovery Papers, p. 8.
55 B. C. Papers, pt. 1, p. 42.
8¢ Lytton's Speeches, vol. 2, p. So.
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tor.”” ¥ Lytton realized to the fullest extent the necessity of securing
that the p'romising territory on the mainland to which a heteroge-
neous horde was rushing should be immediately organized, and
thereby the restraints of law and order be placed upon the fierce
passions which spring from the lust of gold.*®

To this end he introduced, on July 8, 1858, into the House of
Commons, a bill to provide for the government of New Caledonia.
In so doing he traced the history of the discovery of gold, and dwelt
upon the necessity of some organized government being established
“amidst a motley inundation of immigrant diggers, of whose ante-
cedents we are wholly ignorant, and of whom perhaps few, if any,
have any intention to become resident colonists and British sub-
jects.”® He pointed out that for this reason it was impossible to
establish self-government, and that it was desirable that until some
stable population existed the Governor should be the law-maker,
but with power to establish responsible government should the neces-
sary elements appear. The act was to expire in 1863. In this con-
nection he stated: “But, happily, in that new world the true sense
of the common interest is rapidly conceived and the capacities of
self-government no less rapidly developed. And probably even be-
fore the end of the five years, to which I propose to limit the opera-
tion of this act, the material for a popular representation may be
found, and the future destinies of this new-born settlement boldly
intrusted to the vigorous movement of liberal institutions.” *

His concluding remarks, after pointing out the small amount of
the gold production, are worthy of presentation. Read in the light
of fifty years’ development they reach the highest standard of proph-
ecy. “More rational, if less exciting, hopes of the importance of the
colony rest upon its other resources, which I have described, and
upon the influence of its magnificent situation on the ripening
grandeur of British North America. 1 do believe that the day will
come, and that many now present will live to see it, when, a portion,
at least, of the lands on the other side of the Rocky Mountains being
also brought into colonization and guarded by free institutions, one
direct line of railway communication will unite the Pacific to the

87 History of Our Own Times, chap. 39.
88 Lytton’s Speeches, vol. 2, p. 8s.

9 1d,, vol. 2, p. 82.

90 1d., vol. 2, pp. 85, 86.
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Atlantic. Be that as it may, of one thing I am sure—that though at
present it is the desire of gold which attracts to this colony its eager
and impetuous founders, still, if it be reserved, as I hope, to add a
permanent and flourishing race to the great family of nations, it
must be, not by the gold which the diggers may bring to light, but
by the more gradual process of patient industry in the culture of
the soil, and in the exchange of commerce; it must be by the respect
for the equal laws which secure to every man the power to retain
what he may honestly acquire; it must be in the exercise of those
social virtues by which the fierce impulse of force is tamed into
habitual energy, and avarice itself, amidst the strife of competition,
finds its objects best realized by steadfast emulation and prudent
thrift.” "

The name of the new colony, British Columbia, was selected by
Queen Victoria herself, while the bill was passing through Parlia-
ment. In the speech from which the above extracts are taken, Lytton
constantly refers to the mainland as New Caledonia, and this was the
name proposed in the bill as introduced. The reason for the change
will appear from the following letter:

“Osborne, July 24, 1858.

“The Queen has received Sir E. Bulwer Lytton’s letter. If the
name of New Caledonia is objected to as being already borne by
another colony or island claimed by the French, it may be better to
give the new colony west of the Rocky Mountains another name.
New Hanover, New Cornwall, and New Georgia appear from the
maps to be the names of subdivisions of that country, but do not
appear on all maps. The only name which is given to the whole
territory in every map the Queen has consulted is ‘Columbia,’ but
as there exists also a Columbia in South America, and the citizens
of the United States call their country also Columbia, at least in
poetry, ‘British Columbia,” might be, in the Queen's opinion, the
best name.”

By this act, which came into force August 2, 1858, the boundaries
of British Columbia were the United States on the south, the Rocky
Mountains on the east, the Finlay branch of the Peace River and the

o1 Lytton's Speeches, vol. 2, p. 87.
Vol -4
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Nass River (therein called Simpson’s River) on the north, and the
Pacific Ocean on the west, including Queen Charlotte Islands and
all the other islands along the coast line except Vancouver Island.
The Governor was empowered to make laws for the government of
the colony, with a provision for the establishment of a Local Legis-
lature when circumstances should justify it. After the proclamation
of the act in British Columbia, the old acts, giving the courts of
Upper Canada jurisdiction over actions and prosecutions arising
within the Indian Territory, were to be repealed so far as affected
the new colony.”® Vancouver Island was to remain a separate col-
ony, but it could be incorporated with British Columbia by passing
a resolution of its two Houses, approved by the Queen. The act
was to continue in force until the end of the session of Parliament
after December 31, 1862.

Sir E. B. Lytton now commenced to lay the foundations of the
colony. Even before the passage of the act he had informed Douglas
of his intention to appoint him Governor, provided he would sever
his connection with the Hudson's Bay Company and its off-shoot,
the Puget Sound Agricultural Company. In a series of remarkable
despatches during July and August the Colonial Secretary enunci-
ated the principles to be applied.”® The colony must be self-support-
ing. The tax upon mining Lytton did not look upon with favor,
having in view its trial in Australia. He suggested that it might be
replaced by an export duty on gold; and pointed out that if con-
tinued the tax must be equal, and that it must be made plain that it
was levied, not in regard to any supposed rights of the Hudson's
Bay Company, but in virtue of Royal Prerogative alone. In this
connection he accented the instructions already given defining the real
rights of that company under its license to trade, and intimated his
intention of revoking that license, Moderate duties on beer, wine,
and other articles usually subject to taxation he considered the better
means of raising a revenue. The disposal of public lands was indi-
cated as a further means of obtaining funds. While believing that
agricultural land ought to have a relatively high upset price, he
recognized that the price prevailing in the adjoining American terri-
tory must be a great factor in arriving at a conclusion. Land for

92 43 Geo. 111, c. 138; 1 and 2 Geo. IV, ¢. 66.
3 B, C. Papers, pt. 1, pp. 44-76.
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settlement should be opened gradually and mere land-jobbing pre-
vented as much as possible. All peaceful settlers must be attracted
without regard to nationality, and naturalization of desirable foreign-
ers made easy."* The greatest care must be taken to prevent even the
suspicion of favour to the servants of the Hudson's Bay Company in
the sales of land, and every precaution, which not only impartial
probity but deliberate prudence could suggest, must be used so that
no handle might be given, not alone for such a charge, but even for
one of apathy or indifference to any kind of land-jobbing. The
Colonial Secretary pointed out that the preservation of order, the
construction of public works to open up the country, the surveying
of townsites and agricultural lands, and the payment of the necessary
officers were the important objects to which the revenue should be
devoted. He especially enjoined that the natives be treated firmly,
but humanely, and that the confidence and goodwill of the immi-
grants be obtained. The Governor was instructed to work along the
line of local self-government, and was reminded that the extraor-
dinary power of law-making confided to him was a mere temporary
measure, necessitated by the unique conditions. Popular institutions
should be established with as little delay as possible, and in the mean-
time some kind of temporary council should be formed by calling in
such persons as the miners themselves had confidence in.  And finally
Lytton asked that full information regarding the resources and
natural wealth of the colony be sent him.

Considering it of great importance to the general social welfare
and dignity of the colony that gentlemen from England should be
encouraged to throw in their lot with the new colony,” Lytton
selected Mr. Wymond O. Hamley as Collector of Customs, Mr.
Chartres Brew, of the Irish Constabulary, who had served with dis-
tinction in the Crimea, as Inspector of Police, and Mr. Matthew
Baillie Begbie as Judge." In order to avoid any suggestion of undue
favour to the servants of the Hudson’s Bay Company, he suggested
that the Governor should inform him of the situations he wished

filled, and arrangements would be made to make careful selections
in England. A detachment of the Royal Engineers would be sent to

94 Despatch, Aug. 14, 1858; Id. p. s0.
s B. C. Papers, pt. 1, p. 66.
98 Victoria Gazette, Nov. 9, 1858,
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preserve order and aid in the exploration and development of the
country. But Lytton never failed to remind the Governor that the
colony- must meet the expenses unaided. Replying on one occasion,
Douglas used the following language: “I shall not fail to attend
most carefully to those instructions, without, however, entertaining
{ much hope of being immediately able to meet the expense of the
{ military establishments of the country, or of roads, surveys, public
buildings, and other indispensable outlay, which must be incurred
before the country can possibly become a fruitful source of revenue;
like a nursling it must, for a time, be fed and clothed; yet I trust it
will, before many years, reimburse the outlay and repay the kind care
of the Mother Country with interest.” ® The Governor understood
what the Secretary did not, that the command to be self-supporting
| from the outset was a modern edition of Pharaoh’s order to the
Israelites.

Lytton’s feelings in regard to his work in launching the colony

| are shown in his speech to the electors of Hertford in September,
| 1861. “That colony, with its neighbor, Vancouver, taken from the
; Hudson’s Bay Company, gives to England her only possession on
| the Pacific Ocean. But that possession is the key to the Pacific, and
: had I been still in office, long before this, I venture to think, one line
N of British settlements would have sprung up to connect the Pacific
with the Atlantic. Quietly, inoffensively, with no alarm to Europe,
no threat to the civilized laws of nations, England has thus annexed
from the wilderness, annexed to her Crown, a country larger than
England itself, and which, before a quarter of a century is over, will
add millions to our national ‘industry in support of the profits of
agriculture, the wages of labour, and the interchange of commerce.
I am not out of place in thus alluding to that act in my own special
administration of which I am most proud * * * ; and if in
future generations my name should be remembered in connection
with the commencement of a colony destined, I believe, to be the
wealthiest of all that now speak our language, it will be as the repre-
sentative of this county of Hertford * * * 70

The Governor's salary was mentioned by Lytton as £1,000 per

97 B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 21.
98 British Columbian, Dec. 19, 1861.




FORT LANGLEY AS IT IS TODAY

The site of “Kootenae House” built by David Thompson in July, 1807, located at
west side of Columbia River one mile north of and below Windermere Lake and
one quarter of a mile from mouth of Toby Creek Ihe piles of rock indicate
chimney bottoms and the Indian is Michel Pete, a Kootenay, whose mother
aged nearly 80 vears, identified the spot for him without reference to either
map or books. This photograph taken in August, 1012, by T, C. Elliott, ¥, W

Howay, and H. Ries
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annum, to be paid out of a Parliamentary vote.”” Douglas, perhaps
having in mind his predecessor’s evidence before the Parliamentary
Committee of 1857, that it had cost him £5,500 per annum to live on
Vancouver Island, replied that £5,000 a year would be no more than
sufficient to cover the actual expenses of maintaining the dignity of
the two positions he was now to hold—Governor of Vancouver
Island and Governor of British Columbia.! Lytton responded that
he would not exceed £1,800 for the dual positions out of the Parlia- s
mentary grant, but very obligingly added that he would not object
to a large increase of that salary out of the local funds. The amount
contributed by the colony towards the Governor's salary was £3,000.
On November 16, 1858, Douglas, accompanied by Rear-Admiral
Baynes, David Cameron, Chief Justice of Vancouver Island,
Matthew B. Begbie, Judge of British Columbia, and Captain Par-
sans, in command of the first detachment (twenty men) of the Royal
Engineers, left Victoria on H. M. S. Satellite for Point Roberts,
Arriving there on the 18th they were transferred to the Otter, one of
the Hudson’s Bay Company's vessels, and, being joined by the historic
Beaver at the mouth of the Fraser, proceeded up the river to old
Fort Langley (Derby), where the Otter debarked a number of the
Engineers, thus augmenting the force already there under Captain
Grant.* The Beaver continued her journey to new Fort Langley,
some two and a half miles beyond, carrying the officials mentioned
and a body guard of Engineers. On November 19, 1858—the natal day
of British Columbia—the party, accompanied by a guard of honour
commanded by Captain Grant, landed on the soggy beach and pro-
ceeded in procession to the fort. A salute of eighteen guns was fired.
The Union Jack was run up over the principal entrance. The day
was very rainy and the proceedings, which were to have been held
in the open air, were conducted in the principal building within the
palisades. About a hundred persons were present to witness the
historic function. Douglas first addressed Mr. Begbie, delivering to
him his commission as Judge. The latter took the usual oaths; and
after Douglas had read Her Majesty's commission appointing him
Governor, the Judge administered the oaths of office and allegiance,

" B, C. Papers, pt. 1, pp. 43, 44.
1 Despatch, Oct. 4, 1858; B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 1.
2 Post, pp. §7-61.
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etc. This formality completed, the Governor read a proclamation
da November 3rd, revoking the Hudson’s Bay Company’s license

of exclusive trade with the Indians so far as the new colony was con-
cerned.* Many a minet’s heart throbbed with joy when it was known
that this license, which had been the cause of so much bitter conten-
tion and trouble, was gone forever. The Governor then issued three
proclamations: one, announcing the act for the government of British
Columbia: another, indemnifying the Governor and all persons
acting under his orders for all acts done prior to that date—these
actsbeingallillegal, as already indicated; and a third, declaring that
the civil and criminal laws of England as they existed on November
19, 1858, and so far as not from local circumstances inapplicable,
should, until altered, be in full force in the colony.! Thus was
British Columbia officially born, with all the pomp and circumstance
which the Governor so dearly loved, and which the existing condi-
tions permitted. The Governor and his party left Langley on the
following day and reached Victoria on the 21st. The body guard
returned to Derby and set to work constructing the necessary public

buildings.

2 Despatch, Nov. 27, 1858 ; B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 34
$ Victoria Gazette, Nov. 25, 1858.
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CHAPTER 1V
THE ROYAL ENGINEERS

It has been already shown that when the Queen Charlotte Islands
excitement was in existence Douglas requested and obtained the
services of a man-of-war to maintain order. A strong believer in the
power behind the throne, he was equally strong in his suspicions of
foreigners, and regarded all who had lived in California as non-
respecters of law and sowers of sedition. It can scarcely be doubted
that his desire to protect the interests of the Hudson's Bay Com-
pany was largely responsible for this viewpoint. His conviction of
the auriferous character of the country, and his experience of the
magnetism of gold, led him to foresee the rush of 1858; but he also
knew from his Queen Charlotte Islands experience that the door
could not be closed. He must accept the situation and content him-
self with regulating and restraining the conduct of the gold-seekers.

Writing upon thissubjecton August 19, 1858, Douglas points out
that the Satellite and the Plumper afford reasonable protection to
the seaboard, but that some force is wanted in the interior to sup-
port the officers whom he has appointed, and to protect the miners.”
“The affairs of Government,” he says, “might be carried on smoothly
with even a single company of infantry; but at present, I must under
management—a position inconsistent with the dignity of the Queen’s
Providence, depend, in a great measure, on personal influence and
Government. I, therefore, trust that you will take our case into
consideration, and direct such reinforcements to be sent to this
country as Her Majesty's Government may deem necessary.” The
necessity of such a force was already apparent to the Secretary of
State, Sir E. B. Lytton, as appears from his despatches, as well as
his speech on the British Columbia Act® On July 30th he had noti-

8 B. C. Papers, pt. 1, p. 27.
¢ Lytton's Speeches, vol. 2, p. 85.
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fied Douglas that he proposed to send by the earliest opportunity,
an ificer of Royal Engineers (probably a Field Officer with two
or three subalterns) and a company of sappers and miners made
up to one hundred and fifty men.’

On the following day, Lytton enlarged upon this subject, dealing
with the duties of the corps. “It will devolve upon them to survey
those parts of the country which may be considered most suitable
for settlement, to mark out allotments of land for public purposes,
to suggest a site for the seat of Government, to point out where
roads should be made, and to render you such assistance as may be
in their power, on the distinct understanding, however, that this
force is to be maintained at the Imperial cost for only a limited

period, and that if required afterwards the colony will have to defray
the expense thereof. * * * [ shall endeavor to secure, if pos-
sible, the services of an officer in command of the Engineers who
will be capable of reporting on the value of the mineral resources.
This force is sent for scientific and practical purposes and not solely
for military objects. As little display as possible should, therefore,
be made of it. Its mere appearance, if prominently obtruded, might
serve to irritate, rather than appease, the mixed population which
will be collected in British Columbia. It should be remembered
that your real strength lies in the conviction of the emigrants (sic)
that their interests are identical with those of the Government, which
should be carried on in harmony with and by means of the people

of the country.” ®

Col. Richard Clement Moody was appointed to the command
of the detachment. He was Chief Commissioner of Lands and
Works of British Columbia and held a dormant commission as
Lieutenant-Governor thereof. He had already had some colonial
experience, having, while a Lieutenant, served as Governor of the
Falkland Islands during the attempted settlement there in the early
'40s." The officers were selected for special work, The senior one,
Capt. J. M. Grant, was gifted with great constructive genius; the
second, Capt. R. M. Parsons, was chosen for his high qualifications in
surveying, from the most scientific branches to the ordinary work

7B. C. Papers, pt. 1, p. 44.
& B. C. Papers, pt. 1, p. 45.
¥ Voyage of the Herald, vol. 1, p. 22.
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in detail ; while upon Capt. H. R. Luard, the third officer, devolved
more particularly the strictly military part of the work." The
non-commissioned officers and men were just as carefully picked
from amongst many volunteers for this service. They embraced
members of almost every trade and profession, necessary for the in-
fant colony—surveyors, architects, draughtsmen, artists, photogra-
phers, carpenters, blacksmiths, masons, painters, miners, etc.—men
such as only the Royal Engineers can supply."

The Engineers came in three sections: first, Captain Parsons
and twenty men, chiefly surveyors; second, Captain Grant and twelve
men, principally carpenters; third, Captain Luard and the main body.
The first two divisions came by way of Panama, leaving England on
September 2 and 17, 1858, and arriving at Victoria on October 29
and November &, respectively.'”® These two parties were thus en-
abled to take part in the ceremonies attendant on the official birth of
the colony on Ncvember 19, 1858, already described, and in the
disturbance known as the Ned McGowan war, which will be de-
scribed later in this chapter. Colonel Moody followed the Panama
route also, leaving England October 30, 1858, and arriving at Victoria
on Christmas day, 1858. The third section, comprising the main
body, sailed from Gravesend on October 10, 1858, in the clipper ship
Thames City, five hundred and fifty-seven tons, commanded by
Captain Glover, and arrived at Esquimalt April 12, 1859. This sec-
tion consisted of two subalterns (Lieutenants A. R. Lempri¢re and
H. S. Palmer), one staff-assistant-surgeon (J. V. Seddall), one hun-
dred and eighteen non-commissioned officers and men, thirty-one
women, and thirty-four children under the command of Captain
Luard. The stores and provisions were sent out by the Briseis and
the Euphrates. The latter brought also four more men to complete
the detachment.

The day before Colonel Moody left England, Sir E. B. Lytton
sent him lengthy instructions regarding his work, both as command-
ing officer of the Royal Engineers and as Chief Commissioner of
Lands and Works. After pointing out the necessity for the military
force, Lytton lays stress upon the fact that the respect it will com

10 B, C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 64.
11 Pictoria Gazette, Nov. 20, 1858,
13 B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 25; Victoria Gazette, Nov. 9, 1858.
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mand will be in inverse ratio to its ostentatious parade; that while
the aborigines are to be conciliated, yet the miners must be protected,
and the Engineers must be the centre of any force in the event of
difficulties, and to be efficient must act energetically; that while
counsels or suggestions may be and should be offered to the Governor,
yet that officer is supreme, and upon him must rest the ultimate
;icusmn and the responsibility; that he should discuss with the Gov-
ernor the locations of a seaport and other towns, and consider the
military features of such locations and of all roads and other public
works, The instructions then went on to require Colonel Moody
to give immediate attention to the improvement of the means of com-
nunication by land and water; to report upon the unification of Brit-
ish interests on the Pacific; to report upon the harbours of the colony
and upon the existence of all minerals, especially coal, and on the
fisheries, timber, soil, and agricultural prospects; to keep his force
from intoxicating liquor; to use tact and courtesy in dealing with
foreigners in the colony; to work harmoniously with the Governor;
to be sure to see that the colony was self-supporting; to survey at
once the land most likely to be needed, but in so doing to strive to keep
the expense down ; and lastly, to send full reports upon the permanent
settlement, as the Home Authorities wished to introduce responsible
government as soon as conditions would permit.'*

The composition of the force as planned by Sir E. B. Lytton

was: '
OFFICERS
Regimental .

Annum ARowesee Total

£ £ £
1 chief commissioner and colonel. . ...... 330 1,200 1,530
1 Ci]p((\ln ............................ 202 3;() (;2
T SCCONdICODIMIN, il s dbinvals s batenaism 202 350 552
 BUEEICRBIRIN, 3.0 s dinn slupain sl ins vess 202 350 552
g SUbalterng  BRehL . o S T e 125 250 37§

13 B. C. Papers, pt. 1, pp. 73-6.
14 B. C. Papers, pt. 1, p. §s.
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NON-COMMISSIONED OFFICERS AND SAPPERS

Regime=ntal Working Pay Total
Pay per Diem per Diem otal

s. d. 5 ¥ s. d. s. d.

color sergeant and acting ser-

geant major ............ 31015 jtogs 6-10'; to 8-101%
1 sergeant and acting quarter-

master sergeant ......... 3- 4% 3tog 6- 4'42108- 3414
7 sergeants, each .. ... 2-10)2 3§ §-10)2 to 7-10)2
8 first corporals ........... 2- 2% 1104 3- 2V4t06- 214
8 second corporals ......... 1-1034 1104 2-103] to §-1034
2 buglers

R ates g alein s e 1- 212 1104 2- 25 t0 §- 214
123 sappers | ; 1 =

It will thus be seen that the total force—officers and men—was
intended to he one hundred and fifty-six. It actually became one
hundred and sixty-five.'"” This increase was caused by the addition of
a surgeon and hospital orderly, a sergeant and corporal each from
the Royal Artillery and the Fifteenth Hussars, and three sappciz
who, on their way home to England, were brought to the colony and
absorbed by the detachment.

To while away the monotony during the long journey of the
main body from England, a paper known as the Emigrant Soldiers’
Gazette and Cape H rn Chronicle was issued each week, chronicling
its progress and chief events. The moving spirits in this diversion
were Lieutenant Palmer and Second Corporal Charles Sinnett. Pub-
lished in manuscript and read each week to the assembled company,
this little paper gives an excellent view of the versatile abilities of
the members of the corps.' The original sheets are still preserved
in the archives of the province. In 1907 the Government of British
Columbia reprinted the paper in a most elaborate and attractive form,
to preserve to the present generation some adequate conception of
the body of men who took such a prominent part in laying the foun-
dation of the colony.

THE RISE AND FALL OF DERBY

One of the points to which Governor Douglas’s attention was
first directed was the location of a seaport town or capital. At first

18 Emigrant Soldiers’ Gazette, appendix.
16 The Work of the Royal Engineers, pp. 3, 4.
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Hope was regarded as the spot, but lates Douglas selected the site
of old Fort Langlev (Derby), about two and a half miles below the
present Fort Langley. In September, 1558, some enterprising pet
sons from Victoria had picked upon this identical spot, surveyed it
into lots, and were about to offer them for sale. The Governor at

once checkmated this move by the proclamation already referred
to, warning the public that no Crown lands had been sold. He fol-

lowed this up by taking possession of the land, adopting the work

these persons had done, and, on October 1st gave notice of an intended
He savs he was guided in this selection by the

“partiality displayed for this site by the mercantile community of

sale of the town lots.

the country, whose instincts in such matters are generally uner

ring,” by its possession of great natural advantages for trade and by
the presence of deep water, bold shore, and good anchorage It
was, however, bounded on the east by a reserve of the Hudson’s Bay
Company containing ten square miles; moreover, it was in part sub
The townsite consisted of 183 blocks, ecach g§x10

ject to overflow.
The streets, which were all

chains, containing 18 lots, 64 x 120 feet
unnamed, were 78 feet in width, with an alley-way 12 feet in width

through each block.”™ The reserve price on a full sized lot was

$100. After a number of adjournments the sale was held in Victoria
on the 2¢th, 26th, and 29th of November, P. M. Backus acting as auc
J® Three hundred and forty-three lots were disposed of,
aggregating $66,172.50.*" Lot 1, block g, purchased by S. Reinhart,
brought the highest figure, $725. The lowest price was $40. The
following day notice was given that all lots remaining would, on
December 1st, be sold to the first applicants at the upset price, $100.*!

The terms of sale required only ten per cent to be paid at the
time of sale, the remainder being due at the end ot one month. The
Governor was delighted at the faith in the country and in the rich-
ness and permanency of its gold fields which this successful sale
But Le knew that he had at all times to combat the destruc

tioneer

showed.
tive force of San Francisco influence, which constantly decried every
thing connected with the new colony and its diggings. He recognized

17B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 80; pt. 3, p. 11.
18 Pictoria Gazette, Nov. 25, 1858,

19 Victoria Gazette, Nov, 30, 1858.

20 B, C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 37.

21 Victoria Gazette, Dec. 2, 1858
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that some of the purchasers might waver and, under that influence,
might make default in payment of the remainder. Faith must be
fostered and money obtained ; the Secretary of State for the Colonies
was constantly reminding him that the colony must be self-support
ing. To inspire confidenc: he called for tenders, on December 1st,
for the erection of a parsonage, church, courthouse, and gaol in the
new town. The purchasers petitioned him to extend the time for
payment of their balances—the ninety per cent of the purchase price
—but he refused, saying that it would be unfair to other persons,
both those who had bid and those who had not.** In February, 1839,
over $40,000 of the sale price of these lots remained unpaid. The
buildings above mentioned, with the exception of the church, were
never built, for reasons which will appear hereafter.

The first and second sections of the Royal Engineers—those under
the command of Captain Parsons and Captain Grant—were already
at old Fort Langley (Derby), where they had been since taking
part in the formal launching of the colony. They wer: housed on

board the Hudson's Bay Company’s brigantine Recovery, and w
busy erecting the necessary buildings for the accommodation of the
main body, then on its way in the Tham « City.

THE “NED MCGOWAN WAR"

While this work was in progress, news came from Yale, early in
January, 1859, of a very serious outbreak. In the end this report
was shown to have been most grossly exoggerated. The circum-
stances are instructive, Hill's Bar, some two miles below Yale, was
occupied by Californian miners. Prominent amongst them was one
Edward McGowan, a notorious character. The swiy of this man
will explain why any lawlessness with which his name was con-
nected would be viewed most seriously by the authorities. Leaving
an unsavory reputation in Pennsylvania, he had emigrated to Cali-
fornia with the first rush of 1849 and had entered at once into its
wild life. He was elected a Justice o the Peace and, in 1851, be-
came an Associate Justice of the Court of Sessions. Resigning his
judicial office he was appointed a Commissioner of Immigrants**

22 Pictoria Gazette, Dec. 25, 1558.
# B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 3.
# Bancroft Popular Tribunals, vol. 2, chap. 14
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Soon he became closely identified with gamblers, thugs, roughs,
toughs of all descriptions, and the very worst element of San Fran-
cisco. Facilis decensus Averni. He was an intimate friend of Casey,
the murderer of that intrepid reformer, James King of William,
and in that connection the evidence against him was so strong that
he was indicted as an accessory, He fled from the Vigilance Com-
mittee which then (1856) had risen in the might of an outraged
people and substituted itself for the regular courts of justice. After
many adventures he succeeded in making his escape, but, rctarning
in 1857, after the Vigilance Committee had ceased to exist, he ob-
tained a change of venue to Napa City, was tried and acquitted
upon the almost unbelievable ground that it was not Casey's bullet,
but the doctor's treatment, that had killed King. Casey, by the way,
had been hanged by the Vigilance Committee for this murder, As
Bancroft says: “In other words, it was not the shooting which
caused King's death, but the sickness which followed the shooting,
and which the physicians failed to cure.” **  Just before he left San
Francisco in 1858 he had led a riot in one of the theatres, and it is
said that when he was about to sail for British Columbia he was
recognized by agents of the committee and fired upon, the bullet un-
fortunately passing through the lapel of his coat. Reaching Hill's
Bar, he settled down to the work of mining, and his presence was
forgotten.*

When, therefore, it was reported that this man had been prison-
breaking at Yale and was at the head of a conspiracy to overthrow
British authority, prompt action was taken. Without waiting for
instructions from the Governor, Colonel Moody, with twenty-five
of the Royal Engineers under Captain Grant, set out at once from
old Fort Langley (Derby) for the scene of action. Douglas re-
quested aid from Captain Prevost of the Boundary Commission, and,
accordingly, one hundred marines and blue-jackets from H. M. S.
Satellite, un. =r Lieutenant Gooch, were embarked on the Plumper
to reinforce Colonel Moody’s party. A field piece was taken along.
The Plumper, being only capable of steaming six miles an hour, was
unable to proceed above Langley. The stern-wheel steamer Enter-
prise, Capt. Thomas Wright, which had taken Colonel Moody and

 Popular Tribunals, vol. 2, p. 259.
¥ Mayne, B. C,, p. 59.
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his party, not having yet returned, Lieutenant Mayne of the Plumper
was sent by canoe up the ice-filled river to inform Colonel Moody of
the arrival of these reinforcements and request instructions. Reach-
ing Hope, Lieutenant Mayne found Colonel Moody about to proceed
to Yale, accompanied only by Judge Begbie. Already it was dawning
upon the authorities that the version they had received was much
exaggerated.

At Yale everything was peaceful. The next day being Sunday,
Colonel Moody gathered together a congregation of thirty or forty
miners and held in the court house the first public divine service at
that place. Later in the day the Colonel investigated the trouble
which had brought about this war-like demonstration. It was found
to have been trivial enough. On Christmas day a miner, Farrell,
from Hill's Bar, had committed an assault upon a negro at Yale.
Capt. P, B. Whannell, the resident magistrate, issued a warrant for
his arrest. Learning that Farrell had fled to Hill’s Bar, Whannell
sent the warrant there for execution, but the local magistrate, Mr.
George Perrier, refused to recognize it, and, upon Farrell’s com-
plaint, issued a warrant for the arrest of the negro and sent his
constable, Henry Hickson, to Yale to execute it. Arriving at Yale
this man went to the court-room and conducted himself so insolently
that Captain Whannell sent him to gaol for contempt of court.
When the news reached Hill's Bar great excitement prevailed among
the miners, at whose head was Ned McGowan. The indignant
Perrier resolved upon a drastic measure: he issued a warrant for the
arrest of his brother magistrate for contempt of Ais court in imprison-
ing his constable, and entrusted it to a posse of twenty men under
the leadership of McGowan. Proceeding to Yale they entered the
court-room while it was in session, read the warrant, and arrested the
astonished Whannell before he had time to realize the situation.
Hurrying him into a canoe, and releasing the imprisoned constable,
McGowan and his myrmidons returned to the bar. On the next day
Justice Whannell was arraigned before Justice Perrier for contempt,
and, being found guilty, a fine of $50 was imposed. Public meetings
were held at Yale and at Hill's Bar, at which the conduct of each
magistrate was approved by his constituency.*

This was the matter which had reached the authorities in such

¥ Victoria Gazette, Jan. 8, 11, 22; Feb. 1, 1859; Puget Sound Herald, Jan. 21, 1859.
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an aggravated form—merely a petty squabble between two petty
officials. Colonel Moody’s investigation satisfied him that there had
been nothing illegal in McGowan's conduct, and there the end would
have been, had not McGowan committed an unprovoked assault upon
Doctor Fifer, a man against whom this desperado entertained much
ill-will owing to his having been connected with the Vigilance
Committee of 1856.*%

His friends and supporters, acting suspiciously, it was deemed
advisable to order up the Engineers from Hope and the marines
and blue-jackets from Langley. Lieutenant Mayne secretly re-
turned to Hope with these instructions. Great was the surprise of
the miners at Yale when, the next morning, Captain Grant and his
men were on the ground prepared for action. In the meantime,
Mayne proceeded in the Enterprise to Langley to bring forward the
remainder of the force** On their arrival at Hope, Mayne found
orders from Colonel Moody to leave the blue-jackets at Hope and
advance with the marines only. Peace was reasserting herself.
McGowan was now dealt with. He was fined for the assault and
exonerated in all other respects, and so the matter ended. The next
day when Judge Begbie and Lieutenant Mayne visited Hill's Bar,
McGowan showed them the process of mining and invited them to
a collation in his hut. Mayne says: ‘“Whatever opinion the Vigil-
ance Committee of San Francisco might entertain of these gentle-
men, I, speaking as I found them, can only say that, all things consid-
ered, I have rarely lunched with a better-spoken, pleasanter party.” *
All were not of this opinion. Chartres Brew, who, having been
appointed Chief Gold Commissioner, had arrived in Yale with
Captain Grant and the Engineers on January 17, 1859, says: “The
miners are all idle on account of the frost, and McGowan and several
of the Hill's Bar men are stopping at Fort Yale at present.
McGowan keeps himself shut up and is seldom seen out. I suspect
he spends his time drinking and gambling. I do not place much
reliance on McGowan. T think he is a bad fellow who can only be
restrained by fear.” *

Perrier and his constable were summarily dismissed. Although

8 Victoria Gazette, Jan. 22, 188,
29 Mayne, B. C., pp. 69, 70.
% Mayne, B. C,, p. 70.
1 Letter, Brew to Colonel Moody, Feb. 4, 1859, in Yale Letter Book.
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this incident, a costly one for the new colony, has been much derided,
as partaking, considerably, of opera bouffe, yet the rapidity with
which the soldiers were rushed to the spot in the dead of winter, and
the energy which characterized the Governor's action, bore good
fruit in convincing the miners that no lawlessness would be permit-
ted, and that disciplined and experienced troops were available and
would be used to prevent any outrage and sustain the constituted
authorities.

McGowan did not remain long in the colony. In March, 1839,
he passed through Victoria on his way to Sonora to meet his son.  His
report of the country was favourable. To support it"he showed a
“poke™ of $4,700, which as he declared was “Pretty good for an old
man of fifty.” * Six months later the ubiquitous McGowan was
found at Tucson, Ariz., where he was dividing his time between prac-
tising law in the Justice Court and setting type on the Arizonian.™
Later he drifted east and was an assistant Sergeant-at-Arms in the
House of Representatives.  About 1883, he returned to San Fran-
cisco, a garrulous, penniless old man, and took up his home at the
Commercial Hotel. There he died in 1893, a pious old man.**

THE SELECTION OF THE FIRST CAPITAL

As already shown, Colonel Moody's instructions required him to
cooperate with the Governor in the selection of a site of a maritime
town for the colony—in other words, a capital, as the context clearly
shows. In considering this question he was reminded that the
strength of the position in time of war must be a prime factor. On
his return from the “Ned McGowan war” late in January, 1859, he
examined carefully the spot now occupied by the city of New West-
minster and found it to meet every requirement. Colonel Moody
placed his suggestions before the Governor in a lengthy report dated
January 28, 1859. Naturally he dwelt upon the almost impregnable
situation, pointing out how singularly strong and well protected it
was by nature; he referred to its being the first high land on the north
bank of the river; he showed that the harbour was in every way suit-

22 Puget Sound Herald, March 18, 1859,
33 Puget Sound Herald, Sept. 30, 1859,

34 San Francisco Examiner, June 4, 1893.
Vol. 18
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66
able for a city of size and importance, and that while on a slope there
was yet sufficient flat land to accommodate the necessary quays, docks,
and commercial sites; * finally he remarked that the site of old Fort
Langley (Derby) was on the wrong side of the river and utterly
indefensible as a military position.

The Governor assented to Colonel Moody's suggestion—none too

gracefully, it may beadded. On February 14, 1859, he issued a procla-

mation notifying the public of his intention to lay out, without delay,
on that spot the capital of the colony and to offer the lots for sale at
One-fourth of these lots was reserved for sale in the

public auction.
Persons who had paid for

United Kingdom and in British colonies.
lots at old Fort Langley (Derby) were entitled to surrender them
and take credit for the amount paid, on any purchase in the capital.
Arrangements were to be made immediately to declare the capital
a port of entry for British Columbia. The river frontage was not to
be sold, but leases of portions for wharves would be issued for seven
vears to the highest bidder at auction.

All work in progress at old Fort Langley (Derby) ceased imme-
diately upon this change, and the Engineers there were removed to
the capital. They set to work at once to clear the site of their camp,
the romantic Sapperton, now a part of the city of New Westminster.
Very hard clearing it was, too. Lieutenant Mayne states that the
bush was so thick that it took him two hours to force his way less than
amile and a half. “It was composed of very thick willow and alder,
intertwined so closely that every step of the way had to be broken
through, while the ground was cumbered with fallen timber of a

* The survey of the city was also taken in hand by
the Engineers, aided by civilian surveyors. The Thames City
arrived at Esquimalt with the main body on April 12, 1859. They
were at once transferred to the Eliza Anderson for conveyance to
the capital. Owing to the change, their quarters were not ready.
Some were, therefore, quartered on the brigantine Recovery, while

the remainder went out under canvas.*’
The first sale of lots in the capital took place in Victoria on June
1 and 2, 1859. It was represented by the auctioneer, Mr. Selim
85 B. C, Papers, pt. 2, p. 6o.

% Mayne, B. C., p. 72.
%7 The Work of the Royal Engineers, p. 6.
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Franklin, on authority from the Governor that the money arising
from the sale of lots would be used in opening the streets. Three
hundred and three lots were sold, eight remained unsold, and one
hundred and ten were reserved for sale elsewhere, as already men-
tioned.” The sale realized £18,877, or more than $9o,000. The
highest price was £385, paid by Alex. D. Macdonald, for lot 11,
block 5. The terms were twenty-five per cent down and the balance
in three monthly payments.” The total amount of credit allowed
on account of lots in old Fort Langley was $206,943, from which it
would appear that a great many of the purchasers at that sale had
made default in completing their purchases and allowed the ten
per cent paid by them to be forfeited. Nevertheless, Douglas
claimed that the success of the sale was owing to the credits from this
source."  When Sir E. B. Lytton was informed of the reservation of
lots for sale elsewhere, he did not approve of the step. It appeared
to him “decidedly objectionable.” ** “It can be of no use except to
stimulate the acquisition of property by non-residents. This is one
of the worst evils to which a new community is liable. The lots are
bought by speculators, who hold them on a chance of a rise in value,
with the effect in the meanwhile of obstructing the progress of the
town, interrupting its communications, and creating a nuisance to
the holders of adjoining lots. This provision should be rescinded
* % % " At this time the name of the capital had not been set-
tled. That question engendered quite a heated discussion. Colonel
Moody suggested “Queenborough.” Mr. W. A, G. Ydung, tle
Colonial Secretary, objected to this, as being too close a paraphrase
of Victoria, and in turn suggested “Queensborough,” ** which the
Governor was inclined to accept. To end the disagreement, Douglas
onFebruary s, 1859, requested that Her Majesty should “vouchsafe one
further proof of Her continued regard by signifving Her will as to
the name to be given to the future capital * * * g0 that the
colonists of British Columbia, separated fromn friends and kindred
in this, their far-distant home, may be ever gratefully reminded in
the designation of their capital of the power that protects their

38 Macdonald, B. C,, p. 15.

W 1d, pp. 15, 16; B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 16, Land Registry Records.
40 1d.

1B, C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 16.

42 B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 86.

43 B, C. Year Book, 1897, pp. 45, 46.
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hearths, of the watchful interest that guards their liberties, and of

the gentle sway by which they are governed.” ** In the following

May, Lytton replied that he had laid the request before the Queen
and that “Her Majesty has been graciously pleased to decide that the
capital of British Columbia shall be called ‘New Westminster.,” ™" *
On July 20, 1859, the Governor issued a proclamation declaring
“that the town heretofore known as Queensborough, and sometimes
as Queenborough, in the Colony of British Columbia shall from
henceforth be called and known as New Westminster, and shall be
so described in all legal processes and official documents,” *

The many urgent demands upon the very limited colonial purse
prevented the Governor from fulfilling for some time, the promise
that the money arising from the sale of the lots would be used in
grading the streets. The inhabitants of the town thought they had a
grievance in that respect, and considerable local disaffection arose.
This smouldered until, in the spring of 1860, Mr. Franklin, the auc-
tioneer who had made the promise in question at the sale in the
previous June, arrived in New Westminster to conduct another
auction sale, at which the lots originally reserved for sale outside the
colony were to be offered in accordance with Lytton’s instructions.
Then the feeling of indignation overswept the barriers of reason and
the townspeople attending the intended sale created such an uproar
and caused such a disturbance that the auctioneer was unable to pro-
ceed—was “gagged,” as Mr. D. G, F. Macdonald expresses it—and
was obliged to abandon the attempt.'™ Nr. Edgar Dewdney, after-
wards Lieutenant-Governor of the province, was then instructed to
offer the lots for sale. At this sale, which took place on May 2, 1860,
about thirty-three lots were disposed of| realizing £5,350."% A few
daays later, when Governor Douglas, who made his home in Victoria,
visited the colony, the people of the town approached him with a
request that it be created a municipality. The Governor consented,
and by a proclamation dated July 16, 1860, local self-government
was granted to New Westminster, which has thus the honour of being
the first municipal government in the province.

‘4 B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 61.
45 B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 86.
45 B, C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 39.
47 Macdonald, B. C, p. 279.
48 Macdonald, B. C, p. 15.
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CHAPTER V
THE ADVANCE OF CARIBOO

The mining operations of 1858 only sufficed to indicate vaguely
the general auriferous nature of the country. The interruption
caused by the state of the Fraser River and the Indian troubles, the
details of which appear elsewhere, combined to prevent the obtain-
ing of satisfactory results. Thousands of those who left San Fran-
cisco never saw the mining region nor washed a pound of sand. Those
who persevered did so under the greatest difficulties and hardships,
owing to the lack of provisions and the absence of any safe commu-
nication beyond Yale through those grand but forbidding and awe-
inspiring canyons. There are results vastly more important than the
mere material returns. ‘T'he season of 1858 is not to be judged solely
by the number of ounces of gold recovered from the Fraser's sands;
to find its total sum there must be added the solidly formed belief
amongst the miners as a body that higher up the river, farther into
the interior, richer diggings would be found. This belief was not
entirely based on deduction from the relative coarseness of the gold;
facts were known which supported it. Early in the season of 1858
Aaron Post, a miner from El Dorado county, California, had made
his way as far as the mouth of Chilcotin River, testing and trying
every bar, and finding gold in all.'"® The scarcity of provisions, of
course, prevented those who followed in his footsteps from carrying
on continuous and systematic work so far from the base of supplies,
vet the uniform success which attended their attempts made them
assured that when communications were improved and depots of
supplies placed in the vicinity, rich rewards would be obtained.

The low stage of the Fraser River early in 1859 afforded the
miners on the lower portion the opportunity to ascend. In April the
Governor reported that up to March 24th, three hundred boats,

49 Pictoria Gazette, July 14, 1858,
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carrying an average of five men, had left Yale for the upper Fraser
and an even greater number were making their way overland.”
The opening of the trail by way of Harrison, Lillooet, Anderson,
and Seton lakes, sometimes called the Douglas-Lillooet route, and
sometimes the route by the portages—the details of which will be
dealt with later—had given access, late in 1858, to the Fraser at
Lillooet, above the formidable canyons. The season of 1859 saw
most of the bars on the lower Fraser deserted for the dry diggings,
or bench diggings, that is the flats on the banks of the river above its
highest level. This kind of mining required capital, or, at any rate,
codperation in bringing water upon the claims, where oftentimes
eight or ten feet of barren ground must be washed away before the
gold-bearing stratum was reached.” Of these dry diggings, beside
the Bond, George, Hovey, and Fountain, which had been worked in
the preceding year, the most important were the Emory Bar and
Hunter Bar Dry Diggings, seven miles below Yale; the Prince
Albert Diggings, four miles below Yale; the benches at Hill's Bar;
the benches at Nicaragua Bar in the Big, or Black, Canyon, a little
below Boston Bar; the McGoffrey Dry Diggings, seven miles below
Foster Bar; and the benches at Cameron Bar.*

The individual adventurer, therefore, whose capital was but his
pick, shovel, and rocker, stout heart, and robust health, seized the
opportunity to ascend the river in search of paying bars where, close
to this natural sluiceway, no other capital was required, and where,
moreover, the gold lay within a few inches of the surface. The
Thompson River drew some miners to its banks, and their energy
was rewarded by finds on the Tranquille, Défaut, Nicola, and Nico-
men; but the Fraser, as the main and larger stream, was the more
attractive.” The Fountain, which lay on its left bank some six miles
above Lillooet (or Cayoosh, as it was then called), was the objective
point in 1858; but being dry diggings it only retained men with cap-
ital. The centre of the mining in 1858 was between Hope and Yale;
butin 1859 it was above Lillooet or, at least, above Lytton, In May,
1859, Lieutenant Palmer reported that at French Bar rockers were
averaging $4 to $8 per day per man, and sluices $8 to $16; at Upper

% B, C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 6.

81 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 9
52 Bancroft, B. C., p. 464.
83 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, P 34
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BRITISH COLUMBIA m

Mormon Bar, rockers $4 to $12, sluices $16 to $25; at Day's Bar,
rockers $8 to $12; at Haskell's Bar, rockers $6 to $12, sluices $16 to
$20; at Big Bar, rockers $5 to $6.°* The use of a rocker, or a sluice,
was not a mere question of individual taste—it depended upon
the natural surroundings, the size of the bar, and other varying
conditions.

These bars formed but stepping-stones for the restless, roaming
miners, who pressed on and on up the river, finding gold wherever
they prospected, but never satisfied, striving ever to discover those
richer diggings, the existence of which it was heresy to deny. Alex-
andria was reached, and then the bars above that place were tested
and tried; rich diggings were found in that vicinity; still “onward”
was the cry. By the month of May the Quesnel River had been
reached. Rumors of great “strikes” there were current.  But the
Lure of the Gold was strong; it drew the seekers on. The Fraser
was examined and prospected for a distance of one hundred and fifty
miles beyond Fort George, and every bar was reported as promising
from $5 to $6 per day to the man.” Better fortune came to those
who left the Fraser and ascended the Quesnel, Late in 1859, after
prospecting its bars, which proved far richer than those of the main
river, Cariboo Lake was found. In cumbersome rafts, bound to-
gether with withes, they made their way along its shores. Now their
perseverance was rewarded. Rich strikes, in some cases $200 per
day per man, were reported. Gold in large quantities was also found
on the Horsefly River, which flows into Quesnel Lake from the south-
ward; there a party of five men in one week, with two rockers, took
out one hundred and one ounces, One of the foremost in the advance
into the Horsefly was Dud Moreland, who, later, settled at Cotton-
wood. Over and above these material results, which showed a large
area to be auriferous, and some sections to be especially so, the season
of 1859 was eminently satisfactory, for in the territory around Ques-
nel and Cariboo lakes the California miners found an indication
which gladdened their hearts—the “Blue Lead” as it was called,
which in California was the gold-bearing stratum. It was traced for
thirty miles with a lateral extent of nearly ten miles. It is a question,
much debated, whether the real California blue lead existed in Brit-

84 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 47
85 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 66.
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72 BRITISH COLUMBIA

ish Columbia: but that is beside the point, for the miners believed it
did and acted on that assumption. Shafts were sunk to a depth of
twenty-five feet to reach the bed-rock, with its covering of blue clay,
the alleged blue lead. The results were satisfactory, though the sea-
son was too far advanced for any comprehensive attempts. In 1859
the number of miners between Hope and Yale decreased to six hun-
dred, between Yale and the Fountain, to eight hundred. In this
area the rocker had given way to the sluice, which requires more
capital, but produces better results. In two instances—at British
Bar and at Rich Bar, situated fifty and fifty-three miles respectively
above Alexandria—ditches five miles long had been constructed to
bring water upon dry diggings. Between Alexandria, Fort George,
and Quesnel Lake in 1859, about one thousand men were mining on
the various bars.

But not alone did the miners try the upper Fraser and the Thomp-
son. Late in the fall of 1859 the men attached to the North West
Boundary Commission found gold on the Similkameen, about twelve
miles from its mouth, Without suitable appliances $6 was obtained
from washing six pans. In one day two men obtained $20 each.
The gold was coarser than that on the lower Fraser, some pieces
being worth more than two dollars.™

Early in 1860 gold-seekers from the American territory rushed
to the Similkameen ; but the diggings did not appear very remunera-
tive. Governor Douglas reports on April 23, 1860, that some twenty
or thirty men were making from $8 to $10 per day, but that the
remainder were not paying expenses.”

The glowing reports from the Quesnel country had their effect.

Mr. Sanders, the Gold Commissioner at Yale, reported on April
14, 1860, that he feared the rush into that far-away region would
depopulate Yale district” In January, 1860, the mining popula-
tion in the vicinity of Hope had dwindled to two hundred and three,
earning from $3 to $12 per day. The future looked dark, and to {
encourage them, Douglas suggested that a party of nine experienced
miners be sent into the Similkameen country to examine the pros-
pects there, the Government furnishing the food and agreeing to pay

56 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, pp. 74, 75
57 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 4
%8 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 6.
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each man a bonus of $20 if gold were found.”™ In July this party
reported that they had found profitable diggings."" About the same
time the Rock Creek placers were discovered by Adam Beam, a young
Canadian who was travelling from Fort Colville to the Similkameen.
Immediately a great rush of people not only from the vicinity of
Hope and Yale, but also from the adjacent American territory, took
place into this new region. The gold there was nuggety, of extreme
purity, and readily saved without the use of quicksilver.” In one
instance, two men, in six weeks, obtained $1,300. In October, 1860,
the Governor reported that eighty or one hundred men were at work
mining on the Similkameen; " at Rock Creek he found upwards of
five hundred; all these seemed to be making fair wages, from 3os.
to 6os. per day.”

The year 1860 also saw a great increase in the number of miners
on the upper reaches of the Fraser, and especially along the Quesnel.
Ferguson's Bar, or Rich Bar, some fifty-three miles above Alex-
andria, vielded an immense return—as high as $60 per day per man.
When the pay streak near the river was exhausted, the gravel from
the flat in the rear was wheeled hundreds of yards to be rocked at
the river bank; even then from $7 to $10 per day per hand was made.
The bar being of large extent, and giving evidence of some perma-
nency, the miners determined to bring in water from a lake about
five miles away, at a cost of $12,000, and carry on large sluicing
operations.”*  This treatment is typical. Wherever a bar was found
it was first tested with the pan, a slow and unprofitable mode, really
only suitable for prospecting or ascertaining its probable productive-
ness. After the pan came the rocker, also a primitive method of gold
extraction, This machine is constructed like a child’s cradle, with
rockers underneath, The box is about four feet long, two feet wide,
and one and one-half feet deep. The upper part and one end are
open, and the sides gradually slope toward the bottom, At the head
is a section closely jointed with a perforated sheet-iron bottom. Into
this upper iron box ‘the earth is fed by one miner, and by another

59 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 10.

0 1d., p. 13.

S 1d, pt. 4 p. 20

2 1d., pp. 28, 29.

63 1d., p. 42; Puget Sound Herald, Aug. 31, 1860.
o4 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 41.
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the contrivance is rocked and supplied with water. The water,
with the heavier particles, percolates through the perforated bottom
and falls upon the real bottom, where are riffles and quicksilver, or
a copper plate with quicksilver, or perhaps, if the gold is very fine,
a piece of woolly blanket covered with quicksilver.”  While more
expeditious than the pan, yet, the water being supplied by hand, the
process is necessarily very slow as compared with sluicing. In this
operation a stream of water is brought upon the ground, perhaps
from the river itself, perhaps from some neighboring supply, and
led into a long series of boxes, somewhat like a wooden drain. Into
these boxes the dirt is shoveled and carried along by the flow of the
water. Their bottoms have riffles or other devices to catch the gold.
Sometimes quicksilver is used, if the gold is very fine.” The water
bears away the greater part of the worthless material, though a man
patrolling the sluice removes the larger stones. The lumber for
these sluice boxes was usually obtained on the spot, by whip-sawing.

During 1860, about four thousand miners were at work here and
there over the colony, of whom perhaps three thousand were on the
Fraser and its tributaries beyond Lillooet. The original diggings,
both bar and bench, along the lower Fraser were now practically
given over to the Chinese. The miners divided the country into
the Rock Creek and Kootenay districts; above that the Thompson
River district, or Couteau country, as far as Canoe Creek, on the
Fraser; beyond lay the Canoe country; still further was the Balloon
country; and vet further removed was the Cariboo country, These
divisions, though very indefinite, served to distinguish the localities
in a vague and general way.

THE DISCOVERY OF KEITHLEY AND ANTLER CREEKS

Keithley Creek, which flows into Cariboo Lake, the source of the
North Branch of Quesnel River, was discovered in 1860 by “Doc”
Keithley, George Weaver, and their companions. It was the first of
the real Cariboo creeks, and soon became one of the most famous,
though not at all a rich creek, as compared with its more famous
neighbors., The creek itsclf, as well as its tributary, Snowshoe, and

8 Macfie, B. C., pp. 268, 269.
0 1d., pp. 269, 270.
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BRITISH COLUMBIA 7

Harvey and Cunningham creeks, which flow from the eastward face
of the Bald Mountain, had been discovered early in 1860, but the
absence of gold-bearing stratum on the surface had delayed its exploi-
tation, and it was not until late in the fall of that year that its aurif-
erous character was ascertained.” It rose at once into prominence
as a supply centre for the entire region of the North Quesnel River.
The crecks which radiate from the Bald Mountain, Keithley, Har-
vey, Cunningham, Snowshoe, Grouse, Antler, Lowhee, Williams,
and Lightning appear to occupy the same location, but not the iden-
tical channel of the old gold-bearing creeks. Where gold was first
found on them is said to have becn the spot where modern erosion
had laid bare, or nearly bare, for short distances, the deeper channels
of the ancient streams.”

Late in the fall of 1860, John Rose (who met a tragic death in
1863) and his partner McDonald, with “Doc” Keithley and George
Weaver, set out from Keithley Creek in search of new diggings.
Ascending that creek for about five miles, they took a course north-
eastward up a ravine. Reaching Snowshoe Crecek, a branch of Keith-
ley, they followed it to its source, some six or seven miles further,
near the summit of the watershed dividing the streams flowing into
Cariboo Lake from those flowing eastward, northward, and westward
into Bear, Willow, and Cottonwood rivers.” Thence the whole sur-
rounding country lay unrolled before them. Northward and east-
ward the horizon was bounded by rugged and lofty mountains;
towards the west and northwest the prospect was more level ; while
immediately below lay rolling hills intersected by valleys and ravines.
"T'was man’'s first view of Cariboo. Over the whole region lay the
mantle of solitude and silence—gold existing without contention or
struggle. Traversing this summit in the same general direction they
came upon another creek, at a distance of about twenty miles from
Keithley. The creek winds through the centre of a narrow valley
and is surmounted by hills sloping down to flats and benches of allu-
vial deposit; the bed-rock on which gold was found lay but a short
distance under the surface, and in many places cropped out.™ Here
was the richest deposit yet found in British Columbia—considerable

7 Bancroft, B. C,, p. 489.
o8 1d.

%9 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 50.
10 B, C. Papers, pt. 4, p. s1.
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quantities of gold being found on the bare rock. One pan produced
$25—a second, $75.7" The fortunate prospectors, however, had their
ardour somewhat cooled the next morning by awakening to find a
foot of snow on the ground.™ Here, again, besides the actual value
of the find, was the strengthening of their faith in the auriferous
nature of the country, for they found a kind of slate rock covered
with red gravel and said to bear a close resemblance to the gold-

producing beds of Californian streams.” These discoverers tried to
keep the secret; but gold, like murder, will out.

Returning to Keithley Creek for provisions, an incautious word
\ at “Red-headed” Davis's store gave the clue, and in midwinter, on
snowshoes, over four or five feet of snow, miners set out from Keith-
ley to stake the vacant ground on Antler. Many claims were re-
corded, and, in several instances, the same ground was taken up by
different parties. This led to disputes. Mr. Nind, the Gold Com-
missioner for the district, with headquarters at William's Lake, came
in over the snow to settle these conflicting claims. Arriving in
March, 1861, he found, on Antler Creek, one log cabin, built by
Rose and McDonald ; the remainder of the men were living in holes
dug in the snow, which was six or seven feet deep. Even under these
conditions some prospecting was being carried on, with successful
results, though the labor of clearing away the snow and sinking holes

to bed-rock was excessive,

1 WILLIAMS, LIGHTNING, AND LOWHEE CREEKS

e But Antler Creek was only the portal of Cariboo, a region stud-
ded with mountains of considerable altitude, closely packed together.
This creek coursed around the greatest of the three great peaks of
Cariboo—Mount Agnes, commonly called the Bald Mountain. Im-
pressively grand and sublime are these majestic spurs of the Rockies,
towering to six thousand and seven thousand feet. The land of
Golden Promise, so firmly believed in, so earnestly sought for, lay
just on the other side of Mount Agnes, only twelve miles away,

When the mid-winter rush was made upon Antler Creek, a party,
' ™t Puget Sound Herald, April 18, 1861,
{ 72 Overland Monthly, vol. 3, p. 526,

73 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 51.
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BRITISH COLUMBIA "

amongst whom were Edward Stout, Michael Burns, “Fidele” or
Vital, and William Dietz (commonly called Dutch Bill), started in
search of other fields. Crossing the ridge which culminates in Mount
Agnes, they kept to the northward and descended upon a creek which
forms the head waters of Willow River. This was Williams Creek,
the richest, the most celebrated of all the Cariboo creeks, Dutch
Bill, its discoverer, after whom it was named, found gold at the
canyon, a spot about half way between Richfield and Barkerville,
as afterwards located. He died in Victoria in 1877—like many
others of Cariboo's famous miners, miserably poor.™

At first Williams Creek gave no hint of its immense deep-hidden
wealth. The canyon where discovery was made was the very poorest
part.  Dutch Bill's prospecting gave about 75 cents to the pan, yet
that was good pay, but in no wise suggestive, even to the most opti-
mistic, of the world-renowned richness of the Steele, the Diller, the
Cameron, and the Ericcson claims.”™  Returning, the party spread
the news of their find,and pell-mell went the mad rush to Williams
Creek. No roads or trails existed in the Cariboo country at the
time, and each party took the course which they judged best, for, as
already mentioned, from the tops of the ridges Cariboo was like an
open book. Thus in making from Quesnel River and Keithley Creek
to Williams the miners came upon Lightning Creck, which empties
into Swift River and Lowhee Creek, flowing into Jack of Clubs
Lake. The origin of these names may be of interest. The latter
creek was discovered by Richard Willoughby in 1861 and named
by him in honor of the “Great Lowhee,” a secret society at Yale, in
which he was a prominent member. The former owes its name to
the following incident. A party, while traveling through its valley,
were suddenly overtaken by one of those thunder-storms common in
the mountain regions; and one of the party, feeling greatly inconven-
ienced by the severity of the storm—being drenched to the skin—
exclaimed aloud, “Boys, this is lightning,” feeling fully convinced
that this was the most emphatic expression he could use to express
his opinion of the inclement weather.™ Another version of this
story is that: “Early in 1861, ‘Bill’ Cunningham, ‘Jack’ Hume, and

7 Bancroft, B. C., p. 484.
7 Overland Monthly, vol. 4, 261.
76 Overland Monthly, vol. 4, p. 262; Mining Report, 1875,
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‘Jim’ Bell, three gold hunters, started southward over the mountains
from Jack of Clubs Creek on a prospecting tour. They found the
trip exceedingly rough and laborious, especially in descending the
steep banks of the creck they came to. The former called out to his
companions, ‘Boys, this is lightning,” it being a favourite expression
with him in meeting anything difficult to overcome.

Every creck proved to be gold-bearing. The news of their
richness, not losing by repetition, the Fraser, the Thompson, and
the Rock Creek diggings, which for some time had been gradually
falling into the hands of the Chinese, were practically abandoned to
them. On Fort Yale Bar, which lay at the foot of the high bank
of Water Street, in front of the Hudson’s Bay Company’s property,
the miners were, in 1861, prohibited by Mr. E. Howard Sanders,
the Assistant Gold Commissioner, from further mining operations,
owing to the danger of undermining the wagon road. At that time
the ground was paying an ounce a day to the man.

So the spring and summer of 1861 saw the*mountains of Cariboo
swarming with eager miners, many of whom had left good diggings
in the lower country.

Williams Creek, for a time, gave such poor results that it was
called Humbug Creek. During the early summer of 1861 mining
was confined to the portion above (i. e., south of) the canyon. There
the pay dirt, the bed of the old creek, lay close to the surface, usually
within eight or twelve feet. At that depth, a hard blue clay was met.
which was supposed to be the bed-rock, and upon it good pay was

found. But later in that year Mr. Abbott of the Jourdan and Abbott
claim, while his partner was away for the day obtaining provisions,
concluded to go through this clay and ascertain what lay below.
Piercing it, he found below a stratum of gold-bearing gravel, so rich
that when his partner returned, after a lapse of forty-eight hours, he
produced fifty ounces as the result of his explorations. . Up to this
time only six claims on the creek had produced gold. With this
news all was changed. Hundreds crowded other hundreds in a mad
rush. The whole creek and the hillside for a distance of six miles
was literally covered with miners and mining claims, now increased
to one hundred feet square.”™ The only spot neglected, strange as

7T Mining Report, 1875, p. 608.
8 Brown, B. C,, p. 30.
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BRITISH COLUMBIA 7

it may seem, was the spot in the canyon where Dutch Bill had first
found the gold.™ But while above the canyon the diggings were
shallow, permitting the barren covering to be washed off and the
use of sluices and bed-rock flumes, yet below the canyon conditions
were totally different. The pay dirt there lay fifty or sixty feet
below the present level. Shafts must be sunk, drifts made, and tun-
nels driven; pumps would be required to keep the workings dry,
and hoisting gear to raise the dirt to the surface to be washed.*
This work could be carried on throughout the year, while the advent
of winter prevented all operations in the surface diggings above the
canyon,

Douglas reported that the least Abbott and Jourdan took out,
with three men, was one hundred and twenty ounces per day. “They
have a flour sack of gold fourteen inches high.” *' Tle gold on this
creek was rounded and water-worn and of the fineness .830.%* Judge
Begbie reported in September, 1861, that the Abbott and Jourdan
claim, and the Steele claim, which were both in the shallow dig-
gings above the canyon, were producing thirty to forty pounds of
gold per day;* and that Steele had informed him that they had
taken out in one day three hundred and seventy ounces, The great-
est day’s yield of the Steele claim in 1861 was four hundred and nine
ounces.*!

On Lowhee, Willoughby, the discoverer, with from four to
seven men, between July 27 and September 8, 1861, took out three
thousand and thirty-seven ounces, worth about $50,000, from a strip
four hundred feet along the creek by twelve feet wide.*® In no place
did his excavation to bed-rock exceed four feet, and usually but
three. A Mr. Patterson and his brother brought back $10,000 as a
result of five weeks' mining on Lowhee.*® Their largest day’s return
was seventy-three ounces, worth about $1,200. The gold on this
creek was in rough, jagged pieces, sometimes weighing six or even
ten ounces. Its quality was .930.%"

7 Overland Monthly, March, 1870.
% Brown, B. C,, p. 30.

81 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. s8.

52 Brown, B. C,, p. 30.

83 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 6o.

# Brown, B. C., p. 30.

88 British Columbian, Oct. 3, 1861.
86 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. s8.

57 Brown, B. C, p. 31.
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On Lightning Creek, Mr. Ball reported, on October 1, 1861, that
one Ned Campbell had taken out the almost fabulous sums of nine
hundred ounces the first day, five hundred ounces the second day,
and three hundred ounces the third day.™ Another authority says
that this claim, which cost $25,000 to open, returned $100,000 in
three months. The bed-rock on Lightning, where first mined, was
from eight to thirty feet below the surface

I'he returns from Antler Creek for 1861, while respectable, are
far, far below such colossal figures as the above. One company of
four men were making from four ounces to nine and one-fourth
ounces each per day; and the ordinary yield was from $20 to $50 per
day for each man employed I'he Rev. R. C. Lundin Brown
records his being present when $1,000 were taken out of the sluice
boxes as the result of one day's work

On Keithley Creek, in 1861, the returns were smaller.” Several
companies were making from $50 to $100 per day to the man in the
bed of the creek, and somewhat better in the bench diggings. Most
of the miners were making from two ounces to three ounces per day
During this summer there were some two hundred men on the creek
Outside of the mining upon the creek itself, Keithley—the collection

of houses at the mouth of the creek—was the supply centre for the

Cariboo Lake and North Quesnel region.

) In February, 1861, a distinguished visitor, in the person of Lady
Franklin, the widow of Sir John Franklin, the celebrated, but ill-
fated Arctic discoverer, arrived in the colony, She remained about
three months, Wherever she went she was the recipient of addresses
from the people and every kindness was shown her. Her travels

| extended as far as the Little Canvon above Yale. Lady Franklin

rock, near that town, was named in her honour

n" fi THE DEEP DIGGINGS OF CARIBOO

r“
( So ends the year 1861. Taken all in all, a very successful year.
1§ 1 Statistics give the output of gold for 1861 as $2,666,118."" But
;'5 beyond this, and more important, was the general feeling that all
£ =

l $¢B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 61.

B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 53.
90 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 6o.
"1 Year Book, 1897, p. 391.
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the crecks of Cariboo were gold-bearing. To the outside world
went reports of great “finds”—stories of men who in a short season
had sprung from penury to wealth-—exaggerated tales of rich depos- {
its as wondrous as those that Ali Baba and Aladdin found. “The |
excitement respecting the Cariboo mines is fast reaching fever heat
in this vicinity. People will not think of or talk about anything else,
even the battles of the Rebellion are forgotten or cease to interest
them, so engrossing is the subject of the new mines. Everybody talks
of going to the Cariboo Diggings in the spring. We may, therefore,
confidently look for a rush to these mines next season, equalled only
by the Fraser River excitement of 's8. So far as we can learn, every
miner from this new gold field has brought with him from $5,000
to $20,000, all of which has been obtained in the short space of two
or three months.” *
Here was the genesis of the “rush” of 1862—not from California
alone, but from the Eastern States and the Canadas, from the British
Isles and the Continent. These immigrants came principally by
the recognized route by way of Panama, San Francisco, Victoria,
and thence up the Fraser, But as in 1858, so in 1862, when the end
of navigation was reached miles of forbidding and dangerous land
travel intervened. As the song ran,

“Five hundred miles to travel where naught but mosses grew
To cheer the weary traveller on the road to Cariboo.”

Many who set out with determination faltered and fell by the
wayside. Some parties also came by the overland route from St.
Paul through Winnipeg, or Fort Garry, along the Saskatchewan,
across the Rockies by the Yellowhead Pass and down the Fraser;
but as they did not reach Cariboo until the end of 1862, their experi-
ences will be dealt with later.

The Gold Commissioner of Cariboo, in the fall of 1861, had
“laid over” the claims until June 1, 1862 that is to say, he had sus-
pended until that date the operation of the law which rendered a
claim invalid if it remained unworked for seventy-two hours.”®
This was necessary, as the mining then being confined to shallow

92 Puget Sound Herald, Oct. 24, 1861,

93 Proclamation, Sept. 7, 1859, Sec. 12.
Vol. 11—
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it was impossible to

diggings—from three to twelve feet in depth
By the end of

|

! carry it on during the rigorous winter of Cariboo.
| May probably six thousand miners had entered Cariboo, making
{ their way under great difficulties, so as to be on the ground when the
| “lay over” should expire. Some had in three weeks walked the
whole distance from Lillooet, carrying fifty and sixty pound packs."!
Over two thousand expectant men were on Williams Creek alone.
Thus was created an unprecedented demand for food and supplies,
and these, becoming very scarce, commanded famine prices; for ex-
ample, flour, bacon, beans, and salt were $1.50 a pound, dried apples
$2.50 a pound, and gum-boots $42.50 a pair.”* The “lay over” period
was extended to July 1st. This, with the high prices, disheartened
many, who returned to the lower country. While some of the disap-
k pointed denounced the country as a humbug, the majority had faith
{ in Cariboo, only complaining of being starved out. They were loud
in their demand for a road to the mines so as to provide sufficient
supplies at reasonable prices, declaring that wagons must be em-
ployed, as there were not enough mules in the colony to bring in over

the miserable trails then existing the necessary food and implements.

Very little prospecting in Cariboo marked 1862, Jack of Clubs

Creck, Sugar Creek, twenty miles northeast of Lightning, Van

‘ Winkle, Chisholm, Davis, Last Chance, and Anderson, tributaries

! of Lightning, were tried, but the excessively high price of supplics
prohibited development.

On Williams Creek mining went on above the canyon, where the

I shallow diggings continued to pay well. Edward Stout had ventured

f to try the mouth of Stout’s Gulch, which is below the canyon, and

| had there found, at comparatively shallow depth, the dark colored,

water-worn gold of Williams Creek; going deeper he found the

11! bright, jagged, and more valuable Stout’s Gulch gold. Encouraged

i by these results, William Barker, commonly called Billy Barker,

had taken up a claim still further down Williams Creek, in the vicin-

ity of the present town of Barkerville. The other miners ridiculed

this action believing that all the gold was above the canyon; but he

persevered and drew the prize of 1862.°" “Billy Barker has struck

94 British Columbian, July 2, 1862.
95 British Columbian, June 18, 1862.
%6 Overland to Cariboo, p. 154.
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the lead on Williams Creek on the flat below the canyon at a depth
of fifty-two feet, obtaining $5 to the pan.” *" A few days later the
Canadian company was similarly fortunate. Then John A. Cam-
eron, “Cariboo Cameron,” found the lead even lower down the
creek. Opinions changed. Below the canyon became the favorite
spot. These deep diggings, from fifty to eighty feet, gave an air of
permanency to Williams Creek, which contributed a large propor-
tion of the $2,656,903 credited to the mines of the colony during
1862."

Lightning Creck, owing to the great expense attendant upon the
opening of claims there, gave up but little of its treasure; still the
greatest confidence was felt as to the ultimate result of operations
thereon.” Being most extensive, it was expected that, with the
advent of cheaper supplies, it would contribute its full quota towards
the general yield. In 1862 shafts were sunk from Eagle Creek to
Davis Creek, along Lightning, but below Van Winkle they were
uniformly unsuccessful, being unable to cope with the water.

Antler Creek was regarded as coquettish in 1862. Although on
its banks good prospects were obtained and rich hill diggings an-
nounced, still the result was disappointing.! One claim, Murray's,
yielded in three days eighty-five ounces to each man employed; an-
other, Hoy's, gave seventy-two ounces as the result of six men's
work for half a day; while a third, Edward’s, produced over $3,000
in a week. These were the best, and their returns were much above
the average.®

PEACE RIVER, STICKEEN TERRITORIES, AND SHUSWAP

Even Cariboo failed to write “finis” on the mining advance. The
search reached into the Peace River region, where, in 1861, bar dig-
gings were found. Such diggings are the ideal of the individual
miner, as no capital is required. The pioneers in this region, Edward
Carey and W. Cust, brought to Fort McLeod, in the fall of 1861,

7 British Columbian, Sept. 6, 1862.

98 British Columbian, Oct. 18, 1862; Year Book, B. C., 1897, p. 3o1.
% Mining Report, 1875, p. 608,

1 British Columbian, Sept. 4, 1862,

2 British Columbian, Oct. 8, 1862,




[ made a half an ounce a day to the man during 1863 on every bar
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one thousand ounces of gold, and reported having washed out in one
day seventy-five ounces apiece.® In 1862 a rush, small as compared
to the Fraser and Cariboo rushes, took place.* This territory was
reached by ascending the Fraser to Fort George, thence up the Ne-
chaco and Stuart Rivers to Stuart Lake, thence across Stuart Lake
ninety miles and across a portage to the Finlay branch of the Peace.
The Fort St. James Journal records on July 10, 1862, the arrival of
a party of six miners en route to that region. Other parties followed.
The mere inaccessibility of the locality was a lure in itself. The
opinion gradually gained ground that these northern mines were
the long looked for E/ Dorado. The mystery surrounding the move-
ments of these adventurers, who, disappearing into the wilds, would
suddenly reappear for provisions and as suddenly vanish, was in the
view of many a sure sign of a rich strike. In October, 1862, it was

reported that the diggings on Peace River were paying $100 a day
to the man with rockers.” A parw of five were reported to have

down to the junction of the Finlay with the Peace River,

In the examination of the northern rivers, the Stikine was not
overlooked. During 1861 a miner named Choquette, about a hun-
dred miles from its mouth, found good bar diggings, realizing with
a very primitive rocker, $51.50 in five days, He observed, as had
been noticed on the Fraser, that the coarseness of the gold increased
with the ascent, Indians, who were prospecting with him, frequently

:

! made $9 per day each.’
] These discoveries bore fruit in 1862, when this new mining
f { region, being beyond the boundaries of British Columbia, was
formed into the Stickeen Territories by an Order-in-Council dated
July 19, 1862. Its boundaries were: on the west and southwest, the
frontier of Russian America—the Alaska of today; on the south
and southeast, the Colony of British Columbia; on the east the one
hundred and twenty-fifth meridian of west longitude; and on the
! 1' north the sixty-second parallel of north latitude. The Governor

of British Columbia was named Administrator of Stickeen Terri-

8 B. C. Directory, 1863, pp. 204-5; Victoria Weekly Colonial, Feb, 23, 1870.
4 British Columbian, Oct. 1, 1862.

S British Columbian, Oct. 18, 1862,

i 1 ® Hazlitt's Cariboo, p. 133.
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tories, with power to appoint and suspend from office Judges, Jus-
tices of the Peace, Sheriffs; and other necessary officers, to exercise
the royal clemency, remit fines and forfeitures, to make regulations
regarding the use and occupation of lands, and to fix the terms under
which gold, silver, and other minerals might be sought and removed.
The law of England, as existingon January 1, 1862, so far as not from
local circumstances inapplicable, was declared in force; the Supreme
Court of British Columbia was given jurisdiction in civil and crim-
inal matters arising in the new territory; the Justices of the Peace
were authorized to deal with civil matters up to £50, and with crim-
inal matters where the punishment or fine did not exceed two months’
imprisonment or £50.

The Stickeen Territories, as separate from the Colony of British
Columbia, had but a short existence, In July, 1863, an act was passed
by the Imperial Parliament whereby the greater part of Stickeen
was included within the boundaries of the colony. The new limits
of British Columbia were: on the south the frontier of the United
States of America; on the west the Pacific Ocean and Russian Amer-
ica; on the north, the sixtieth parallel of north latitude; on the east
the Rocky Mountains and the one hundred and twentieth meridian
of west longitude, including Queen Charlotte Islands and all other
islands, except Vancouver Island and those adjacent thereto.

Late in 1863 gold was discovered in the vicinity of Shuswap
Lake, by William Peon. In two weeks, he and his partner took out
$300, and two Indians obtained $50 in two days. The gold was small
and scaly, but the diggings were shallow® So important did the
discovery seem that Mr. H. M., Ball, the Assistant Gold Commis-
sioner at Lytton, set out in October to examine the new mining region.
He reported that it was located two hundred miles from Lytton on
the left bank of the Spallumcheen River. In his opinion, when the
claims were properly opened they would yield from $12 to $16 a
day, for he was informed by Narcisse, an intelligent Indian, that he
had made $12 a day with a rocker.® Though it was late in the fall,
miners were flocking to the new diggings. In December, the Shus-
wap mines, as the locality was called, were only vielding from $5 to

T Appendix to Revised Statutes of B. C., 1871, No. 53, p. 189.
% Lytton Letter Book, Sept. 14, 1863.
% 1d., Nov. 3, 1863.
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$14 a day. Benjamin McDonald and Charles Kimble applied for
a charter to build two bridges on the trail and to collect tolls on the
traffic. The right was granted, but they took little by the grant, as
the Shuswap region soon ceased to attract attention and was hidden
from view by the Kootenay, towards which the tide of fickle adven-

turers now flowed.”

10 Lytton Letter Book, Nov. 16, 1868.
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CHAPTER VI

THE ROADS AND TRAILS TO CARIBOO

During all this time the means of communication with the interior
had been gradually improving. It is necessary, now, to trace these
changes and the gradual evolution of that stupendous work, the
Cariboo road.

When the miners arrived in 1858 the trails leading from the
lower Fraser region were only the abandoned trail of the Hudson's
Bay Company from Kamloops to Fort Yale, and the existing trail
from Kamloops to Fort Hope. The former, keeping away from the
river, led from Fort Yale to Spuzzum, where it crossed, followed
the left bank of the Fraser to Ke-que-loose, later known as Chap-
man'’s Bar, six miles further, then, climbing to an elevation of two
thousand feet, it descended to Anderson River. It followed that
river to the source and, continuing at a great height, reached the
Coldwater River and thence, in a northeasterly direction, across
the Nicola to Kamloops."
Coquahalla, crossed Manson’s Mountain to the Campement du
Chevreuil at the head-waters of the Similkameen, and thence in a
northerly direction by Campement des Femmes to Nicola Lake and

The trail from Fort Hope ascended the

Kamloops.”* It will thus be seen that these routes were of compar-
atively small value to persons wishing to ascend the Fraser, and,

| moreover, owing to their elevation, they were snow-bound during |
about eight months of the year. But there existed then, as there had
existed from the earliest times of which we have any record, Indian
| trails along the banks of the river—trails of which Simon Fraser has

left us such a vivid description.

To get supplies into the region beyond Yale and to reach the
| mining bars above the canyons were the problems of 1858. The

11 Anderson’s British Columbia, p. 97 (note). W
12 Anderson Hand Book, |
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raging torrent closed the river; the approach must be by land.'
The “almost insurmountable barrier” which the country beyond Yale
presented caused Douglas to give his attention to a route by way of
the chain of lakes from Harrison Lake to the Fraser at Lillooet.
This line of communication had been long known to the Hudson’s
Bay Company and had been mapped by Mr. A. C. Anderson, one
of their chief traders.'* The fact that only short bits of trail were
necessary to connect the stretches of water appealed strongly to
Douglas; but the question he had to solve was how to build these bits,
short as they were, with the very limited funds in hand.

Late in July, 1858, he invited the miners then in Victoria to con-
sider the undertaking.'” The arrangement ultimately made was
unique. Five hundred miners, divided into twenty companies of
twenty-five men each under the command of a captain, were to be
given free transportation from Victoria to the point where the trail
was to commence, and to be supplied free with food during its con-
struction.’” They were to receive no remuneration for their labour
in building the trail.'™ Each miner was to deposit $25 as security
for the fulfilment of his agreement, which sum was to be repaid in
provisions at Victoria prices when the work was completed, together
with a fair allowance to cover the carriage of such provisions to the
end of the trail.

The first detachment, two hundred and fifty men, left Victoria in
the Otter on August 5, 1858 ; the remainder followed on the 1oth.'®
Their first act was to name the western terminus of the trail Port
Douglas, in honour of the Governor. At the outset the work pro-
gressed rapidly, ten miles being built during the first four days, and
when the whole body were at work, from four to six miles daily.
But the transportation of materials and supplies became more serious
with the increasing distance.’® It was supposed that mules would be
put on the finished trail for this purpose, and thus it was expected
that the work would be completed in four or five weeks. Some delay
and considerable disaffection arose over the failure to supply these

12 B. C. Papers, pt. 1, p. 23.

14 Victoria Gazette, July 29, 1858,

18 Pictoria Gazette, July 29, 1858.

18 Victoria Gazette, Aug. 3, 1858; Aug. 4, 1858,
17 B. C. Papers, pt. 1, p. 28.

18 Victoria Gazette, Aug. 6, 1858; Aug. 11, 1858,
19 Victoria Gazette, Aug. 19, 1858,
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animals promptly, for in the interval all supplies had to be carried
by the men themselves.** ‘The trail was completed about the end of
September, It was not a mere mule trail, but was well built, with
bridges at all necessary points, and almost sufficiently wide for wagon
use. Its entire length, including the lakes, was about one hundred
miles. As completed, goods could be packed over it for 20 cents a
pound.** Some difficulty occurred in arranging the amount to be
allowed for the transportation of the road-makers’ supplies from
Douglas to Lillooet. The men thought that 20 cents a pound should
be allowed, while the representative of the Government would allow
but 4 cents.** When the question came before the Governor himself,
he directed that the promised supplies be either transported over the
trail to Fraser River at the colony's expense, or a fair allowance,
which he fixed at 18 cents a pound, be made to the men therefor*®
Though built on this codperative plan, its cost, i. e., transportation of
men and materials, supplies, and sustenance, was £12,064 17s. 84.%*

This trail gave ready access to the Fraser at Lillooet, reducing,
consequently, the cost of food on the bars in that vicinity. At this
time the charge for packing from Fort Yale to the Forks (Lytton)
was 4624 cents, while from Douglas to Lillooet—almost double the
distance—it was, by this work, reduced to 18 cents a pound.

But the gradual advance from Yale had shown the auriferous
nature of all the bars between that point and Lytton. Hence, while
the trail to Lillooet afforded access to the upper Couteau and Canoe
countries, it gave no relief as regarded the territory between Yale and
Lytton. The Hudson’s Bay Company's Brigade trail, as far as
Spuzzum and Anderson River, and the Indian trails, were the lines
of communication. In August, Douglas called for proposals to cut
a mule trail from Yale by way of Douglas Portage to Spuzzum
(sometimes called the Rancheria), and thence for a distance of
thirty-five miles along the river. It was to be a trail over which a
mule could pack two hundred and fifty pounds.*®

While this was under consideration, a company of one hundred

20 Victoria Gazette, Oct. 7, 1858 ; Oct. 23, 1858.

21 Victoria Gaxette, Sept. 7, 1858,

22 Victoria Gazette, Oct. 23, 1858,

8 Victoria Gazette, Oct. 26, 1858,

24 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 3.

28 Pictoria Gazette, Aug. 17, 1858; Aug. 28, 1858; B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 6.
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and sixty men and four hundred mules and horses, in command of
David 'I\chuughlin, arrived at Lytton. They had made their
rendezvous at Walla Walla. Learning from Mr, Wolfe, a trader
of Fort Colville, who, with a band of beef cattle, joined them there,
that the Indians were hostile, the party adopted a semi-military
organization. Four divisions were formed and placed under the
command of James McLaughlin, Hambright, Wilson, and Tucker.
A German who lagzed behind, while crossing the Columbia Plains
was taken by the indians and murdered. Near the boundary line,
and on the east side of the Okanagan River, the party met the Indians
in force and strongly entrenched. When the latter fired, the whites
took shelter behind the rocks and returned the fire, All the after-
noon the battle continued. Hurley, Evans, and Rice, three Califor-
nians, were killed, and six others wounded. Five horses were also
lost in the conflict. During the night the Indians set fire to the grass
to burn out the whites, but the latter set counter fires, and both held
their positions. In the morning the savages had decamped.” From
the breastworks which they had erected it was evident that about a
hundred Indians had been engaged in the encounter.

A few days later a large band rode down upon the party and
endeavored to stampede their animals. Failing in the attempt,
peace was made. No sooner had this been arranged than the Indians
stole about sixty of Mr. Wolfe's cattle. McLaughlin’s men, finding
them in the act of jerking the beef, took them prisoners and were
about to execute speedy justice upon them when Chief Trader Allen
McDonald of Fort Colville most opportunely arrived on the scene,
and at his earnest intercession the malefactors were released.*®

The whole journey occupied about thirty days. The trail was
described as being so bad that one, who had once travelled it, would
not desire to do so again. Amongst the party was Mr. John Alway,
who became one of the earliest packers in the colony.*’

Immediately after their arrival, one hundred of the mules were
sent down the river trail towards Yale, When this news reached
Yale, a meeting of the miners was held and about a hundred men
volunteered to render the trail by way of Spuzzum and Boston Bar,
i. e, a portion of the Brigade and existing Indian trails practicable

0 Bancroft's History of B. C., pp. 367, 368.
¥ Victoria Gazette, Aug. 24, 1858,
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for pack animals.*® They set to work in earnest and made the trail
as far as Spuzzum so passable that a mule could travel it with a load
of two hundred pounds. The Governor took up the work where
these volunteers ceased.

From Fort Yale to the Ferry the trail was in fair condition, but
the remainder of the distance to Lytton (the Forks) was very rough,
full of big logs and difficult places to travel, though loaded mules
managed to pass over.*® By September 7th it was estimated that
five hundred mules were packing over this trail from Yale to Lytton.
The prices for packing were, at first: to the Rancheria (Spuzzum),
6 cents a pound; Ferry, 12 cent; beyond, as far as the Forks, 40
cents; total, 461% cents a pound.

Besides this, which is known as the mule trail, there were two
others known as the “Lower” and “Upper” Canyon trails. The
former was a rough path carried along a ledge of boulders at the
bottom of the canyon, but only passable when the water was low.
The upper trail passed from ledge to ledge at a height varying from
fifty to eight hundred feet above the river. They connected with the
mule trail and afforded short cuts to those whose nerves were strong
enough to stand the strain. The test came in rounding the cliffs.
Here the Indians had suspended poles by ropes of deer hide and
fibre, and in passing there was nothing for the traveller to grasp; he
could only stretch out his arms and clasp the face of the rock, keeping
as close to it as possible; if he became dizzy, or made a false step,
the pole would of course swing away and place him in danger of
toppling off.® Yet the Indians who were accustomed to the work
used these two trails for packing in supplies for the miners when the
mule trail, owing to its elevation, was blocked with snow. The miners
themselves were also, perforce, obliged to use the same routes, dan-
gerous as they were, and to carry their provisions along this haz-
ardous pathway during a great portion of the year.

Judge Begbie passed over these trails in the following April, He
describes them as being: “Utterly impassable for any animal but a
man, a goat, or a dog.” He adds: “It might, doubtless, be very
much improved. In many places a very painful and dangerous ascent

8 Victoria Gazette, Sept. 1, 1858,
2 Victoria Gazette, Sept. 7, 1858,
%0 Mayne, B. C.,, pp. 105, 106,
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and descent of twenty minutes, in the whole course of which the
traveller depends almost as much on his hands as on his feet, brings
the path to within a few vards of the projecting precipice, thfgugh
which a few pounds of powder would have made an easy way.” *!

Licutenant Mayne had no better opinion of these trails through
the canyons: “T'he ground over which the trail passes is the roughest
on which I have ever travelled, the greater part of it being over
sharp-pointed rocks or granite boulders. Some of the ascents in the
Great Canyon, which is six miles long, are from 30° to 60" and nearly
perpendicular over the water.” *

The mule trail, as already described, served the purpose during
1859 also; in July, mule trains loaded with provisions were leaving
Yale almost every day.** But the détour along the Douglas Portage
called for attention, and in August the Gold Commissioner at Yale
states: “It would be an incalculable benefit to the town were a bench
to be blasted out of the soft slate (?) rock at the mouth of the small
canyon immediately above Yale, opening a direct connection with the
river trail—at present a circuit of nearly ten miles has to be made
over almost inaccessible heights.” Another letter from him a few
months later throws light on conditions: “The bridge crossing Ross
Creek between this and Spuzzum suffered some damage during the
late freshet, the centre upright being slightly dislodged. I am in
hopes that the traders and packers will come forward with the sum
necessary for its repair, as it is estimated that £20 will be ample for
the purpose. Should they, however, neglect to do so within a rea-
sonable time, I beg to be authorized to expend the amount out of the
public moneys, as another freshet would, in all probability, carry

the bridge away entirely.” *

ROAD BUILDING

In 1860, the Governor entered upon his road construction policy.
He had realized from the beginning that roads were a prime neces-
sity, but mining is proverbially uncertain, and the unstable mining
community, rushing hither and thither, as reports of rich strikes

1 Beghie's Report in Royal Geographical Society, Dec. 12, 1859, p. 237

2 Mayne in Royal Geographical Society, Dec. 12, 1859, p. 214.

3 Letter E. H. Sanders to Colonial Secretary, July 2, 1859, in Yale Record Book.
# Same to Same, Aug. 17, 1859,
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reached them, kept in doubt the proper line of permanent roadway.
However, it was plain that access to the interior must be given. The
first step was to transform the existing trail from Douglas to Lillooet
into a wagon road. After Licutenant Palmer had examined it, in
May, 1859, about a hundred men of the Royal Engincers were em- |
ployed in improving the portion near Douglas.

In March, 1860, Captain Grant, R, E.; with eighty men of the |
corps, spent some time endeavoring to deepen the channel through
the shoal of Harrison River so as to allow uninterrupted navigation
atall stages of the water as far as Douglas. Later this party resumed
work on the road and, by October, with the assistance of some civil-
ians, completed it from Douglas to the twenty-cight mile house at
Little Lillooet Lake in such a manner as to receive the highest enco-
miums from the Governor.”” A number of freight wagons were
placed on this section, and thus the cost of transportation was again
reduced.®

In the following year the Royal Engineers continued their work
on the same portion, reducing the grades and improving the road-bed.

Ll

When it was completed Lieutenant Mayne described it as “a wagon {
road which would be no discredit to many parts of England.” ; {
The contract for the Douglas-Lillooet road on the second portage ¢ :
—Lillooet Lake to Anderson Lake, a distance of twenty-four miles - | i
was in August, 1861, awarded to Colquhoun & Company.*” This {
was to be eighteen feet in width instead of twelve feet. The con- ‘ 'f

tractors were unable to complete the undertaking beyond the first

]
cight miles.® In August, 1861, the contract for finishing it was \‘
awarded to Joseph W. Trutch, for £6,100, payable £3,000 in bonds ‘ '1"
and the remainder in cash.*® In October, 1861, he had one hundred }
and fifty men at work and was pressing construction rapidly forward. {

Between Anderson and Seton Lakes—one and one-half miles— Mr.
P. Smith had a tramway in operation by the fall of 1861, From Se- '
ton Lake to Lillooet—four miles—the road was built by Mr, Wat- 1
son and completed by November 1, 1861.*

9 Royal Engineers in B. C., p. 7.

36 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 23.

87 British Columbian, Aug. 8, 1861.

8 1d., Oct. 10, 1861, t
39 Proclamation, Oct. 29, 1861.

40 British Columbian, Oct. 17, 1861,
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With the opening of navigation in 1862, freight wagons and
stages were in operation over the whole extent of the Douglas-Lil-
lovet route. Steamers were plying on the various lakes—the Mar-
zella on Lillooet Lake, the Lady of the Lake on Anderson Lake, and
the Champion on Seton Lake."

In August, 1860, a contract was made with Mr. Edgar Dewdney
(afterwards Licutenant-Governor Dewdney), with whom Walter
Moberly was associated, to build a trail from Fort Hope to Similka-
meen, the Dewdney trail commonly called, for £76 per mile, payable
£1,000 in cash and the remainder in bonds bearing six per cent inter-
est redeemable in December, 1860, 1861, and 1862.** The location
of this trail was selected by a party of the Royal Engineers under
Sergeant McColl, who succeeded in carrying it over an elevation of
four thousand feet with no greater single gradient than one foot in
twelve*

Taking the hint which the Gold Commissioner at Yale had
thrown out, the Governor determined to build a trail along the moun-
tain side from Fort Yale to Spuzzum, and from that point to Boston
Bar, following the course of the Fraser at a moderate elevation. As
already stated, the Brigade trail could only be used during about four
months in the year. In June, 1860, a contract was made with Frank-
lin Way of Spuzzum and Josiah C. Beedy of Yale, to build this trail,
as far as Spuzzum, for £4,400, payable by the delivery of eighty-
eight bonds of £50 each bearing interest at six per cent, sixteen of
which were redeemableon January 1, 1861 and 1862,and the remainder
on January 1, 1863. This arrangement was afterwards altered. In
August, 1860, the Gold Commissioner at Yale paid these contractors
£300. Reporting this fact, he adds: “It is very necessary that I
should have, as early as possible, the balance of the portion (£1,000)
which His Excellency, the Governor, promised should be paid to
the above named contractors in cash—as they will be entitled to
another large payment in a very few days.” ** Thus, instead of the
original agreement to accept payment in bonds, payment in cash had
been substituted. The accounts for 1860 show the cost of this trail
to have been £4,426. Messrs. Powers and McRoberts, in the same

41 British Columbian, April 17, 1862.

42 Proclamation, Aug. 20, 1860.

43 Royal Engineers in B. C., p. 7.

44 Letter Aug. 3, 1860, E. H. Sanders to Colonial Secretary.
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summer, built the trail from Spuzzum to Boston Bar ~t the mouth of
Anderson River. Remains of this trail may yet be seen here and
there, usually at a higher elevation above the river than that at which
the wagon road was afterwards built. The cost of this portion of the
trail is given in the accounts of 1860 as £3,446.*" When the Governor
made a tour of the colony in October, 1860, the trail was completed
and open for traffic. “In riding over the face of these frowning
cliffs, which a twelvemonth ago seemed to defy all efforts at improve-
ment, it was impossible to suppress a feeling of thankfulness and
intense gratification at the successful issue of our labours and their
probable influence on the trade and development of the country. The
arduous part of this undertaking—excavating the mountain near
Yale—was executed entirely by a detachment of Royal Engineers
under Sergeant-Major George Cann, and it has been completed in
a manner highly creditable to themselves and to the officers who
directed the operation.” **

The plan of making future generations bear a share of the cost
of roads and trails did not appeal to Douglas. The present must
carry its own burdens. He has been much criticized for the introduc-
tion of the toll system; but, as will be shown when his fiscal policy is
dealt with, the colony received very little assistance from the mother
land—indeed the Secretary of State for the Colonies stated in the
House of Commons, “Never had any young colony cost so little as
British Columbia.” *" In October, 1860, the Governor issued his first
Toll Ordinance, the preamble of which shows his viewpoint: “And
whereas, in the course of the past year the cost of carriage to points
beyond the said mountains [i. e., the Cascades] has been lessened by
fully the moiety thereof, viz., by sums varying from 64. to 15. on the
carriage of each pound weight avoirdupois,” By that proclamation
he levied a toll of 1s. on every fifty pounds of goods carried beyond
Douglas in the direction of Lillooet, a similar rate on goods carried
by land or water from Yale in ‘he direction of Spuzzum, and from
Hope in the direction of Boston bLar or Similkameen.  Miners’ packs
not exceeding thirty pounds and goods bona fide the property of Indi-
ans were exempt from this charge.*® Evasion of tolls was to be

45 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 45

40 B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 30.

A7 British Columbian, Sept. 16, 1863.
48 Proclamation, Oct. 15, 1860.
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treated as smuggling, subjecting the offender to a penalty and to
forfeiture of the animals and vehicles employed.

Early in 1861 the excitement at Rock Creek and in the Okanagan
induced the Governor to undertake to replace the Dewdney trail
with a wagon road. This work was in charge of Captain Grant,
R. E., who, with a party of eighty sappers and ninety civilians, com-
pleted it by October to the Skagit Flats, a distance of about twenty-
five miles. Beyond that point this party merely changed the location
of the trail to obtain a better grade, for, by this time, the Cariboo
country had become a veritable magnet, drawing to itself, by the
glowing reports of its richness the miners of the lower country.

MULE TEAMS AND CAMELS

The great Cariboo wagon road—the Appian way of British
Columbia—reaching from Yale to the heart of the mining region,
amidst the tumultuous mountain masses of Cariboo—had not yet been
dreamed of. The boldest financier might well hesitate and draw back
when, from the mule trail or the Upper or Lower Canyon trails, he
surveyed the Little Canyon and the Big or Black Canyon of the
Fraser and estimated the cost of a passable wagon road where a goat
could scarce have gained a foothold. We now approach the com-
mencement of that eighth wonder of the world. As a necessary result
of its construction, the picturesque mule trains soon passed away,
for they could not successfully compete with freight wagons, It is
fitting, therefore, that a few words should be inserted descriptive
of this early means of conveyance, now disappeared forever.

The mule trains usually consisted of from sixteen to forty-eight
animals, No pack saddles were used; in their stead, a rough sort of
leather sack, filled with straw and called an aparajoe, was girded
tightly upon the mule’s back. Upon this was lashed the freight
(two hundred and fifty or even four hundred pounds), and secured
with the celebrated diamond hitch. A bell animal, usually a white
mare, led the train. There was no control over the mules when pack-
ing, though each knew its place. Besides a cook and a superinten-
dent, or cargodore, there was a crew, as they were called, consisting
of one man for every eight animals. The packers first followed the
Brigade trail from Yale to the crossing of Anderson River, made
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their way down that river to Boston Bar, thencs they took an Indian
trail over Jackass Mountain to Lytton. When Powers and McRob-
erts built the trail from Spuzzum to Boston Bar along the left bank
of the Fraser, the packers took that route instead of the Brigade trail.
In detail the route was, 1st day, Yale to Spuzzum; 2nd day, Spuzzum
to Lake House; 3rd day, Lake House to Thousand Dollar Bill on the
top of the hill from Boston Bar; 4th day, Thousand Dollar Bill to
Butcher Flat; sth day, Butcher Flat to Boothroyd Flat; 6th day,
Boothroyd Flat to Kanaka Bar; 7th day, Kanaka Bar to Lytton;
8th day, Lytton to Nicomen; gth day, Nicomen to Cook's Ferry.
Four miles beyond Cook’s Ferry the Thompson was left and the
remainder of the route to Quesnel Forks was made in seventeen
or eighteen days. The rate of travel there was about fifteen miles a
day. On this part of the journey there were no regular day's travel ;
the camping places depended upon water and feed for the train.
The trip upward occupied about a month; the return a little less.
Three trips were made in a season. Nevertheless, packing was the
most lucrative of employments. The train soon paid the capital
expense, and then great profits were made.* Early in 1861 the rate
from Yale to the Forks of Quesnel was $1 a pound. From that
point to Antler, before the trail was made, Indians packed for 40
cents a pound.”™ The rate fell as soon as pack trains could reach
Antler Creek. In the summer of 1861 the charge for packing from
Yale to Quesnel Forks had fallen to 40 cents a pound, and thence
to Williams Creek to 20 cents a pound. In July, 1861, four hundred
and eight pack animals left Yale for the Cariboo mines.*

Even in 1866 the mule teams were still largely employed in th
carrying trade of the colony. Langley's Pacific Coast Directory for
that year, which, so far as British Columbia and Vancouver Island
were concerned, was carefully compiled by Legh Harnett, gives two
thousand, two hundred and thirty-two animals owned by some seventy
merchants and packers. Amongst the principal owners of mule
teams were the Hudson’s Bay Company, The Western Union Exten-
sion Telegraph Company, Uriah Nelson & Co., Oppenheimer &
Co., Messrs. Barlow, Romano, Black, Levi, Davis, Thomas, Scott,

4 Journal of Bishop of Columbia, July 10, 1860.
0 Hazlit’s Cariboo, p. 115,
81 British Columbian, Aug. 15, 1861.
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Hutchinson, Coxon, Burnett, O'Brien, Bates, Evans Brothers, Kim-
ball & Gladwin, McDonald & Phair, Sherman, Alway & Bailey,
Saul & Co., Roper, Lane, Smith & Ladner, T. E. Ladner, Turk,
Crawford & Wilson, Kirkpatrick, Loring, Jack, Robbins, Vedder
& Co., Barnes & Co., Dietz, Girod & Guichon, McCullum, Allison,
Ward, Bohanon, De Nuvion, Peters, and Kwong Lee & Co.
Besides the mule trains, there was introduced into the colony,
in 1862, another pack animal, a stranger to our climate, the camel.
Mr. Frank Laumeister, a prominent merchant and packer, was the
originator of the scheme. It was thought that an animal that could
subsist on sage brush, carry a thousand pounds, travel thirty or forty
miles a day, and go from six to ten days without water would be a
success in the new colony. Camels had been used in 1857-8 by the
United States government in connection with the army transport
service in Texas and Lower California. With this knowledge Mr.
Laumeister procured a band of twenty-one.”* They arrived in May,
1862, and were at once sent to Douglas to pack on the portages,
as the Douglas-Lillooet road was called. Though they could easily
carry twice the load of a mule and pick their own forage, they were
not entirely satisfactory. The rough, rocky trails with intervals of
marsh and muddy ground were unsuitable for animals whose feet
were accustomed to sand.™ Yet they remained in the business of
packing for over a vear and made regular trips to Cariboo. They

were a great annoyance to the mules on the trail; the latter became
quite unmanageable when they scented the strange beasts, Several
accidents occurred in consequence, litigation arose, and the owners
deemed it the part of wisdom to withdraw them from the road.”
Some of them were brought to the coast and disposed of, but the
remainder were taken over to the Thompson River and turned out
to spend their declining days far from their Arabian homes. For
vears they were a source of terror to horses and mules in the vicinity;
the last survivor died about 1903,

HOW THE CARIBOO ROAD WAS BUILT

While the Royal Engineers and their civilian assistants were at

work on the road from Hope towards the Similkameen, an address

52 British Columbian, May 7, 17, 24, 1862.
53 Macfie, B. C., p. 226.
84 The Province, Nov. 23, 189s.
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was sent to Governor Douglas praying for its completion that season.
He replied that this could not be effected, unless the people of Hope
presented a petition requesting the imposition of an additional half
a cent a pound toll on all goods passing over it. On July 18, 1861, a
meeting was held to consider the suggestion. Mr. J. Spencer Thomp-
son, supported by Mr. Frank Langvoigt and Mr. Donald (“Doc”)
Chisholm, succeeded in carrying a reply to the effect that the roads,
being for the benefit of the colony, should be built out of the general
revenue, which, if not sufficient to enable such work to be done,
might be increased, and that if the Governor of his own motion saw
fit to levy the extra toll they could not object.” Just at this point
a delegation from Yale consisting of Charles Oppenheimer, Frank
Fellows, and W. A. Powers, waited upon Governor Douglas.

The work from Hope was soon abandoned ; later in that summer
the first steps toward the building of the Yale-Cariboo road were
taken. Many pioneers believed that in the above incident lay the
secret of the road’s being commenced from Yale, rather than from
Hope.

In October, 1861, Governor Douglas, while at Yale, discussed
the feasibility of constructing a wagon road along the Fraser to
Lytton and thence to Cook’s Ferry on the Thompson. The trail
built the preceding year to Spuzzum pointed the way. The Gov-
ernor was much impressed with the plan. Before departing he
arranged to let the contract for the portion from Boston Bar to Lyt
ton, a piece of comparatively easy work, with the exception of the
part over Jackass Mountain, and he ordered a party of the Royal
Engineers to survey for a wagon road from Yale to Boston Bar and
from Lytton to Cook’s Ferry. He also sent out Sergeant McColl
with another party of Royal Engineers to select a site for a bridge
over the Fraser."® The scheme so launched—a bold and daring one
for a colony of such limited means—meant the overthrow of nature’s
gigantic barriers; it meant the quarrying of a roadway eighteen feet
wide through those immense shoulders of rock that buttress the Cas-
cades for miles along the Fraser canyons. To provide an easy means
of access to Cariboo was, in Douglas’s opinion, a paramount duty
of Government, and although the labour was Herculean and the

o8 British Columbian, July 25; Aug. 1, 1861,
58 British Columbian, Oct. 3, 1861,
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distance four hundred miles, yet travel must be rendered easy, the
«cost of transportation reduced, and thereby the trade of miners
secured and retained for the people of the colony.”

About the end of October, Sergeant McColl reported recom-
mending that the river be bridged at a point about one mile below
Chapman’s Bar, where its width does not exceed two hundred and
fifty feet, and that the road be carried along the left bank, easy
grades being obtainable (with the one exception of Nicaragua
Slide), the whole distance to Boston Bar. In that space he estimated
there were about seven hundred vards of blasting, exclusive of
Nicaragua Bluff. The cost of an eighteen-foot road over those
twelve miles he estimated roughly at £45,000.°

The surveys having been completed and the location of the sus-
pension bridge settled, the work of construction went on apace, along
the greater part of the distance between Yale and Cook’s Ferry.™
The first six miles were confided to the Royal Engineers. Captain
Grant, R. E., with a party of fifty-three sappers, commenced this
section in May, 1862, and by the following November had completed
a road which was described as “an enduring monument of engineer-
ing skill and patient toil.” *  From the six mile post (Pike's Riffle)
to Chapman’s Bar (Suspension Bridge), seven miles, the contract
‘was in the name of Thomas Spence. The cost of this portion of the
road was $47,000."" From Chapman's Bar to Boston Bar, twelve
miles, the contract was in the name of Joseph W, Trutch. Work on
ithis section was commenced in May, 1862. 1t was finished during the
latter part of the year at a cost of $75,000. In April, 1862, after six
months’ delay, the contract for the road between Boston Bar and
Lytton, thirty-two miles, was awarded to Thomas Spence for
$88,000. He advertised at once for three hundred men to work
thereon. By the end of June almost four hundred men were em-
ployed, and twelve miles had been completed.”® Though these three
contracts were held in individual names, they were really for the
benefit of the partnership of Spence and Trutch.®® In March, 1862,

57 Letter, Douglas to Newcastle, Oct. 24, 1861,

58 E. H. Sanders to Colonial Secretary in Yale Record Book.
9 Royal Engineers in B. C, p. 8.

0 British Columbian, July 18, 1863.

o1 B, C. Directory, 1863, p. 196.

2 British Columbian, April 3, 1862; June 21, 1862,

%3 B. C. Directory, 1863, p. 196.
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tenders were asked for a wagon road eighteen feet wide—this was
the width of the whole Cariboo road—from Lytton, via the Nicomen
River, to Cook’s Ferry (Spence’s Bridge), twenty-one miles along
the line blazed by the Royal Engineers in the autumn of 1861, to be
completed July 15, 1862.°* Charles Oppenheimer and Walter Mo-
berly secured the contract.”® With them was associated Mr. Thomas
B. Lewis. In May they were advertising for one thousand men for
this work.” For a time all went well, and great vigour was shown
in its prosecution. The first twelve miles were completed to the
entire satisfaction of the Government in June, 1862. The time for
completion was extended and the formal contract signed on August
16, 1862. But the wild rumours of the untold riches of Cariboo
made it extremely difficult for the contractors to obtain anvthing
like the proper number of men. In this dilemma resort was had to
Chinese and Indian workmen, but the virulent outbreak of small-
pox in 1862 spread consternation and death amongst the latter, cut-
ting off this source of supply.”” On September 30th the Government
gave notice that unless the number of workmen was increased to
three hundred, and the work energetically pressed forward, the
contract would be cancelled; and a fortnight later the threatened
action was taken. The Government took possession of the finished
road, the unfinished work, and all the contractor’s tools and outfit to
recoup itself for advances made, and later in the season completed
the work. Mr. Moberly, one of the contractors, was in charge for
the Government.

The Harrison-Lillooet road, as completed in 1861, terminated on
the Fraser River at Cayoosh (Lillooet). Later in that year Gustavus
Blin Wright, the most famous of all the road-builders of colonial
days, built the forty-seven miles thence to Clinton, sometimes called
Cut-oft Valley.”® On August 16, 1862, the formal contract was
made with him covering the construction of a wagon road from
Lillooet to Alexandria. The country through which this two hun-
dred and forty-four miles of road was to pass offered but few
obstacles.” In May, 1862, Mr. Wright was advertising for five

o4 British Columbian, March 13, 1862,

% Moberly's Cariboo Road.

8 British Columbian, May 3, 1862,

7 British Columbian, Oct. 1, 1862; Oct. 15, 1862.
%8 B, C. Proclamations, 1862, No. 3.

% British Columbian, May 3, 1862.
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hundred men to work on this road, and by the end of July, 1863, it
was completed to Soda Creek.™ When finished a short time later,
Billy Ballou, the pioncer expressman, declared: “Itisa No. 1 road
for any country.” Thus the first traversable road to Cariboo, that
by way of Lillooet, was in operation in the summer of 1863. Stages
were running regularly on the portion from Douglas to Lillooet in
September, 1861; they kept pace with the gradual advance of the
work.”" In June, 1862, they were running regularly as far as Pavil-
ion, and in July, 1863, to the one hundred and sixty-four mile post
at Frank Way's, the fare to which, from Douglas, was $54.™

By June, 1863, the road from Yale to Cook’s Ferry had been
completed, with the exception of about one mile in Mr. Trutch’s
contract between Chapman’s Bar and Boston Bar, but in that short
space were several rocky bluffs, necessitating heavy blasting opera-
tions and requiring some two or three months’ work to overcome.™
Notwithstanding the unfinished state of the road, freight in large
quantities was transported along it during the early part of 1863.
As far as the ferry at Spuzzum, large mule wagons were used ; thence
to Cariboo everything was packed on animals’ backs. The Indians,
who, from the earliest days had found lucrative employment in
packing upon their own backs supplies for the miners, and had
even held their own against the mule teams on the rough trails,
found themselves unable to compete successfully against the mule
teams on the road. Already the price of packing from Yale to Rich-
field, Williams Creek, which had previously been about go cents a
pound, had dropped to 5o cents a pound and it was confidently
expected that on the completion of the road and the advent of wagons,
the price would fall tc 25 cents.”™ It fell below that figure. In May,
1864, it was 15 to 18 cents a pound.”™

To complete the Yale-Cariboo wagon road there remained, in
1863, to be placed under contract: (1) the suspension bridge to
replace the ferry at Spuzzum; (2) a connection between Cook’s
Ferry and the existing road by way of Harrison-Lillooet-Alexandria,

70 British Columbian, July 22, 1863.

T 1d., July 2, 1862,

721d., July 22, 1863.

T3 1d., July 8, 1863.

T British Columbian, June 3, 1863; Dec. 19, 1864,
8 British Columbian, Jan. 18, 186s.
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which Mr. Wright had built during that summer; (3) Cook’s Ferry
must give place to a traffic bridge across the Thompson. The two
first-mentioned wprks were undertaken and completed in 1863 On
February 2, 1863, an agreement was made whereby Joseph W. Trutch
undertook to build a suspension bridge, to be called the Alexandra
Bridge, across the Fraser at the point which had been selected by
Sergeant McColl in October, 1861.7" This was the first bridge on the
suspension principle in either colony. The span was over three
hundred feet.™ In the following September the bridge was finished
at a cost of about $45,000 and accepted on the examination and report
of Lieutenant Palmer. A four-horse team with a load of three tons
was driven over as a sort of test, but the deflection was inappreciable,
not amounting to more than a quarter of an inch.

The gap between Cook’s Ferry and Clinton on the Lillooet-Alex-
andria road was closed during the summer of 1863. The first nine
miles of this portion were built by the Royal Engineers under Licu-
tenant Palmer.™ William Hood of Cache Creek performed the
remainder of the work under a contract whereby he was to receive
£12,783 10s., subject to be increased under certain contingencies to
£13,917 155., payable entirely in bonds of the colony, bearing interest
at six per cent and redeemable in four annual instalments ending
September 30, 1867. He fulfilled his undertaking by August, 1863. It
was claimed that Hood's road was the best in the colony.™

The avidity with which the public grasped the new conditions
may be inferred from the fact that in July, 1863, before the comple-
tion, a traveler reported meeting, between Cook’s Ferry and Yale,
ten loaded wagons carrying four thousand pounds each and two
hundred and fifty pack animals, many of which had four hundred
pounds on their backs.*

In February, 1864, Thomas Spence undertook to build a bridge,
known as Spence's Bridge, in the vicinity of Cook’s Ferry.®® The
freshet carried away a part of the piers and did considerable dam-
age. When the waters subsided the work was resumed and completed

70 B. C. Proclamations, 1863, No. 10.

7 British Columbian, Sept. 12, 1863; April 27, 1864.

8 B. C. Proclamations, 1863, No. 9.

9 British Columbian, July 8, 1863; Aug. 15, 1863.
80 1d., July 8, 1863. .

81 British Columbian, April 27, 1864 ; Oct. 22, 1864.
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late in the fall. The erection of this bridge, which cost about $1 5,000,
was the last link in the chain from Yale to Alexandria. On the
strength of the loss by the freshet, Mr. Spence applied to the Legis-
lative Council, in 1868, and obtained an extension of his charter
right to collect tolls for two and a half years.*

Before passing away from this portion of the subject reference
must be made to the terms on which the roads, both by way of Har-
rison-Lillooet and by Yale, were constructed, Those portions which
were built by the Royal Engineers were directly paid for by the
Government of the colony by the colonial allowance of pay; the
remainder of the Harrison-Lillooet road, as far as Lillooet, was paid
for in cash and bonds, as already detailed; the Yale-Cariboo road,
as far as Clinton, was also paid for in cash and bonds; but tolls
were payable fo the contractors on the Alexandra Bridge, Spence’s
Bridge, and the whole road from Lillooet to Alexandria for vary-
ing periods of five and seven vears. These were exclusive of the
Government tolls already specified. The tolls to which J. W. Trutch,
the builder of the Alexandra Bridge (Suspension Bridge) was
entitled for a period of seven years, were one-third of a half penny
per pound on goods; 1s. 1d. per head on certain animals; 61%4. on all
other animals; 25, 1d. on vehicles drawn by one animal; 45. 24. on
vehicles drawn by two animals; 8s. 44. on vehicles drawn by four
animals or more. Foot passengers were free on this bridge. On
Spence’s Bridge the tolls payable to Mr. Spence for a similar
period were: on every one hundred pounds of merchandise, 84.;
on certain animals, 1s. per head; on all other animals, 6144.; on
vehicles drawn by four animals or more, 4s. 24.; by any smaller num-
ber, 25. 1d.; foot passengers, 15. each, On the road from Lillooet to
Alexandria the tolls payable to Mr. Wright for a period of five years
were: on merchandise, 1d. per pound; on animals, 15. In each of
these cases certain exceptions existed covering Government property,
machinery, etc.

From Alexandria to Quesnel mouth the communication was
for a long time by steamboat. The first vessel on this route was the
Enterprise, built in 1863 by Mr. G. B. Wright at a cost of $75,000,

82 British Columbian, April 29, 1868.
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the whole of the machinery and boiler plates having been brought
two hundred miles on the backs of mules.**

Early in 1864 Mr. G. B. Wright undertook the construction of
a wagon road from Quesnel mouth to Cottonwood, on the way to
Williams Creek, twenty-six miles. In July there were about one
hundred whites and two hundred Chinese at work upon it. The
former were mostly miners who had become disheartened with Cari-
boo and its deep diggings and were anxious to earn money to reach
the coast or the Kootenay mines, where shallow diggings, the lode-
star of the individual miner, were reported to exist. This portion
was completed by September, 1864, at a cost of about $85,000.

In 1864, Mr. F. J. Barnard put on a line of stage coaches from
Yale and Douglas to Soda Creek. The Cariboo Stage Company,
Messrs. Humphrey, Poole, and Johnston, began in 1865 to operate
stage-coachics on the newly-finished road from Quesnel to Cotton-
wood, connecting there with a saddle train for Williams Creek.

The remainder of the road from Cottonwood to Williams Creek
was placed und=r contract in 1865. In June, Mr. Munro was given
the contract as far as Barkerville for $45,000. Late in the fall this
was completed and the last link in the chain was forged.

One of the results of the completion of the road was to reduce
the freight to Cariboo from 75 cents to 15 cents a pound. But
against this advantage the goods were subject to the tolls which have
been specified. These levies were no inconsiderable sum, amounting
often to more than the first cost of the merchandise. For example:
goods for Cariboo were subject to the tonnage tax of 12s. or $3 per
ton on leaving New Westminster; at Yale or Douglas a toll of 1 cent
a pound was levied; on the Suspension Bridge a further charge of
1/3 cent per pound; on Spence’s Bridge a similar charge; and an-
other toll of 1 cent a pound on the road beyond Lytton and Lillooet—
in all $56.33 a ton, or almost 3 cents a pound.® When to this was
added the freight rate of 15 or 18 cents a pound it will readily be seen
that in many instances the cost of transportation doubled or trebled
the price of the articles themselves. In 1865, the tolls collected
amounted to $80,000; the cost of collection was $12,000.%°

%3 Milton & Cheadle, Northwest Passage, p. 361.

* British Columbian, Nov. 11, 1863; Proclamation, No. 10, 1863; No. 5, 1864.
5 British Columbian, Jan. 17, 1866.
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Although somewhat out of chronological sequence, yet to com-
plete the view of the Cariboo road the attempt to utilize steam traction
engines upon it for the transportation of freight may be men-
tioned in this connection. In 1864, R. C. Janion of Liverpool, W. L.
Green of Honolulu, Henry Rhodes, and Joseph W. Trutch obtained
permission to use these engines on the Cariboo road*® They were
required to introduce three, at least, into the colony by May 1, 1866.
The object aimed at was more speedy and cheap conveyance of sup-
plies and material. The rights of the original promoters passed
over to F. J. Barnard and J. C. Beedy. Five of these engines and
the necessary wagons were imported from Scotland, together with
engineers to operate them. One was duly placed in commission and
sent out from Vale with a load of twelve thousand pounds. It suc-
ceeded in reaching Spuzzum on the first day, Boston Bar on the
second, and the top of Jackass Mountain on the third. There its
journey toward Cariboo ended. The rate of travel had been demon-
strated to be no greater than that of the regular freight wagons, and
on the other hand, the cost was greater, owing to the enormous wear
and tear, the expense of operation, and the necessity of strengthen
ing all the bridges on the road. One of the engines was late
employed in logging operations carried on by Jeremiah Roy s
at Jericho on English Bay, and the remainder were returnc: o
Scotland.

Reaching from Yale, the head of navigation, to the mines of
Cariboo, a distance of nearly four hundred miles and solidly and
substantially constructed by our infant colony in less than three years,
this road was the pride of British Columbia and a source of wonder
and admiration to its visitors, who were loud in their expressions of
surprise at the daring conception and skilful execution of the work.*
Here the road was supported by piling, there built upon immense
masonry “fills,”” sometimes on gigantic crib-work, the ruins of which
vet remain, sometimes cut through a sheer rock bluff, now almost at
the water level, and anon raised to giddy elevations whence the rivir
seemed but a silver ribbon. As one has said: “If we could only
look back into the past along that mighty highway, what a strange
scene we should behold. Long lines of pack animals, heavy

% Ordinances, 1864, No, 8; 1865, No. 1.
87 Langevin Report, p. 47.
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freight wagons, six-horse coaches, with the well-known faces of their
passengers, camels and traction engines, an army of men with pack-
straps, some going, some returning, some successful, many unsuc-
cessful, men drunk and men sober—all sorts and conditions of men
—a motley crowd; bustling activity at the rough and ready road-
houses; such was the Cariboo road in the palmy days of its greatness
that are no more.”

With the completion of the Yale-Cariboo road there were two
conflicting routes to the mines—that which commenced at Douglas
and that which commenced at Yale. From Clinton northward these
two roads were merged. A great rivalry sprang up between them
for the trade of Cariboo. The Douglas route being the older, had
until 1863, a monopoly, or at any rate far the greater share, of the
business. The interested persons, the traders, the roadside house
proprietors, the steamboat owners on the lakes, strove energetically
to retain it. But natural conditions were unfavourable. The diffi-
culty in reaching even Douglas itself, owing to the shoals of the
Harrison, which necessitated transhipment except during the fresh-
ets, and thereafter the constant changes from land to water travel,
with the incidental delays in makiug connection with the steamers
on the three lakes, soon settled the question in favor of Yale. For,
on that route, the freight was landed at all times of the year at Yale
and, once placed in the wagons, could be sent through to the mines
without any harassing delays. Against this was merely the extra
toll on the Suspension Bridge and Spence’s Bridge, which, together,
only amounted to 2/3 of a cent a pound. From the completion of the
road through the canyons, the Douglas route gradually fell into dis-
use, though it continued to be used until late in the '60s. The decrease
in its importance, even in 1865, is shown by the comparison of the
toll collections for the years 1864, 1865.*" In the former they were:
Yale, £8,726 115. 5d.; Douglas, £6,438 3s. 14., and in the latter, Yale,
£7,585 35. 3., Douglas, £2,259 8s. 9d. Douglas is today one of our
many deserted viilages; its celebrated road a barely discernible, and
in some cases utterly obliterated, foot path. But, while the struggle
lasted, resort was had to various advertising schemes on behalf of the
rival routes.

% British Columbian, Feb. a1, 1865; Jan. 31, 1866,
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CHAPTER VII
THE DISBANDING OF THE ROYAL ENGINEERS

In the summer of 1863 orders were received for the disbanding
of the detachment. Mr. Dugald McTavish, the chief representative
of the Hudson’s Bay Company at Victoria, writing to Mr. A. G.
Dallas, the Governor of the company, on July 13, 1863, says: “The
Governor [Douglas] has so much to do, making roads and so forth
in British Columbia, that there is no drawing his attention to our
matters, and, when we do call on him to act, his invariable answer is,
that he can not get Moody to do anything, and I dare say there is
some truth in it, as it is shrewdly surmised that His Excellency has
had more to do with the recall of the Engineers home than any one
else, and they all feel that they are leaving under a cloud.” *

The work performed by the Engineers was much diversified.
All the important explorations in the colony, a great deal of the sur-
veying of townsites and country lands, and the selection of the lines
of roads were performed by them. Portions of the Douglas-Lillooet,
the Hope-Similkameen, the Cariboo, and the North roads were built
by them. The maps of the colony and of portions of it were made
by them, from their surveys, prepared in their drafting office and
lithographed and published by them. The design of the first school-
houses and churches, the first colonial coat of arms, and postage
stamps were prepared by them.”

Colonel Moody and the officers, together with some twenty of the
men, returned to England in October, 1863. Each of the men was
entitled to a free grant of one hundred and fifty acres of land in the
colony. Of those who remained in the colony the following survive
(1913): Thomas Argyle, Victoria; Robert Butler, Victoria; John
Cox, Victoria; William Haynes, Victoria; Samuel Archer, New

%9 Canada and the States, p. 253.
90 The Royal Engineers in British Columbia, p. ro.
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Westminster; L. F. Bonson, New Westminster; George Turner,
New Westminster; Philip Jackman, Aldergrove; John Musselwhite,
Sumas; Matthew Hall, Chilliwack.

THE GOLDEN CARIBOO 1863-5

The year 1863 was the banner year of Cariboo. Williams
Creck was mined along a stretch of seven miles, and about four
thousand men found employment there. The deep diggings below
the canyon were in full swing. Gold was being produced on a scale
which exceeded California in its palmiest days. The results were in
many cases almost incredible. A few isolated, well-authenticated
instances will be given, because the reports of such golden harvests
went abroad and aided to draw to the colony many persons filled with
hopes of similar success.

The Cameron claim yielded, during 1863, from forty to one hun-
dred and twelve ounces to each of three shifts per day. In October,
John A. Cameron, “Cariboo Cameron,” its principal shareholder,
brought out about $150,000, his share of its yield for three months.”
Viscount Milton and Dr. W. B. Cheadle saw a wash-up on the Raby,
which filled one of the tin cases used for preserved meats, holding
nearly a quart and valued at about £1,000, the result of fifteen hours’
work.”  Amongst this were several shillings and quarter dollars,
which had dropped out of the men’s pockets and turned up again in
the dump box.”® The Diller took out one hundred and two pounds
Troy in a single day. The Cunningham produced, on an average,
$2,000 per day during the whole season.”

The following summary shows the returns from the principal
claims on Williams Creek to the end of 1863: The Adams yielded
$50,000 from 100 feet; the Steele, $120,000 from 8o feet; the Diller,
$240,000 from 5o feet; the Cunningham, $270,000 from 500 feet;
the Burns, $140,000 from 8o feet; the Canadian, $180,000 from 120
feet; the Neversweat, $100,000 from 120 feet; the Moffatt, $90,000
from go feet; the Tinker, $120,000 from 140 feet; the Wattie, $130,-
ooo from 100 feet; besides the Black Jack Tunnel, Barker, Baldhead,

91 Milton & Cheadle, Northwest Passage, p. 360.

1d, p. 373

" 1d,, p. 369.

94 Palmer in Royal Geographical Society, xxxvii, pp. 191, 192.
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Abbott, Grier, Wilson, Beauregard, Raby, Cameron, Prince of
Wales, and numbers of others of world-wide fame.”” Forty claims
at least paid handsomely, and from about twenty was taken out
steadily, every twenty-four hours, from seventy to four hundred
ounces.

Besides Williams Creek, Keithley, Goose, Cunningham, Light-
ning, Jack of Clubs, Grouse, Chisholm, Sovereign, Fountain, Harvey,
Nelson, Stevens, Snowshoe, Last Chance, Anderson, California,
Thistle, Sugar, Willow, McCallum, Tababoo, and Lowhee, each
drew a share.of attention, and miners were at work upon them all.

The narrow gulch of Lowhee Creek for a while bade fair to
equal Williams Creek, as indeed its early production already men-
tioned had promised. When the bed-rock was reached on the
Cornish claim $4 to the pan was obtained, and for a considerable
period between three hundred and four hundred ounces a day were
taken from the Sage Miller claim."

On Lightning Creek, one company—the Butcher—working on
a hill claim sixty feet above the bed of the stream, struck “pay” late
in the fall of 1863, taking out two hundred ounces in one day.
Another company was making forty ounces a day on this creek.

The work upon the other creeks named, while it aided to swell
the grand total of production, was more or less cursory and spasmodic
and belongs rather to the stories of the separate creeks than to the
history of the colony. § i

The practical completion of the Cariboo road in 1863 greatly .
decreased the cost of living in that distant region. The following |
will give an idea of the prices normally prevailing in 1863 and 1864:
Flour, 32 to 35 cents a pound; bacon, 50 to 75 cents a pound; butter,
$1.25 a pound; coffee, $1 a pound; beef, 40 cents a pound; mutton, iH
40 to 45 cents a pound; rice, 45 to 5o cents a pound; beans, 30 to 40 |
cents a pound ; sugar, 5o to 60 cents a pound; tea, $1 to $1.25 a pound;
syrup, 65 cents a pound; potatoes, 20 to 25 cents a pound; and other ‘
food in proportion. Sawn lumber was 10 cents to 1274 cents a foot; 1
cordwood, $12 a cord; miners’ wages, $10 a day. Then, too, the \
ease of access insured a steady supply of the necessaries of life; the 1
experience of 1862 in this respect was never repeated.

9 Macfie, B. C., p. 248.
98 British Columbian, Oct. 3, 1863.
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From the changed conditions flowed a further result. In the
winter of 1862-3 Cariboo was practically a deserted land. Some
eighty miners, only, remained. But in the following winter some
five hundred or six hundred miners stayed on Williams Creek. In
their moss-chinked, mud-roofed log-huts, with their large, cheerful
fire-places, they spent the short daws and long nights, developing a
rude sort of social intercourse, and whiling away the monotony with
conversation and cards. Some even worked a great part of the time,
for during the winter of 1863-4, for the first time in the history of
Cariboo, a few of the claims—the Cameron, Raby, and Caledonia,
for instance, being deep diggings—carried on operations. But the
majority of miners and mine-owners preferred to take advantage of
the annual “lay-over” and spend their winters in the more genial
climate and more attractive surroundings of Victoria and San
Francisco.

Cariboo drew to itself not only miners, but all the classes that
naturally congregate where money is plentiful and easily obtained.
Gamblers flocked like vultures to the spot. The authorities reso-
lutely set their faces against this evil, but the vice was too deeply
rooted to be completely eradicated. It merely went under cover and
continued to flourish in private. An anomalous class of females,
known as the hurdy-gurdy girls, made their appearance in Cariboo.
They were mostly of German extraction. They frequented the
saloons and drinking places and, for a money consideration, danced
with all applicants. But, at the same time, their morals were above

reproach.

“They danced at nicht in dresses light,
Frae late until the early, O!
But, oh! their hearts were hard as flint,
Which vexed the laddies sairly, O!

“The dollar was their only love,

And that they lo’ed fu’ dearly, O!
They dinna care a flea for men,

Let them court hooe’er sincerely, O!

® % % & * 2 * * »
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“Bonnie are the hurdies, O!
The German hurdy-gurdies, O!
The daftest hour that e'er 1 spent,
Was dancin’ wi’ the hurdies, O!"

FEMALE IMMIGRATION

While on this subject, a word may be added on the cognate one
of female immigration. From 1858 to 1863 there was practically no
family life in the colony of British Columbia, outside of New West-
minster, Hope, Yale, and Douglas—trading points where stable
population existed. In 1862, it is true that Mrs, John A, Cameron
resided on Williams Creek with her husband, the celebrated “Cari-
boo Cameron,” who was even then accounted rich; but the poorer
adventurer left wife and family behind. Until the completion of
the Cariboo road and the operation of stage-coaches no regular means
of travel existed beyond the tradi..g centres mentioned. A mining
population, at times reaching four thousand or even six thousand,
was in Cariboo in 1862 and 1863, and yet not more than three or four
married women in all that vast region. The remainder of the sex
were the “hurdies,” Indian women, who became the mistresses, some-
times the wives, of the miners, and women of the underworld. Many
of the miners had left their families in Canada or the United States,
but the majority were unmarried.

Sir E. B. Lytton and the Duke of Newcastle wrestled with the
political problems of the colony, but its social problem engrossed
the attention of the Bishops of Oxford and London. Hearing the
“cry from Macedonia,” they called a meeting in London in February,
1862, at which the Lord Mayor presided. As a result, the British
Columbia Emigration Society was formed to eacourage the emigra-
tion of respectable, industrious women to the colony, not only as
domestic servants, but as a step towards supplying wives for the
miners and settlers, thus establishing a solid basis of colonial exist-
* A prominent worker in this scheme, as in all others relating
to the social and religious life of the new colony, was the Baroness
Burdett-Coutts.

ence.”

97 Sawney's Letters, Letter 11,
98 British Columbian, June 21, 1862
Vol 118
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The society lost no time. On April 17, 1862, the first contingent
of wives-to-be, consisting of about twenty girls, taken from orphan
asylums, left England.” They were thoroughly trained in all
branches of domestic service, and the result of the venture induced
the society to enter more ambitiously into the work.

In June, 1862, the T'ynemouth, a staunch iron screw steamer of
one thousand six hundred and twenty tons register and six hundred
horse-power, which had won a good reputation during the Crimean
war by weathering out a terrible storm in the Black Sea, in which
many vessels were lost, was about to be dispatched to the colony.
The magnetic influence of Cariboo drew some three hundred passen-
gers, but, says Frederick Whymper, the artist and well-known
traveller, who was one of them: “Our most noticeable living freight
was, however, an invoice of sixty young ladies destined for the
colonial and matrimonial market. They had been sent out by a
home society under the watchful care of a clergyman and a matron;
and they must have passed the dreariest three months of their exist-
ence on board, for they were isolated from the rest of the passengers,
and could only look on at the fun and amusements in which every
one else could take part.”!

Arriving at Esquimalt on September 17th, the young ladies were
transferred to H. M. 8. Forward and brought to Victoria, where
they were landed in small boats in front of the Government buildings
at James Bay and marched to the Main Barracks, which had been
previously prepared for their temporary accommodation. Although
the time and the place of disembarkation had been shrouded in
mystery, yet, as soon as it became known, a continuous stream of
humanity set in towards the point indicated, which very shortly re-
sulted in every available inch of ground, from which a view could
be obtained, being occupied by men of all ages, professions, trades
and callings, and stations in life, eagerly craning their necks for a
sight of the unique, long-looked-for, and much-discussed “cargo.”
As soon as the girls were on shore and in marching order, the dense
crowd of eager and expectant spectators fell back, opening up a
narrow passage, through which the females marched in tolerably

9 British Columbian, May 12, 1862,
1 Whymper, Travels in Alaska, p. 2.
2 Biographical Dictionary, p. 272.
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good order, two and two, towards their temporary home. The gen-
eral opinion was that the immigrants had made a very creditable
showing, considering that they had just disembarked from a long
voyage. There were a few women amongst them, but the majority
were girls, apparently from twelve to eighteen years of age.”

The agents of the society had been busy while the “cargo™ was
in transit, and a large number were immediately placed in situa-
tions of domestic service, and gradually the greater part of the
shipment was absorbed by the labour and matrimonial markets.
Half of them married soon after arrival or went into service, but a
certain proportion went quickly to the bad and, from appearances,
had been there before.' Taken as a whole, the venture was a success,
but it was a delicate undertaking and, while deserving respect for
the benevolent motive inspiring it, and for the good actually accom-
plished, it may be doubted whether such a method is to be recom-
mended for supplying the wants of a new colony.

Another shipment of thirty-six girls, sent out by the same society,
arrived in Esquimalt on the Robert Lowe on January 10, 1863.
Immediately upon their arrival twenty-five found positions in
service. The Rev. Mr. Macfie, the Congregational minister in Vic-
toria, says on this subject: “There was too little care exercised in the
selection of them, by those directing the movement and some, in
consequence, turned out badly. But all who conducted themselves
properly have had offers of marriage, and most of them have long
since become participants of conjugal felicity.” ®

Similar attempts were made in the adjoining territory of Wash-
ington, after the close of the Civil war. Some seven hundred war
orphans—the Mercer immigration—were brought to Puget Sound
in two shipments. Patriotism and the more stable conditions then
prevailing gave these efforts a greater success than had attended the
experiment in British Columbia.’

CARIBOO AT ITS BEST

The pay streak, as the auriferous stratum was called, consisted,
on Williams Creek, of a blue clay about six feet thick, mixed with

8 British Columbian, Sept. 24, 1862.

¢ Whymper, Travels in Alaska, p. 3.

& Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, p. 497.
¢ Oregon Historical Quarterly, vol. s, pp. 1 to 24.
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f‘; gravel and decomposed slate.” Above the canyon this stratum lay
‘i quite close to the surface, but below that spot the covering was,
! generally speaking, from fifty to sixty feet. The deepest shaft in this
‘ vicinity was one hundred and thirty-four feet, but even then it did
i ‘ not reach the bed-rock. The prevailing theory was that this pay
stratum was the bed of an old creek, which, carrying down the drift
gold, had allowed it to settle either on the bed-rock or in the blue
clay above it. The debris of centuries then covered the treasure.®
Great changes in the earth’s surface took place; here a slide, there a
convulsion, upheaving a portion and distorting another. The present
bed of a stream was thus no index to its old and gold-bearing bed.
Here was the element of chance—the reason why a claim on a hill-
side was rich, while one right in the present bed was barren. One
miner might be making $1,000 a day, while his neighbor above or
below him found his claim worthless. The former had struck the
old bed, the latter not. It is evident that such a condition was one
for capital and cooperation to cope with. The individual miner
could not take the risk, even if he had the means, of sinking a shaft
fifty or sixty feet in a country where wages and provisions were so
expensive. Deep diggings were not for him. Hence the Peace
River excitement, already dealt with, the Kootenay, and Big Bend
rushes of 1864 and 1865.

The yield of 1863—the golden year of Cariboo—is officially given
as $3,913,563, though Allan Francis, the representative of the United
States, estimated it at about $6,000,000.°

During 1864, the claims below the canyon on Williams Creek

were all being worked and all paid in varying measures of success.
The Wake-up-Jake, reaching bed-rock in this year, gave fifty-two
ounces, equal to about $800, from one panful of dirt. The Ericcson
on Conklin Gulch, a branch of Williams Creek, which was opened
in 1863, now produced a weekly return of one thousand, four hundred
ounces. The Cameron claim continued to pay eig! ty to ninety ounces
a day. In the fall, the Prairie Flower, earlier known by a far less
euphonious name, struck the pay, taking out in one day one hundred
and seventy ounces,

7 Rawlings' Confederation, p. 118,
8 Milton & Cheadle, Northwest Passage, p. 368.
® Year Book, B. C., 1897, pp. 390, 391.




SHEEPSHEAD, WILLIAMS CREEK

’
i
P S N
_17' K I} 44 N s
/ iv) i ‘-n__i"‘ \
2 7 1Y !
]
Lt Bk LTS
)
SRy s IRERS
v : 5 S 13
e

PRAIRT

WILLIAMS CREEK

FLOWER

FE




BRITISH COLUMBIA 117

A short distance below the Cameron claim, near a spot called
Marysville, Williams Creek widens into a flat, locally known as the
meadows. An effort was made to work this ground in 1864. The
great difficulty below the canyon, and especially in this section, was
to cope with the flow of water. As soon as the Cariboo road came
into being, improved steam pumps replaced the picturesque wooden
water wheels which drove the home-made pumps; but while these
were sufficient in the deep ground near Camerontown and Barke
ville, they were of little service in the meadows.”"  An artesian min
ing company which had obtained a twenty-year lease of a half mile
square in this locality undertook a different style of work. Instead
of the old-fashioned shafts this company operated by means of an
artesian well auger, bringing up a panful of dirt at each raise. For
a short time they obtained good returns, the first day's washing giving
one hundred and fifty ounces, but the scheme ended in failure. The
regular style of mining was also tried on the meadows on a very
extensive scale over a distance of about three miles, but without
success, for want of adequate machinery and pumps.'* The Tiger,
Beaver, Richfield, and John Bull were among the claims on the
meadows which never reached bed-rock, “never bottomed,” as the
expression was. From the claims immediately adjoining and nearer
Camerontown a small amount was obtained, but the water could not
be overcome. The Marysville, Phelan, and Hart, which lay within
a few hundred feet, yielded $250,000 and $300,000 each; but in these
instances the pumps controlled the water. The opinion was, there-
fore, always strong that the meadows would yield enormously if the
water could be kept out of the workings, but neither in 1864 and
1863, nor in the days of the Lane and Kurtz Cariboo Mining Com-
pany in 1870 and 1873, could it be got under control. That company,
which had a lease of a portion of this ground, did succeed, by sinking
a shaft in rock to a depth of one hundred and twenty-five feet and
drifting one hundred and forty-five feet under the meadows toward
the old channel, in getting a prospect of $25, but just as the golden
result appeared at hand the water “slumgullion,” as it was called,
compelled a suspension. It was thought, in 1876, that a bed-rock
flume from Valley Creek, two and one-half miles in length, might

19 British Columbian, Sept. 14, 1864.
11 Macfie, B. C,, p. 265.
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solve the riddle, but nothing was done, and the riches of the meadows,
if they exist, have, to the present, defied the ingenuity of man.

Following the experiment of the preceding year a considerable
! number of claims worked through the winter of 1864. Amongst
i them were the Oram, Adams, Elliott, Prince of Wales, Cameron,
Moffatt, New York, Grizzly, Caledonia, Cariboo, Watson, and
Canadian.” This gave stability and an air of permanent settlement
to the Cariboo region. Of the one thousand, five hundred miners,
about seven hundred or eight hundred spent the winter there.

A word or two about the other creeks will suffice. On Cunning-

ham Creek, in 1864, shallow diggings at eight to ten feet were struck.
One company was taking out one hundred ounces a day with four
men. In ashort time four hundred miners had rushed to this creek,
the majority of whom were making two to three ounces a day. On
| Lightning Creek, the Ayrshire Lass was producing from twenty-five
to forty ounces a day, and five or six other claims were paying well.
The Butcher claim took out $5,300 in three days and had the honour
of producing the largest nugget found in Cariboo, thirty and one-
w sixteenth ounces. Lowhee Creek continued to produce regularly,
4 but no striking returns were obtained.
y The best days of Cariboo passed with the years 1863 and 1864.
| The yield of the mines was still very large. The official return for
1864 was $3,735,850,'* and for 1865, $3,491,205; but these vast sums
came almost entirely from a few rich claims. The shallow diggings
were exhausted and the mining population decreased. Only wage-
earners and mine-owners remained. The day of the capitalist came
with the deep diggings. These gave their handsome rewards to the
few fortunate ones. The other class, the labourers, received their
wages—high, it is true—but leaving only a small amount after the
enormous cost of living was deducted.

On Williams Creek, besides the claims which had paid well in
1864 and still continued to pay, the most famous in 1865 were the
Ericcson and the Sawmill, both on a tributary called Conklin Gulch.
In six days in June the latter produced $16,845, and later in the
month one day's wash-up was four hundred ounces, equal to $6,400.
The former even exceeded these figures. In one week in July its

12 British Columbian, Dec. 10, 1864.
13 Year Book, B. C., 1897, p. 391.
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yield was $22,400, in the following week $30,816, and in the next
$18,750; from June 17th to July 29th, there was taken from this
claim; $160,672."* On Cunningham Creek the shallow diggings
which had attracted attention in the preceding year were soon ex-
hausted. At the beginning of 1865, three hundred men were at work,
but before the end of the season the creek was practically abandoned.
Lowhee, Lightning, Antler, Keithley, and Harvey creeks continued
to produce; but the conditions were similar to those on Williams
Creek—a few rich, deep mining claims. The day of shallow dig-
gings had departed; in the natural evolution the paying claims had
passed into the hands of the capitalist. Speaking generally, it can
truthfully be said that Cariboo was never really a poor man's
diggings; though here and there were spots where the bed-rock lay
near the surface, and where, consequently, the poor man could
operate. The state of affairs is shown by the census of the mining
population in 1865. The total number had fallen to 1,393, divided
as follows: 1,000 on Williams Creek, 68 on Lowhee, 60 on Burns,
15 0on Cunningham, 30 on Antler and Stevens, 100 on Lightning, and
120 on the other creeks.'

The following statistics, taken from Harnett's Lectures, will give
an idea of cost and returns from some of the principal mines on
Williams Creek: The Cunningham claim, located in 1861, with
four interests, cost $100,000 to work, and yielded up to 1865 $500,000,
The California, located at the same time, cost $150,000 to work and
yielded during the same period $500,000; in 1866 and 1867 this
claim was still paying from $15 to $20 a day. The Black Jack, located
in 1862, with six interests, returned in two years $200,000, under a
total outlay of $50,000 for work at $16 a day; in 1867 it was worked
as a hydraulic claim. The Tontine, located in 1861, with four inter-
ests, cost up to 1865 $100,000 for development and working, and
vielded $500,000. The Dietz paid good wages steadily. All these
were in the shallow ground above the canyon, Below the canyon
the High-Low-]Jack, with five interests, paid in June, 1867, $12,000
to the share. The Alturas, on Stouts Gulch, located in 1864, with
eight interests, paid off in five weeks during 1866 an indebtedness of
$23,000. Its complete output was $275,000. The Taff Vale, on the

14 British Columbian, Aug. 8, 1865,
18 Victoria Weekly Colonmist, Oct. 31, 1865,
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same gulch, cost $30,000 to open, and yielded from one hundred to
two hundred ounces per week, giving a grand total of $300,000.

In closing our remarks upon the golden era of Cariboo it is
i 1 fitting to add a few words about the miners themselves,
]! Reference has been already made to the death of John Rose. As
| this man was one of the most successful and energetic prospectors,

[ the few details are given. The miners believed in his star and confi-

lx dently expected that he could and would find diggings as rich as

! Antler and Williams creeks, Thus his movements were the subject

of careful invesugation. In the spring of 1863 he set out from

Williams Creek on a prospecting trip into the Bear River country.
f‘ ' From that time no white man ever saw John Rose alive; his remains
' were never found; nor was any authentic information as to his end
i ever obtained. In Milton and Cheadle’s Northwest Passage by
! Land " it is stated that later in the summer there was found, hang-
| ing to a branch, a tin cup bearing the words, “Dying of starvation,”
B thus indicating his end. But this is an error. The authors have con-
{ 4 fused the death of Rose with that of Donald Munro. That unfortu-
! ‘ nate man wandered into the same locality and was lost. In June,
} 1863, a miner, Sim Shiveley, while returning from a prospecting
! tour, stopped on Bear River, about one hundred and sixty miles from
{ 0! Richfield, to cook his dinner. Wandering along its bank he noticed
’ | & a cloth hanging to a tree. His curiosity being aroused, he hastened to
R the spot and found there the gruesome remains of a man. At his
| head was a tin cup bearing these words: “Donald Munro, in the
f woods, lost June, 1863, is from Inverness Town, Scotland, born June,
{ 1825.” ' Not an ounce of food was found near the body; but the
* stripped bark of the neighboring trees spoke eloquently of his des-
] perate efforts to sustain life. Rolling the dead man in his blankets,
Shiveley buried him there,

Of all the miners of the early days in Cariboo none is more widely
known than John A. Cameron. This man’s spectacular rise to wealth
entitled him to the sobriquet he bore—“Cariboo Cameron.” Re-
turning to Glengarry, Canada, in the fall of 1863, he purchased a
farm of two hundred acres at Summers Town on the St. Lawrence
and expended vast sums in improving it, but it proved a poor invest-

s

18 Op. cit., p. 365.
17 British Columbian, March 12, 26, 1864.
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ment.  He then purchased some steamboat stock and a sawmill and
timber limits on Lake Superior. These, likewise, turned out badly."
As a last desperate chance he staked the remainder of his money on
a quartz mine in Nova Scotia. Still ill-fortune pursued him. He
lost all.  In 1888, he returned to Cariboo to make another fortune.
Invain. Hedied there on Novembery, 1888, aged 68 years. His body,
most fittingly, r

s in the quiet little cemetery at Camerontown on
Williams Creek, overlooking the scene of his unparalleled success.

As an example of the difficulties of transportation before the
advent of the Cariboo wagon road, the following incident is repro-
duced. It will serve to cast a light upon the nature of the men of '62.

Early in October, 1862, Mr. Moses Cross Ireland, with some
others, was returning from Cariboo across the Bald Mountain.
They had reached within a short distance of a well-known landmark
in that desolate district called the “colored man’s house” when the
snow fell so thickly that they could not see an object ahead of them.
They lost the trail and, travelling about for some four miles, came
on another party lost like themselves. Shortly afterwards they were
joined by another man, Frank Fulford, a packer, who informed
them that about half a mile farther on were a number of people,
including a Mrs. Webster and her two daughters, a Mrs. Cusheon,
and a girl of 14 years of age.

After a debate with his companions on the situation, no two agree-
ing, Mr. Ireland struck out in the direction where he thought the
lost trail lay. Upon his taking the resolution six others decided to
join him. They wandered about until night-fall without satisfac-
tion and were preparing to camp for the night, when the welcome
sound of a gun report attracted their attention and they made for
the place they judged it came from. Soon they were rejoicing in
the colored man’s cabin where they remained for the night.

Early next morning they found the snow was four feet deep, but
with three others Mr, Ireland started to rescue the party lost in the
snow, some thirty in number. On reaching a high point on the
mountain they encountered so much snow that they were obliged
to return, Rigging up some kind of snow shoes they again started

18 Saturday Sunset, April 3, 1909,
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on their mission of mercy and discovered the lost party about
sundown.

They were camped in a ravine cowering round a fire with some
blankets rigged up to break the piercing cold wind that howled
through the forest. Men, women, and children, with some surviving
animals, were huddled together in a wretched state, their teeth chat-
tering and eyes swollen by the smoke driven in all directions by the
icy blast. They had been fasting for sixty hours and eagerly wel-
comed the provisions the rescue party had brought with them. They
told Mr. Ireland that Frank Fulford and another man had left them
to search for provisions to bring up.

Mr, Ireland saw from the deplorable straits the people were in
that considerable assistance would be necessary to get them out
of their perilous position on account of the depth of the snow.
Leaving his companions with them he started out for help, hal-
looing as he went, at frequent intervals, in case other benighted trav-
clers might be within hearing and be attracted. One of his calls was
answered from a canyon about half way back, to which he pro-
ceeded and there he found Fulford and his comrade.

They had struggled through the snow all day and at length, over-
come by hunger, fatigue and cold, had given up all hope. Mr. Ire-
land supplied them with some food. Invigorated with that, and
the confidence imparted by the presence of their deliverer, they
crawled over the snow on their hands and knees for about a mile,
when they reached the summit of the ridge. Here they traveled
more easily down hill to the colored man’s cabin, where they arrived
about g o’clock that night.

Mr. Ireland, having made known the miserable condition of the
unfortunates he had left, about twenty men volunteered to accom-
pany him to the rescue, and next morning they began their toilsome
journey as soon as they could see daylight. Breaking a trail through
the deep snow they succeeded in getting the whole party, including
the surviving animals, back to that haven of rest, the colored man’s
cabin, in safety. Mrs. Webster was placed upon the stoutest animal
and the youngest daughter was occasionally carried by Mr. Ireland.

Thus were a party of thirty persons providentially rescued, mainly
through the perseverance, courage and foresight of a heroic gentle-
man, Mr. Ireland. He was overwhelmed with the grateful thanks

- o



MRS. JANET ALLEN, KNOWN AS “BIG JENNIE” AND “SCOTCH JENNIE”

The building was her boarding house at Cameron, but was moved to Mosquito Creek in the winter of 1868
where, it is thought, the photograph was taken. The men are Donald and James Rankin. Mrs. Allen met her
death in 1870 by being thrown over the Williams Creek canyon. She was from Lightning Creek to Bar-
kerville and was l\l\mr.' back when the horse went too close to the bank




BRITISH COLUMBIA 123

of the rescued party, who clamorously insisted upon bestowing pecu-
niary rewards upon their rescuer, which he as persistently declined.

Two of the party had been carrying down Mr. Elwyn’s, the gold
commissioner’s, books and papers, weighing two hundred pounds,
which they had abandoned in the woods.
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CHAPTER VIII
THE EXPRESS

It seems fitting, in this place, to give a short account of the com-
mencement and early years of the express business in the colony,
especially in view of its intimate connection with the mining days
of the Fraser and of Cariboo. The pioneer expressman was W, J.
Ballou, commonly called Billy Ballou. Learning of the existence
of gold on the tributaries of the Fraser during the winter of 1857-8,
he accompanied Governor McMullin of Washington, and others,
to Victoria to obtain from the officials of the Hudson's Bay Company,
the facts as known to them.'

Having had experience as an expressman in California, he was
quick to see the chance and seize the opportunity. In June, 1858,
he established the first express between Victoria and the Fraser
River mines—even as far as Lytton and Kamloops, or Fort Thomp-
son, as he called it.* At Victoria this express connected with Free-
man'’s, and thus with the world at large. Wells, Fargo & Co. did
not attempt directly to enter into the Fraser River trade; but Kent
& Smith’s express operated in connection with them beween Victoria
and Lytton and Kamloops. Besides these, Mr. D. C. Fargo, in Sep-
tember, established an express between Yale and Lytton. This oper-
ated in connection with Ballou’s, by which it was soon absorbed.
On the Harrison-Lillooet route, Messrs. Lindhart & Bernard estab-
lished an express connecting with Wells, Fargo & Co. But Ballou's
was the important institution, and that which maintained regular
communication with the mines at all times, 1t carried not only treas-
ure and valuable parcels, but filled the place of the postal service,
transmitting letters and newspapers. In the early days it was in a
very crude and imperfect state. The means of transport was a canoe

1 Bancroft, B. C,, pp. 351, 352.
2 Advertisement in Victoria Gazette, July 3, 1858,
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or the back of an Indian; the express oftice, the corner of a trader’s
shake house or a miner’s log cabin; the chief source of gain, the sale
of a few newspapers or the fee upon the few letters to and from the
various mining bars; the business was as difficult of performance
as it was precarious and scant in remuneration,

In 1859, when steamboat communication became more regular,
Jeffrey came into the business, but without making any marked
change in the service. Jeffrey's express passed over to F. J. Bar-
nard in November, 1861. Barnard at once began a more earnest and
efficient service.* He carried letters and papers on his back from
Yale to Cariboo and return, a distance of seven hundred and sixty
miles, and performed it at first entirely on foot. The hardships and
exposure endured by the expressmen during the hard winter of 1861,
travelling over ice and snow the whole distance, keeping open the
line of communication with the interior were, perhaps, never equalled
in any country. The next year Mr. Barnard established a pony
express, that is, he led a horse loaded with express matter from Yale
to Barkerville.

Ballou and Barnard continued to occupy the field. Intense oppo-
sition developed. But when, in July, 1862, the Governor called for
tenders for the carriage of the mail into the interior, and Barnard
obtained the contract, the struggle was practically over. The termi-
nus of the mail route was Williams Lake. The postal rates varied
according to distance, Thus from New Westminster to Douglas,
Hope, or Yale, the postage on a letter was §d.; to Lytton or Lillooet,
15.; to Williams Lake, 2s.; to Quesnelle, 3s5.; to Antler Creek, 4s.*
As a matter of fact, notwithstanding these rates, all letters for points
beyond Williams Lake went by express at express rates. As Sawney

says:
“Your letter came by the Express
Eight shillings carriage—nothing less.” *

Newspapers were only carried as far as Lytton or Lillooet at a

postal charge of 4. Some idea of the business done by the express

may be obtained from the fact that in June, 1862, Ballou's express

 Biographical Dictionary, p. 92.
4 British Columbian, July 23, 1862.
5 Sawney's Letters, Letter No, 1.
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made the trip from Williams Creek to Lillooet in five days, and to
New Westminster in three days more, bringing out four hundred and
forty-seven letters and $18,000 in treasure.” The struggle between
Ballou and Barnard ended in October, 1862, when Ballou retired
from the contest with an empty purse and a broken constitution.”

An arrangement was then made between Dietz & Nelson and
Barnard, whereby the former operated between Victoria, Yale, and
Lillooet, and the latter beyond the two last mentioned places. In

the summer of 1863, as Mr. Wright progressed with the construction
of the Lillooet-Alexandria road, Mr. Barnard kept pace with him
with the express, now developed into a two-horse wagon, running
every ten days and carrying also two or three passengers. Dietz &
Nelson, at the same time, put express wagons on the Douglas-Lillooet
route, though there was already a stage line plying thereon, In
September, 1863, parts of the Yale and Clinton wagon road
being completed (Clinton being the point of junction of the roads
from Yale and Lillooet for Cariboo), express wagons were also
placed on it, connecting with saddle trains over the unfinished por-
tions. During the winter of 1863-4 sleighs were put on in place of
wagons wherever practicable, and thus was afforded the only con-
nection with Cariboo.

In May, 1864, Barnard placed a line of fourteen passenger, four
horse stages, all driven by crack whips, on the road from Yale to
Soda Creek carrying express, mail, and passengers, connecting at
Clinton with stages from Douglas and Lillooet and at Soda Creek
with the Enterprise for Quesnel mouth.* In undertaking this piece
of enterprise the pablic gave him credit for more pluck than dis-
cretion, but nevertheless the coaches were sent out regularly twice a
week and never missed a trip.  Relays of horses every thirteen miles
enabled the trip from Yale to Soda Creek to be made in about forty-
eight hours. Above Quesnel mouth a saddle train connected with
the stages until the completion of the road in 1865, when regular
stages were put on this section also. The coaches were provided with
burglar-proof safes, having combination locks, of which the key num-
bers were known only to the agents at the termini. In the first year of

® British Columbian, June 14, 1862.
71d., Oct. 18, 1862,
f1d., Dec. 14, 1864.

Yol Y19




130 BRITISH COLUMBIA

the through stages, 1864-5, fifteen hundred passengers and treasure
to the amount of $4,619,000 were safely carried. In 1866, Barnard
became proprietor of the whole undertaking, absorbing the business
of Dietz & Nelson, and operating thereafter from Victoria to Wil-
liams Creek.

The following is the first advertisement of Barnard’s express to
Soda Creek:

EXPRESS FREIGHT
and
PASSENGER LINE
STAGES
After the first day of May, 1864, the coaches of this
line will run as follows:
UP TRIP
Leaves Yale on
MONDAYS AND FRIDAYS AT 3 A. M.
Passing over the
SUSPENSION BRIDGE
and
THROUGH THE CANYONS
By daylight, and reaching
SODA CREEK
In time to connect with the stern wheel steamer
Enterprise
On Thursdays and Mondays at daylight, reaching
QUESNELLE CITY
On the same day.

DOWN TRIP

Leaves Soda Creek on the arrival of the Enterprise on Tuesdays
and Thursdays, reaching Yale on Thursdays and Saturdays in time
to connect with the steamers for New Westminster,

F. J. BARNARD.
Yale, April 30, 1864.°

® British Columbian, May 4, 1864.
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The first stage to Soda Creek was driven by Mr. Charles G.
Major. It carried nine passengers, including Mrs. Florence Wilson,
James Orr, Robert Stevenson, and H. M. Steele of the celebrated
Steele claim.  Mr. Major was not one of the regular drivers; he
was the messenger in charge of Barnard’s express between Barker-
ville and Quesnel, and merely took the stage out on that occasion
as he was on his way to Cariboo in the spring. Mr. Stephen Ting-
ley, the best known driver in the colony, had gone on ahead with a
large band of horses, leaving three or four at each station so as to
afford the necessary relays. He took charge of the stage upon its
return trip and drove continuously from that time to 1897, during
which time he rose steadily from driver to partner, to director, to
manager, and at last became sole owner of the business, which was
then known as the British Columbia Express.

With the increase of business the stages were enlarged to six-horse
coaches. At first the custom was to drive from Yale to Spence's
Bridge (eighty miles) during the first day—the rate being only six
or seven miles an hour; this occupied, with stoppages for changing
horses and for meals, some fourteen or fifteen hours. The next day
the drive was from Spence’s Bridge to Clinton (fifty miles). There
the stage from Cariboo was met, the passengers exchanged, and each
driver set out on his return. After a time it was found advisable to
drive the stages steadily all night. By this course, time was saved
(as the road was free from freight wagons) and the exertion was
casier upon the horses, especially in the summer.

The best time made by special conveyance from Yale to Barker-
ville was in carrying Sergeants Lindsay and McMurphy in charge
of Berry, the murderer, On that occasion the three hundred and
cighty miles were covered in thirty hours’ continuous driving, The
usual stage time over the same distance was four days. Besides
Mr. Tingley, other well-known drivers upon the Cariboo road were
James Hamilton, John Hamilton, W. A. Johnston, and Wm. Hum-
phreys.

Closely connected with the express are the postal facilities of
the time. Their root is in the annual brigade and occasional
express of the North West Company and the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany. Besides the trading goods and the furs they carried letters
and parcels to and from the inhabitants of the various forts, thus
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forming, for many years, the only links with the outside world.
These facilities were extended to strangers without charge, until
the Norway House Council, on June 7, 1845, ordered that postage
on letters from strangers should be charged west of the Rocky Moun-
tains. Letters to and from the Columbia River, not exceeding half
an ounce, were to be transmitted for $1, with a further charge of
25 cents for each succeeding half ounce.”

Until about 1850, the Norman Morrison, or other annual ship of
the Hudson’s Bay Company for Vancouver Island, also carried let-
ters, papers, and parcels from England. But by reason of the gold
excitement in California and the increase of settlement on the
Columbia River and in the vicinity, the United States Government
organized a regular mail service to California, by way of the Isth-
mus of Panama. This was soon extended to Oregon, and later to
Puget Sound ports. The mail for Vancouver Island thus reached
Fort Vancouver and Olympia. A canoe manned by Indians and
usually in charge of a Hudson'’s Bay Company’s officer would leave
Victoria for Nesqually with despatches and letters. These would be
forwarded by Dr. William F. Tolmie, who was in command there,
to Fort Vancouver, or elsewhere, to catch the mail steamer, and
the canoe wouid return with despatches and mail matter, Mr.
Joseph W. McKay had charge of this service. Letters to and from
England were usually from six weeks to two months in transit.

Occasionally vessels bound for Puget Sound, for spars and lum-
ber, called at Victoria and thus afforded an opportunity to forward
letters. So, too, Her Majesty's ships gave similar opportunities,

The letters were kept in the office of Mr. Roderick Finlayson,
the accountant of the Hudson’s Bay Company. The Legislative
Assembly complained, in April, 1857, “that the general postoffice
is conducted within a public building, and letters are exposed under
conditions which the committee does not deem safe.” Governor
Douglas answered that, “means should be provided for initiating
a postal service, viz., £500: £100 for postmaster, £100 for postoffice,
and £300 for carrying mails.” The Legislature replied that there
were no funds available, and “further that the letters were so few
that they would not pay one-tenth part of the contemplated outlay,”
and then humbly acknowledged “the colony to be under great obli-

10 Resolution No. 105, cited in Morice Hist. of B. C,, p. 291.
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gations to the Hudson's Bay Company for the kind and liberal man-
ner in which they have carried gratuituously the letters from the
American shores to this island.” The Governor, nevertheless,
removed the postoffice from the company'’s premises, erected a small
building for the purpose, and installed Capt. James Sangster, who
was already pilot, harbour-master, and collector of customs, as post-
master. He died in the following year and Mr. Wootton succeeded
him."!

With the Fraser River excitement, Victoria became a regular
port of call for all vessels from San Francisco. Mail communica-
tion became frequent, not of right, but by the kindness of the officials
of the various steamers. Wells, Fargo & Co.’s express carried letters
regularly to Victoria and forwarded them to the various mining
bars. 1t was private, not public, enterprise that enabled these adven-
turers to keep in touch with the world. After 1860 a subsidy was
granted for the carrying of mail to and from Victoria,

The first colonial postage stamps came into existence in 1861.
They were the same for both colonies. Their colour was pink, and
they bore a profile view of the Queen, super and subscribed “Brit-
ish Columbia and Vancouver Island. Two pence half penny.” The
decimal currency was introduced in Vancouver Island by act in
1862, and in 1865 new stamps of g and 10 cents values were issued.
These stamps bore the Queen’s profile and were superscribed “Van-
couver Island,” and the values in cents. The mainland issue had a
central V surmounted by a crown superscribed “British Columbia”
and with the value marked in pence. After 1865, when the decimal
system became the legal system in British Columbia, these stamps
had their values printed upon them in cents. W. R. Spaulding
was the first postmaster in British Columbia, He was appointed
for New Westminster and bore the dignified title of Postmaster-
General,

The rates of postage imposed by Governor Douglas have been
already given.”* 1In 1864, the first Postal Act of British Columbia
was passed, whereby the rates were fixed as follows:

Between Victoria and New Westminster, 34. for each half ounce;
newspapers, 1d.; on all letters arriving in the colony, except those

11 Daily World, March 20, 1895,
12 Ordinances, 1864, No. 14.
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from Vancouver Island, 34. per half ounce in addition to the for-
eign postage; between postoffices in the colony, 6d4. per half ounce.

After the union of the two colonies, viz., in 1867, the rates of
postage on letters were:

From Vancouver Island to New Westminster, or any port of the
colony, 5 cents; from Vancouver Island or New Westminster to
Clinton or Savona’s, 12!% cents; beyond these places, 25 cents;
between any two postoffices above Hope, Yale, and Douglas, 1214
cents."”

If the letters were addressed to any foreign country they paid
besides these amounts, a further sum for each half ounce, as follows:
Aspinwall, 15 cents; Australia via Panama, 30 cents; Austria, 35
cents; Belgium via France, 47 cents; British North America, 15
cents; Cape of Good Hope, 5o cents; Chili, 39 cents; Cuba, 40 cents;
China, 25 cents; Denmark, 40 cents; France, 40 cents; Germany, 35
cents; Great Britain and Ireland, 25 cents; Greece (by French
mail), 65 cents; Holland via France, 47 cents; Mexico, 15 cents;
Norway, 43 cents; Panama, 15 cents; Peru, 30 cents; Poland, 40
cents; Portugal via England, 5o cents; Prussia, 35 cents; Russia,
40 cents; Sandwich Islands, 25 cents; Spain via France, 47 cents;
Sweden, 40 cents; Switzerland (French mail), 50 cents; United
States, 15 cents; British West Indies, 15 cents; West Indies, 40 cents.”

These rates prevailed until confederation in 1871. The stamps
issued between 1861 and 1871 for the colony of British Columbia
were 2! penny, pink; 3 pence, blue; 5 cents, red; 10 cents, blue;
5 cents, bright red; 10 cents, rose pink; 25 cents, orange; 5o cents,
violet; $1.00, green.

THE GOLD ESCORTS OF 1861 AND 1863

In one of his earliest addresses to the miners, Douglas had said:
“As soon as good and trusty men are found, measures will be taken
for the conveyance and escort of gold from the mines to this place.
Every miner will give in his own sack and his own weight and have
it addressed and sealed in his own presence, and get a receipt for a
sack said to contain so much gold dust. It will be deposited in the

13 Ordinances, 1867, No. 25.
14 B, C. Directory, 1868, p. 79.
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public treasury at Victoria and delivered to the owner on produc-
tion of the deposit receipt. There will be a charge made for the
expense of conveyance, but that will be a small matter compared to
the security of your property.” **

Writing to Sir E. B. Lytton in October, 1858, Douglas remarks
that, though authorized by the Home Authorities, he has not estab-
lished a gold escort, owing to inability to obtain trustworthy officers."®

After much consideration, the Governor, in July, 1861, perfected
his scheme and established the escort. Gold was to be conveyed to
New Westminster from Douglas for 34. an ounce, from Lillooet for
6d. an ounce, from Williams Lake for 10d. an ounce, and from
Quesnelle for 15. an ounce, with corresponding rates for intermediate
points.'™ Unless transmitted for assay by the Government, a further
charge of 3d. an ounce after the expiration of the first month’s cus-
tody would be made, All dust must be tied up and sealed by the
depositor.,  While all precautions for safe conveyance and custody
would be taken, the Government would not hold itself responsible
for loss of gold entrusted to its care

The escort was at once formed. Handsomely uniformed, well
mounted, and thoroughly armed, the men presented quite an impos-
ing appearance.'®
from the Royal Engineers. The gold boxes, in which the treasure

There were about a dozen in all, with a guard

was to be conveyed, resembled somewhat the mail furniture in Eng-
land." The corps was in command of Thomas Elwyn, with Philip
Hankin as second. On the first trip, the escort only went as far as
Lillooet, returning with $10,000 in gold dust.** On the next trip
it reached Williams Creek, but the miners would not patronize it
owing to the Government’s refusal to guarantee safe delivery.®* Ulti-
mately, in order to obtain the gold for transport, Mr. Elwyn gave
his own personal guarantee. As a result, some $30,000 was brought
down. The third trip of the escort was only as far as Lillooet, from
which place it brought but $10,000.**

18 Begg's History of B. C,, p. 277.
19 B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 10

\T British Columbian, July 25, 1861,
181d., Aug. 1, 1861,

19 Id., Oct. 31, 1861,

20 Id., Aug. 22, 1861.

21 1d,, Oct. 17, 1861,

22 1d., Nov. 21, 1861,

',»
i



136 BRITISH COLUMBIA

The experiment thus proved a complete failure. The rates
charged were certainly very reasonable, were, indeed, far below
what ought to have been made for the service, but by reason of the
failure of the Government to assume the liability for loss, the miners,
as a whole, concluded either to bring their gold themselves or to
intrust it to the express companies which undertook to be responsible
for it.** The attempt cost the colony about $30,000, and the total
receipts were but $300.*!

No endeavor was made to revive the escort in 1862, but in the
spring of 1863, an agitation arose in Victoria for its re-establishment.*®
The immediate cause of this movement was the brutal murder and
robbery, in the preceding summer, of three traders who were car-
rying some $12,000 from Cariboo. The formation of a branch of
the Bank of British Columbia at Williams Creek was also a factor,
as it was expected that the greater part of the gold produced there
would find its way into that bank and thus provide the escort with
something to do. At that time, Barnard’s express and Dietz &
Nelson's were bringing out from $5,000 to $20,000 a week. The error
in regard to the charge for transport was avoided on this occasion.
Following somewhat the scale in vogue in Australia, where 124.
per ounce was charged for the carriage of gold by escort for one
hundred and sixty-six miles, the rate was now fixed at 5o cents an
ounce, but still no guarantee against loss was to be given.

The escort was re-formed in June, 1863. It consisted of fifteen
men, mounted as before, with Mr. Thomas Elwyn again in com-
mand.**  As in 1861, its route was by way of Douglas and Lillooet.
It was suggested that the escort might also carry the mails as soon as
Mr. Barnard’s contract should expire, but when put into operation
it was found altogether too slow to serve that purpose. Its first trip
to Williams Creek occupied six weeks, and it was entrusted with
$40,000, while in the same period the express brought down over
$103,000. The cost of this trip was about $12,000; its returns, only
some $1,250. Mr. Diller, one of the wealthy miners of Cariboo,
came down about the same time with treasure to the amount of
$75,000, preferring his own guardianship rather than that of a

23 British Columbian, May 30, 1863; June 17, 1863.
24 B, C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 64.

25 British Columbian, May 9, 1863.
20 1d., Aug. 12, 1863.

ol




BRITISH COLUMBIA 137

government which refused to assume responsibility for loss.*” On
the second trip, the escort carried about $95,000, of which $70,000
was the property of the Bank of British Columbia. The time occu-
pied, and the cost, were practically the same as the former. The
receipts were about $3,000.* The third trip showed $78,000 in
the custody of the escort, of which $63,000 belonged to the Bank of
British Columbia. Mr, Macdonald, who had also a branch bank
at Williams Creek, and who handled fully as much gold as the
other bank, refused to patronize the escort. That it did not show
better results was not owing to the scarcity of gold to be handled,
for, at the same time, private persons and the Barnard express were
coming out with an average of $100,000 a week. On the last trip
the escort straggled along in two sections with but $68,000.

When the scheme had been first mooted, it was said that the cost
of operation in 1863 would be $44,000, while the earnings were esti-
mated at $55,000. At the end of the season it was found that the
cost had been $60,000 and the earnings $9,000. The people com-
plained bitterly of this loss in a venture for which there was no cry-
ing necessity and for which no request had been made by the colony.
The two gold escorts had been complete fiascoes and had piled up
a loss of about $80,000 on a young and struggling colony.

THE OVERLAND PARTIES, 1862-3

Reference has been made to the overland journeys to British
Columbia in 1862, 'T'his route had been much advertised in England,
and a fraudulent company—The British America Overland Transit
Company—actually sold tickets for conveyance by stage from St.
Paul to Cariboo.** When they arrived at St. Paul the deluded pur-
chasers learned that the sumptuous stage coaches were but a figment
of imagination. The majority abandoned the journey, and, return-
ing to England, successfully prosecuted the company for fraud. The
remainder joined a large expedition from Canada, which included
24 from Queenstown, 21 from St. Thomas, 19 from Huntingdon, 8
from Ottawa, 7 from Toronto, 7 from Montreal, 7 from Ogdens-
burg, N. Y., 7 from the Red River settlement, including Mrs. Augus-

7 British Columbian, July 29, 1863.
28 Id., Sept. 7, 1863.
28 Overland to Cariboo, p. 20.
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tus Schubert and three children, 6 from Acton, 6 from Whitby, 6 from
Waterloo, 5 from Scarborough, 5 from London, § from Goderich,
3 from Chatham. With additions at Edmonton, it amounted to 150
inall.”" Besides this large body, two other parties, numbering about
fifty, followed later. There was also a party—the Rennie party—
composed of five persons.

At Long Lake the main body was formed into a sort of military
organization—each of the various contingents selecting a captain.
As in the great American immigrations into Oregon and California,
this body did not keep closely together, some portions being a day’s,
or a number of days’ journey behind the majority. Leaving Long
Lake on June sth, the South Saskatchewan was reached on the 30th,
and Carleton House the next day. Wading the smaller tributaries
of the Saskatchewan, and building eight bridges from forty to one
hundred feet in length to cross the others, they came to Edmonton on
July 21st.  Rumors of the existence of gold in the Saskatchewan
caused them to prospect that river, but without material success.
After much consideration the Yellowhead Pass was selected as the
line of route. The Red River carts, which had been used for trans-
port to this point, were abandoned and, on July 29th, with one hun-
dred and forty horses laden with from one hundred and fifty to two
hundred and fifty pounds each, the journey was recommenced. Coal
croppings were seen at various points along the Saskatchewan. On
August 13th the party got their first glimpse of the snow-clad Rockies,
standing out in bold relief against the blue sky, and anon glistening
in the sun like fleecy clouds upon the horizon. Foliowing the south
bank of the Athabasca they passed Jasper House on the 19th, and
two days later the ruins of Henry House. By this time their pro-
visions were nearly exhausted, the last of the pemmicai. —that non-
descript essential of prairie travel—was gone, and for me:t they had
to depend on their guns,

On August 26th Téte Jaune Cache was reached. Here the party
divided. The most of the horses were sent across country towards
the North Thompson in charge of twenty men, including A. Thomp-
son, John Fannin, Putnam and A. L. Fortune. The remainder built
rafts, intending to drift down the treacherous Fraser. Four rafts,
about forty feet long and eighteen feet wide, very strongly fastened

30 British Columbian, Dec. 10, 1862.
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to withstand the destructive force of the waters, were constructed.
They were fitted with rowlocks and long sweeps, more to guide
them than as means of propulsion. They were enclosed with rail-
ings to which the remaining animals were tied. On these unwieldy
craft they drifted from daylight till dark, living like Mississippi
raftsmen, and though oft in imminent danger in the canyons with
their rapids and whirlpools, succeeded in reaching Fort George
on September 8th, and Quesnel three days later.

The party from Toronto, among whom were a Mr. Jones, H.
Fletcher, Alfred Handcock, W. Carpenter, and R. H. Alexander,
were behind the main party. Instead of making a raft, they obtained
canoes and commenced the descent of the Fraser.” Arriving at the
Grand Canyon, Messrs, Carpenter and Alexander undertook to run
the canoe through, whilst the others portaged the goods. In mid
strecam the canoe struck a rock and capsized. Carpenter seemed
stunned, made no effort to save himself, and sank immediately. Mr.
Alexander, however, succeeded in reaching shore after great exer
tions—one of the very few instances of escape from the deadly
embrace of the Fraser's ice-cold waters. Carpenter had some strange
presentiment of his approaching end; in examining his effects, his
diary was found to contain this last entry: “Arrived at the Grand
Canyon; ran the canyon, and was drowned.”

Those who, leaving the larger body, travelled by the North
Thompson had similar experiences, Progress by land being slow
and difficult, they also built rafts and essayed to float down that tur-
bulent stream. They lost two of their number by drowning in
attempting to run its dangerous rapids.

Amongst the overland arrivals in these expeditions were Dr.
Stevenson, Thomas McMicking, R. B. McMicking, Archibald
McNaughton, John Bowron, G. C. Tunstall, J. A. Mara, James
Wattie, W, Fortune, and R, H. Alexander.

Viscount Milton and Dr. W. B. Cheadle, who crossed by the Yel-
lowhead Pass in 1863, followed the steps of the Thompson River
detachment from Téte Jaune Cache to the place where the latter had
killed their animals and embarked on their rafts. The uncolored,
yet graphic description which they give of their difficulties in fol-
lowing their predecessors on the land journey down the North

31 Overland to Cariboo, pp. 97, 98.
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Thompson affords a clear view of the stupendous difficulties which
these pioneers faced and overcame.™

The experiences of the other parties in their attempts to descend
the Fraser were similar to those already given. The rapids and
canyons claimed their toll. The small Rennie party were particu-
larly unfortunate. In a canyon about a hundred miles above Fort
George their canoes were upset and their provisions lost, though
they escaped after great injury from exposure, The river being full
of floating ice, two of the number volunteered to go for aid, leaving
the other three with the remainder of the food by the river side.
When aid reached the spot, the three were dead. Gruesome stories
circulated, regarding the circumstances of their death, but the truth
remains a mystery, known only to the pines of the forest which
encircled the scene.”

THE MINT 5

In April, 1859, the House of Assembly of Vancouver Island
passed a resolution asking Governor Douglas to “urge upon the
Home Government the desirability of establishing a mint on Van-
couver Island.” He at once asked permission to establish an assay
office in Victoria, urging that it would afford facilities for collect-
ing an export tax upon gold, which Sir E. B. Lytton had recom-
mended as a desirable form of taxation. Three days later he wrote:
“A mint would certainly be more efficient but that is an expensive
establishment, though if Her Majesty's Government were to set
one up, I think the circumstances of the country would justify the
outlay.” The resolution of the Vancouver Island Legislature was
referred to Capt. W, Driscoll Gossett, R. E., Treasurer of British
Columbia. This gentleman had been commissioned by Sir E. B.
Lytton to organize a mint (of which an assay office forms a part)
should the necessity for such an establishment arise. “At the cap-
ital, therefore,” he reported, “as in most countries, there should the
mint be established, and not on Vancouver Island, as proposed by
the House of Assembly of Vancouver Island, and, in all respect, I

32 Milton & Cheadle, Northwest Passage, p. 281,
3 British Columbian, July 11, 1863; Dec. 23, 1863; Milton & Cheadle, Northwest Passage, (.
327.




I

| fi|l

H Jim Indian, V. B. Tait, Dr. Black, A. T. Bushby, W. J. Armstrong, Captain Ball, T. Morey,
§ H. V. Edmonds, Jack Fannin, F. G. Claudet
GOVERNMENT OFFICES, NEW WESTMINSTER, 1564

i (

J § I
s
I "
f{’ p
]‘v\ sl
t J Vi
B W
1
i \; rl)
| X
bee

——in

THE MINT, NEW WESTMINSTER




BRITISH COLUMBIA

141
venture to think, inadvertently acquiesced in by His Excellency, the
Governor of the two colonies.” **

This report seems to have altered the Governor's opinion, for,
in forwarding it, he refers to the scarcity of coin in the colony, and
instead of pressing for a mint as a remedy, says: “This is a serious
evil, and if Her Majesty's Government would entertain the sugges-

tion of sending out a supply of coin, it would confer a benefit on the
colony.” *

The Duke of Newecastle, on the advice of the master of the mint,
consented to the establishment of an assay office and refinery

Mr.
F. G. Claudet and Mr. F. H. Bousfield were appointed assayer and
assistant assayer.” On August 1 1860, the assay and melting parts
of the mint were established at New Westminster and were operated
until November, 18617 Then the Governor suddenly concluded
that the time had come to complete the establishment by the addi-
tion of a coining plant. He informed the Duke that he proposed to
take immediate steps for the manufacture of gold pieces equal in

value to the $10 and $20 American coins, and to bring them into gen-
eral use as a circulating medium in both colonies. His plan did not
contemplate refining the gold, as that would greatly increase the
expense ; he merely proposed to bring it to a uniform standard of fine-
ness, without separating the natural alloy of silver, which, to some
extent, exists in all the gold of British Columbia. The pieces would
be prepared at the Government's assay office and would bear the
stamp of unquestionable character; and he was of opinion that by

making the gold contained in them of the full current value of the
piece, without taking the silver into account (which he proposed
should go as a bonus), they would not only answer as a cheap and con-
venient currency within the colonies, but also have the same value
when exported to other countries.  He thought that all the machin-
ery required for this purpose could be procured in San Francisco
for about £500 and without materially adding to the expense of the
existing establishment.”

Soon the report was current that a small second-hand plant had
been obtained in San Francisco, as the urgency had become so great

* B. C. Papers, pt. 3, pp. 2, 5, 14, 15.
S1d., p.o13

“1d., pp. 101-103.
37 British Columbian, May 17

, 1862,
'S B. C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 62.
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that the Governor considered it inadvisable to delay until machinery
could be sent out from England.

Mr. Claudet returned from San Francisco in H. M. S. Forward
on March 29, 1862, bringing with him the long-looked for plant

which had been purchased there at a cost of $8,609." I't was similar
Now a sudden

to those in use in the small South American states,
Every

change again took place in the conduct of the Governor.
obstacle, every objection was interposed. He would not supply the
money for the building, nor for the installation of the machinery.
However, with the aid of Colonel Moody, the necessary building
was erected ; and with the assistance of the tars from the man-of-war
the mint machinery was finally housed. The whole apparatus was
to be worked by steam power, except the coining press, which was
to be turned by hand.”

By the month of July, 1862, the mint was ready for operation,
and the nervous and mercurial little Treasurer, whose heart was set
on having some specimens of coins manufactured in his own depart-
ment, had a few $10 and $20 pieces struck off.*" The coins were of
the same diameter and value in gold as those of the United States,
but were of unrefined gold of the fineness of .850. The $20 piece
weighed five hundred and forty-six and one-third grains and con-
These coins never went into
Then came the Gov-
It is

tained about 20 cents worth cf silver,
circulation and are now amongst the rarest,
ernor’s laconic, historic order to “grease it and lay it away.”
difficult to understand how as a medium of exchange, such coins
would be any better than gold in bars,

No proclamation was ever issued declaring this anomalous money
legal tender and receivable in payment of duties and taxes; nor was
any consent to the establishment of a branch of the Royal Mint in
British Columbia ever obtained. There ar: many interesting ques-
tions in connection with this incident, but they lie rather in the prov-
ince of the monographist than in that of the historian,

The whole cost of this little play was in the neighborhood of
$14,000, which was, of course, simply wasted. The machinery was

%9 Langevin Report, app. Y. Y.
40 1d.
41 British Columbian, July 9, 23, 1862,
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allowed to lie idle until the time of the construction of the British
Columbia Penitentiary, in 1876, when some of it was sold to Mr.
Mann for uge in that work.

FINANCES DURING DOUGLAS'S MANAGEMENT

Inseparably connected with the great work of organizing the
colony, providing for its government, and establishing the means
of communication was the vexed problem of finance. Here the stub-
born attitude of the Imperial Authorities, the nature of the country,
and the class of persons the Governor had to deal with, added greatly
to the inherent difficulties of the problem. We have seen that his
first move was to levy a tax of 10s., increased in February, 1859, to
21s., a month on each miner. In June, 1858, he levied a head tax of
$2 on each person entering the country. Originally intended as a
remuneration to the Hudson’s Bay Company for such entrance, when
Sir E. B. Lytton refused his consent,** the tax was, nevertheless, con-
tinued on behalf of the general revenue, though it was not until
June, 1859, that a proclamation was issued legally levying it and
reducing it to 45.** The Californian miners who constituted the
inrush of 1858 evaded these taxes by taking by-paths, as the trail from
Whatcom, or debarking at that port or Semiahmoo and entering
by canoes. To enforce payment, H. M. S. Satellite was stationed
at the mouth of the Fraser River. The miners chose then the nar-
row entrance, Canoe Pass, or so arranged their itinerary as to reach
the mouth of the river at night. The old brig Recovery—a mere
hulk—was then anchored in the vicinity of Langley to collect these
charges. But now the Home Government interfered, pointing out
that the miners’ license could only be collected from persons engaged
inmining. The necessity of following the miners into spots fearfully
wild and almost inaccessible greatly increased the cost of collection.

In August, 1858, an ad valorem duty of ten per cent was levied
on all goods entering the colony.** It was supposed by those who
paid it to be compensation for the breach of the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany’s license of exclusive trade with the Indians, though it was,
later, stated officially that this duty was merely collected by the

42 Ante, pp. 28, 29, 31.
43 Proclamation, June 2, 1859.
44 Pictoria Gazelte, Sept. 4, 1858,
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company as agents for the Government.** This incident shows how
vague and indistinct were the lines between the company’s acts and
the Crown's acts, for in every case the actor, though acting on the
Crown’s behalf, was an employé of the company, and the act itself
done in the company's office or trading post. 'When well-informed
men like Mr. Amor de Cosmos, the editor of the Victoria Gazette,
were in doubt on such a point, the mental condition of the average
miner can be readily conceived. These duties were levied without
any proclamation authorizing them, until December, 1858, when
James Douglas, who in the preceding September had become Gov-
ernor of the colony, issued a proclamation levying a duty of ten per
cent on all goods imported, except flour, bacon, spirituous and fer-
mented liquors, beans, barley, and oats, which were subject to certain
specified rates. There were a certain number of articles, such as
meat, fish, vegetables, live stock, books, and papers, wearing apparel,
and professional apparatus, on the free list.*

Up to the end of February, 1859, the mining licenses produced
£6,522, the head money, £1,417, the Customs, £5,398. These items,
with £100 for a license to sell intoxicating liquor at Langley, and
£6,651, the proceeds of the sale of lots at old Fort Langley (Derby),
constituted the revenue to that date.'” To collect the mining licenses
had cost £3,390, of which £2,143 represented the expense of main-
taining H. M. S. Satellite at the mouth of Fraser River, and the
Recovery at Langley and Queensborough (New Westminster).
The Ned McGowan war had cost £504 and the Harrison-Lillooet
The net result of the first year's operations was a

trail £12,064.
deficit of £2,135.

The Customs duties were, in the following June, increased, espe-
cially on liquor, tobacco, and articles of food entering largely into
the consumption of the mining population. This was a sort of off-set
to the reduction of the mining license which, by proclamation of
s reduced from 215, amonth to £1 per annum.  As

August 31, 1859, wi
a further source of revenue, a tax of 12s. per ton, known as the ton-

nage tax, was, by proclamation of December 10, 1859, levied on all
goods leaving New Westminster. Inreporting this measure, Governor

45 Pictoria Gazette, Oct. 19, 1858; B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 12.
4% Proclamation, Dec. 3, 1858.
47 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 3.
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Douglas says: “This is simply a revenue act, intended to raise a
fund to be applied to the opening and improvement of the navigation
in the Fraser and Harrison Rivers, and especially to the removal of
an extensive shoal in the latter which renders it impassable by the
river steam-vessels for a great part of the year.” ** The estimated
receipts from this source for 1860 were £8,000.

In 1859 the receipts from Customs duties were £18,464. The
revenue from land sales, which included the proceeds of the sale of
Queensborough (New Westminster) lots, was £18,877.*°  The Gover-
nor had been anxious to placeonsale public lands for agricultural pur-
poses, and on February 14, 1859, had issued a proclamation in which,
following Sir E. B. Lytton's suggestion, the price had been fixed at
10s. an acre. But the prevailing spirit was for the sudden wealth of
the mine, contemning the surer, if slower, process of patient tilling
of the soil. But here and there was a man who, tired of chasing the
will-o'-the-wisp, seeing the high prices obtained for all farm produce,
settled on some fine bit of agricultural land. If possible, he selected
aspot near the line of the trail, or later the Cariboo wagon road, and,
building there a log cabin larger than his own necessities required,
combined the avocations of farmer and inn-keeper, having in the
foot-passengers, the mule trains, and, later, in the freight wagons and
passenger stages, a good market for his produce. These cabins, road-
houses as they were called, took their names from the nearest mile-
post, as, for instance, the 70 Mile House, the 83 Mile House, and
the 150 Mile House.

The principal heads of income for 1860 were: Customs, £30,416;
land sales, £11,075; licenses, spirit and trading, £2,174; tonnage |
dues, £3,669; free miners' licenses, £1,436; head money, £1,054.° \\ 4
Various miscellaneous items brought the total revenue to £53,326.
Establishments, including salaries and contingencies, absorbed
£16,432; roads, streets, and bridges, £21,076; public works and
) buildings, £1,493; surveys and explorations, £1,635. The result was
- | asurplus of about £10,000. A scrutiny of the accounts shows that
Governor Douglas—Midas-like—transmuted into gold every natural
T | advantage he touched. The records prove that the creeks were the

48 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 77.
49 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 43.

50 B, C. Papers, pt. 4, Pp. 45, 57-
Yol 11—10
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first to aid the revenue. Companies supplying water for sluicing and
other mining operations usually paid one day's returns in each month
as rent; and every little stream between Hope and Lytton had its
company. Each eligible ferry site was leased at £120 per annum;
small tramway sites and sawmill locations with water rights com-
manded similar rentals. Yet in all cases, the public interest was
protected by a limitation of the charges.”

The Customs duties, including tonnage dues, head money, etc.,
yielded, in 1861, £41,177, the road tolls £6,676, and the licenses,
trade and spirit, £2,748. The land sales decreased to £6,966, but the
free miners’ certificates increased to £2,339—this being the first year
of the Cariboo excitement. These amounts, with the usual miscel-
laneous sources of revenue, the surplus of £10,685 from 1860, and
some £3,000 arising from the sale of bonds, swelled the whole receipts
to £77,053. Establishments increased to £23,100, roads, streets, and
bridges, including the first expenditures on the wagon road up the
canyons from Yale, £34,600. The other items, police and gaols,
£3,000, transport and conveyance of mails, including the miserable
fiasco of the Gold Escort, of that year, £5,000, works and buildings,
£3,500, and other services brought the grand total expenditure for
1861 to £79,369, leaving a deficit of over £2,316.*

Thus Douglas had been able, until he undertook the immense
task of road-building to Cariboo, to carry on the Government, police,
explore, and survey the country, maintain order and build rough
trails and roads without creating any appreciable debt. Considering
the conditions of the country and the magnitude of the task, such a
result is amazing. The cost of the Royal Engineers was the only
aid (beyond a small advance for lighthouses) that the Home Govern-
ment contributed, and even this, though originally intended as a giit,
was changed to a loan when Sir E. B. Lytton learned of the constantly
increasing discoveries of gold. The stereotyped tone of Lytton's
Despatches was that the colony must, unaided, carry the burden of
its own requirements. On one occasion he wrote: “It would be
strange, indeed, that this country should be called upon to render
pecuniary assistance to supply the ever-recurring wants of an infant
settlement which has been actually forced into existence through the

51 Yale, Mining Record Book, 18¢8-68.
52 B, C. Papers, pt. 4, p. 64.
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ample supplies of gold afforded by the country it occupies.” *  And
not only so, but he further insisted that the funds advanced on account
of the Royal Engineers should be the very first to be repaid. In
vain, Douglas pointed out that large capital expenditures must be
made before returns could appear, In vain, he asked for temporary
assistance. His request for a grant of £200,000 to open up the country
was refused; and when he asked for it as a loan he received the same
reply. In vain, too, he continually placed before Lytton the great
difficulties of road-building amidst the rugged mountain passes and
inaccessible regions of the colony, and dwelt upon the stupendous
obstacles and the enormous expense. Downing Street was obdurate.
They could not or would not understand the conditions. All they
could or would understand was that every day brought news of great
gold discoveries, each richer than the last. They decreed that Brit-
ish Columbia, even in its swaddling clothes, must walk, unaided. The
mother would not lend even temporary support.

On the other hand, the miners clamored for better means of acc

258
to the inland treasure house, claiming, and rightly, that they were
taxed for head money on entrance, for license to mine the gold, and
that in all they ate and all they used they were contributing indirectly
to the support of the Government, that they were, in fact, the one
industry of the colony, and yet the condition of the trails and bridle
paths where any at all existed was such that the expense of bringing
in food and supplies was almost prohibitive, A wagon road to
Cariboo was a prime necessity. The Governor recognized that it
must be built. He looked further and saw a road upon which farmers
and settlers replaced the miners and, far beyond, a vision of a great
transcontinental highway—a main colonization road by which the
people of Canada, which he always regarded as the immigrant supply
depot, should find access to this golden land, not as ephemeral
miners, but as permanent residents.

Without assistance from the mother country, and the local
revenue being absorbed as shown in the ordinary work of govern-
ment, Douglas was driven into the loan market for the necessary
money to build the Cariboo road. It was the fashion on the main-
land to sneer and charge that his excess

ive borrowing had ruined the
colony. The manner in which he built that road has been already

53 Letter, Lytton to Douglas, April 12, 1859; B. C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 85
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told. It cost about $1,250,000. Yet at the end of 1863, when it was
practically completed, the bonded indebtedness of British Columbia
was £112,750, made up as follows: Under the British Columbia
Loan Act, 1862, £50,000; under the British Columbia Loan Act,
1863, £50,000; under the Cook’s Ferry and Clinton Road Bonds Act,
£12,750."* When we consider the roads and trails he built, the public
buildings he erected, and the complete transformation which he
effccted in this wilderness during his five years in office, the impar-
tial historian must accord to Governor Douglas unstinted praise for
his financial management, On his retirement, in 1864, the floating
indebtedness was £16,000, making the whole liabilities created by

him £128,750.

% Ordinance, No. 7, 1864.




No. 1—CAPT. JAMES COOK, R.N.—Famous Circumnavigator. Discovered Nootka Sound,
1778,

No. 2—CAPT. GEORGE VANCOUVER, R.N.

No. 3—SIR ALEXANDER MACKENZIE —First white man to reach shore of the Pacific over
land. Arrived July, 1793

No. 4—DAVID DOUGLAS ~Noted Botanist. Douglas Pine was named in his honor

5—SIR HARRY BURRARD NEALE, R. N.—Burrard Inlet was named after him
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CHAPTER IX

A SKETCH OF VANCOUVER ISLAND EVENTS FROM 1858 TO 1864—
LIST OF OFFICERS OF BOTH COLONIES

The complete transformation of the mainland as the result of the
gold discoveries has engrossed our attention up to this point; let us
now turn and view the effects, fully as wonderful, which those
discoveries produced on Vancouver Island.

The Victoria of the ante-gold days enjoyed a quiet and almost
monotonous existence. It lay in a sort of eddy, out of the swirl and
struggle for this world’s riches. And while it can not be said that
its inhabitants lived like the lotus-eaters, yet they did enjoy a life
comparatively free from the stress which is the invariable adjunct
of a more complex civilization.

The Hudson’s Bay Company’s fort, occupying the space between
Bastion, Government, Broughton, and Wharf streets, formed, so to
speak, the centre of the little settlement. A visitor thus describes
the fort as he saw it in 1846: “T'he fort itself is a square enclosure,
stockaded with poles about twenty feet high and eight or ten inches
in diameter, placed close together, and secured with a cross piece of
nearly equal size. At the transverse corners of the square there are
strong octagonal towers, mounted with four nine-pounder guns, flank-
ing each side, so that an attack by savages would be out of the
question; and, if defended with spirit, a disciplined force without
artillery would find considerable difficulty in forcing the defences.
The square is about 120 yards; but an increase, which will nearly
double its length from north to south, is contemplated. The build-
ing is even now, though plain to a fault, imposing from its mass or
extent, while the bastions or towers diminish the tameness which its
regular outline would otherwise produce. The interior is occupied
by the officers’ houses,—or apartments, they should rather be called,—
stores, and a trading-house, in which smaller bargains are concluded,
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and tools, agricultural implements, blankets, shawls, beads, and all
the multifarious products of Sheffield, Birmingham, Manchester,
and Leeds, are offered at exorbitant prices. There being no compe
tition, the company has it all its own way; it does not profess to sup-
ply the public; indeed, although it does not object to sell to people
situated as we were, yet the stores are for the trade in furs, to supply
the native hunters with the goods which they most value, as also for
the use of its own dependents, who, receiving little pay, are usually
in debt to the company, and are therefore much in its power. In fact,
the people employed are rarely those to whom returning home is an
object; they have mostly been taken from poverty, and have at all
events food and clothing. The work is hard, but with health and
strength this is a blessing rather than otherwise.” **

The same visitor goes on to say: “Mr. Finlayson, the gentleman
in charge of the establishment, appears to be an intelligent man, who
by perseverance and a uniform system of adhering to his word and
offering stated prices in barter, never receding or offering less, scems
to have succeeded in impressing the natives with a considerable degree
of respect for himself and the fort.  Only one brush has the company
had with the Indians, but it ended in a day or two; the gates of
the fort having been closed, a nine-pounder fired several times to
show what could be done, and judicious and conciliatory advances
made to the chief, the peaceable intercourse—from which sprang
blankets, hatchets, knives, fish-hooks, and harpoons—was speedily
re-established.” *

Governor Douglas had built a home on the south side of James
Bay; and Chief Factor John Work had erected another near
Rock Bay. These formed the nuclei of small groups of buildings,
which slowly arose around and between them and the fort. The
Government buildings clustered together across James Bay gave an
air of dignity and importance to that vicinity. A considerable num-
ber of negroes, who had emigrated from California, formed, with
the addition of the company’s officers, servants, retired servants, and
a very few unattached colonists, the whole population of the town.
The event of the year was the arrival of the Princess Royal from
England, with the latest fashions, news, and the annual supplies.

55 Voyage of the Herald, p. 103.
80 Id., p. 105.
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The visit of an occasional man-of-war or a belated whaler was hailed
with delight.

Even then the inconvenience arising from the existence of the
Songhees Indian reserve in such close proximity to Victoria gave
rise to serious discussion, both in and out of the Colonial Legislature,
and many plans were suggested for removing its inhabitants to some
more suitable spot. The northern Indians also were in the habit of
visiting Victoria and remaining for months at a time on this reserve,
bartering their furs, obtaining liquor, and seeing the sights of the
capital. The ill-effects of these conditions and their latent danger
could not be concealed.

Lieutenant Mayne gives the following description of life in Vic-
toria in 1857: “As it was, the place was very pleasant, and society
—as it is generally in a young colony—frank and agreeable. No
ceremony was known in those pleasant times. All the half-dozen
houses that made up the town were open to us. In fine weather,
riding-parties of the gentlemen and ladies of the place were formed,
and we returned generally to a high tea, or tea-dinner, at Mr, Doug-
las’s or Mr, Work's, winding up the pleasant evening with song and
dance. We thought nothing then of starting off to Victoria in
sea-boots, carrying others in our pockets, just to enjoy a pleasant
evening by a good log-fire. And we cared as little for the weary
tramp homeward to Esquimalt in the dark, although it happened
sometimes that men lost their way, and had to sleep in the bush all
night.” *

But when, in April, 1858, the Commodore landed the vanguard
of the Fraser River rush at Victoria a wondrous change occurred.
The little town could not accommodate the vast horde that now
poured into it, pell-mell.  Hundreds of tents lined the harbour side,
covered the vacant lots, and glistened between the trunks and foliage
of the scattered oaks. With a start Victoria awoke from her leth-
argy. Soon wooden buildings for stores, hotels, and all sorts of
habitations arose as if by magic. The sound of the hammer and the
saw was heard at all hours and in every direction. The value of land
increased enormously; lots in Victoria and the vicinity that had a few
months before gone begging at the upset price of £1 per acre, sold
readily for £100 an acre, and soon for far more. On the shore of

57 British Columbia and Vancouver Island, p. 31.
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the harbour wharves were erected; and sailing ships and steam ves-
sels, of every flag, and age, and style, crowded against their sides,
laden with every description of articles which a migratory popula-
tion could possibly, or even could not possibly, want.

Victoria threw off her quiet, easy-going air of the fur-trading
days. She sprang at one bound into a full-grown, bustling commer-
cial town with a full realization of her opportunities and her destiny.
As was to be expected, speculation became rampant.  With the glow-
ing accounts from Fraser River during May and June and the con-
stantly increasing immigration, lots rose to fabulous prices—fabulous,
at any rate, to the original inhabitants. Land bought from the com-
pany at from £10 to £15 was resold within a month at sums varying
from £300 to £600. One case is recorded of a half-lot, bought for
£5, being sold within a few weeks for £600. Parcels of ground
centrally situated measuring from twenty to thirty feet in breadth, by
sixty feet in length, rented at from £50 to £100 per month. Sawn
timber for building purposes brought as high as £20 per thousand
feet.%

But as land rose quickly in value, so also it fell. The continued
submergence of the bars owing to the freshet of the Fraser, the refusal
of that obstinate stream to subside at the behest of the impatient gold-
seekers, and the cry of “humbug,” dispirited the new-comers. The
mines were condemned ; a process of depopulation commenced; prop-
erty fell, and continued to fall or at any rate to remain stagnant, until
the discovery of Keithley and Antler creeks in 1860 and 1861.*°

Confidence was quickly restored, and the spirit of improvement
returned. Sidewalks were built, and streets, in which the pedestrian
used to sink knee-deep in mire, were macadamized. Between 1861
and 1862 about fifty-six brick buildings were erected, including sub-
stantial warehouses well stocked with goods for the trade of Cariboo.
Blocks of business structures along Wharf, Store, and Government
streets gave an air of solidity to the place. Several spacious hotels,
elegantly furnished and supplied with every comfort and luxury
compatible with the time, were built. A hospital, a theatre, and a
reading-room soon appeared.”” The Victoria Gas Compary was

58 Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, pp. 65, 66.

5 Mayne, British Columbia and Vancouver Island, p. s5; Macfie, Vancouver Island and
British Columbia, pp. 68-74.

9 Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, p. 78.
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formed in November, 1860, and the water-works company in 1864.
The former had the exclusive right of supplying gas in the town for
five years at a price not to exceed thirty shillings per thousand cubic
feet. The latter introduced excellent spring water in service pipes.
Prior thereto the supply of good water had been quite precarious;
it had been necessary to bring it in carts from a long distance, and at
a charge of sixpence for every three bucketfuls.”* In 1862 Victoria
contained about fifteen hundred buildings. The city was incor-
porated by an act of the Legislative Assembly in August, 1862. The
civic authorities consisted of a mayor and six councillors. The first
mayor was Thomas Harris. The first councillors, John Copland,
James M. Reid, Richard Lewis, W. M. Searby, Michael Stronach,
and Nathaniel M. Hicks. Owing to delays in the completion of the
assessment roll, it became impossible to prepare a proper voters list
for the election of the second council in accordance with the incor-
poration act, and in October, 1863, an act was passed providing
temporary qualifications and fixing the election for November 6, 1863,
Even then the troubles of the council were not over; doubts arose
as to the validity of their acts, and an act of indemnity was passed in
December, 1863.°* The prices of land rose once more. Each new
find in Cariboo had its reflex action on Victoria real estate, which in
consequence continued to soar. The value of town lots increased in
many parts of the capital over seventy-five per cent during the last
nine months of 1862. Frontage on the best business streets then
commanded a rental of from two to six dollars per front foot per
month. The population was estimated at about six thousand
people.®®

With the gold-seekers came the bankers. Wells, Fargo & Co.
was the first institution in either colony that in addition to an express
business carried on that of private bankers and purchasers of gold
dust. Soon came Alexander D. Macdonald, who early in 1859
established a private bank under the name of Macdonald & Co.
Later in the same year a branch of the Bank of British North Amer-
ica was opened in Victoria. The Bank of British Columbia was

¢1 Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, pp. 85, 86.

02 Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, p. 86; Statutes of Vancouver Island,
1863-5, pp. 1-6; B, C. Directory, 1863, pp. 5, 86, 94; Statutes of Vancouver Island, No. s4.

® 1d., p. so.
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incorporated in 1862, and immediately commenced business in Van-
couver Island and British Columbia.

Macdonald & Co. issued the first paper money that circulated in
either colony. For years they did a large business, especially in the
purchase of gold dust, which they obtained in exchange for their
notes. Their shipments were as follows: 1859, $259,815; 1860,
$349,292; 1861, $602,734; 1862, $331,194.*

Their notes were unsecured ; there was not then in existence in
either colony any act placing restrictions upon the issuance of paper
money, or providing any safeguards for the public.

The competition which this bank had to meet, both in the pur-
chase of gold—where Wells, Fargo & Co. and the Bank of British
Columbia were its chief competitors—and in the mercantile world
—where the two chartered banks were its chief opponents—made its
continued existence very problematical. Month after month in 1864,
Robert T. Smith, its travelling agent, arrived in Victoria with
merely $10,000, $20,000, or $30,000.”®

In July, 1864, the Legislature of Vancouver Island passed two
ordinances relating to Banks and Banking, one requiring public
weekly reports of the assets and liabilities of each institution, and the
other forbidding the issuance of paper money, after March 1, 1865,
by any person or corporation not having a charter authorizing the
same.” Macdonald’s Bank could not, unless re-organized, live after
the latter date. But on the morning of September 23, 1864, it was
reported that the bank had been entered during the previous night,
by parties unknown, and treasure to the amount of $30,000 stolen
from the safe.”” No clue whatever could be discovered as to the
identity of the robbers. Macdonald, who was at the time in Cariboo,
where his notes principally circulated, tried manfully to stay the run
upcn the bank and redeemed his paper as fast as it was presented.
Thus he succeeded in re-establishing public confidence in his institu-
tion.”® But his resources were insufficient to stand the shock, and
in November the bank closed its doors. The miners of Cariboo were

o4 Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, pp. 128, 129; Macdonald, British Colum-
bia, pp. 358-360; Rattray, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, p. 94.

o5 British Columbian, July 23, 1864, Oct. 29, 1864,

o0 Revised Laws of British Columbia (1871), p. 75, et seq.

o7 British Columbian, Sept. 28, 1864.
08 1d,, Oct. 22, 1864.
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the principal sufferers: jt jg said that thejr losses amounted to
$100,000, Macdonald’s fine home op Michigan Street in Victoria
Was sacrificed to meet hig creditors; he lost a1 and left the country g
ruined man,

By a proclamation dageq January 18, 1860, Governor Douglas,
after reciting that he hag been instructed by the Secretary of State
for the Colonies jn pursuance of 3 fecommendation of Her Majesty's
Privy Council so to do, declared : “That the Port of Victoria, inclug.
ing Esquimalt Harbour, is, and shall pe undil otherwige determined
by proper authority, a Free Port of Entry and Clearance for Ships
and Goods, saye and except the fees now levied thereon,” o Until
the union of the two colonies on November 19, 1866, Victoria was a
free port in the strictest sense of the term. . With the exception of
Hong Kong angd Labuan it was (he only place in the Vast category of
British depots for ocean commerce in which no customs duties were
leviable,

But long before the union wys consummated there existed two
divergent views upon the free port question, even op the island itself,
where the Protection vs, Free Trade debate frequently wayed keen
and warm, ¢ was argued that great g5 might be the inducements ¢
agriculturists of 5 certain class to come and take Possession of the
fruitful valleys of Vancouver Island, yet j¢ must be remembereq
that these at the best were of very limited extent ang that agricultura)
Pursuits must perforce take a secondary position to those of trade ang
commerce.  On the other hand those who advocated the abolition
of the free Portsystem urged that no country could continye to pros-
per or even become wealthy without agricultural fesources, and that
in their case the VEry paucity of the agricultural possibilities more
strongly emphasized the necessity for protection, And, as in\'ariahl_\'
happens in such 4 discussion, neither convinced their Opponent, !

The anomalous situation of the colony of Vancouver Island
clearly appears in the fact that though fully cquipped with two legis-
lative bodies, the Gm'ernnr, of his own mere aulhorit_v. issues such
an important proclamation as thae above mentioned, which dictates 3
line of policy and touches revenye, So, too, it will e found that

“* Appendix, B, C, Statutes, 1871, pr.
™ Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, P o1,
I Forbes, Vancouver Island, p. 40.
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the land laws of the colony take the form of proclamations by the
Governor alone and not that of acts of the Legislature. Thus the
laws which fixed the price of land at £1 per acre, and later reduced
it to 4s. 2d, are proclamations. The root of these distinctions of
authority lies in the grant of the island to the company and the strange
arrangement whereby a private corporation was to finance the colony
and to administer the lauds to recoup itself,

The life of the first Legislative Assembly expired in 1859. It
had been composed of but seven members; its successor, which was
elected early in 1860, had thirteen members. These Legislatures
were elected for three years. The members received no indemnity.
The suffrage was limited to persons owning twenty acres or more of
frechold. This high qualification led to a peculiar incident in the cel-
ebrated Nanaimo election held on June 23, 1859. The candidate was
Captain John Swanson, of the Hudson’s Bay Company's steamer
Labouchere and Captain Charles E. Stuart was the only qualified
voter! According to the return Captain Swanson was duly elected
by a majority of one! The Colonist very rightly remarked there-
upon: “This caps the climax of all elections that were ever heard of,
where the Anglo-Saxon language is spoken.” ™

The Legislative Council of Vancouver Island for 1860, which
was a body nominated by the Governor, consisted of: Hon. John
Work, Hon. Roderick Finlayson, Hon. David Cameron, judge; Hon.
Donald Fraser, clerk; Rev. Edward Cridge.

The House of Assembly as elected consisted in 1860 of the follow-
ing members: for Victoria City, George H. Cary and Selim Frank-
lin; for Victoria District, H. P. P. Crease, A, Waddington, and Dr.
W. F. Tolmie; for Esquimalt Town, G. T, Gordon; for Esquimalt
District, Dr. J. S. Helmcken and James Cooper; for Lake District,
G. F. Foster; for Sooke, W. J. Macdonald ; for Saanich, John Coles;
for Salt Spring Island, J. J. Southgate; for Nanaimo, A. R.
Green.™

Before the expiration of this House there were a number of
changes, of which the most important were the resignation of Messrs.
Crease and Waddington and the election of Joseph W. Trutch and
Dr. James Trimble as their successors; the resignation of Messrs.

2 July 1-6, 1859; Walbran, Place Names, p. 48.
73 Fawcett, Reminiscences of Old Victoria, pp. 43, 44-
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Cooper and Green who were succeeded by R. Burnaby and D. B.
Ring respectively; and the resignation of G. T. Gordon and the elec-
tion in his stead of Thomas Harris, who was himself succeeded by
William Cocker.™

The chief sources of revenue were a tax of one per cent assessed
upon the market value of real cstate, trading licenses, liquor licenses,
and harbour dues. The proceeds from the sale of Crown lands,
though included in the colonial revenue, were strictly applicable to
the support of the civil list, as the colony found to its sorrow when
the trouble with Governor Kennedy arose a few years later.

In 1861 the revenue was £25,291, of which almost one-half arose
from land sales and land tax; in 1862, £24,017; in 1863, £30,000;
in 1864 (estimated) $188,520. The apparent decrease in 1862 arose
because that year’s instalments due by the farmers on lands purchased
by them were postponed on account of losses sustained during the
preceding winter, which had been unusually severe.™

The total estimated income of the colony of Vancouver Island
for 1864 was $385,869, but this included arrears of revenue, sums
due from British Columbia, advances to agents and heads of depart-
ments, the remainder of a loan, moneys due by Victoria city, and by
the Home Authorities, and other sources. These items were
included to make the estimated revenue exceed the estimated expen-
diture. When they are excluded (as not being properly revenue)
the estimated expenditure is found to exceed the income by about
$107,000."°

The sessions of the Legislature were very lengthy, for example,
the first session extended from March, 1860, to February, 1861 the
second, June, 1861, to January, 1862; the third, March, 1862, to
December, 1862; the fourth and last, January, 1863, to February,
18637 But an examination of the laws passed during all these
sessions shows very few really important statutes. In that class were
Acts: to enable evidence to be given on oath before committees of
the House; for preventing the disposal of intoxicating liquors to
Indians; for providing a system of registration of titles to land; for
licensing the salc of intoxicating liquors; for enabling aliens to own

7 Year Book, 1897, pp. 112, 113.

75 Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, p. 320.
0 1d,, p. 319,

77 B. C. Directory, 1882-3, p. 378.
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real estate; for the naturalization of aliens; for the registration of
bills of sale; for regulating pawnbrokers; for facilitating the recov-
ery of moneys due on bills of exchange and promissory notes; and for
increasing the representation of Victoria city from two to three mem-
bers.” In reference to the last named act it may be pointed out that
practically all the members, though sitting for other constituencies,
had their homes in Victoria.

The power contained in the grant of 1849 to the Imperial author-
ities to re-take the colony was exercised in 1859. Pending the formal
re-conveyance an arrangement was made between the Crown and the
Hudson’s Bay Company by which the former became entitled to deal
with the land in the colony. The grant had provided that on this
resumption the company should be re-imbursed “the sum or sums of
money theretofore laid out and expended by them in and upon the
said Island and premises and of the value of their establishments,
property, and effects then being thereon.” ™  The settlement of this
amount dragged on for years. The company at first claimed the
enormous sum of £225000 on the supposition that Crown would
take over its establishments as well as re-pay its expenditures in
connection with the fictitious attempt at colonization. But the Colo-
nial Office refused to consider anything except the sums claimed to
have been laid out under the latter head.*®  After prolonged investi-
gations and negotiations the amount was settled at £57,500, which
sum was paid in two instalments of £25,000 and £32,500 respectively,
on June 29, 1860, and October 6, 1862.  Finally, on April 3, 1867,
the company re-conveyed the island, with the exception of the lands
sold by it, the Church reserve of about twenty-two acres, the Upland
Farm of one thousand, one hundred and forty-four acres, the North
Dairy Farm of four hundred and sixty acres, the Beckley Farm of
fifty acres, the fort property at Victoria, and certain lots in that
town.*” Tt must in justice be admitted that if the company did not
make a success of the colony, it certainly did of the negotiations.

The Legislative Council, which was re-nominated in 1863, was
composed of the following persons: Hon. Roderick Finlayson, Hon.
Donald Fraser, Hon. David Cameron, Hon. Alfred J. Langley,
Hon Edward G. Alston, and Hon, Alexander Watson.

" B. C. Directory, 1863, p. 90.

™ Vancouver Island Papers, March 7, 1849.
%0 The Times, June 13, 1862.

*1 Appendix, B. C. Statutes, 1871, No. 56.
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The House of Assembly as elected in 1863 contained thirteen
members, for though Victoria had now three members, Esquimalt
district had but one. The constituencies and their representatives
were: Victoria City, Dr, J. 8. Helmcken, G. H. Cary, and Selim
Franklin; Victoria District, Dr. William F. Tolmie, Joseph W.
Trutch, and Dr. James Trimble; Esquimalt Town, William Cocker;
Esquimalt District, Robert Burnaby; Lake District, George F.
Foster; Sooke District, William J. Macdonald; Saanich District,
John Coles; Salt Spring Island District, J. J. Southgate;
Nanaimo District, D. B. Ring.

The Speaker of this House, as of its two predecessors, was Dr.
J. S. Helmcken; the Clerk was E. J. Nesbitt.

The number of voters in each district was: Victoria Town, 3313
Victoria District, g7; Esquimalt Town, 50; Esquimalt District,
61; Lake District, 57; Sooke District, 15; Saanich District, 29; Salt
Spring Island District, 29; Nanaimo, 32.

The officials of Vancouver Island in 1863 were: William A. G.
Young, Colonial Secretary; Joseph Porter, Chicf Clerk; George
Hunter Cary, Attorney-General; A. Hensley, Clerk; Alexander
Watson, Treasurer; J. Despard Pemberton, Surveyor-General;
Robert Ker, Auditor; Thomas R. Holmes, Clerk: Edward
Graham Alston, Registrar-General of Deeds; Charles G. Wylly,
Assessor; Henry Wootton, Postmaster and Harbour Master; J. M.
Sparrow, Clerk.

The officials of the colony of British Columbia at that time were:
Colonel R. C. Moody, officer in command of the Royal Engineers and
Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works; William A. G. Young, Co-
lonial Secretary; Charles Good, Chief Clerk; John Connell, Clerk;
J. Judson Young, Clerk; William D. Gossett, Treasurer (absent on
leave) ; Chartres Brew, acting Treasurer; John Cooper, Chief Clerk
and Cashier; John Graham, Clerk; Alexander Calder, Clerk; John
Wolsey, Clerk; F. G. Claudet, Chief Assayer, Assay Department;
Charles A. Bacon, Chicf Melter; F. H. Bousfield, Assistant Assayer;
W. Hitchcock, Assistant Melter; Henry Pering Pellew Crease,
Attorney-General; Wymond O. Hamley, Collector of Customs;
W. H. McCrea, Chief Clerk; Charles L. Wylde, Revenue Officer;
John C. Haynes, Revenue Officer at Rock Creek; Robert Ker, Chief
Clerk in Auditor’s Office; T. R. Holmes, Clerk; James Cooper,
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Harbour Master; Arthur T. Bushby, Registrar General of Deeds;
William R. Spalding, Postmaster.

The judicial and magisterial officers of the colony of Vancouver
Island in 1863, were: David Cameron, Chief Justice; Thomas G.
Williams, Registrar of the Supreme Court; Richard Woods, Clerk
of the Writs; William B. Naylor, Sheriff; Augustus F. Pemberton,
Stipendiary Magistrate at Victoria; Horace Smith, Superintendent
of Police; William H. Franklin, Magistrate at Nanaimo; Edward
Stamp, Justice of the Peace at Barkley Sound; Commander J. W.
Pike, R. N. and Licutenant E. N. Verney, holding Commissions as
Justices of the Peace on the Coast Service.

Those occupying similar offices on the mainland at the same time
were Matthew Baillie Begbie, Judge; Greville C. Mathew, Registrar
of the Supreme Court; Chartres Brew, Chief Inspector of Police;
Peter O'Reilly, High Sheriff and Magistrate at Williams Lake; J. B.
Gaggin, Police Magistrate at Douglas; E. Howard Sanders, Police
Magistrate at Yale; H. M. Ball, Magistrate at Lytton; William G.
Cox, Magistrate at Kamloops; Andrew C. Elliott, Magistrate at Lil-
looet; Thomas Elwyn, Magistrate at Cariboo; and Philip Henry
Nind, then absent on leave. It was the policy of the Government to
change the residence of these magistrates from time to time. They
will therefore be found in many different places.*

82 B, C. Directory, 1863, pp. 85, 86, 167, 168.
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CHAPTER X
THE LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL AND SEPARATE GOVERNORS

I't has been already mentioned that Sir E. B. Lytton in laying the
foundations of the colony, while empowering the Governor to legis-
late of his own authority, nevertheless regarded this as a mere
temporary expedient. “It is the anxious wish of Her Majesty's
Government that popular institutions, without which they are con-
vinced, peace and order cannot long prevail, should be established
with as little delay as practicable; and until an Assembly can be
organized (which may be whenever a permanent population, how-
ever small, is established on the soil), I think, as I have already stated
in a former Despatch, that your best course will probably be to form
some kind of temporary council, calling in this manner to your aid
such persons as the miners themselves may place confidence in.” **

The Governor accordingly appointed, on March 1, 1859, Colonel
Moody and Judge Begbie as members of his Executive Council,
When notifie | thereof, Sir E. B. Lytton replied: “Regarding these
appointments as a mere voluntary committee of advice, 1 approve of
your proceeding. Whenever you consider that the time has arrived
for the formation of a regular Executive Council, and that it is expe-
dient to make the necessary appointments, proper steps shall, on your
recommendation, be taken for the purpose.” * This was thé only
move made by the Governor to carry out the suggestion of the forma-
tion of an advisory council. It met the letter, but not the spirit, of
the instructions; for Colonel Moody, besides being the head of the
Royal Engineers, was the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works
and held also a dormant commission as Lieutenant-Governor of the
colony, while Judge Begbie had been instructed to perform, besides

83 Lytton to Douglas, Aug. 14, 1858,
& Lytton to Douglas April 11, 1859,
vol. I1—11
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his judicial duties, those of Attorney-General. The Despatch clearly
meant that the council should consist not of officials who already had
a voice in the policy, but of persons who were closely in touch with
and understood the wants of a mining population. Such a council
would not suit Douglas, who was a great lover of absolute power.
His early training and his years of dictatorship in the Hudson’s Bay
Company had bent his mind towards sole control. He would brook
no interference with his actions, and wished no council to advise him,
He succeeded, in the face of these instructions, in being the whole
government until a few months before the expiration of his term as
Governor.

Being also Governor of Vancouver Island, and his home and
interests being there, a great part of Douglas's time was naturally and
necessarily spent in Victoria. In the minds of the people of the
mainland—especially those of the lower Fraser valley, who were the
only really stable population—the joint governorship and the legis-
lation by the Governor alone were inseparably linked together as two
evils calling for early remedy. These two subjects will, therefore,
be treated together.

As early as September, 1859, complaints were made of the non-
residence of the Governor, the Judge, the Colonial Secretary, the
Attorney-General and the Treasurer. While admitting that the
absence of the Governor was permissible, owing to his divided duty,
the Duke of Newcastle, then in control of the colonial office, said:
“This state of things must be put an end to at once, and the gentle-
men in question must be warned that they must repair with the least
practicable delay to the scene of their duties, or if they decline to do
so, must at once resign their situations.” ** Douglas replied that,
whilg he could dispense with the Treasurer, Capt. Gossett, it was
impossible for him to carry on the business of the colony without
having the other officials near him.*" This settled the matter for the
time being. About September, 1860, the Treasurer was removed
from Victoria to New Westminster and in 1861, when Mr. H. P. P.
Crease succeeded Mr. G. H. Cary as Attorney-General, he also took
up his residence at the capital. The Governor and the Colonial
Secretary still continued to live on Vancouver Island.

85 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 101
84 B. C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 95.
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In May, 1860, a petition was forwarded to the Duke of New-
castle asking for a resident Governor and officials, and for repre-
sentative institutions. Nothing was done towards granting either
request. In the following February a convention of representatives
from New Westminster, Hope, and Douglas was held to consider the
situation. A memorial was prepared and submitted to the Governor,
asking for “representative institutions and a Governor permanently
resident in the colony.” It further pointed out that in the opinion
of the convention the time had arrived “when the colony should be
entitled to be placed on the same footing as other British colonies
and be entrusted with the means of its own self-government.” The
Governor replied that it was not in his power to grant representative
institutions, but that as soon as the British element in the country was
powerful enough he would use his influence to have such institutions
established.

At the same time a second petition was prepared and forwarded
to the Home Authorities, asking: A resident Governor whose inter-
ests, instead of being connected with any rival, will be thoroughly
identified with the interests of this colony; a representative govern-
ment similar to those existing in Australia and the eastern British
North American colonies.*” In justification of the request it was
stated that the Governor, the Colonial Secretary, and the Attorney-
General, being permanent residents of the neighboring colony, per-
sons having business with the Government were obliged to go there
and, on their return, were on every occasion subject to a tax of $1
head money; that the Governor was stimulating the growth of the
Island at the expense of British Columbia, notably in reference o
ship-building, where he had placed a duty of ten per cent on the
material for construction, but admitted the vessels (which were
therefore built in the free trade colony of Vancouver Island) free
of duty; that the cost of the roads was being paid by the present
inhabitants on the toll system instead of being borne, to some extent,
by the future through the medium of loans; that contracts were being
given without public notice or competition. The fee of 125 a ton
on all goods leaving New Westminster was also the subject of com-
plaint, as were also the road tolls levied on all goods leaving Hope,
Yale, or Douglas, even though carried up the river in boats.

! British Columbian, Feb. 28, 1861.
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This memorial had no more effect than its predecessor. The
/ Governor still remained in his dual office, still continued to reside in
| Victoria, and to be the whole law-making power on the mainland.
i The convention of February, 1861, re-assembled at Hope in the
j lf following September. Delegates were present from Hope, Yale,
i' : Douglas, Lytton, and New Westminster, including such prominent
| ! men as John Robson, J. A. R. Homer, Donald Chisholm, J. Spencer
f Thompson, William Clarkson, Hugh McRoberts, and R. Deighton.
Yet another and even more lengthy memorial was now prepared,
which, besides repeating the grievances already alleged, added the
lack of a postal system, the failure to provide any educational facili-
ties, the uncalled for formation of the Gold Escort of 1861, and that,
with a revenue of £60,000 or £70,000 the eight thousand inhabitants
had no voice in its collection or expenditure, The prayer was for
“a resident Governor and 1 Legislature whose interests would be
identified with the advancement of the colony, instead of being
antagonistic, as is now the case.” *  No reply was received ; not even
the stereotyped formal official intimation of its receipt.
‘

The question of separate governors found an echo in the course

of a debate in the House of Commons in connection with the re- {
purchase of Vancouver Island. On that occasion Mr. Childers a
inquired whether any decision had been reached with respect to the A
separation of the two governments of Vancouver Island and British I
Columbia. Mr. Fortesque replied that he could not give a positive

answer: the question was under the consideration of the Colonial P
Department and he hoped it would soon be decided. th

Although three petitions had been sent in, without any apparent de

effect, the colonists were not discouraged. In July, 1862, the fourth ex
memorial was prepared. It pointed out that taxation without repre- pr
sentation existed in the colony; complained that the large amounts op.
thus raised—£10 10s. for every resident, except aborigines—were cor
expended injudiciously; and dwelt upon the continued absence of fro
the Governor from the larger, more important colony, from which the
alone he drew his salary. The prayer was for: “A Governor who to ¢
shall reside permanently in this colony, free from any private inter- satis
ests in the colony of Vancouver Island or connected directly or in- —
directly with the Hudson’s Bay Company; a system of responsible b
_:Brilhlr Columbian, Sept. 19, 1861. :;
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government similar to that possessed by the eastern British North
American and Australian colonies.” * This memorial, though
originating in the capital, received approval in the colony generally. *°

Just while this subject was warm, the Hon, Malcolm Cameron
arrived in the colony on a pleasure visit. His long experience in
Parliament, his knowledge of the local conditions, and his intimate
acquaintance with Downing Street, pointed him out as a suitable
person to place the grievances or the opinions of the colonists before
the Home Authorities.

Strange as it may appear in view of the mainland complaint, the
island people were also complaining. While not entirely unanimous
on the subject, they had, as early as October, 1858, sent in a petition
signed by one hundred and seventeen residents of Victoria, asking
for the removal of the Governor and the appointment of an English
gentleman free and independent of any interest save the public wel-
fare.”  And now that the mainland was sending a delegate to ask
for separation and responsible government, the island determined to
send a delegate to support the movement. One of the grievances
there was that the Legislative Council, which had a voice in all their
affairs, was appointed, and not in any way responsible to the people.
Mr. Leonard McClure, the editor of the Press, was selected as the
island delegate.

The Hon. Mr, Cameron was the bearer of another—the fifth—
petition which, after reviewing the earlier efforts above set out and
their failure to evoke even a formal acknowledgment, proceeded “to
demand for us representative institutions and a resident Governor of
experience and ability who shall be capable of carrying out the
principles of free government and instituting liberal institutions—
opening up our lands to actual settlers, and preventing jobbery and
corruption, and who shall so administer the Government that settlers
from any other land who may come amongst us, may see nothing in
the policy or government of our neighbours south of the 49th parallel
to excite their envy or feel anything that may create disgust or dis-
satisfaction at their having seitled in a British colony.” **

0 British Columbian, July 19, 1862.
90 1d., July 26, 1862,

91 Bancroft, B. C,, p. s86.

92 British Columbian, Nov. 12, 1862.
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The time was most opportune. The organic act—the act to
provide for the government of British Columbia—was about to ex-
pire, and the future policy must soon be determined. When the
Hon. Mr. Cameron arrived in England, he found that the suggestion
of two separate governments for two colonies, whose combined
population did not exceed that of a third-rate city, was considered
an absurdity. He nevertheless succeeded in bringing about an entire
change of view. In May, 1863, the Duke of Newcastle informed
the Governor that the new act would annex the Stickeen territory to
British Columbia, and that a Legislative Council would be consti-
tuted. “The power of nominating the members of this Council will,
in the first instance, be vested in the Governor, but I wish it to be so
exercised as to constitute a partially representative body, capable of
making the wishes of the community felt and calculated to pave the
way for a more formal, if not a larger, introduction of the representa-
tive element.”*® Shortly afterwards the Duke followed up this
matter, pointing out that while he would have desired that British
Columbia and Vancouver Island should have formed one govern-
ment, and while he still hoped that moderate and far-seeing men
would soon become convinced of the necessity of such union, yet
being “aware that the prevailing feeling is strongly adverse to such
a measure, and in deference to that feeling I am prepared to take
steps for placing them under different governors so soon as proper
financial arrangements are made for the permanent support of the
Government.” **

The financial arrangements he proposed were that an act should
be passed by the Legislature of Vancouver Island securing salaries
to the officers as follows: Governor, £3,000; Chief Justice, £800,
to he increased to £1,200 when a lawyer is appointed ; Colonial Sec-
retary, £600; Attorney-General, £300, with practice; Treasurer,
£600; Surveyor-General, £500.

With regard to British Columbia, he instructed the Governor
(who was the whole Legislature) to proclaim a permanent law, fixing
salaries at the following rates: Governor, £3,000, with suitable
residence; Chief Justice, £1,200; Colonial Secretary, £800; Attor-
ney-General, £500, with practice; Treasurer, £750; Commissioner

93 Papers relative to Union, May 31, 1866, p. 1.
“Iid, p. 2
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of Lands, £800; Collector of Customs, £650; Chief Inspector of
Police, £500; Registrar of Deeds, £500."”

The Vancouver Island Assembly declined to pass the salaries as
fixed by the Duke of Newcastle; but on the mainland Douglas, in
September, 1863, promulgated the required ordinance as regarded
that colony.”
had been selected: Arthur E. Kennedy for Vancouver Island;
Frederick Seymour for British Columbia,

Governor Kennedy had entered the army as an ensign in the
Sixty-eighth Regiment in May, 1827; was promoted to Lieutenant in
February, 1832, and Captain in June, 1840. He had retired on half
pay in 1840, and sold out in 1848. During the Irish famine, 1846-
47, he was engaged under the Commissioners of Public Works
in Ireland. In September, 1852, he was appointed Governor of
Sierra Leone, He became Consul-General in the Sherbro country
on the west coast of Africa in August, 1854, and Commander-in-Chief
of Western Australia from January, 1855, to December, 1861.

In the meantime, however, the separate governors

Governor Seymour had been appointed Assistant Colonial Secretary
of Tasmania in 1843; Special Magistrate of Antigua, 1848; Presi-
dent of Nevis, 1853; Superintendent of Honduras and Lieutenant-
Governor of Bay Islands, 1857; and later Licutenant-Gevernor of
Honduras.*”

In his Despatch, the Duke of Newcastle outlined the future
Government of British Columbia. He premised by saying: “I
should have wished to establish there the same representative insti-
tutions which already exist on Vancouver Island; and it is not without
reluctance that T have come to the conclusion that it is at present
impossible.” The uncertain and shifting population of British Colum-
bia made it, in his opinion, necessary that the Government should
for the present, retain a preponderating influence in the legislative
body. He, therefore, fixed its constitution as one third Government
officials—the Colonial Secretary, Attorney-General, Treasurer,
Chief Commissioner of Lands, and the Collector of Customs—one
third of magistrates from different parts of the colony, and one
third of persons elected by the residents of different electoral districts,

95 Papers relative to Union, May 31, 1866, p. 2.
98 Proclamations, 1863, No. 12,
97 British Columbian, Oct. 10, 1863.
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As regarded the latter, he desired to secure that at least one third

of the councillors should be persons recognized by the residents of
the colony as representing their feelings and interests. “By what
exact process this quasi-representation shall be accomplished, whether
by ascertaining informally the sense of the residents of each locality
or by bringing the question before different public meetings, or (as
is done in Ceylon) by accepting the nominee of any corporate body
or society, I leave to you to determine. [ also leave it to you to deter-
mine the period for which (subject to Her Majesty’s pleasure, which
involves a practical power of dissolution) the councillors shall be
appointed. What I desire is this: that a system of virtual though
imperfect representation shall be at once introduced which shall
enable Her Majesty’s Government to ascertain with some certainty
the character, wants, and disposition of the community, with a view
to the more formal and complete establishment of a representative
system as circumstances shall permit of it.” **

Enclosed with this Despatch was an order-in-council dated June
11, 1863, authorizing the formation of a Legislative Council, not to
exceed fifteen in membership, divided into the classes specified.

While this partial representation was far from satisfying the
stable and thinking portion of the colony, they accepted it with what
grace they might as an earnest of better things to be. The decision
of the Duke to grant separate Governors sweetened greatly the other-
wise distasteful draught of imperfect representative institutions

Following his instructions, Governor Douglas, for the purpose of
providing the unofficial—the really representative—members,
divided the colony into five districts: New Westminster; Hope,
Yale, and Lytton; Douglas and Lillooet; Cariboo East; and Cariboo
West, each of which was desired “to select a person of good char-
acter and approved loyalty to represent their interests in the Legis-
lative Council.”*® No boundaries were given to these various
districts, and neither in the instructions from the Secretary of State
for the Colonies nor in the circular issued by the Governor were any

qualifications set for representatives or voters. In New Westminster
the municipal council, which was the only public body in the colony,
by resolution set forth to the Governor that so far as that district was

98 Papers relative to Union, May 31, 1866, p. 3.
99 Circular, Colonial Secretary’s office, Sept. 16, 1863,
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concerned the franchise should be restricted to British subjects resi-
dent for three months in the colony, being owners of real estate of the
yalue of £20, or lessees paying £12 a year, or settlers holding pre-
emptions for three months, and that the qualification of a member
should be the poss ssion of real estate of the value of £500. The
Governor replied that he had no power to establish a franchise, and
that the whole matter was in the hands of the people; whereupon the
people of New Westminster, in public meeting, by resolution, fixed

the qualifications of voters as above given.! In Douglas-Lillooet,
at public meetings at Douglas, Pemberton, and Lillooet, the people

also fixed the franchise in accordance with the standard set at the
capital* But though their opinion ruled at Douglas and Pember-
ton, yet at Lillooet the resident magistrate, Mr. A. C. Elliott, who
had charge of the election, opened the poll to all comers without
exacting any qualification.

In the remaining districts no qualifica-
tions were required. '

The voting, when there was a contest, was the old-fashioned open
voting. In the districts where no qualifications were required, aliens

of all nationalities voted, including the much hated and abused
Chinese.

The elections resulted as follows:

New Westminster, J. A. R.
Homer, by a majority of 11; Douglas-Lillooet, Henry Holbrook,

by a majority of 59; Hope, Yale, and Lytton, R. T, Smith; Cariboo
East, James Orr; Cariboo West, Dr. A. W, S. Black, by a majority
of 69.°

By a proclamation dated December 28, 1863, the Governor declared
the constitution of the first Legislative Council of British Columbia
to be, the Colonial Secretary, the Attorney-General, the Chief Com-
missioner of Lands and Works, and the Collector of Customs:
Chartres Brew, Magistrate of New Westminster; Peter O'Reilly,
Magistrate of Cariboo; Edward Howard Sanders, Magistrate of
Yale; Henry Maynard Ball, Magistrate of Lytton; and Philip Henry

Nind, Magistrate of Douglas; Joshua Attwood Reynolds Homer
elected for New Westminster; Robert Thompson Smith elected for

Hope, Yale, and Lytton; Henry Holbrook elected for Douglas-

1 British Columbian, Oct. 7, 1863,
2 British Columbian, Oct. 21, 1863.

8 British Columbian, Nov. 14, 1363.
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Lillooet, and James Orr elected for Cariboo East! The election
{or Cariboo West was not held until after the prncl.un'.uinn appeared.

Though called for January 13, 1864, the first session of the first
Legislative Council of British Columbia was opened at 2:15 in the
afternoon of Thursday, the 21st day of January, 1864, in the building
formerly the parracks of the Royal Engineers in Sapperton, New
Westminster. 'The members actually present were: the Attorney-
General, Hon. H. P. P. Crease; the Collector of Customs, Hon.
Wymond O. Hamley; Magistrates, Hon. Chartres Brew, Hon. Peter
O'Reilly, Hon. Edward Howard Sanders, and Hon. Henry May-
nard Ball; popular members, Hon. J. A. R. Homer, Hon. Henry
Holbrook, Hon. James Orr. Later in the session the Hon. R 1.
Smith and the Hon. A. W. S. Black took their seats.

As on the occasion of the first sitting of the Legislative Assembly
of Vancouver Island, the Governor delivered a lengthy speech. In
this case, however, it Was s0 lengthy that it is impossible to insert it
here, and the following condensation is therefore given. He con-
gratulated the Council upon its formation as being the first step
towards complete representative government. After alluding to the
roads which had been built, and the consequent sheapening of food,

reduction of the cost of transport, and development of the gold fields,

he dwelt upon the necessity of their improvement as a means of
colonization and permanent settlement.  While claiming for his
Jand policy that it tended to encourage settlement, he acknowledged
that the results obtained had not equalled his anticipations. He re-
ferred to his treatment of the Indians and their location upon
reserves as having effectually aided in preserving tranquillity. To
assist religion and morality he suggested pecuniary grants that such
instruction might be brought within the reach of all. Provision
should be made for the formation and maintenance of public schools.
He promised to lay before the Council the proposals of the Atlantic
and Pacific Transit & Telegraph Company to establish telegraph
and postal communication between the colony and Lake Superior;
these proposals, which he recommended to the Council, called for a
guarantee by Canada, Vancouver Island, and British Columbia of
five per cent on the capital, but the portion to be borne jointly by the
two latter colonies was not to exceed £12,500. He then laid before

4 British Columbian, Jan. 6, 18643 Nov. 2, 1864,
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them a brief financial statement for 1863, showing an income of
£175,805 and an expenditure of £192,860. The deficit—£17,055—
together with £10,700, the amount due the Imperial Government in
repayment of expenditures made on account of the barracks and
other military buildings of the Roval Engineers, he carried forward
against the revenue for 1864. "T'hat revenue he estimated at £120,000
and the ordinary, necessary, and probable expenditure at £107,910.
In these expenditures no amount was included for the continuance
of the Gold Escort, in which about $80,000 had already been lost,
nor to meet the needed expansion of the road system or other neces
sary objects of public utility, and having pointed out the serious
question of raising the funds to meet these requirements, he left the
Council to their deliberations.” Nothing was said by him upon ques-
tions which had greatly agitated the public mind in the colony for
years, questions which in some instances had been made the subject
of complaint to Downing Street, for instance, the reconstruction of
the tariff, the abolition of the tonnage dues, an efficient postal system,
a reduction and consolidation of the road tolls, and an export tax on
gold. The oaths of office were administered by the Chief Justic
at the conclusion of the Governor’s speech.”

The Council, having by the casting vote of the presiding mem
ber, Hon. H. P. P. Crease, decided that the public should not be
admitted to the Council Chamber, entered at once into the considera
tion of the financial condition of the colony and the estimates of
revenue and expenditure for the year. The latter they increased to
£135,639, thus making an admitted deficit on the face of the proceed
ings of over £15,000. To meet this, and to provide for future capital
expenditures, an ordinance was passed authorizing a loan of
£100,000." The Council confirmed the Governor's proclamations
issued since the date of the order-in-council of June 11, 1863, and
passed acts dealing with changes in the mining laws,

The new Governor, Frederick Seymour, arrived on April 20,
1864 ; the new Governor of Vancouver Island, Arthur Kennedy, had
arrived about a ‘nonth previous. After Seymour’s arrival the Coun-
cil went to work upon the postal system and the readjustment of the

5 British Columbian, Jan. 22, 1864.
®1d., Jan. 27, 1864.

T Ordinances, 1864, No. 3 and No. 7.
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tariff in reference to ship-building material, together with a number
of other matters on which the people and the late Governor had been
at issue.

On landing from H. M. S, Forward, Governor Seymour was
presented with addresses of welcome on behalf of the City Council
and the people of the colony. The capital was in its best attire and
British Columbia had now

every manifestation of joy was shown.
ad been

a Governor all her own. The goal, so long striven for, h
reached. The complete separation for which the colony had prayed
for years found its embodiment in the new Governor. A spirit of
buoyancy and of hope for the future was everywhere manifest.
Addresses of welcome pnurcd in from the Legislative Council, the
St. Andrew’s Society, the Wesleyan ministers, the people of Douglas-
Lillooet, the Fire Department, and other public bodies.”

The new Governor prorogued the Council on May 4th. In so
doing he stated that, owing to his having been but a fortnight in the
colony, he had assented to the ordinances passed by them, relating to
the registration of land titles, the legal rate of interest, patents, the
formation of mining companics, the regulation of the postal service,
the relief of certain naval and military settlers, the admission, free
of duty, of material for ship-building, and inland navigation. He
reserved for further consideration, an ordinance regulating the issue
of bank notes and delaved the supplementary estimates until the
next session, pointing out that there were no funds at present avail-
able for these expenditures.” Some twenty resolutions passed by the
Council, and involving an expenditure of £80,700, he dealt with
seriatim, but as many of them were of great importance and required
for their proper consideration more local knowledge than he then

possessed, he wisely held them over for later action.

THE CLOSING DAYS OF GOVERNOR l)()l'('-l..\\"\' REGIME

James Douglas had been the Governor of Vancouver Island since
November, 1851, and of British Columbia since September, 1858
Under the ordinary practice, his term of office for the latter colony
would not expire until September, 1804. With the policy of sepa

® British Columbian, April 23, 1864
9 British Columbian, May 7, 1864; Dec. 14, 1864.
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ration, which the Duke of Newcastle had so reluctantly adopted, and
the new constitution for the mainland, it was only natural that new
governors should be appointed.

In August, 1863, as a fitting recognition of his twelve years’ serv-
ice, he was created K. C. B. He had been made C. B. in 1859."

During March and April, 1864, Governor Douglas was quite
frequently on the mainland. This was especially desirable, as the
experiment of a Legislative Council was being tried. He returned
to Victoria to attend, on March roth, a banquet given in his honour.
Two hundred and fifty gentlemen attended; some fifty ladies were
present as lookers-on. It was his formal leave-taking, his official
separation from the city which he had founded twenty years before,
and from the colony whose destinies he had guided during such
stirring times. He was the recipient of an address signed by all the
bankers and professional men and by nearly all the leading mer-
chants of the colony." Addresses were presented him—from both
Houses, from St, Andrew’s Society and many public and semi-public
bodies. Four days later, in anticipation of the arrival of Governor
Kennedy, which was daily expected, he removed his official residence
to the mainland., “As he proceeded on foot, accompanied by his
staff, from the government house to the Hudson’s Bay wharf, every
flagstaff in the town was decorated with bunting, the citizens raising
their hats as he passed, and many of them joining in the procession.
The steamer Enterprise, gayly decked with colors, awaited his
arrival, and as he reached the foot of the gangway, the cheers which
had greeted him along his route burst forth with redoubled volume,
the multitude thronging round to grasp him by the hand. As the
vessel moved off, the band stationed on board the Otter struck up the
tune of Auld Lang Syne, and a salute of thirteen guns was fired by
the Hudson’s Bay employees. Then followed the strains of the
National anthem; and thus was Sir James Douglas, K. C. B., sent on
his way to the mainland * * * 712

Arriving in New Westminster he, with his family, occupied the
official residence built for Colonel Moody. With him came the
Great Seal of British Columbia and the various officers of the colony

19 British Columbian, Oct. 10, 1863; Proclamation, Feb. 14, 1859.
1 Pictoria Colonist, March 11, 1864.
Bancroft's History of British Columbia, pp. 587, §88.
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who had resided in Victoria from the beginning. Great were the
rejoicings on the mainland, not at the advent of the Governor, but at
that of the officials and the Seal, which was regarded as an earnest
of the separation so constantly longed for and now almost accom-
plished. An address from the Fire Department of New Westminster
was presented to Douglas, early in April, and, on the 8th, a farewell
banquet was tendered to him by the officials of British Columbia.
One of the incidents of this occasion was the presentation of an
address signed by nine hundred residents of that colony.” Replying
thereto the Governor said: “This is surely the voice and heart of
British Columbia. Here are no specious phrases, no hollow or venal
compliments. This speaks out broadly, and honestly, and manfully.
It assures me that my administration has been useful; that I have
done my duty faithfully; that I have used the power of my sover-
eign for good, and not for evil; that I have wronged no man, op-
pressed no man, but that I have, with upright rule, meted out
equal-handed justice to all.”

On April 13th the Governor left New Westminster and returned
to Vancouver Island. No demonstration marked the severance of his
official connection with the mainland.

It is difficult, indeed, to give a clear appreciation of Sir James
Douglas as a Governor. ‘The foregoing pages tell the story of his
work and indicate his limitations and the criticisms of the time. The
difficulty arises largely from the fact that he was regarded from two
diametrically opposed standpoints—island and mainland—and for
a time he represented two interests as equally opposed—the Crown
and the Hudson’s Bay Company. His long connection with the com
pany ceased when he assumed the Governorship of British Columbia,
but the habits of thought, the cast of mind, which were its result,
could not be so easily terminated. To say else were to imply his
being more than human, Intensely British himself, he was opposed
to all foreigners; on one occasion he went so far as to refuse to allow
a salute to be fired or a procession to be made on the 4th of July as
requested by some Americans then (1858) resident in Victoria.

He was not in any respect a statesman; but he had the practical
understanding of the situation, the minute detailed personal know!
edge of conditions, the long experience in the handling of men, which

18 British Columbian, March 19, April 9, 16, 1864.
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fitted him as no other man in the country at the time was fitted, to
undertake the management of the rough, rude, self-willed, yet withal,
honest adventurers who swarmed into New Caledonia in search of the
yellow root of evil, and which enabled him to lay down regulations,
to develop communications, and to open lines of access with the min-
imum of delay and dissatisfaction. T'hat stern devotion to duty, that
perfection of the organizing faculty, and that absolute mastery of
detail, which at all times characterized the mind of Douglas, were
a part of what the company had taught him."*

He loved absolute power. He must rule; he could not reign.
The deadlock which occurred with the first Legislative Council of
British Columbia evidences this. On the island, by means of the
brake of an appointed Legislative Council, he kept control in spite
of the Legislative Assembly. Could it be expected that one who
had exercised complete authority over the whole business and domain
of the Hudson’s Bay Company west of the Rocky Mountains would
tolerate interference with his will by some body of men, elected by
the people, it is true, but without a fraction of his experience or local
knowledge? Lytton wisely gave him full control. It is doubtful if
he would have accepted aught else.

The larger matters of policy—the open door—freedom of trade
and navigation—non-discrimination against aliens—so opposed to all
his training, he could never understand. Yet, while his legislation in
some respects bore the impress of this limitation (which the Home
Authorities immediately eliminated) it was nevertheless, on the
whole, well fitted to the wants of the community and eminently satis-
factory to the great body of the people. In everything which related
to the mere management of the colonies he could always see the
course clearly and would follow it with that firm determination which
often enabled him “out of the nettle, danger, to pluck the flower,
safety.” Thus he was able, as one has said, without jot or tittle of
precedent whereon to base his action, to turn all to the upbuilding
of the colonies, establishing the law and sovereignty of Great Britain,
firmly maintaining order, organizing the new community on terms
that won the support and confidence, where they might have looked
only for the enmity, of the wild and uncouth masses which made up
the population, giving, in short, to the world at large the spectacle

"4 Coats & Gosnell, Life of Douglas, pp. 344, 345.
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of a gold field ruled, as it never was ruled before, and laying the
sure foundations of a greater community to be."”

Perhaps in effecting this result there was, so far as the Governor
was concerned, no factor of greaterimportance than the feeling of the
certainty of his even-handed justice and strict protection of rights
which, despite his pomposity and his love of official display, became
more and more firmly imbedded in the population as the years went
by and the distance from the days of the Hudson’s Bay Company’s

régime increased.

15 Coats & Gosnell, Life of Douglas, p. 346.




CHAPTER XI

THE BUTE INLET MASSACRE AND THE CHILCOTIN WAR, 1864-1866

We have already shown that Governor Douglas had built two
competing roads to Cariboo—by way of Douglas and by way of Yale.
Private enterprise put before the public the claims of two other
intended routes: the Bentinck Arm route, following very largely the
path of Sir Alexander Mackenzie, and the Bute Inlet route, follow-
ing the valley of the Homathco River., Both these routes had their
adherents and supporters, but the Governor expended no public
money on them, further than, in 1863, to cause a reconnaissance of
the former to be made by Lieut. H. S. Palmer, R. E.

Bentinck Arm is distant from Victoria about four hundred miles,
The Bella Coola River flows into it. The trail up the valley of this
river presented no great difficulties, but Lieutenant Palmer pointed
out two serious objections to it after it left that valley, These were
the slide and the precipice, both of which, however, could be avoided
by making lengthy détours. Arriving at the summit of the precipice,
3,840 feet above sea-level, the trail led across the great elevated pla-
teau between the Cascades and the Fraser River, a vast expanse of
waving forest broken only by lakes and marshes.'®

The Bute Inlet route, which was for years strongly championed
by Alfred Waddington of Victoria, was projected much further
south. From the head of Bute Inlet, it followed the valley of the
Homathco River through exceedingly rough, mountainous country.
About twenty-five miles from the mouth of that river the trail crossed
Waddington Mountain at an elevation of two thousand feet, the
grades being excessively steep. This great elevation and these heavy
grades continued until the plateau was reached. Across this heavily

Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, p. 237.
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wooded space the trail took a general northeasterly direction, con-
necting with the Bentinck Arm route at Puntze Lake."

The following table, compiled by Mr. Waddington, shows the
relative lengths of land and water travel on the different routes:

But Inlet Hentinck Arm Yale
route, route,
miles miles

Sea, lake and river navigation 560 182
Land travel s.iasewiaearens asanis TRARE I 178 359

738 541

Number of days consumed carrying freight.. 22 28 37

Early in 1862 Mr. Alfred Waddington obtained a charter for the
construction of the Bute Inlet road, entitling his company to collect
certain tolls for ten years on all merchandise carried over it."® The
surveying and preliminary work having been already finished, con-
struction commenced immediately. By the end of April, 1864, a
road, or more properly a pack trail, 'had been completed for forty or
fifty miles up the valley of the Homathco. Sixteen white men in
two parties of twelve and four respectively were at work four miles
apart. Another man, Timothy Smith, was in charge of the ferry
where the trail crossed the Homathco River. Some sixteen Indians
were also employed as packers to assist in the work. On April 29,
1864, three Indians came to the ferry, where a considerable quantity
of provisions and supplies were stored, in charge of the ferryman
It is said that they demanded food, which request being refused by
Smith, they shot him."* This story seems probable as, later, about a
half ton of provisions was found hidden amongst the rocks in the
vicinity. Then, fired with passion and possessed by the demon of
blood, they hurried on ten miles further to the main camp of the
road-makers. They reached it just before daylight. Their numbers
were now increased. There twelve men unarmed, unguarded,
thoughtless of danger, lay in the deep sleep of bodily exhaustion
The murderers surrounded the camp, cut the tent poles, and dropped
the tents on their victims, firing into them with their muskets and
using their knives until all but three were killed.

17 Lieutenant Palmer's Report, 1863,
18 British Columbian, March 7, 1863; B. C. Directory, 1863, p. 191.
19 Morice, History of British Columbia, p. 307.
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“One of the survivors, Petersen, a Dane * * *

179

hearing the
shots jumped out of his blankets, and was immediately struck at by
an Indian with an axe; he stepped aside just to see it fall heavily on
the ground, and a few seconds after this was shot in the arm. Faint,
and bleeding copiously, he plunged into the river hard by, and its
swift waters carried him down half a mile over the stones and ‘snags,’
bruising him much. He managed to reach the bank, and was soon
after rejoined by Mosley, a man who had escaped almost unhurt,
although he had, whilst struggling to release himself from the fallen
tent, seen long knives on either side of him pierce the prostrate bodies
of his companions, The third man, Buckley, an Irishman, who after-
wards joined them, had been stabbed repeatedly by the Chilcotins
and fell, faint from the loss of blood, remaining unconscious for
hours, and they left him, imagining he was dead. These men, sick
and down-hearted, on arrival at the rope-ferry, found that the boat
or ‘scow’ had been cut adrift, and the swift current had carried it
away. In their weak condition, they had no means of crossing till
Buckley, who had been a sailor, managed to rig up a ‘travelling loop,’
as he termed it, and succeeded in hauling himself over on the cable
stretched across the river, which was two hundred yards wide at that
spot. He then sent over the ‘travelling block’ (formerly attached
to ropes fixed to the boat), and Petersen and Mosley were at length
brought to safety.” *

Another of the survivors gave the following account of the mas-
sacre: “Proceeding inland from Bute Inlet, itwas found necessary to
engage a force of Chilcotin Indians to do the packing, etc. After
a few days, sixteen Indians were engaged, and they were followed
by some squaws. At night all pitched tent and appeared satisfied.
The evening previous to the massacre, the Indians put on war paint
ana had a sort of dance, Some of the whites did not like the appear-
ance of things, vet nothing was said or done to the knowledge of the
whites to cause suspicion of intended foul play.

“All retired as usual, the Indians camping, as was their custom,
a few hundred yards distant. The whites lay three men in each tent
and all was quiet, so far as the white men knew, up till about day-
light, when the Indians commenced using their axes and striking
right and left into the tents. We were awakened amidst groans and

20 Whymper’s Travels in Alaska, pp. 32, 33.
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shouts, and some of our men trying to get up were either knocked
down with axes or shot.

“A man was killed upon each side of me almost instantly. The
pole of the tent fell lengthwise upon me and to this I attribute my
escape. I kept still, and the Indians, thinking they had finished our
tent, left; after all appeared quiet near me and, knowing what would
be my fate if discovered when daylight broke, I quietly got up and
started for the river near by. An alarm was given and shots fired
atme, when I fell over a log at the edge of the river. I moved along
the river bank for some distance.

“Apparently it was imagined that when I fell T had gone into
the river, From where I was concealed I could see them throw the
bodies of our men into the river. Some of the Indians packed up
supplies at our camp.

“T soon left, and after going a few miles came across another of
our party who had also escaped. Afterwards I met another, making
three who had escaped, of the sixteen white men. When we got to
Bute Inlet we got Indians to take us in canoes.” *!

Indiscriminate plunder was not indulged in by the murderers.
Money in considerable quantities lay scattered around. But all the
food was taken. The tools and implements were left as the workmen
had placed them, and were found in the same conditions eight years
later.?*

Four miles beyond this place the superintendent, Mr. Brewster,
and three men were at work “blazing” the trail. Three of them
were attacked and killed before resistance could be offered. The
fourth, a half breed, endeavored to escape by running to the river,
evidently intending to hide there or swim away, but the murderers’
bullets overtook him near the bank, and the rushing torrent bore
his body towards the others. The body of the superiniendent was
cruelly maltreated and abused. It was left where he fell.*

The Indians, leaving the greater part of the booty concealed,
owing to the difficult nature of the country, crossed the Cascade
range. They appear to have received considerable reinforcements,
amounting to about thirty in all, before they reached the house of

21 Inland Sentinel, July 22, 1880.
22 Ocean to Ocean, p. 327.
23 British Columbian, May 28, 1864.
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a white settler, Manning, at Puntze Lake. He was soon dispatched
and the assassins, with continually swelling numbers, advanced to
meet a pack train with eight drivers approaching from Bentinck
Arm. This train, in charge of Alexander McDonald, was carry-
ing supplies for the Bute Inlet route, taking this means of avoiding
the difficulties of that trail near the coast. Neglecting the warnings
of McDougall's squaw, who had accidentally heard of the Bute
Inlet murders, the party proceeded too far and, on attempting to
retreat, were ambushed by the Indians, now fifty or sixty strong.**
Three of these men were killed, but the other five, two of whom were
badly wounded, by an amount of dexterity and good fortune, which
seems marvelous, managed to make their escape Amongst the
killed was McDonald himself, who was last seen behind a tree
taking aim with his revolver at Tellot, the chief, who had acted a
prominent part in the destruction of Waddington's party. McDou-
gall's squaw also fell a victim to the lust of blood. In all, nineteen
persons were numbered in the death-roll.*

Favoured by impunity the assassins now became promoted to the
dignity of insurgents by the adhesion of the whole Chilcotin tribe
from the summits of the Cascades to the benches of the Fraser. Fear
spread over the whole interior. It was reported that the Indians
were combined for the purpose of killing every white man they met.
I'he few settlers in the vicinity fled for their lives to the coast region

Before proceeding to relate the steps taken by the Colonial
Authorities to quell this outbreak, let us pause to ascertain its origin.
['he Rev. Dr. Grant, who visited the scene of the destruction of
the main Bute Inlet party in 1872, says that amongst the articles
scattered around the melancholy spot were “at least one pair of
woman'’s boots—too surely indicating the source of the trouble.” *
I'his is mere inference from insufficient data. Indian women wore
moccasins, not boots, Bancroft, always seeking a prurient motive
in Indian troubles, says: “Interference with their women on the
part of the white men had so exasperated the Chilcotins that they
resolved to rid themselves of the evil by the most direct means.” *

* Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, p. 464
Governor Seymour's Speech, Dec. 14, 1864
2 British Columbian, May 28, 1864.
7 Ocean to Ocean, p. 328.
S Bancroft's History of British Columbia, p. 428.
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Vo authority is suggested for this statement and none can be found.
On the contrary, Governor Seymour, who, as will be shown, person-
ally took a prominent part in quelling the disturbance, says: “Let
me do justice to the dead. On the scatiold at Quesnelle mouth it

was stated that they gave no provocation.”' Rev. Mr. Macfie, who

lost an esteemed friend, one of McDonald’s party, says: “Many
conjectures have been offered as to the cause of these barbarities,
but no satisfactory conclusion has yet been arrived at on the subject.”
Frederick Whymper, who had visited the camp just two days before
its destruction, says the motive was “a strong desire for plunder,
accompanied by a knowledge of the improbability in that country
of ever being taken and brought to justice.” He goes on to say:
“The Indian is to this day but little understood. By some he is
looked on
ideal redskin, the painted, much-admired native with lofty senti
ments, is certainly, as far as my experience goes, a very rare being

as an animal, by others as almost a hero of romance. The

at the present day, if, indeed, his existence, at any time, is not to be
considered mythical. A creature, half child, half animal, a mixture
of simplicity and ferocity certainly exists, but though a partial civ
ilization may have varnished his exterior, beneath the thin crust the
savage nature lurks, ever ready to break forth, like those volcani
mountains whose pure snows only hide the molten lava within.’
Remembering this, insignificant matters become important
There is no doubt that while the road-builders were well supplicd
with food, the Indian packers were nearly starved. That the desir
for food was one factor is shown by the fact that all the food at the
ferry was stolen and hidden away and all the food at the main camp
taken. Revenge for wrongs, real or imaginary, was another, Chicf
Justice Begbie, who tried the murderers, states that interference
with the Indian’s supposed rights in regard to land, and especially
to some particularly valuable spring of water, was at the root of
the trouble.* “The treatment the Indians employed in packing
received at the hands of Brewster and his party was at once calcu
lated to arouse their cupidity and provoke their vengeance.” * The

1 Governor Seymour's Speech, Dec. 14, 1864.

2 Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, p. 465.
8 Whymper's Travels in Alaska, p. 36.

4 Langevin's Report, p. 27.

8 British Columbian, June 8, 1864.
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facts support this statement,

Klattasine, who murdered Smith at
the ferry, had only recently arrived in the neighborhood, where his

son was engaged with the Indian packers. He had intended to
return into the interior, but when he met his son and the other Chil-
; cotin Indians he changed his mind and proceeded with two friends
v to the ferry, where they murdered Smith that very evening.’
Y These two items—plunder and revenge—form the basis. To
5 them were added complaints that the whites—not those killed, but
» others—were obtaining the services of the Indians and giving worth-
ps less acknowledgments in payment. Other white men, it was claimed,
¥ had stolen from the graves of their dead the property left there.
“' The great scourge of small-pox, which hal made such ravages
\}'»-7 amongst the whole native population in 1862, was said to have been
.‘\. introduced amongst the Chilcotins by evil-disposed whites and
he revived later by unscrupulous white men who had removed from
"“A the graves the infected blankets and sold them to the unsuspecting
g natives.” And further, that not content with this wicked conduct,
’\‘Ac_ some white men had threatened to bring the small-pox once more
pore amongst them.* Even the most casual acquaintance with the Indian
ekt ) nature reveals how unreasoning and indiscriminating it is. Vicarious
- the suffering is a tenet amongst them. That the desecration of their
ot graves was regarded as a factor in the trouble is further shown by
o . the fact that at the next session of the Legislative Council an ordi-
'\‘“\‘; nance was introduced by the Attorney-General (the late Sir H. P.
\‘\\V“" P. Crease) making such conduct an offense punishable by a fine of
\0\\&‘ £100 and six months’ imprisonment.” If interference with their
at ‘\“‘ women enters into the question at all, it must be classed with these
1\\‘:\‘3\ secondary causes.

N The persons suspected of the murders were Klattasine, the chief,
”}.?‘;\\ Tellot, his two sons-in-law, Jack and George, Lowwa, Cusheen, a
C»L‘\x‘: of slave, Chraychamum, and nine others.

”c\'\'\““ The news of the massacre of Waddington's road-builders reached
a(\‘\“v the capital on May 14, 1864. Thus, Governor Seymour, within a
s The

month of his arrival in the colony, found himself face to face with
what threatened to develop into a general Indian uprising.

¢ Brew's Report, May 25, 1864.

T Morice, History of British Columb a, p. goo.
8 British Columbian, March 4, 1865.
9 Ordinances, 1865, No. 19,
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Immediate and energetic steps were taken. On Sunday, May 15th,
a party of twenty-eight volunteers, under Chartres Brew, the Chief
Inspector of Police, left the capital on H. M. S. Forward for the
scene of action, Another party of fifty was organized in Cariboo,
under the command of Mr. William G. Cox—*"Judge Cox"—as he
was commonly called. The Brew party was instructed to make its
way into the Chilcotin territory by the Bute Inlet route, while the
Cox party advancing from the eastward should effect a junction
with it near Puntze Lake, In the event of the Brew party coming
into contact with the Indians before reaching that point, and meet-
ing with resistance, the instructions were to return and report, and
H. M. S. Tribune, with an ample force of marines, would be dis-
patched as a reinforcement. The Brew party made its way to the
end of the trail, when, finding no practicable road through the wild
mountainous region which intervened between that point and the
plateau, the attempt to reach Chilcotin by this route was abandoned,
and the party returned after a fortnight's absence.

The expedition from Alexandria under Mr, Cox did not set out
for the Chilcotin country until June 8th, The delay was caused by
the steamer Enterprise, which operated from Quesnelle southward,
being out of repair, so that it was necessary to build rafts to reach
Alexandria."®  This party consisted of fifty men, including Mr.
Donald McLean, late Chief Trader of the Hudson's Bay Company
at Kamloops, and two of his sons. From Alexandria, Cox followed
Lieutenant Palmer's trail of the preceding year and, on the 12th,
arrived at Puntze Lake near the junction of the Chilcotin and Chil-
anko rivers, The next day McLean departed for the forks of the
Chusko and Chilcotin rivers, through the thickly-timbered and
brush-covered country, in search of Alexis, a friendly Chilcotin
chief. When he reached this tribe he found all in arms and pre-
pared for war, but, succeeding in convincing them of the peaceful
intentions of the whites, they promised to send Alexis into the camp

A scouting party were also sent out, but had scarcely proceeded
half a mile when they fell into an ambush. One man was injured
The Indians dodged from tree to tree, whooping and firing upon
the party at every opportunity. Their fire was vigorously answered.
When this party returned to camp, the Indians came to the top of a

10 British Columbian, July 2, 15, 1864.
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hill near-by and fired their pieces in manifest token of defiance.

Cox
determined to await the arrival of reinforcements.

In the mean-
time his party remained at Puntze Lake in their log fort on the
summit of a small hill from which flew continuously the white flag
of friendship."

When the attempt to enter by way of Bute Inlet proved abortive,
another party of thirty-eight volunteers, in charge of Chartres Brew,
was dispatched on June 13th from New Westminster on H. M, S.
Sutlej. Governor Seymour accompanied this contingent. The route
selected was the Bentinck Arm trail.  When they arrived at the
head of that arm on June 24th they met the five survivors of the
McDonald party and thus learned the details of this late massacre.
Visions of a general Indian war with all its horrible accompani-
ments arose, but when the Bella Coola Indians were found to be most
friendly and peaceable the fear of an insurrection, orevenof a really
organized resistance, began to disappear.’” Proceeding slowly inland
the volunteers soon came upon the traces of the struggle of NMcDon
ald’s men. Kegs of nails, boxes of carpenters’ tools, looted pack-
saddles, broken agricultural implements, a musket shattered by a
bullet, canned goods, ropes, candles, and all sorts of merchandise
lay scattered around. Farther on were the earth-works from which
McDonald and his party had kept the savages at bay, Two miles
beyond, on the summit of a hill near Sutliko, a palisaded block-
house of the Indians was found. A clearing had been made around
this spot and the building loop-holed for defence. As the works
were capable of affording serious annovance they were destroyed.
Evidences of intention to oppose their advance were frequent, but
the Indians fled before them in all directions. On July 7th the party
reached Puntze Lake, where Cox's men were anxiously awaiting
their arrival,

McLean, who was in his element in this man-hunt and who
seemed to think he bore an enchanted life, was indefatigable in his
efforts to bring it to a successful issue. On July 17th he went out
with an Indian guide to reconnoitre. The latter, hearing the click
of a gun, warned McLean of the proximity of an enemy and advised
him to lie down, He contemptuously spurned the advice. The next

11 Cox's Report, June 19, 1844,
12 Admiral Kingcombe to Colonial Secretary, July 8, 1864.
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moment the sound of a gun was heard and McLean fell with a bullet
through the heart. The guide, crawling through the woods, returned

!

j' with the news, and a party was sent out to bring in the body."

f ( The force from New Westminster, hearing that the murderers

| were in hiding nearer the coast, set off in that direction, scouring ¢

' the country and meeting, everywhere, evidences of the proximity y
Cox's party still remained in the ;

!
of Indians, but finding none.

camp.
By degrees the Indians, who had kept aloof at first, began to be
familiar with the presence of this armed white force in their country.
Women came to the camp to trade, and finally Alexis, the much- y
desired Chilcotin chief, was induced to present himself to the Gov 4
ernor. Accompanying him was an Indian who stated that he was 9
the bearer of a message from Klattasine and Tellot, that if the whites g
would remain where they were the murderers would come and ,(
deliver themselves up. Cox replied that he intended o proceed I
immediately in search of them and was only waiting for the neces b
sary provisions from Alexandria, but if the murderers would sur- st
render he would await them at the old Hudson’s Bay Company’s p
fort on the Chusko River. On August 1oth the messenger came to of
this place, to which Cox had removed his men, saying that eight of &
the murderers would arrive next morning. Accordingly, on the hi
following day, Klattasine, Tellot, and six others accompanied by :’l
Alexis and a number of his people, came to Cox’s camp and sur 1
rendered themselves, returning at the same time a horse and a mule
and $20 for the Governor in token of good faith, and bringing pres “
ents of money and gold dust. They informed him that ten others pr
were implicated, but could not be caught until the following spring, o
and that three more had been concerned in the murders but that one o
had been shot by McDonald and the other two had committed Ar
suicide.™ {\I,"
The dramatic version of this incident runs thus: “The murder .
ers sent one of their slaves to Mr. Cox's camp to ascertain the terms r';:j'
of surrender. Cox packed the slave with a sack of flour and other :
articles and sent a message to the effect that they desired to make Jus
friends with them and invited them into the camp. About noon of Sef
13 British Columbian, Aug. 3, 1864. \I
M British Columbian, Aug. 24, 1864. )
1
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the same day Tellot, with his party, accompanied by their families,
came into camp, and found to their surprise that they were sur-

rounded by armed men, who informed them that they were prisoners,
and ordered them to lay down their arms. All, with the exception
of Tellot, complied, but he grasped his musket by the muzzle and
smashed it into atoms against a tree, and drawing his arms across
his breast invited them to shoot him, remarking with scorn depicted
on his countenance, that ‘King George men were great liars.” " "

This story, unfortunately for its veracity, rests entirely upon a
letter from William Byers, who was one of Brew's party and who,
at the time of the surrender, was with them in the neighborhood
of Tacla Lake and Memyo River, a hundred miles away. The account
which has been given as the correct one is the official report of Mr.
Cox, supported in detail by Mr, J. D. B. Ogilvy, an eye-witness.
There is, however, but little doubt that while the theatrical gun-
breaking incident is apocryphal, Cox made representations of friend-
ship and immunity which he could not perform."” This appears
plain from the gifts which the Indians brought, and explains the
otherwise unaccountable surrender of men whom the party had not
even been able to see or get a trace of and who could readily have
hidden themselves securely in the fastnesses of the Cascades. Chief
Justice Begbie in his note on the subject says these men “were
induced to surrender.” '

The ring-leaders having been secured, provisions being scarce,
and the daily cost of the expedition enormous, Cox's party with the
prisoners returned to Alexandria and disbanded, while Brew's party
marched to Bella Coola, hoping to find some of the other murderers
on their way. In this quest they were unsuccessful, but meeting
Anaheim, another chief of the Chilcotins, they obtained from him
the horses and the greater part of the loot of McDonald’s pack train.
Not having been concerned in the massacres, though doubtless will-
ing to aid the offenders, Anaheim was released, promising to secure
the remainder of the fugitives in the spring and deliver them up to
justice.

The trial of the murderers took place at Quesnel mouth in
September. Two of them became witnesses for the Crown; five were

18 Morice, History of British Columbia, p. 312.

18 British Columbian, Aug. 24, Sept. 7, Sept. 17, 1864.
17 Langevin's Report, p. 27.



188 BRITISH COLUMBIA

found guilty and hanged; the eighth was sentenced to imprisonment

for life, but escaped.™
The expedition had been an expensive one for the colony.
But the indirect benefits were

Its

total cost amounted to about $80,000.
incalculable. The Government showed that it was not sought to
visit upon the natives, indiscriminately, punishment due to the few
guilty persons, but to impress the Indian mind with the superiority
of British law in this very respect that only the guilty can be pun-
ished. The salutary influence of this policy was soon evident. When
the expedition penetrated the Chilcotin country this was not under
stood. Vengeance, not justice, was thought its object; and whole
tribes were arrayed in hostile opposition prepared to make common
cause with the fugitives. When the true motive was made clear,
all this changed; the great chiefs became ranged on the side of law
and order and engaged to assist in securing those murderers who were
still at large.

During the session of 1864-5 the Legislative Council passed a
resolution requesting the Imperial Government to bear one half of
the expense of the Chilcotin war, as this trouble was locally called.”
The Right Hon. Edward Cardwell, the Secretary of State for the
Colonies at that time, refused the application, saying: “The expedi
tion was demanded as an act of retributive justice, and as being
needful for the safety of all persons who might be engaged hereafter
* The cost of the expedition

in similar undertakings.
I cannot admit that Her

must, however, fall upon the colony.
Majesty's Government is in any sense responsible for that expensc
and it is not in my power to hold out a hope that any part of it can
be defrayed out of funds to be voted for that purpose by the Imperial
Government.” **  The mother was dealing out stern, even-handed
justice and not kindly, sympathetic treatment to her infant child.

At the same session the Legislative Council granted to the widow
of Donald McLean an annuity of £100 a year for five years. Mr
Edward Atkins, now of Coquitlam, is one of the few survivors of
the Brew party.

Mr. Waddington also came forward with a claim for compensa-

tion. He petitioned to be allowed to surrender his charter on

18 Morice, History of British Columbia, p. 313.

19 British Columbian, Dec. 21, 1864.
20 Letter Cardwell to Seymour, July 22, 1865, in British Columbian, Jan. 27, 1866.
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being reimbursed the moneys expended on the Bute Inlet scheme,
amounting in all to some $50,000. He based this request on the
ground that his party had not been afforded any Government protec-
tion.

The Governor very naturally replied that no such protection
had been requested, nor had the Government been even notified that
the road-builders were in that locality and that, in any event, no state
could guarantee its citizens against murder. The Legislative Council
supported the Governor.

This outbreak killed the Bute Inlet road scheme. No further
work was ever done upon it and it was forgotten by the colony, But
Mr. Waddington, who clung to it like a fond and doting parent, still
retained the opinion that the route was feasible and, as late as 1867,

was unsuccessfully endeavoring to interest the public in the project
and obtain an extension of his charter.”!

A SKETCH OF THE LEGISLATION, 1864 TO 1866

In September, 1864, following the precedent established by his
predecessor, Governor Seymour caused elections to be held in the
five districts. As before, these elections dragged on over a period
of a month or more. The date of each election rested entirely with
the returning officer. No boundaries were given to the districts, nor
was any qualification required for voters or members except where
the people themselves voluntarily fixed it. The elections resulted
in the return of the Hon. J. A. R. Homer for New Westminster, by
acclamation, Hon. Henry Holbrook for Douglas-Lillooet by accla-
mation, Hon. George Anthony Walkem for Cariboo East by a
majority of two hundred and eighteen, Hon. Clement F. Cornwall

for Hope, Yale, and Lytton by a majority of one hundred and ninety-
three, Hon, Walter Moberly for Cariboo Wes

It will be noted
that only two of the popular members retained their seats. The Hon,
R.T. Smith dared not face the electors in Hope, Yale, and Lytton,
and both the Hon. A. W. Black and Hon. James Orr went down to
defeat in the Cariboos. The Governor made a change in the magis-

terial members. Those he appointed were Hon, Chartres Brew,

New Westminster; Hon. Peter O'Reilly, Cariboo; Hon. Henry

21 British Columbian, Jan. 19, 1867,

22 British Columbian, Oct. 12, 19, 22, 1864; Nov. 19, 1864.
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Maynard Ball, Lytton; Hon. Andrew C. Elliott, Lillooet; Hon.
John C. Haynes, Kootenay.**

The second Legislative Council met on December 12, 1864. The
following members were present at the opening: the Colonial Secre-
tary, the Attorney-General, the Treasurer—Mr. C. W. Franks who
had succeeded Captain Gossett—and the Collector of Customs;
Magistrates, Brew, O'Reilly, and Ball; popular members, Homer,
Holbrook, Walkem, and Moberly. In his opening speech—a lengthy
speech as usual—Governor Seymour stated that the year’s expendi-
tures had been about £160,000, and the income about £107,000. Of
the £100,000 loan authorized by the last Council, only £26,300 had
been used. He dwelt at great length upon the Chilcotin war. He
stated that he proposed to bring in bills to amend the bankruptcy and
insolvency laws, to deal with the disposal of Crown lands, to fix tolls
according to the probable damage to roads by the width of wagon
tires, to remodel the postal service, and to consolidate the mining
laws. He concluded by stating that he was not yet prepared to bring
in a bill embodying an “Indian Policy,” and by referring to a recent

resolution of the Vancouver Island Legislature on the vexed ques
tion of union of the two colonies. The Council dutifully replied, the
supplementary estimates were passed, and an adjournment was taken
until January 12, 1865.
On its reassembling, Governor Seymour delivered another long
speech—even longer than was his wont, He informed the Council
that under the new rules by which its proceedings would be governed,
the press and a limited number of the public would be admitted and
that private members would be entitled to introduce bills. He
pointed out that the revenue must be increased and suggested an
export duty on gold. He then went on to discuss at length each of
the subjects on which he had already promised legislation; referred
incidentally to the necessity of expanding the road system to reach
the Kootenay and other new diggings, and of improving the commu-
nications in Cariboo, and concluded by stating that, in deference to
the expressed sentiments of the Council, he refrained from offering
any opinion upon the subject of union with Vancouver Island.**

23 British Columbian, Nov. 2, 1864.
24 British Columbian, Jan. 14, 1865,
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Besides legislation on the topics mentioned in the Governor's
address, the Council passed an ordinance to encourage the construc-
tion of a telegraph line in British Columbia as one of the links con-
necting the existing systems in the United States and Russia. This
venture, known as the Collins Overland Telegraph scheme, will be
dealt with at length in its proper place.

The Council, on the initiative of the Hon. Mr. Walkem, dealt
with an important matter—the necessity of keeping the public
accounts in decimal currency, When this ordinance was being dis-
cussed a somewhat novel incident occurred. At the suggestion of
Mr. Walkem, Mr. Townsend, the manager of the Bank of British
Columbia, Mr. Ker, the Auditor-General, and Mr. G. B. Wright
were admitted to the floor of the House, gave evidence on the ques-
tion, and were examined by the members in open session.* The first
arrivals in the colony, being chiefly from the United States, had
introduced the decimal currency and that had remained the system
in the community as a whole, but the Government had, nevertheless,
always kept its accounts in sterling currency. The operation of the
ordinance was suspended until Her Majesty's consent should be
obtained. In November this sanction was received and notice was
given that from January 1, 1866, the accounts of the colony would be
kept in dollars and cents.*”

Amongst the subjects of legislation to which the Governor had
referred, none created more discussion than the Gold Export duty.
By this ordinance, an export duty of 25, an ounce upon unassayed
and 15. 6d. on assayed gold was levied to form a fund to be expended
upon the improvement of communications and for public works in
or towards the mining districts of the colony, and generally for works
and objects calculated in the opinion of the Governor to promote the
interests of the mining population of the colony.** The Council was
unanimous in support of the principle of this ordinance, though some
diversity naturally existed in reference to the details. During Gov-
ernor Douglas's régime he had suggested the expediency of such a
tax. In December, 1858, he had told Sir E. B. Lytton that “an export
duty on gold would now yield a respectable amount of revenue.” **

28 British Columbian, Feb. 4, 1865,
2 British Columbian, Nov. 8, 1865,
27 Ordinances, 1865, No, 13.
28 B, C. Papers, pt. 2, p. 45.
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The Duke of Newcastle in October, 1859, had written to Governor
Douglas: “You have on many occasions adverted to your intention
of levying an export duty on gold; but as no report has reached this
office of your having done so, I conclude that impediments have
arisen to frustrate this very necessary measure. Now, however, that
it has been determined to set up a Government assay office in the
colony, you will lose no time in resorting to the expedient for which
vou have pressed Her Majesty's Government to give you such facil-
ities as are requisite.” Notwithstanding these instructions, Gov-
ernor Douglas took no steps to levy such a tax; and further, when,
early in 1864, the Legislative Council by a unanimous vote recom-
mended an export tax upon gold, he calmly refused to move in the
matter.

Another measure passed by the Council attracted considerable
attention and led to an increase in local antagonism between the two
colonies. By Governor Douglas's proclamation the value upon which
duty was payable on imported goods was the “value thereof at the

¥ This was worked

port of entry,” instead of at the place of expor
out so that the merchant in British Columbia who imported from
Vancouver Island paid on his invoice, while he who imported
from the principal markets of the world paid on his invoice with one
third added.”” Thus the inducement to buy in the large markets was
made so small that the great bulk of the wholesale trade of British
Columbia was done through the neighboring colony, then under
The Customs ordinance, 1865, increasing the duties pay

free trade.
imports into the colony, declared that their value should

able upon
be “the fair market value thereof in the principal markets of tae
country whence the same were last shipped or exported direct to this
colony.” The people of Vancouver Island claimed that this provi
sion militated unduly against them and had been introduced for the
purpose of stimulating a direct trade with other countries and shut
ting out the merchants of Victoria from the markets of British
Columbia. So great was the uproar that the ordinance was ulti-
mately disallowed by the Home Authorities.

It has been already mentioned that the Duke of Newcastle, in
granting the half measure of representation to the colony, had

20 B, C. Papers, pt. 3, p. 105.
30 Proclamation, June 2, 1859.
31 British Columbian, Jan. 27, 1866,
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required Governor Douglas to proclaim a permanent law fixing,

amongst other things, the salary of the Governor of British Columbia
at £3,000.

The Council, “owing to the decided progress that had
taken place in the colony and to the mncreased responsibilities that
had therefore devolved upon the head of the Executive,” passed an
ordinance increasing this salary to £4,000, subject to Her Majesty's
confirmation, which was later obtained.™

In the fall of 1865 the Hon. Walter Moberly resigned his seat
in the Council to accept the position of Assistant Surveyor-General,
and in November that peculiar person, the Hon. Robert Smith
“Peg-leg Smith"—was elected in his stead. In this election fully
one third of the votes cast were given by Chinese. “Asiatics, on the
way down from the mines, many of them doubtless ¢n route to China,
were dragged up to the so-called polling booth and taught to lisp
the name of the ambitious candidate for legislative honors!” *
Indeed there was no express legislative provision against Chinese

voting in British Columbia until 1874. With this change the Council
of 1865-6 was the same as that of 1864-5

In the absence of Governor
Seymour, who had left the colony in August, 1865, and, having been

married, was still absent on his wedding tour, the Hon. A. N. Birch,
the Colonial Secretary, was Administrator of the Government.

In hisspeech at the opening of the third Council, January 18, 1866,
he alluded to the deficit which had occurred in the public accounts
for 1865, spoke of the necessity for retrenchment, pointed out that
he had reduced the ‘“establishments” by $30,000, intimated that
owing to the hostility to the Gold Export Duty of last session he
would propose its repeal and, dealing with sources of revenue, sug-
gested the propriety of increasing trade and liquor licenses.*

Early in the session, correspondence in connection with the Royal
Engineers was laid before the Council. While that corps was
stationed in the colony an advance of £10,704 16s. 7d. had been made
by the Imperial Government on account of the buildings erected by

them. The claim for repayment had remained in abeyance and was
alegacy from Governor Douglas’s time.

In 1864 the Council had
requested to be relieved from this obligation, as the buildings were

? Ordinances, 1865, No. 24.
' British Columbian, Nov. 11, 15, 1865.

4 British Columbian, Jan. 20, 1866.
Vol T—18
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of no use to the colony. Even this could not be granted. In October,
1865, the Right Hon. Edward Cardwell wrote that the Board of
Treasury “cannot consent to a further postponement of the repay-
ment of the sum of £10,704 16s. 7d.—for the cost of buildings erected
by the Royal Engineers and the Paymaster-General has accordingly
been authorized to receive that amount.” ** The Home Authorities
were asking for their pound of flesh; and they got it.

The Gold Export Duty, from which so much had been hoped
when it was introduced in 1865, had proved a signal disappointment.
Its advocates had prophesied that it would produce £20,000 or
£30,000 and would be collected without difficulty or objection.
However, perhaps owing to the relatively high rate of the tax, per-
haps to the decrease in gold production, perhaps to the difficulties
of collection, or all combined, it yielded but £10,428 14s. 24. and
this not without fierce opposition,

The administration of the Hon,
August, 1865, till November, 1866.
cast upon him, some anxiety was felt as to the result. His youth and
inexperience, for he was scarcely thirty years of age, it was feared,
would prove unequal to the heavy task which falls upon a colonial
governor. And especially at a time when, with a depleted treasury,
scarce able to meet the ordinary demands upon it, there came from
the one hand the order for retrenchment and from the other the
demand for the immediate construction of roads and trails to connect
the new mines with the coast. Yet in this situation, perplexing
enough to more experienced statesmen, he steered a course which
In legislative matters he was equally

Mr. Birch continued from
When this responsibility was

met with general approval.
successful and when the majority of the Council attempted to impose

a heavy import tax, which would have crippled the young commerce
of the colony, he boldly vetoed the measure, though it had passed
the House by eight votes to four. His diplomatic abilities were
shown in his dealings with the miners both in Cariboo and Kootenay,
but more especially in arranging a very delicate matter with the
Indian tribes, whereby a valuable tract of land, having a frontage
of forty miles on the Thompson River, granted by Sir James Douglas
and tenaciously held by the Indians, was, with the exception of a
small section, surrendered and opened to settlement,

5 Secretary of State to Hon. A, N. Birch, Oct. 31, 1865, in British Columbian, Feb. 1o, 1866
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On Governor Seymour’s return in November, 1866, Mr. Birch,
who had merely been absent on leave, departed from the colony to
resume his duties in the Colonial Office, leaving amongst the
colonists a settled conviction of his abilities as an honest, an energetic,
and a capable administrator.®

THE OVERLAND TELEGRAPH SCHEME

The legislation of 1866 consisted in the enactment of laws relat-
ing to trustees, joint stock companies, the sale of real estate of
intestates, Crown lands, the jurisdiction and procedure in the county
courts, and other similar matters, not involving any questions really
entering into the history of the colony. For the first time the esti-
mates are given in dollars and cents. The Collins Overland Tele-
graph, which had, in the preceding session, been incorporated as
the Western Union Telegraph Extension Company, and been author-
ized to proceed with its undertaking, had its name changed to the
Western Union Telegraph Company.*

This venture, which has frequently been referred to, will now
be sketched, together with another telegraph scheme—the Atlantic
& Pacific Transit and Telegraph Company. The necessities of
commerce called for telegraphic communication between America
and Europe. With that great undertaking the name of Cyrus W.
Field will always be connected. He was not the first to think of
laying a cable on the bed of the Atlantic, but he was the first to make

up his mind that it could be done and to show the world how to do
it and to do it

The history of human invention has not a more
inspiriting example of patience living down discouragement and
perseverance triumphing over defeat. The attempt of 1857 ended in
failure before three hundred miles had been laid; in 1858, the first
cffort was abandoned; later in that year the cable was actually laid
and a few messages had been transmitted when silence came upon
the eloquent wire. A further attempt was made in 1865, but again
failure was its lot. At last, in 1866, success crowned the efforts and
the Atlantic cable became a reality of life. While this struggle was
going on, many persons believed the undertaking impracticable.
“Before the ships left this country with the cable,” wrote Robert

3 British Columbian, Nov. 17, 1866; Victoria Morning News, June, 1868,
37 Ordinances, 1866, No. 3.
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Stephenson, in 1857, “I very publicly predicted, as soon as they got
into deep water, a signal failure. It was in fact inevitable.”

After the failure of the 1858 cable, the plan of building a line of
overland telegraph through British Columbia and Russian America,
connecting by a short cable across Behring straits with a line through
Siberia, was examined and gained favour as a practical solution of
the question. Telegraphic engineers of the day had, like Stephen-
son, no faith in the successful operation of an Atlantic cable.

As already mentioned, Governor Douglas had, in 1864, recom-
mended to the first Legislative Council the proposals of the Atlantic
& Pacific Transit and Telegraph Company, whose plan was the
building of a telegraph line connecting British Columbia with
Canada.” The scheme was never carried out, but, as the circum-
stances are of interest, the main outlines will be given. The prime
mover was Sir Edward W. Watkin, a person closely in touch with
the Hudson's Bay Company and the Colonial Office. " He had become
obsessed with plans for the colonization of the North West Terri-
tories, In that connection he evolved this Atlantic and Pacific
Telegraph scheme. Though wealthy bankers of ~ondon were behind
the undertaking, bonuses were wanted from the Imperial, the Cana-
dian, the British Columbian, and the Vancouver Island governments.
The company was to extend or obtain the extension of the telegraph
line from Sault Ste. Marie by Lake Superior to Fort Garry and
thence, by way of Jasper House, to Fort Langley. In this con-
nection the matter was put with a shocking, though perhaps com-
mendable, plainness by Sir E. W. Watkin. “The extension of
telegraphic communication to Fort William on the one side and to

Fort Langley on the other would depend upon the subsidics to be
obtained from Canada and from British Columbia and Vancouver
Island.” [The aid to be granted by the Imperial authorities, being
only land, was apparently not regarded as a subsidy.] “I have the
assurance of the present leader of the Canadian Government, that
the offer to give a subsidy, made last year, will be officially renewed,
and I shall endeavor to get this promise put in writing and send it to
you home. British Columbia, I assume, would do what the Colonial
Office requested, but, in any case, we ought not to commit ourselves
to a through communication through Canada and British Columbia

58 Ante, p. 170.
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without a clear understanding as to the subsidies. At the same time,
if you, the Hudson's Bay Company, have command of one thousand
miles of telegraph, enabling you to transmit information through
your own channels with a new expedition, you will practically have
command of the future discussion of this large question.” **

That all parties thought that any request of the Colonial Office
would meet a ready acceptance is shown by a letter from the Duke
of Newcastle to Sir E. W. Watkin in March, 1863, in which the fol-
lowing paragraph occurs: ‘“As Canada has offered to bear one half
of the proposed guarantee, the Duke of Newcastle is prepared to
recommend, and His Grace has no doubt of ready acquiescence, that
British Columbia and Vancouver Island shall pay the sum of
£10,000 per annum, as their share of £20,000 (being at the rate of

£4 per cent on a capital of £500,000) to commence when the line is
in working order.” *

And again in a subsequent letter of May 1,
1863:

“The Duke of Newecastle, on the part of British Columbia
and Vancouver Island, sees no objection to the maximum rate of
guarantee proposed by the company provided that the liability of
the colonies is clearly limited to £12,500 per annum.” *!

On November 25, 1863, the House of Assembly of Vancouver Island
resolved that whilst regarding the project with warm interest they
would nevertheless forbear to take any active measures in furtherance
of it until the intentions of the Canadian Government were made
public.**

The Legislative Council of 1864, however, were not so tractable
as the Secretary of State for the Colonies had thought, and refused,
so far as British Columbia was concerned, to give the guarantee.
They had before them at that very session the application of the
California State Telegraph Company which asked no bonus or aid
of any kind, but merely the privilege of building through British
Columbia as a part of the large project of linking the telegraph

systems of two continents.'* Naturally the Council favoured this

proposal and passed the ordinance granting the request. The Home

Authorities, doubtless at the suggestion of the Atlantic and Pacific

¥ Canada and the States, pp. 186, 187.
40 Op. cit,, p. 114,

41 Op. cit., p. 116,

42 Telegraph Papers, June 17, 1864, p. 12.
43 Ordinances, 1864, No. 9.
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people, refused assent to the measure, and it was shelved fur the time.
Dr. W. F. Rae, who had charge of the surveys for the Atlantic and
Pacific scheme, arrived in British Columbia in September, 1864, and
investigated the feasibility of constructing that line by way of the
Yellowhead Pass, but nothing ever came of it.

Though the ordinance of 1864 had been disallowed, Mr. Perry
McDonough Collins, who was the moving spirit in the undertaking,
was not disheartened. He placed the proposition before the Legis-
lative Council of 1865 and obtained the right to construct the line
through the colony of British Columbia, to connect with the lines in
the United States, Russian America,and Siberia, The work in British
Columbia was to be commenced before January 1, 1867, and com-
pleted by January 1, 1870. The franchise was to expire January 1,
1903. The existing Siberian telegraph line ended at the mouth of the
Amoor, whence it extended to St. Petersburg.

The scheme was an ambitious one and the organization in keep-
ing therewith. The principal officers for the first season (1865)

Colonel Buckley, Engineer-in-chief (on leave of absence

were:
S.

U. S. regular army); Captain Scammon, chief of marine (U.
Revenue Service) ; Major Wright, adjutant; Major Chappel, chief
quartermaster; Mr, Lewis, assistant enginecr; Doctor Fisher,
surgeon-in-chief; Major Kennicott (in charge of Yukon party);
Lieutenant MacCrea (in charge of Anadyr party); Major Abasa
(in charge of Siberian party); Major Pope (in charge of British
Columbian party) ; Captain Conway (in charge of building party) ;
E. K. Laborne, interpreter; Frederick Whymper, artist.**

During 1865 and 1866 the immense distance which lies between
the southern boundary of British Columbia and the mouth of the
Amoor was the scene of operations on a very much extended scale.
Not less than five hundred skilled men, besides bands of Cossacks
in Eastern Siberia, Chinamen in British Columbia, and Indians
everywhere, were engaged in building telegraph, exploring the
route or transporting goods and material. Seven sea-going vessels,
besides smaller craft, were employed in these widely-spread opera-
tions; the steamer George S. Wright was refitted, a clipper, the
Nightingale purchased; one large and two small river steamers, in-
cluding the Mumford, which operated on the Skeena River, were

4 Whymper's Travels in Alaska, p. 70.
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built specially for the company's service. There were five barques
—several of them excellent vessels. But it only falls within our duty
to sketch the company's operations in British Columbia.*®

Even before the ordinance of 1865 was passed, two vessels loaded
with wire, implements, and supplies had sailed from New York,
bound for New Westminster and Sitka respectively. The Milton
Badger arrived at New Westminster in June, 1865. By that time

the telegraph wire had been strung connecting New Westminster
with the outside world. The first news that wire carried was on

April 18, 1865—the sad news of the assassination of Abraham
Lincoln.*  From New Westminster the route had been selected as
far as Quesnel mouth. On the arrival of these supplies construction
went on at the rate of about six miles a day, being carried on simul-
taneously from New Westminster and from Yale. Early in August
the wire was working to a point 101 miles from Yale. The first mes-
sageover the line from Hope to New Westminster was typical. It was
addressed to Mr. Grelley, the proprietor of the Colonial Hotel at
New Westminster, and read: “Send a bottle of champagne to the
Telegraph office to Mr, Conway with compliments of Landvoigt.”

By August 26th, the wire had been carried as far as Deep Creek, and
three days later it reached Soda Creek. From this place the route
followed the east bank of the Fraser to Quesnelle mouth, where it
crossed the river and turned northwesterly to Fort Fraser, thence by
Endako River, Burns Lake, and Buckley River to the Skeena
River, near Hazelton. The exploring party, under Major Pope,
spent the winter of 1865 at Buckley House, their headquarters, at
the northern end of Tacla Lake.

During the season of 1866 the work of construction went briskly
on. One hundred and fifty pack animals were employed in bringing
into the region between Quesnel and the Skeena River, the miles of
wire and tons of material and provisions required. These supplies
were taken by boat from Quesnel up the Fraser, Blackwater,
Nechaco, and Stuart Rivers to convenient spots, whence the pack
trains carried them to the scene of operations, but even with this
decrease in the land carriage the materials could not be supplied as
fast as required.'” By the end of June Fort Fraser was reached.

15 Whymper's Travels in Alaska, p. 106.
0 British Columbian, June 17, 1865,
T British Columbian, June 23, 1866.
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From Quesnel four hundred miles of wire were stretched, and four
hundred and fifty miles of trail cut through a heavily wooded
country, where, also, for protection against interruptions in its
operation, the trees were felled for twenty or thirty feet on each side
of the line. When the season of 1866 closed, the telegraph existed
from the southern boundary of British Columbia to a point twenty-
five miles beyond Fort Stager, a supply depot at the confluence of
the Kispyox and Skeena rivers. The party which had done this work
numbered less than one hundred.*®
Though the news of the successful laying of the Atlantic cable
reached this party in August, 1866, the work was continued for a
short time. A block house was built at the end of the line and filled
with utensils and materials—wire, brackets, and insulators—await-
ing the possibility of the cable’s again proving a failure. The line
was only operated as far as Fort Stager. There an immense amount
of material for use between the Skeena and the' Stikine rivers was
stored. Mr. John McCutcheon, one of the operators, and Mr.
William McNeill, a son of Captain McNeill, of the Beaver, were
in charge at this solitary outpost of civilization.

The first triumphant flash at Trinity Bay was the deathblow to

the overland venture four thousand miles away. “Europe spoke to

America beneath the ocean, and the voice which men had sought
to waft through the vast forests of the wild north land and over
the tundras of Siberia died away in utter desolation.” ** No further
work was ever done in British Columbia, and in 1868, under instruc-
tions from the company, Mr, McCutcheon abandoned Fort Stager,
bringing with him about thirteen large canoes, loaded with provisions
and clothing; but the tons of wire and piles of other material
remained on the ground and were the great source of supply for the
domestic requirements of the Indians for manufacturing nails, fish
spears, traps, and toboggans, and even for the construction of rude
suspension bridges across the streams of that distant section of the
colony, perhaps the best known of which is the bridge at Hagwelget.
The work of exploration and building, however, continued on

the Asiatic and Alaskan coasts until July, 1867, when these partics
heard the great news. Then fifteen thousand telegraph poles were
left to make camp fires for the wandering Tuski. The disappoint-

48 British Columbian, Oct. 27, 1866,
49 Butler, The Wild North Land, p. 33s.
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ment of the men who had endured for ye
life was keen indeed.

201

's the hardships of Arctic
“1 can sympathize,” says Whymper, “with
the feeling that prompted some of them at Unalachleet, Norton
Sound, on hearing of the withdrawal of our forces, to hang black
cloth on the telegraph poles and put them in mourning.”

The immense sum of $3,000,000 had been sunk by the Western
Union Telegraph Company in this undertaking.”® The Asiatic and
Alaskan lines went to immediate ruin; and no wonder, for Dall tells

us that the portion built on Norton Sound was so poorly done “that,
in the fall of 1867, not a single pole stood erect and perpendicular,” *
The line from Quesnel to Fort Stager soon met the same fate; but
the remainder was operated for many years, forming the origin of
the present system in the Northern Interior of British Columbia.

In leaving this subject, the telegraph rates of the day may be
mentioned. These would now be regarded as prohibitive. In April,
1866, the company advertised that they had reduced the charges for
transmission of ten-word messages, and that thereafter the rates

would be: from New Westminster to Quesnel and Soda Creek,
$5.00; to Clinton, $3.00; to Cook’s Ferry, $2.50; to Yale, $1.50; to
Hope, $1.00; to Matsqui, 5o cents.”

In 1873, Capt. W. F. Butler, in his journey across the wild north
land, came across the remains of the telegraph line in upper British
Columbia. After crossing the Nechaco and continuing south for a
few miles “we reached,” he says, “a broadly cut trail which bore
curious traces of a past civilization. Old telegraph poles stood at
intervals along the forest-cleared opening, and rusted wire hung in
loose festoons down from their tops or lay tangled amid the growing
brushwood of the cleared space. A telegraph in the wilderness!
What did it mean? When civilization once grasps the wild, lone
spaces of the earth it seldom releases its hold; yet here civilization
had once advanced her footsteps and apparently shrunk back again
frightened at her boldness. It was even soj this trail with its ruined
wire told of the wreck of a great enterprise. * * So the great
enterprise was abandoned, and today from the lonely shores of Lake

Babine to the end of the Fraser at Quesnel, the ruined wire hangs
loosely through the forest.” *

5 Whymper's Travels in Alaska, p. 241.
51 1d,, p. 68.

52 Dall’s Alaska, p. 359.

3 British Columbian, April 7, 1866.

84 Butler, The Wild North Land, pp. 333-5.
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CHAPTER XII
GOVERNOR KENNEDY AND HIS TROUBLES

Reference has already been made to the requirement by the Duke
of Newecastle that Vancouver Island, as a condition of obtaining a
separate Governor, should pass a permanent act securing to the
principal colonial officials salaries at specified rates.”

Never doubting but that his wish was law, and that the Legisla-
ture would immediately obey his behest, the Duke selected Arthur
Edward Kennedy for the position of Governor of Vancouver Island.
In the interval, the Hease of Assembly took up the consideration of
this permanent Civil List, amounting in all to £5,800." His Grace
had intimated that, on its acceptance, the Crown lands of the colony

-which were about to be reconveyed by the Hudson's Bay Com-
pany to the Imperial Government, on the claims of the former being
liquidated—would be forthwith placed at the disposal of its Legis-

lature. But the salaries suggested met with the almost unanimous
opposition of the Assembly. A lengthy resolution was passed in
February, 1864, in which the House, after reciting the request, went
on to state that the annual revenue was only about £35,000 and the
population seven thousand, five hundred, that the ordinary expenses
of Government were £27,000 per annum, thus leaving but a small
sum for internal improvements, that the sale of Crown lands in 1863
had only amounted to £4,500 and would, probably, be no greater in
the future, owing, amongst other causes, to the reduction in price
from £1 to 4s. an acre, and concluded by declaring “that neither the
condition of the general revenue, nor the income derived from Crown
revenues, would justify the acceptation of the proposition of Her
Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State for the Colonies.” " Another

resolution modestly. requested an Imperial grant for the purpose of

55 Ante, p. 166,
56 Ante, p. 167.

57 Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, pp. 320, 321,
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“erecting a residence becoming the dignity of Her Majesty's repre-
sentative,” for no Government House then existed. Sir James
Douglas had had no official residence.™

This was the situation of affairs when Governor Kennedy and
his family arrived in Esquimalt on the Brother Jonathan on Good
Friday (March 25), 1864. He, at once, embarked on H. M. S.
Grappler for Victoria. There a grand reception was held. The
most unbounded joy prevailed, for now the last link of connection
with the sway, directly or indirecdy, of the Hudson’s Bay Company
was broken, and he was received with an enthusiasm seldom extended

to a new and untried Governor. Handsome in appearance, gray,
decidedly military in his bearing, very suave, amiable, and clever,
he was a striking figure and a man of character as well. He was,

moreover, a fluent and graceful speaker, yet firm and with decided
One of his frequent expressions indicates his mental

)
" 60

convictions.™
cast: “It is better to be decidedly wrong than undecidedly right.

At that time there existed in Victoria a considerable negro element. e
These people being dissatisfied with some California legislation had, h
to the number of eight hundred, emigrated to Victoria in 1858. '
Their reception did not accord with their anticipations. Being de- di
barred from most public services, they had formed a volunteer corps di
On the arrival of the new Governor this body presented an address. th
He took occasion to state that he knew no class, or sect, or colour, thy
and no difference between men except as between loyal and disloyal, In
honest and dishonest men, and that in the first colony to which Her the
Majesty had appointed him he had had a colored Chief Justice and det
other public officers under him and, in addition, he had sat under offi
a colored clergyman for some years with considerable edification.
Here was, already, the little rift within the lute.”! Was
To circumvent the action of the Assembly, the Duke of New- iten
castle instructed Governor Kennedy to issue warrants for his own liqu
and the Colonial Secretary’s salary at £3,000 and £600 respectively, $9,0
payable out of any funds which might be under the direct disposal ing ¢
of the Crown as Crown lands, fines, forfeitures, and fees of office \u
The remainder of the officials His Grace committed to the tender o,
— o
58 British Columbian, Feb. 10, 1864. u,l
o
GI’

59 Gosnell History, p. 260,

% Walbran's Place Names, p. 282.
01 Fawcett's Reminiscences, p. 215; British Columbian, April 6, 1869.
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mercies of the This action widened the rift, for the
Assembly had declared that the colony could not afford to pay such
salaries. No provision had been made for the expenses of the passage
or salary of the Governor’s private secretary, nor for an official

residence for the Governor, and he was obliged to take up his abode
in a hotel."®

During the summer of 1864 gold was discovered at Sooke, and
later at Leech River, by an exploring party organized at the sugges-
tion of Governor Kennedy. The news created the usual cxcitement,
not only on Vancouver Island, but also in California.**

In August
the Sierra Nevada arrived with about a hundred Californian miners

bound for the Sooke region. These diggings yielded well for « short
time and gave promise of continuity. The miners were confident
that rich and easily accessible ground had been struck. Many claims
were paving, in 1864, from $10 to $20 to the man." The reflex

action on the community was a temporary stimulation. The Gov-

ernor called the House of Assembly together hurriedly, evidently
hoping that the better commercial feeling would settle the Civil
List question, for Crown lands were now coming, again, into
demand.”® In this he was disappointed. When the subject was
discussed in November, the offer of the Colonial office to transfer
the Crown lands to the colony on condition that the House assumed
the payment of salaries on the scale mentioned was again refused.”
In December the Legislative Assembly discussed the constitution of
the Upper House—the Legislative Council; the general tone of the

debate showed a strong feeling against the presence of Government
officials in that body.*

In January, 1865, the estimates were brought in. The revenue
was estimated at $212,000, of which the following were the principal
items: Real estate tax, $110,000; port and harbor dues, $17,000;
liquor licenses, $20,800; trading licenses, $34,000; fines of court, etc.,
$9,000. The estimated expenditure was $313,558, under the follow-
ing chief heads: Surveyor-General's department, $32,000; judicial,

92 Union Papers, pt. 1, p. 5.

03 British Columbian, April 13, 16, 1864,

64 Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, pp. 156-62.
65 Macfie, Vancouver Island and British Columbia, pp. 160, 161
o8 British Columbian, Aug. 24, 27, 1864.

o7 Id., Nov. 23, 1864.

o8 Id,, Dec. 7, 1864.
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$27,000; police, $20,000; education, $10,000; hospitals, $6,500;
conveyance of mails, $33,000; works and buildings, $12,500; roads,
streets, and bridges, $73,500; miscellaneous services, $18,000; inter-
est, $109,400; reimbursements, $49,000; immigration, $10,000. It
will be noticed that the revenue included nothing under the heading
of Crown lands sales and the expenditure nothing under that of
Governor's or Colonial Secretary’s salary. When these figures came
before the Legislature, a reduction of $10,000 in salaries was made,
yet, singularly enough, in view of the financial condition and the
deficit of over $100,000 on the face of the estimates, an item of
$50,000 for a Governor's residence was added.” Already there
was talk of sending a delegate to England to urge the recall of Gov-
ernor Kennedy and union with British Columbia.

After a vear's delay the Governor solved the residence question.
He purchased, in April, 1865, “Cary Castle,” the pretentious dwell-
ing erected by George Hunter Cary, ex-Attorney-General of Van-
couver Island and British Columbia. The price was $19,000, but
the building was in such a ruinous condition that the repairs neces-
sary brought its total cost to about $40,000.*" This purchase excited
considerable dissatisfaction; the people desired the Governor to
build, not to buy. In fact, things had even now reached such a stage
that the Governor could do nothing which was right in their eyes.

Again, on April 27, 1865, Dr. Trimble brought the vexed Civil
List and Crown Lands question before the House in a long series of
resolutions, but after much discussion an adjournment was taken
without coming to a vote. In June the colony broke away from its
traditional free port policy, levying upon every head of cattle $4.00;
of calves, 5o cents; of horses, $5.00; colts, $1.00; of sheep and lambs,
$1.00; of pigs, $1.50, and so on.™

About this time gold was discovered on Bear River, Clayoquot
Sound, and in August, 1865, nearly two hundred miners sailed on
the Otter for that place. Governor Kennedy used every influence
to foster exploration of the island and exploitation of its supposed
gold-fields. The expedition to Bear River returned precipitately,
without testing the ground, without even being aware of its exact

9 British Columbian, Jan. 21, 1865; Feb. 11, 1865; April 11, 1865,
70 Confederation Papers, p. 24.
1 British Columbian, April 29, 1865; June 27, 186s.
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locality, but, nevertheless, loud in condemnation of the Governor,
in which some of the papers joined.

Leech River continued to
attract attention; one miner was reported to have taken out $1,500

in two months; another claim was credited with yielding thirty-six
ounces a week to six hands.™
In November, 1865, the Legislative Assembly resumed its
labours. A petty squabble, which nevertheless casts light on the
existing conditions, occurred during this session. While a bill for
abolishing imprisonment for debt was being considered—an im-
portant measure in view of the increasing number of bankruptcies—
Mr. Deans called attention to what he styled a flagrant breach of
privilege in that Doctor Ash, another member, had sent to him,
through the clerk, a notice demanding payment of an account and
stating that unless the money were immediately paid he would bring
the former’s bankrupt condition to the attention of the House. The
matter waxed warm, the discussion degenerated into personal abuse
and mutual recrimination, ending in a disgraceful altercation.
Finally a committee was appointed to investigate and Mr, Deans
was afterwards unseated on petition as being bankrupt.™®
The estimates, submitted by the Governor, for 1866, showed an
expected revenue of $206,376 and an expenditure of $246,360. Of
the latter, $113,000—about three-fifths of the whole and more than
one-half of the income—was absorbed by official salaries, $52,465 for
overdraft at the Bank of British North America, $17,200 for con-
veyance of mails, and only $8,300 for public works. The feeling
between the people and the Governor is indicated by the advice given
by the Chronicle: to refuse the supply item by item and let the public
service take care of itself, until the people should obtain the power
to deal with the whole matter. A pretty condition of things, surely!
When the House set itself to work to cut, carve, and hew to pieces
the proposed estimates, rumors became current that the Governor
would meet the situation by a dissolution. A public meeting, called
by the Mavyor to sustain the House in its measures of retrenchment,

resolved that the right to originate money bills was in it and not
in the Governor.™

2 British Columbian, Aug. 17, 24, 29, 186s.
8 1d., Dec. 13, 1865,

T1d., Jan. 3, 1866; Jan. 22, 1866; Feb. 3, 1866.
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1 f Other matters besides the war-to-the-knife struggle with the Gov-
) ernor occupied the time of the Assembly. The discussion upon the
! bill authorizing the Government to redeem certain real estate sold for
| : . : -

i taxes during the preceding year gave rise to an extraordinary scene.

l ’ ! It appears that a majority were in favour of the measure, and to
,’I‘ expedite its passage the rules were suspended. But it was defeated
" by Mr. Leonard McClure, who spoke against time, commencing at 3

! o'clock on the afternoon of April 23rd and speaking continuously

i till 9 o'clock on the morning of the 24th. He read articles and
’vi‘ referred to all sorts of matters not germane to the question, claiming
/ that the rules having been suspended, there was no procedure gov-
i erning the House. In spite of cat-calls, howls, and interruptions he
!' held the floor for those eighteen hours, without rest, or intermission,
| or relief of any kind. This is probably one of the greatest achieve-

The twelve months during which the
property was redeemable expired before Mr. McClure'’s speech, and

I e

! ments of its kind on record.

| o ;
I'he Chron-

| he thus succeeded in defeating an ill-advised measure,
“ icle closed its report of the incident as follows: “The House was
! still in session at 2:30 o'clock, and Mr. McClure was on his ‘pins’
/‘3 ‘ with a resolution in one hand and a glass of port in the other.” ™ It
i is said that this oratorical effort weakened his constitution and
f | d brought him to an untimely grave.™
During May and June, 1866, owing to two seats being vacant
‘ » (Salt Spring and Esquimalt town), no quorum could be obtained
! for the greater part of the time, and the business of the House was
practically at a standstill.
A deadlock now occurred between the Governor and the House

e ——

It commenced with a demand by the latter for a return of the expen
diture of the moneys derived from sales of Crown lands in 1864-5
This the Governor refused, inasmuch as the Legislature, not having
acceded to the Duke of Newcastle’s Civil List, had no rights in the
matter, as those lands were therefore not transferred to the colony :
The House then met in secret session to consider Doctor Tolmic's § |
motion upon the state of the colony. The result of their deliberations § ,
was that union, immediate union, with British Columbia, was the 2

8 British Columbian, April 25, 1866,
76 Higgins's The Passing of a Race, p. 53, et seq.
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panacea, that $2,000 per annum was the utmost salary that the colony
could afford to pay a Governor, and that these resolutions should be
telegraphed forthwith to the Secretary of State for the Colonies.
The Governor declined to follow this unusual course, without, at
least, first submitting them to the Legislative Council. The House
then angrily resolved that the Speaker forward them by telegraph.
Hard upon this difficulty came a resolution proposed by Doctor
Dickson praying for the removal of Governor Kennedy. After
some discussion, it was withdrawn upon the understanding that it
would be re-presented later in the session.™

In order to carry on the Government, the Governor had, during
1865-6, borrowed, without authority, some $80,000, at twelve per
cent, from the Bank of British North America. This was simply
the result of the estimates of 1865 showing a deficit on their face.
Of this amount, about $20,000 had been utilized to pay interest, at
six per cent, due upon a preceding loan, over $40,000 had been
devoted to the purchase and repair of Cary Castle, and the remain-
der had been applied to liquidate, under resolution of the House
itself, some pressing indebtedness of the city of Victoria.”™ On May
21st the Assembly called for a return covering these loans and show-
ing by what authority the Governor had negotiated them. The
bank took alarm and refused further advances, evidently fearing
that in its hostile mood it might repudiate his action, This brought
on an intolerable condition. Though the House had been in session
since the preceding November, so much time had been wasted in
useless discussions that the bank’s action found it unprepared, and
precipitated a crisis. The estimates had been before it for more than
five months, but no Supply Bill had been passed, nor ways and
means provided for the necessary current expenditure and liabilities.
Payment stopped at the Treasury; the public creditors clamoured
for their money, for in the financial stringency of the time they had
confidently relied upon that source; the Government officials were
unpaid for two months—all because of the ill-feeling which had
arisen.  Every one soon saw that the Governor's action must be
approved; a bill was introduced and carried through as quickly

T British Columbian, June 20, 23, 1866,
™8 Union Papers, pt. 3, p. 7.
Vol 114
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as possible, authorizing a loan of $90,000 at twelve per cent to liqui-
date the debt due the bank and to aid the revenue.

Towards the end of July, Mr., Leonard MicClure, one of the
members for Victoria City, after observing that “The Governor
has lately given a proof of his contempt for the House by refusing
to allow a salaried officer to appear before a committee to give evi-
dence, and, instead of following out the well-understood wishes of
the people, he has taken up a hostile position against the popular
branch of the Legislature, and, after exercising the greatest for-
bearance, it now becomes a duty the House owes to its constituents
to express its utter want of confidence in the Governor,” moved a
lengthy resolution. Its concluding clauses were:

“The House is reluctantly compelled, after much patience and
forbearance, to declare that His Excellency, Governor Kennedy, is
acting in a hostile manner to the best interests of the country.

“T’hat he has declined and does persistently decline to impart
to the Assembly necessary information on matters connected with
the public departments and with the expenditure of the public
money.

“That he obstructs the efforts of the Assembly to reduce the
expenses of Government, which are far beyond the capacity of the
inhabitants to bear.

“That he refuses to permit public officers to appear before a
Select Committee of the Assembly to give evidence as to the work-
ing and management of their departments.

“That he endeavors by unjustifiable statements to place the
Assembly in a false and undignified position before Her Majesty’s
Government,

“That His Excellency’s management of the Crown lands has
been most injurious to the immigrant and aboriginal population of
the colony.

“In view of these facts the House cannot, in justice to itself, to
the colony, and to Imperial interests, refrain from expressing its
utter want of confidence in His Excellency, Governor Kennedy,
and his official advisers, and the absolute necessity there is for their
removal, believing that so long as the present administration lasts
the colony will continue to suffer by the gradual exodus of its popu-
lation, and Imperial interests will continue to be affected in an
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i injurious manner by the prejudice which the present Government
has created against British institutions in the North Pacific.” ™
e On July 25th this resolution was adopted and held as a sort of
or Damocles’s sword above the Governor’s head, in the expectation
ng that a proposition then being brought forward for the formation of
Fy a “Ministerial Council” would be adopted, and upon his concur-
of rence or non-concurrence therewith, would depend the fall, or other-
lar wise, of this deadly political weapon. The existing Upper House,
ot composed of five officials and three popular members, was regarded
:nts as merely an obstruction, aiding the Governor in thwarting the will
da of the Assembly, and was charged with acting in direct antagonism,
throwing out, session after session, measures which the public inter-
and est demanded. The resolution for creating a responsible or, as it
y, is was called, Ministerial Council, was, very strangely, defeated, and
on August 7th, it was resolved nevertheless to send forward the
ipart want of confidence resolution.®* Perhaps the news of the introduc-
with tion into the Imperial House of Commons on June 11, 1866, of the
ublic bill for the union of the two colonies may have had some bearing
on this, otherwise, surprising result. In transmitting the resolution,
e the the Governor, referring to the above quoted clauses only said: “The :
»f the Assembly, judged by its proceedings alone, cannot appear in a dig- i
nified light.” | '
fore 4 The House now took up the estimates, in which very great alter- '
wotks ations and reductions were made. Clerical assistance to the Gov- ' !
ernor, the Attorney-General, and the Treasurer was refused; the
ce the Colonial Secretary’s staff was reduced to one clerk. It refused to !
ajesty’s allow the Attorney-General anything but his salary, though the ‘
Duke of Newcastle had laid it down that he should also be entitled {1
\ds has to practice. No provision was made for the salaries of the Regis- i |
tion of trar-General, or the Assessor, or for janitors for various offices, or 1 l
for charitable allowances, or for contingent expenses in the admin- il
tself, 10 iS_lratinn of justice, or for police service in Nanaimo and Esquimalt. | i
sing its The Governor took umbrage at this, He pointed out that the i}
 ennedy, reduction of the Colonial Secretary’s assistance to one clerk, who H
for their [ Vas also Clerk of the Legislative Council, would mean the closing :‘
jon lasts of this office for the greater part of the year, as the Legislature used ‘ t!
its popw ™ Union Papers, pt. 3, p. 24. ' i
ed in an ** Union Papers, pt. 3, p. 17.

"1d, p. 20.




=

i

s

212 BRITISH COLUMBIA

then to sit for seven or eight months; that the proposed reduction
of the Treasurer's salary by forty per cent was a breach of faith;
and that the refusal of a clerk to him would necessitate a similar
closing of his office. The House answered brusquely that this could
be overcome by the Legislative Council meeting after office hours,
or alternatively the officials could attend to their official duties and
leave the Legislative duties to the unofficial members. When the
Governor intimated that, without a private secretary, communica-
tions with the Assembly would cease unless by personal interview
with the Speaker, the House replied that it would not allow the
Speaker to be made the medium of communication, and insisted on
written answers. Referring to the abolition of the janitors the Gov-
ernor suggested that the result would be that the Colonial Secretary,
the Treasurer, and the Surveyor-General must perform such serv-
ices for themselves; to which came the response that if they did not
wish to do so they could occupy the general Government office instead
of separate premises. The House wished the public accounts audited
by its clerk ; the Governor refused and ordered that the acting Colo-
nial Secretary should perform this duty. The Governor complained
that the $250 allowed for stationery had been already expended;
the House regretted that this “liberal sum” had been so soon
exhausted, but promised a further grant, hoping that the “strictest
economy” would be exercised in its use. When the Governor com-
plained of the refusal to provide police for Esquimalt and Nanaimo
the House said that the services of such persons were but seldom
required, and on those rare occasions the Executive could detach
some other police officer for the duty. So the game of “snub” went
on, in which the actions of neither appear in an enviable light. Each
side stubbornly stood its ground.* It would be tiresome to enter
into all the matters—trivial and otherwise—of dispute in this con-
nection, but the foregoing will show that in the mood of the parties
nothing was too great or too small to furnish a subject of difference
and an occasion of recrimination, In the result the amended supply
voted by the House was accepted by the Legislative Council as a
whole, but the schedule showing how the sums were to be used was
struck out, thus reserving to the Executive the apportionment of the
vote to such services as it deemed proper.®

%2 Union Papers, pt. 3, p. 17, et seq.
83 British Columbian, Sept. 1, 1866.
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How far this unpleasantness, this undignified wrangle, would
have continued, or what its end might have been, is impossible to
determine. Fortunately for the colony, and perhaps for all con-
cerned, the decision of the Home Government to unite the two
colonies becoming known just when the situation had reached this
tense condition, the dispute was by mutual consent allowed to die
The terms of the Union Act, whereby the form of Government pro-
posed for the united colonies was to be that prevailing in British
Columbia, now engrossed the attention of the people of Vancouver
Island, not only in the Legislative Assembly, but in the press and
in the public meetings. A further question which rose above the
political horizon as a consequence of the proposed union was the
location of the capital. Behind these two subjects the dispute with
Governor Kennedy was lost to view.

This leads to a consideration of the agitation for union, the cir-

cumstances of the colonies and the divergent opinions upon the
matter.







CHAPTER XI11

THE UNION OF BRITISH COLUMBIA AND VANCOUVER ISLAND
1866

When, owing to the pressure brought to bear upon the Duke of
Newcastle, he had in the fall of 1863 consented to a complete sepa-
ration of the two colonies, he had, as he stated in his Despatch,
only yielded in deference to the strong local feeling, while he, him-
self, entertained the settled conviction that the well-being of the
colonies and the larger interests of the nation alike required com-
plete union.®

The separate Governors had no sooner taken office than the
question of union was placed before them by the Secretary of State.
Writing to Governor Kennedy on April 30, 1864, the Right Hon.
Edward Cardwell said: “Besides the Civil List, Sir James Doug-
las’s Despatch raises a still larger and more important question,
namely, the union of both colonies under one Governor, though with

some distinct administrative department. On this subject T am

desirous of having the benefit of your views as soon as you shall have
acquired on the spot sufficient knowledge and experience to enable
you to form your opinion, and to supply reliable information for
the assistance and guidance of Her Majesty’'s Government in con-
sidering the question. T shall, in like manner, ask Governor Sey-
mour, to whom T shall communicate a copy of this Despatch, to
furnish his views on the same matter, and I need scarcely say that
it will not only be unobjectionable but highly desirable, that you and
he should consult freely on the subject, although it will be the most
convenient course that, ultimately, each should report to me independ-
ently, the conclusions which he may form on the subject.” *°
Governor Seymour arrived in British Columbia on April 20,
1864, and hardly had the ebullitions of joy at his advent and the
* Union Papers, pt. 1, p. 2.
% Union Papers, pt. 1, p. 6.

215



216 BRITISH COLUMBIA

complete severance from Vancouver Island subsided, before the
Legislative Council, which was then in session, on the motion of
the Hon. James Orr, the member for Cariboo East, seconded by the
Hon. A. W. 8. Black, the member for Cariboo West, unanimously
passed the following resolution: *“That in the opinion of this Coun-
cil, representing as it does the unanimous opinion of the people of
this colony, the union of British Columbia and Vancouver Island
would be detrimental to the best interests of both colonies, and that
His Excellency, the Governor, be respectfully requested to forward
a copy of this resolution to Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary of
State for the Colonies.” * In closing the session, Governor Sey-
mour referred to this resolution “protesting against any union,” say-
ing: “I shall forward that resolution to His Grace the Secretary
of State and strongly express my opinion that British Columbia has
grown too large for a return to the old system to be possible, Whether

union under other conditions might hereafter be acceptable, I am
at present unable to say. I would, however, observe that from my
short experience, I am inclined to think that an efficient administra-
tion of the affairs of British Columbia alone would be sufficient to
"5 At the opening of the first

engross the attention of a Governor.
session of the second Legislative Council on the mainland, in Decem
ber, 1864, Governor Seymour stated that it would be better for
Imperial interests if Great Britain were represented by only one
Governor west of the Rockies, but that he did “not see at present
how British Columbia would gain by the suggested change, and was
rather disposed to think that a longer separation was necessary before
a satisfactory reunion could take place.” * The Legislative Coun-
cil replied that they could see no reason for changing the opinion
deliberately and unanimously expressed at the last session, ‘“that
an union with the neighboring colony would be inexpedient and dis-

advantageous to British Columbia, a view in which we are glad to see
” 89

Your Excellency concurs.

Let us turn now to view the actions of the legislative bodies on
Vancouver Island. Before Governor Kennedy's arrival, the House
of Assembly, in refusing to accept the Duke of Newcastle’s Civil

86 British Columbian, May 4, 1864.
87 Governor Seymour’s Speech, May 4, 1864.
88 British Columbian, Dec. 12, 1864.

89 British Columbian, Dec. 21, 1864.
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List, had passed a resolution asserting that an absolute separation
of the colonies would prove injurious to both, and that amalgama-
tion was at present unadvisable, if not impossible, yet some sort of
connection by which one Governor, one Colonial Secretary, one

Surveyor-General, and one Auditor-General would

C YO
Wwas necessary

Mr. DeCosmos, one of the members for Victoria,
kept the question of union prominently before the people in the
House and in the columns of the Colonist, of which he was then
editor, dwelling on it in season and out of season. In proroguing
the House in July, 1864, Governor Kennedy dealt with this resolu-
tion, stating that union would require the consent of both parties,
and that to effect it mutual concessions must be made, that personal
predilections and prejudices must be laid aside, and a practicable and
equitable basis proposed. When the House reassembled in Septem-
ber following, the first question alluded to was that of union. Mr.
DeCosmos introduced the subject shortly afterwards, and it was
debated at length by himself, Dr. Helmcken, Mr. Street, and Mr.
Southgate, but the only result was to bring into prominence the

great divergence of views as to the conditions under which it should
come into being." The chief stumbling block was that Vancouver
Island was a free trade colony, while British Columbia was under
protection. Nevertheless, the debate cleared the air, somewhat,

and in January, 1865, Mr. DeCosmos brought forward a resolution,
which, after reciting that the strictest economy must be observed
in the public expenditure, proceeded: *“And that the immediate
union of this colony with British Columbia, under such constitution
as Her Majesty's Government may be pleased to grant, is the means
best adapted to prevent permanent causes of depression, as well as
to stimulate trade, foster industry, develop our resources, augment
our population, and insure our permanent prosperity; and that this
House pledges itself in case Her Majesty's Government shall grant
such union to ratify the same by legislation, if required.

" 02

After
atwo days’ debate, this resolution was carried by a vote of eight to

The minority thereupon alleged that the majority did not
fairly represent public opinion, and to test this fact Mr. DeCosmos,
who supported, and Mr. C. B. Young, who opposed, the resolution,

four.

90 British Columbian, May 7, 1864.
9 British Columbian, Sept. 17, 1864; Oct. 12, 1864
%2 Union Papers, pt. 1, p. 6.
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resigned their seats and went to the people. The contest was very
warm and excited great interest. The free-port party even went to
the extent of buying out the Evening Express, an opposition paper,
for $6,000 and amalgamating it with the Vancouver Times, and,
by a payment of $3,000, inducing Mr. McMillan, the editor of the
Chronicle, to retire from that position in order that a successor in
sympathy with their views might be selected.”® So were elections
fought in the brave days of old. The result was the defeat of Mr.
Young and the return of Mr. DeCosmos and Mr. Leonard McClure,
both advocates of union and a tariff, by a large majority. When a
similar motion was introduced into the Legislative Council; as the
Upper House on Vancouver Island was called, on March 2, 1865,
the Treasurer offered the following amendment: ‘“‘That this Council
regards it as undesirable to express an opinion as to the expediency,
or otherwise, of uniting the colonies of Vancouver Island and Brit-
ish Columbia.” The amendment was carried, the official members
present, viz., the Acting Colonial Secretary, the Acting Attorney-
General, the Treasurer, and the Acting Surveyor-General, voting
in its favour, the Hon. R. Finlayson and the Hon. H. Rhodes, the
only unofficial members voting against it."* In transmitting these
proceedings Governor Kennedy expressed himself as favouring
union unconditionally. At the same time the Chamber of Commerce
of Victoria passed a resolution that an equitable union of the colo-
nies at an early date was essential to the maintenance of Imperial
and local interests, but that, nevertheless, the interests of the two
colonies, whether united or separate, would be best maintained by
the preservation on Vancouver Island, of the free trade policy.”
Attached to this resolution was a long account of conditions exist-
ing in the colonies and a bitter complaint against the Tariff Act of
British Columbia, already mentioned. This document brought
forth an even longer reply from Governor Seymour of the main-
land, who vigorously combatted its assertions and its deductions.”

A consideration of the circumstances of the past seven vears
will, perhaps, throw light on the subject now under discussion.
When the discovery of gold on the Fraser brought that inundating

9% British Columbian, Feb. 18, 1865,
%4 Union Papers, pt. 1, p. 7.

" 1d., p. 13.

% 1d., p. 20.
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immigration of impetuous gold-seekers, Vicioria was the only town
in existence near the mining region. All vessels for Fraser River
were for years allowed to enter and clear there. There the miners
obtained their licenses, their supplies, and made their connections
with the river steamers when they began to run, After the discovery
of Cariboo, the miners were fed and supplied from Victoria, the
Tariff Act of Governor Douglas aiding as already explained. Driven
from their work by the rigorous northern winters, the miners spent
in the more genial climate of Victoria the money made in the mines
of the mainland. There were no large settlements in British Colum-

bia; it was a colony in name only, There was a gold mine at one
end of a line of road, as Governor Seymour expressed it, and a sea-

port town under a different government at the other. The burden
of heavy taxation, caused in part by the construction of the road to
the mines, was borne by the mainland, while the island reaped the
benefits of the miners’ success. Victoria really depended for its
continued and prosperous existence upon the mainland mines. Then,
too, the officials of British Columbia drew their salaries from main-
land taxation, but spent them on the island, where their homes were,

contributing nothing whatever towards the support of the colony.

Separation was asked for and obtained. Immediately the mainland

set itself to the task of encouraging foreign vessels to bring their
cargoes within its bounds, and unquestionably endeavored, by means
of the Tariff Act, 1865, to stimulate trade with the larger markets
of the world, by eliminating the advantage in duties which, there-
tofore, under Governor Douglas’s Tariff Act, had obtained on pur-

chases in Victoria. An intense animosity, which had smouldered

previously, now burned fiercely and openly. It was mutual. When,
for example, the volunteers for the Chilcotin war were taken to

Victoria to be transferred to H. M. 8. Sutlej, some of them were
arrested there. This was regarded as a gratuitous insult and as
indicating a desire to embarrass the Government in a very impor-
tant undertaking. On the other hand, when the island colony,

through Governor Kennedy, tendered assistance in quelling that
disturbance it was rejected.®”

But material considerations also entered into the question. Car-
iboo was found, by the end of 1863, not to be a “poor man’s diggings,”

97 British Columbia Directory, 1868, p. 16.
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not competent, therefore, to support a large population. Business
diminished, although Victoria retained the principal part. Roadside
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